

THESIS / THÈSE

DOCTOR OF SCIENCES

Fish immunity

modulation by the light environment and the melatonin hormone in a percid fish, the pike-perch

Baekelandt, Sébastien

Award date: 2020

Awarding institution: University of Namur

Link to publication

General rights Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
- You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal ?

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.





Faculty of Sciences

DEPARTMENT OF BIOLOGY

Research Unit in Environmental and Evolutionary Biology

Institute of Life, Earth & Environment

Fish immunity: modulation by the light environment and the melatonin hormone in a percid fish, the pike-perch



A dissertation submitted by Sébastien BAEKELANDT In fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of PhD in Biological Sciences 2020

UNIVERSITÉ DE NAMUR FACULTÉS DES SCIENCES RUE DE BRUXELLES, 61, B-5000, NAMUR, Belgique

Fish immunity: modulation by the light environment and the melatonin hormone in a percid fish, the pike-perch

by Sébastien Baekelandt

A dissertation submitted by Sebastien BAEKELANDT In fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of PhD in Biological Sciences 2020

Jury Members:

Prof. P. Kestemont (Promoter, UNamur)

Dr. R. Mandiki (co-promoter, UNamur)

Prof. M. Gesto (DTU, Denmark)

Prof. P. Fontaine (UL, France)

Prof. D. Montero (ULPGC, Spain)

Prof. E. Muraille (ULB, Belgium)

Prof. F. de Laender (President, UNamur)

Remerciements

Je tiens avant tout à remercier tous ceux qui, de près ou de loin, ont contribué à la réalisation de ce travail, que ce soit par vos encouragements, vos conseils et votre aide très précieuse.

Mes premiers remerciements s'adressent tout d'abord à mon promoteur, le Professeur Patrick Kestemont, qui m'a donné l'opportunité de réaliser un mémoire en partenariat avec l'équipe de Can Tho au Vietnam et d'enchaîner ensuite sur une thèse. Merci pour votre confiance et vos conseils ainsi que pour tous les bons moments passés à Dubrovnik et à Las Palmas !

Je remercie ensuite mon cher collègue de bureau Robert pour son implication sans faille dans mon travail. Tu m'as été d'une aide précieuse dans le design des expérimentations et dans la correction des nombreux rapports Diversify et des publications. Merci à toi d'avoir été si disponible et pour toutes tes anecdotes partagées dans le bureau !

Je remercie ensuite les membres du jury pour avoir accepté de lire, de corriger et d'évaluer ce travail.

Je remercie mes nombreux collègues et ex-collègues sans qui cette thèse n'aurait pas abouti : Sascha, Alexandre, Najlae, Mélodie, Mahaut, Mathilde, Imen, Baptiste, Enora, Jérôme, Maï, Benoît, Amélie et Jessica. En plus d'avoir passés de très bons moments ensemble lors des activités de terrains (stages, pêches électriques, barbecues, ...), certains d'entre vous (qui se reconnaitront !) m'ont fait découvrir la pêche sportive. Ces moments sur le Samson, en Normandie ou aux Pays-Bas ont été exceptionnels. Je vous remercie également tous pour votre aide si précieuse lors des prélèvements qui sortaient de l'ordinaire à Namur ou à Nancy. Dans tous les cas, je ne prévoirai plus jamais de prélèvements à 23h ou à 4h du matin !

Je remercie ensuite l'équipe d'URBV, avec Pierre, Sophie, … pour leur accueil chaleureux. Pierre, merci à toi pour toute l'aide incroyable que tu m'as fournie, notamment pour l'HPLC si capricieuse, et pour ta disponibilité.

Je remercie également l'équipe de Nancy avec Pascal Fontaine et Sylvain Milla. Merci à vous pour l'accueil dans vos installations incroyables, pour la collaboration sur les expériences Diversify et Aquaexcel et pour tous les animaux que vous nous avez fournis. Mes derniers remerciements s'adressent à ma famille qui m'a soutenu tout au long de mes études, ainsi qu'à Pauline qui est devenue très récemment (à quelques jours près !) mon épouse. Merci à toi de m'avoir soutenu et motivé tout au long de cette expérience !

ABSTRACT

Pike-perch (*Sander lucioperca*) is a valuable fish candidate for the expansion of the European aquaculture industry. However, several bottlenecks hamper its development including high mortalities that may reflect a low welfare related to a high stress responsiveness. The first objective of this thesis was thus to identify the main husbandry practices and environmental factors affecting pike-perch culture. From every tested modality, the light environment was identified as one of the most determining factor influencing its physiology.

Pike-perch possesses a *tapetum lucidum* that is a reflecting layer in the retina. It increases the eye sensitivity to the light, which enable that fish to hunt during dusk and night. However, inappropriate light environment for its culture may affect its physiology, including a higher stress level and a decrease in immunocompetence and growth. Light information is perceived by photoreceptors and converted by the pineal gland into a melatonin signal. This hormone conveys the information about the time of the day and the night to cells and organs and it is known to modulate numerous functions in vertebrates including behavior, reproduction and growth. However, while well described in mammals, the modulation of the immune system by melatonin has been poorly investigated in teleosts. We thus hypothesized that this hormone may play a central role by being a relay between the light, the stress axis and the immune system.

Several experiments were designed in order to better characterize the modulation of the immune system by the light environment, with special consideration for the melatonin hormone as a potential intermediate. We thus investigated the daily rhythmicity of innate immune markers and the impacts of several light intensities and spectrum on fish physiology. We then considered the modulation of the immune system by season-simulated photoperiods. All these experiments defined together that light modulates pike-perch immunity and that melatonin is involved. Some innate immune markers follow 24-h rhythmicity that is correlated to the day-night cycle. Natural photoperiod variations and associated decrease or increase in circulating melatonin led to a significant modulation of the immune system, with innate markers being stimulated under the fall-simulated photoperiod. Furthermore, unsuitable light environments affect fish immunity and growth and such impacts can be associated to both an increase in stress status and a decrease in circulating melatonin.

These experiments defined together that melatonin is involved in the modulation of the immune system in teleosts, but no information is available about the mode of action. It may include a direct action via specific melatonin receptors on immune targets or an indirect action through the regulation of hormonal secretions, including cortisol. An *ex vivo* experiment conducted on spleen and head kidney tissues of pike-perch aimed to better characterize the mode of action. Results suggest that both direct and indirect actions are involved.

All in all, the light environment can profoundly affect the fish immune system by inducing a higher stress status but also by modulating melatonin production and secretion. In addition, the action of melatonin on immune targets involves both direct actions through specific melatonin receptors and indirect actions through intermediates such as cortisol.

RÉSUMÉ

Le sandre (*Sander lucioperca*) est un poisson de haute valeur pour l'expansion de l'industrie aquacole européenne. Cependant, plusieurs freins entravent son développement, y compris des taux de mortalité élevés qui peuvent refléter un faible bien-être lié à une forte sensibilité au stress. Le premier objectif de cette thèse était donc d'identifier les principales pratiques d'élevage et les facteurs environnementaux affectant la culture du sandre. De chaque modalité testée, l'environnement lumineux a été identifié comme l'un des facteurs les plus déterminants influençant la physiologie de cette espèce.

Le sandre possède un tapetum lucidum qui est une couche réfléchissante localisée dans la rétine. Il augmente la sensibilité des yeux à la lumière, ce qui permet à ce poisson de chasser au crépuscule et pendant la nuit. Cependant, un environnement lumineux inapproprié pour sa culture peut affecter sa physiologie, avec un niveau de stress plus élevé et une diminution de l'immunocompétence et de la croissance. L'information lumineuse issue de l'environnement est perçue par des photorécepteurs au niveau de la rétine et est convertie par la glande pinéale en un signal hormonal, la mélatonine. Cette hormone transmet les informations sur le moment de la journée (jour/nuit) aux cellules et aux organes et elle est connue pour moduler de nombreuses fonctions chez les vertébrés, notamment le comportement, la reproduction et la croissance. Cependant, bien que bien décrite chez les mammifères, la modulation du système immunitaire par la mélatonine a été très peu considérée chez les téléostéens. Nous avons ainsi supposé que cette hormone pouvait jouer un rôle central en étant un relais entre la lumière, l'axe du stress et le système immunitaire.

Plusieurs expériences ont été conçues afin de mieux caractériser la modulation du système immunitaire par l'environnement lumineux, avec une attention particulière pour mélatonine. Nous avons donc étudié la rythmicité quotidienne des marqueurs immunitaires innés et les impacts de plusieurs intensités lumineuses et du spectre sur la physiologie du sandre. Nous avons ensuite considéré la modulation du système immunitaire par des photopériodes naturelles. Toutes ces expériences ont défini ensemble que la lumière module l'immunité du sandre et que la mélatonine est impliquée. Certains marqueurs immunitaires innés suivent une rythmicité de 24 h, ce qui est corrélé au cycle jour-nuit. Les variations naturelles de la photopériode et la diminution ou l'augmentation associée de la mélatonine dans le sang ont

conduit à une modulation significative du système immunitaire, les marqueurs innés étant stimulés sous photopériode décroissante. De plus, des environnements lumineux inadaptés affectent l'immunité et la croissance des poissons et ces impacts peuvent être associés à la fois à une augmentation de l'état de stress et à une diminution de la mélatonine dans le sang.

Dans l'ensemble, l'environnement lumineux peut affecter profondément le système immunitaire des poissons en induisant un état de stress plus élevé mais aussi en modulant la production et la sécrétion de mélatonine par la glande pinéale. De plus, l'action de la mélatonine sur les cibles immunitaires implique à la fois des actions directes via des récepteurs spécifiques à la mélatonine et indirectes via la modulation de la sécrétion d'autres hormones telles que le cortisol.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

5-HIAA: hydroxyl-indol-acetic acid 5-HT: serotonin AANAT: aryl-alkylamine N-acetyltransferase ACH50: alternative complement activity ACTH: Adrenocorticotropic hormone ANOVA: analysis of variance BSA: bovine serum albumin C3: complement component 3 cAMP : cyclic adenosine monophosphate Cort: cortisol CV: final weight heterogeneity DA: dopamine DHBA: 2-3 dihydroxybenzoic acid DOPAC: 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetic acid DP: dark phase *ef1-* α : elongation factor-1 α ELISA: enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay fgl2: fibrinogen like 2 *fkbp4*: FKBP prolyl isomerase 4 FIW: final individual weight FSP: fall-simulated photoperiod *fth1*: ferritin heavy chain 1 GC: glucocorticoid GH: growth hormone GPCR: G protein-coupled membrane receptors GPR50: G protein-coupled receptor 50 GR1: glucocorticoid receptor 1 HAC: hierarchical ascending classification *hepc*: hepcidin c HIOMT: hydroxyindole-O-methyl transferase HK: head kidney hp: haptoglobin HPI: hypothalamus-pituitary-interrenal cells HPLC: high performance liquid chromatography IGF-1: insulin-like growth factor 1

il-1: interleukine-1

irf-1: interferon-regulatory factor 1

LP: light phase

Lys: lysozyme

Mel: melatonin

MR: mortality rate

MS222: tricaine methanesulfonate

MT1: melatonin receptor 1

NF-kB: nuclear factor-kappa B

NK: natural killer

OD: optical density

OSA: octane sulfonic acid

PCA: principal component analysis

PRL: prolactine

QR2: quinone reductase 2

RAS: recirculating aquaculture system

RDA: redundancy analysis

ROS: reactive oxygen species

RZR/ROR: Retinoic Z receptor/Retinoic acid-related Orphan Receptor

saa1: serum amyloid A1

SEM: standard of the mean

SGR: specific growth rate

SSP: spring-simulated photoperiod

TCRa: T cell receptor alpha chain

tcrg: T cell receptor gamma locus

tnf- α : tumor necrosis factor α

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT				
RÉSUMÉ9				
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS				
TABL	TABLE OF CONTENTS1			
Ι.	Context of the study			
II.	General methodology	26		
III.	Objectives and structure of the study			
A.	GENERAL OBJECTIVES	31		
B.	THESIS OUTLINE	31		
IV.	Literature review			
A.	INTRODUCTION			
B.	MELATONIN RECEPTORS	35		
C.	IMMUNE SYSTEM-SYNTHESIZED MELATONIN			
D.	MELATONIN ACTIONS ON INNATE IMMUNITY	40		
E.	MELATONIN ACTIONS ON SPECIFIC IMMUNITY	45		
F.	INDIRECT ACTION ON IMMUNE TARGETS	46		
G.	MODULATION OF PINEAL ACTIVITY	47		
H.	A SIMILAR ACTION IN VERTEBRATES			
I.	REFERENCES			
v.	Optimal aquaculture modalities for pike-perch	61		
A.	ABSTRACT	61		
B.	INTRODUCTION	63		
C.	MATERIALS AND METHODS	66		
	1. Experimental design	66		
	2. Animals and rearing conditions	71		
	3. Sampling procedure	71		
	4. Husbandry variables	72		

5. Stress indicators	72
6. Immune variables	73
7. Expression levels of some immune genes in anterior kidney	[,] 74
8. Statistical analyses	74
D. RESULTS	75
1. Husbandry parameters	75
2. Stress and immune parameters	76
E. DISCUSSION	79
F. CONCLUSION	85
G. ACKNOWLEDGMENT	86
H. REFERENCES	86
VI. Daily rhythms of immune markers	95
A. ABSTRACT	95
B. INTRODUCTION	97
C. MATERIALS AND METHODS	99
1. Animals and rearing conditions	99
2. Sampling procedures	99
3. Husbandry variables	100
4. Cortisol and glucose assays	100
5. Plasma lysozyme activity	100
6. Peroxidase activity	100
7. Plasma alternative complement pathway	100
8. Statistical analysis	101
D. RESULTS	101
E. DISCUSSION	107
F. ACKNOWLEDGMENT	110
G. REFERENCES	110
VII. Immune modulation by the light environment	115

А.	ABSTRACT	. 115
B.	INTRODUCTION	. 117
C.	MATERIALS AND METHODS	. 119
1.	Animals and rearing conditions	. 119
2.	Sampling procedures	. 120
3.	Husbandry performances	. 120
4.	Stress indicators	. 120
5.	Humoral immune variables	. 121
6.	Gene expression analysis	. 121
7.	Melatonin content in plasma	. 123
8.	Statistical analyses	. 123
D.	RESULTS	. 123
E.	DISCUSSION	. 132
F.	ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	. 137
G.	REFERENCES	. 137
G. VIII. Pl	REFERENCES	. 137 . 145
G. VIII. Pł A.	REFERENCES notoperiod influences melatonin release and immunity ABSTRACT	. 137 . 145 . 145
G. VIII. Pł A. B.	REFERENCES notoperiod influences melatonin release and immunity ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION	. 137 . 145 . 145 . 147
G. VIII. Pł A. B. C.	REFERENCES notoperiod influences melatonin release and immunity ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIAL AND METHODS	. 137 . 145 . 145 . 147 . 148
G. VIII. PP A. B. C. 1.	REFERENCES notoperiod influences melatonin release and immunity ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIAL AND METHODS Animals and rearing conditions	. 137 . 145 . 145 . 147 . 148 . 148
G. VIII. PP A. B. C. 1. 2.	REFERENCES notoperiod influences melatonin release and immunity ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIAL AND METHODS Animals and rearing conditions Sampling procedures	. 137 . 145 . 145 . 147 . 148 . 148 . 149
G. VIII. PP A. B. C. 1. 2. 3.	REFERENCES notoperiod influences melatonin release and immunity ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIAL AND METHODS Animals and rearing conditions Sampling procedures Stress indicators	. 137 . 145 . 145 . 147 . 148 . 148 . 149 . 150
G. VIII. PP A. B. C. 1. 2. 3. 4.	REFERENCES notoperiod influences melatonin release and immunity ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIAL AND METHODS Animals and rearing conditions Sampling procedures Stress indicators Melatonin content in plasma	. 137 . 145 . 145 . 147 . 148 . 148 . 149 . 150 . 150
G. VIII. PH A. B. C. 1. 2. 3. 4. 5.	REFERENCES notoperiod influences melatonin release and immunity ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIAL AND METHODS Animals and rearing conditions Sampling procedures Stress indicators Melatonin content in plasma Humoral immune variables	. 137 . 145 . 145 . 147 . 148 . 148 . 148 . 149 . 150 . 150
G. VIII. PH A. B. C. 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6.	REFERENCES notoperiod influences melatonin release and immunity ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIAL AND METHODS Animals and rearing conditions Sampling procedures Stress indicators Melatonin content in plasma Humoral immune variables Phagocytic activity	. 137 . 145 . 145 . 147 . 148 . 148 . 149 . 150 . 150 . 150 . 151
G. VIII. PH A. B. C. 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7.	REFERENCES	. 137 . 145 . 145 . 147 . 148 . 148 . 148 . 149 . 150 . 150 . 151 . 151
G. VIII. PH A. B. C. 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. 8.	REFERENCES	. 137 . 145 . 145 . 147 . 148 . 148 . 148 . 150 . 150 . 150 . 151 . 151 . 152

	E.	DISCUSSION	157
	F.	ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	161
	G.	REFERENCES	161
IX	. Ex	<i>vivo</i> actions of melatonin and cortisol	169
	A.	ABSTRACT	169
	B.	INTRODUCTION	171
	C.	MATERIAL AND METHODS	173
	1.	Animals and rearing conditions	173
	2.	Sampling procedures and incubation	173
	3.	Gene expression analysis	174
	4.	Lactate dehydrogenase activity	175
	5.	Levels of hormones in culture medium	175
	6.	Statistical analysis	175
	D.	RESULTS	177
	1.	Levels of hormones in culture medium	177
	2.	Lactate dehydrogenase activity	177
	3.	Gene expression	177
	E.	DISCUSSION	181
	F.	ACKNOWLEDGMENT	186
	G.	REFERENCES	186
х.	Su	ıpplementary data	195
XI	. G	eneral Discussion	197
	Exp	eriment I: objectives, results and limitations	198
	Exp	eriment II: objectives, results and limitations	200
	Exp	eriment III: objectives, results and limitations	202
	Exp	eriment IV: objectives, results and limitations	204
	Exp	eriment V: objectives, results and limitations	206
	Mel	atonin and fish immunity	208

XIII. List of publications		225
XII. Conclusion and perspectives		224
]	References	215
]	Future research about melatonin in fish	215
	Immune markers	214
]	Fish model	210

I. Context of the study

Pike-perch aquaculture

For a few decades, aquaculture has been developing, expanding and intensifying in almost all regions of the world in response to an increasing market demand and a decrease in wild fish stocks (Conte, 2004; Ashley, 2007; Teletchea, 2019; Reverter et al., 2020). However, in Europe, aquaculture has shown a weak increase in productivity which may be attributed to a low diversity of cultured fish species (FAO, 2017). In order to revitalize that sector, the European project DIVERSIFY was launched. Based on their biological and economical potential, 6 fish species were identified as new or emerging species for the expansion of European aquaculture industry. These species included the meagre (Argyrosomus regius), the greater amberjack (Seriola dumerili), the wreckfish (Polyprion americanus), the Atlantic halibut (Hippoglossus hippoglossus), the grey mullet (Mugil *cephalus*) and the pikeperch (*Sander lucioperca*). From all these fish species, pike-perch, which is the biological model of the present study, was the only freshwater one. Its natural distribution is limited to Europe and Asia and it inhabits large and turbid rivers as well as eutrophic lakes, brackish coastal lakes and estuaries (Lappalainen et al., 2003).

Due to its fast growth and high economical expectations, pike-perch became one of the most promising fish species to consider for inland aquaculture industry (Wang et al, 2009; Dalsgaard et al, 2013). In 2018, its production reached 1,557 t (Fig. 1) while nearly 20,000 t were captured from the wild (FAO, FishStat). However, the development of its culture is still quite limited and several bottlenecks have been identified, including a lack of knowledge of the genetic variability of broodstocks, a low larval survival, a high incidence of deformities and a high sensitivity to stressors leading to high and sudden mortalities. All those bottlenecks were considered in the DIVERSIFY project.

During both larval and juvenile stages of pike-perch, survival rate is estimated between 8 and 30% (Kestemont et al, 2007; Szkudlarek and Zakęś, 2007; Szczepkowski et al., 2011; Dalsgaard et al, 2013, Ljubobratović et al., 2015). In comparison, in Eurasian perch (*Perca fluviatilis*), survival rate is fluctuating between 60 and 70% during the first months of intensive culture in RAS (Mélard, 2008). That low survival rate for pike-perch is the result of multiple factors. The first mortality peak occurring during larval stage is

Context of the study

linked to the transition from endogenous to exogenous feeding and swim bladder inflation (Szkudlarek and Zakęś, 2007). A second peak corresponds to the occurrence of cannibalistic behavior (Ljubobratović et al., 2015). Then, considering that husbandry practices are not yet optimized, the high mortality during juvenile stage may also reflect a low welfare related to a high stress level. Thus, the University of Namur, in collaboration with the University of Lorraine (France), aimed to identify the best husbandry practices to consider in pike-perch culture with regards to growth, immune and physiological status of the fish.



Figure 1: Global aquaculture production (in tonnes) of pikeperch, *Sander lucioperca* (FAO FishStat).

Pike-perch and light environment

Considering the light environment is crucial in aquaculture since it was shown to modulate numerous physiological functions in several fish species, including behavior, reproduction and growth (Downing, 2002; Falcón et al., 2007; Luchiari and Pirhonen, 2008; Falcón et al., 2010; Politis et al, 2014). Following preliminary observations and available data, it has been hypothesized that light is a determining factor for pike-perch welfare. The use of a red light was shown to improve its specific growth rate and feed

Context of the study

efficiency in cultured conditions. Moreover, a preference for low light intensities is consistent with the presence in the retina of a *tapetum lucidum* (Fig. 2) increasing the eye sensitivity to light (Luchiari et al., 2006; Feiner and Höök, 2015). This observation is consistent with the natural behavior of pike-perch since it is a crepuscular predator that is actively feeding during dusk and night (Luchiari et al, 2006; Zingel and Paaver, 2010; Dalsgaard et al, 2013). Such characteristics make the pike-perch a suitable animal model to focus on the impact of light on fish physiology.



Figure 2: Histology of pikeperch retina (left) and its *tapetum lucidum* (right). Periodic acid-Schiff (PAS) stain.

Melatonin, stress and immunity

In addition to affect behavior, reproduction and growth of teleosts, the light environment has been shown to modulate stress status and stress-induced cortisol response (Volpato and Barreto, 2001; Karakatsouli et al, 2007; Eslamloo et al, 2015). Since cortisol is a strong immune-modulator of immune functions in fish, unsuitable light characteristics affect the immune

Context of the study

system (Sánchez-Vázquez et al., 2019). However, the effects of the light environment on fish immunity are poorly documented.

Considering that inappropriate light conditions may create a stressful environment for the fish and that the light is perceived by photoreceptors and converted into a melatonin signal by the pineal gland, it was hypothesized that this hormone may play a central role by being a relay between the light, the stress axis and the immune system. In parallel, the melatonin hormone is a multifunctional molecule that was shown in numerous vertebrates to modulate important physiological functions, including thermoregulation, reproduction, osmoregulation, development and migration (Carrillo-Vico et al., 2005; Falcón et al., 2010; Mehner et al., 2012; Dumbell et al., 2016).

A wide range of experimental evidence has shown a clear relationship between the neuroendocrine and immune systems in mammals. This link is illustrated by a two-way communication in which endogenous substances from the neuroendocrine system act on the immune system and vice versa (Carrillo-Vico et al., 2013). Numerous neuroendocrine responses follow circadian and circannual rhythmicity and, taking into account the close relationship between these systems, some immune parameters also exhibit both types of rhythmicity (Esteban et al., 2006; Carrillo-Vico et al., 2013; Esteban et al., 2013; Brüning et al., 2015). Thus, in many animals including ectotherms, the immune responses are known to vary seasonally with parameters being suppressed during winter and stimulated in summer in response to photoperiod and temperature variations (Bowden et al., 2007). The influence of melatonin on the immune system has been well established in higher vertebrates (Guerrero and Reiter, 2002; Carrillo-Vico et al., 2005; 2013). Generally, in mammals, melatonin stimulates basal immunity to ensure an optimal response to infection or exerts an anti-inflammatory action in the case of inflammatory responses to protect the organism from host tissue damage (Carrillo-Vico et al., 2013). Melatonin thus regulates cell dynamics, including the proliferative and maturational stages of all hematopoietic and immune cells lineages (NK cells, T and B lymphocytes, granulocytes, monocytes) involved in host defense, in both bone marrow and tissues (Miller et al., 2006).

Unlike mammals, the immunomodulatory capacity of melatonin is poorly documented in teleosts. Some studies, however, suggest that melatonin is a key hormone in the interaction between the endocrine and immune systems (Esteban et al., 2013). The available data on the regulation of the immune system by melatonin mainly concern the daily rhythmicity of immune parameters such as lysozyme, complement or peroxidase. Although the activity profiles are variable between species, it has been shown that these different parameters follow a pattern based on the day-night cycle. In seabream (*Sparus aurata*), exogenous melatonin induces an increase in the expression of some immune genes (*il-1β*, *mhc* and *irf-1* - interferon-regulatory factor) in the anterior kidney (Esteban et al., 2006; Cuesta, 2008). Melatonin also appears to inhibit phagocytic activity in the snakehead *Channa punctatus* (Roy et al., 2008) and increase cytotoxic activity in seabream. In parallel, while melatonin is known to induce pro or antigonadal effects in response to an increasing or decreasing photoperiod (Maitra and Hasan, 2016), the effects of photoperiod on the immunomodulatory capacity of melatonin are not documented yet.

In teleosts, an additional interaction has been described between the melatonin hormone and the hypothalamo-pituitary interrenal cells (HPI) axis (López-Patiño et al., 2013; 2014; Conde-Sieira et al., 2014). Thus, several evidences support an anti-stress role of melatonin at both central and peripheral levels, including a suppressor effect on the HPI axis (López-Patiño et al., 2013; Gesto et al., 2016) while cortisol was shown to inhibit the production and secretion of melatonin by the pineal organ (López-Patiño et al., 2014). Considering the triangulation between the melatonin hormone, the HPI axis and the immune system is thus of a great interest.

References

- Ashley PJ (2007). Fish welfare: Current issues in aquaculture. *Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci.*, 104(3-4) :199-235.
- Bowden TJ, Thompson KD, Morgan AL, Gratacap RML, Nikoskelainen S (2007). Seasonal variation and the immune response: A fish perspective. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 22(6):695–706.
- Brüning A, Hölker F, Franke S, Preuer T, Kloas W (2015). Spotlight on fish: Light pollution affects circadian rhythms of European perch but does not cause stress. *Sci. Total Environ.*, *511*, 516–522.
- Carrillo-vico A, Guerrero JM, Lardone PJ, Reiter RJ (2005). A review of the multiple actions of melatonin on the immune system. *Endocrine*, 27(2) :189–200.

- Carrillo-Vico A, Lardone PJ, Álvarez-Sánchez N, Rodrĩguez-Rodrĩguez A, Guerrero JM (2013). Melatonin: Buffering the immune system. *Int. J.Mol. Sci.*, *14*(4) :8638–8683.
- Conte, FS (2004). Stress and the welfare of cultured fish. *Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci.*, *86*(3) :205-223.
- Cuesta A (2008). In vivo actions of melatonin on the innate immune parameters in the teleost fish gilthead seabream. J. Pineal Res., 45:70–78.
- Dalsgaard J, Lund I, Thorarinsdottir R, Drengstig A, Arvonen K, Pedersen PB (2013). Farming different species in RAS in Nordic countries: Current status and future perspectives. *Aquac. Eng.*, *53* :2–13.
- Downing G. (2002). Impact of spectral composition on larval haddock, *Melanogrammus aeglefinus* L., growth and survival. *Aquac. Res.*, 33:251–259.
- Dumbell R, Matveeva O, Oster H (2016). Circadian clocks, stress, and immunity. *Front. Endocrinol.*, 7, 1–8.
- Eslamloo K, Akhavan SR, Eslamifar A, Henry MA (2015). Effects of background colour on growth performance, skin pigmentation, physiological condition and innate immune responses of goldfish, *Carassius auratus*. Aquacult. Res., 46(1), 202–215.
- Esteban MA, Cuesta A, Rodríguez A, Meseguer J (2006). Effect of photoperiod on the fish innate immune system: A link between fish pineal gland and the immune system. J. Pineal Res., 41(3):261–266.
- Esteban MA, Cuesta A, Chaves-Pozo E, Meseguer J (2013). Influence of melatonin on the immune system of fish: a review. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, *14* :7979-7999.
- Falcón J, Besseau L, Sauzet S, Boeuf G (2007). Melatonin effects on the hypothalamo-pituitary axis in fish. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.*, *18*:81–88.
- Falcón J, Migaud H, Munoz-Cueto JA, Carrillo M (2010). Current knowledge on the melatonin system in teleost fish. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.*, *165*(3) :469–482.
- FAO (2017). Planning for aquaculture diversification: the importance of climate change and other drivers. *Fisheries and aquaculture proceedings*. Rome. 156 pp.
- Feiner ZS, Höök TO, Environmental biology of Percid fishes, in: Kestemont P, Dabrowski K, Summerfelt RC (Eds.), Biology and culture of Percid fishes, Springer Science+Business Media Dordrecht, 2015, pp. 61-100.
- Gesto M, Álvarez-otero R, Conde-sieira M, Otero-rodiño C, Usandizaga S, Soengas JL, Míguez JM, López-patiño MA (2016). A simple melatonin treatment protocol attenuates the response to acute stress in the sole *Solea senegalensis*. *Aquaculture*, 452, 272–282.
- Guerrero JM, Reiter RJ (2002). Melatonin-immune system relationships. *Curr. Top. Med. Chem.*, 2(2):167–179.

- Karakatsouli N, Papoutsoglou SE, Pizzonia G, Tsatsos G, Tsopelakos A, Chadio S, Kalogiannis D, Dalla C, Polissidis A, Papadopoulou-Daifoti Z (2007). Effects of light spectrum on growth and physiological status of gilthead seabream Sparus aurata and rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* reared under recirculating system conditions. *Aquacult. Eng.*, 36(3), 302– 309.
- Kestemont P, Xueliang X, Hamza N., Maboudou J, Toko II (2007). Effect of weaning age and diet on pikeperch larviculture. *Aquaculture*, 264 :197–204.
- Lappalainen J, Dörner H, Wysujack K (2003). Reproduction biology of pikeperch (Sander lucioperca (L.)) a review. *Ecol. Freshw. Fish*, 12:95–106.
- Ljubobratović U, Kucska B, Feledi T, Poleksić V, Marković Z, Lenhardt M, Peteri A, Shivendra Kumar, András Rónyai (2015). Effect of Weaning Strategies on Growth and Survival of Pikeperch, Sander lucioperca, Larvae. *Turk. J. Fish Aquat. Sc.*, *15*: 327-333.
- López-Patiño, MA, Conde-Sieira M, Gesto M, Librán-Pérez M, Soengas JL, Míguez JM (2013). Melatonin partially minimizes the adverse stress effects in Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*). *Aquaculture*, 388-391(1), 165–172.
- López-Patiño MA, Gesto M, Conde-Sieira M, Soengas JL, Miguez JM (2014). Stress inhibition of melatonin synthesis in the pineal organ of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) is mediated by cortisol. *J. Exp. Biol.*, 217(8), 1407–1416.
- Luchiari AC, Freire F, Koskela J, Pirhonen J (2006). Light intensity preference of juvenile pikeperch *Sander lucioperca* (L.). *Aquac. Res.*, *37* :1572–1577.
- Luchiari AC, Pirhonen J (2008). Effects of ambient colour on colour preference and growth of juvenile rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum). J. Fish. Biol., 72 :1504–1514.
- Maitra SK, Hasan KN (2016). The role of melatonin as a hormone and an antioxidant in the control of fish reproduction. *Front. Endocrinol.*, *4*(7) :38.
- Mehner T (2012). Diel vertical migration of freshwater fishes proximate triggers, ultimate causes and research perspectives. *Freshwater Biol.*, 57(7):1342–1359.
- Mélard C (2008). Growth and husbandry effects in percids. In: Fontaine P, Kestemont P, Teletchea F, Wang N (eds) Proceeding of Percid Fish Culture From Research to Production, Presses Universitaires de Namur, pp 53–58
- Miller SC, Pandi PSR, Esquifino AI, Cardinali DP, Maestroni GJM (2006). The role of melatonin in immuno-enhancement: potential application in cancer. *Int. J. Exp. Path.*, 87, 81–87.

- Politis SN, Butts IAE, Tomkiewicz J (2014). Light impacts embryonic and early larval development of the European eel, *Anguilla anguilla*. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol., 461:407–415.
- Reverter M, Sarter S, Caruso D, Avarre JC, Combe M, Pepey E, Pouyaud L, Vega-Heredía S, de Verdal H, Gozlan RE (2020). Aquaculture at the crossroads of global warming and antimicrobial resistance. *Nat. Commun.*, 11(1870).
- Roy B, Singh R, Kumar S, Rai U (2008). Diurnal variation in phagocytic activity of splenic phagocyties in freshwater teleost *Channa punctatus*: melatonin and its signaling mechanism. *J. Endocrinol.*, *199*(3):471-480.
- Szczepkowski M, Zakęś Z, Szczepkowska B, Piotrowska I (2011). Effect of size sorting on the survival, growth and cannibalism in pikeperch (*Sander lucioperca* L.) larvae during intensive culture in RAS. Czech J. Anim. Sci., 56(11): 483-489.
- Szkudlarek M, Zakes Z (2007). Effect of stocking density on survival and growth performance of pikeperch, *Sander lucioperca* (L.), larvae under controlled conditions. *Aquac. Int.*, *15*:67–81.
- Teletchea F (2019). Fish domestication in aquaculture: Reassessment and emerging questions. *Cybium: Int. J. Ichthyo.*, 43(1):7-15.
- Volpato GL, Barreto RE (2001). Environmental blue light prevents stress in the fish Nile tilapia. *Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res.*, *34*(8), 1041–1045.
- Wang N, Xu X, Kestemont P (2009). Effect of temperature and feeding frequency on growth performances, feed efficiency and body composition of pikeperch juveniles (*Sander lucioperca*). Aquaculture, 289:70–73.
- Zingel P, Paaver T (2010). Effects of turbidity on feeding of the young-ofthe-year pike-perch (*Sander lucioperca*) in fishponds. *Aquac. Res.*, 41, 189–197.

II. General methodology

This part presents the *in vivo* and *ex vivo* experiments done during this study, by describing the stocking conditions of the fish, the experimental facilities and the tested factors.

Fish origin and stocking conditions

The biological model used within the experiments is the pike-perch (*Sander lucioperca*, Czech origin) and a total of 4 *in vivo* and 1 *ex vivo* experiments were performed during this study. All the fish were provided by the Asialor farm (Dieuze, France) at a juvenile stage and transferred to the URBE facilities (UNamur, Belgium) or to the URAFPA facilities (ULorraine, France). The fish were then distributed into tanks for acclimation during 20 to 30 days or until they reached a specific weight. Conditions were always maintained stable during the acclimations: 21-23°C, 10-15 lux light intensity at water surface, 85-95% oxygen saturation, constant photoperiod 12:12, fed twice a day with commercial pellets at 1.5 or 2.0% biomass. These conditions are adapted to the needs of the species. Quality of the water was recorded regularly.

Experimental facilities and tested factors

The first and fourth experiments were conducted in URAFPA facilities (France). Each experimental unit (Fig. 1) was operating independently in a recirculating circuit (RAS) and was totally isolated from the others. While, for the first experiment, 8 environmental factors were considered and tested in two modalities (light intensity, light spectrum, photoperiod, oxygen saturation, density, temperature, manipulations and feed type) (see Experiment I "*Optimal aquaculture modalities for pike-perch*"), only the photoperiod was considered in the fourth experiment (see Experiment IV "*Photoperiod influences melatonin release and immunity*").

The second and third experiments took place at the University of Namur (Belgium). They were conducted in 24 indoor 100 L-tanks of two RAS (Fig. 2). For both of these experiments, only the light environment (light intensity and/or spectrum) was modified (see Experiment II "*Daily rhythms of immune markers*" and Experiment III "*Immune modulation by the light environment*").

Objectives and structure of the study



Fig. 1: Experimental unit, URAFPA facilities (Experiment I). Right picture: experimental tank with the high light intensity of red spectrum.



Fig. 2: Light environment of experimental tanks, considering 2 light spectra (white and red) and 2 light intensities (10 and 100 lux), at the University of Namur (see Experiment III).



Fig. 3: Four 400-L tanks of one recirculating aquaculture system, Unamur, Belgium.

Finally, the fish used for the *ex vivo* experiments were maintained in 4 indoor 400-L tanks of a same recirculating system at the University of Namur (Fig. 3). The fish were not exposed to any experimental conditions. Only specific organs were sampled for hormonal exposures (see Experiment V "*Ex vivo actions of melatonin and cortisol*").

Fish samplings

During samplings, several fish were randomly removed from an experimental tank and directly anesthetized in MS-222 (150 mg/l) in a bucket. As soon as they were anesthetized, fish head was covered with a tissue, and blood was quickly collected by caudal vein puncture with heparinized syringes within 5 min and centrifuged at 3,000 g during 10 min at 4 °C. Fish were then euthanized before collecting the specific organs. Organs and plasma were directly conditioned for further analyses. The same procedure was then applied for the next experimental tank. All the experiments were carried out in agreement with the European and local legislations on animal welfare.

Samplings occurred in France and in Belgium, during the day but also during the night for experiments II, III and IV. Despite different sampling locations and environments, efforts have been deployed to maintain similar sampling conditions between experiments. In addition, in order to reduce the total time of samplings of each experiment and to limit fish stress, at least 7 people were working together to sample all the fish collected from one experimental unit. Objectives and structures of the study

III. Objectives and structure of the study

A. GENERAL OBJECTIVES

There were two main objectives in the current work. Firstly, the thesis aimed to characterize the stress and immunological responses of cultured pike-perch (*Sander lucioperca*) to major aquaculture modalities and to identify best husbandry practices. Then, considering that the light environment can profoundly affect pike-perch physiology, we aimed to characterize the impacts of the light environment on fish immunocompetence and the role of the melatonin hormone as a potential relay between neuroendocrine and immune systems. For these purposes, 5 experiments were conducted.

B. THESIS OUTLINE

The manuscript is subdivided in several chapters and **Experiments I** to **V** are presented in a publication format:

- The following part is a *literature review* comparing the immunomodulatory capacity of the melatonin hormone in vertebrate taxa, including mammals, birds, fish, amphibians and reptiles.
- *Experiment I "optimal aquaculture modalities for pike-perch"* is dealing with the multifactorial experiment of the DIVERSIFY project. It aimed to identify the best husbandry practices for pike-perch culture.
- *Experiment II "daily rhythms of immune markers"* refers to the experiment aiming to describe daily rhythms of cortisol and humoral innate immunity.
- *Experiment III "immune modulation by the light environment*" concerns the experiment focusing on the effects of the day-night cycle, the light intensity and the light spectrum on fish physiology and makes a link between the stress status, the melatonin hormone and immune markers.
- *Experiment IV "photoperiod influences melatonin release and immunity"* is focused on the modulation of the immune system by season-simulated photoperiods and associated variations in circulating melatonin.
- *Experiment V "ex vivo actions melatonin and cortisol"* refers to the *ex vivo* experiment that aims to describe the actions of physiological and pharmacological doses of melatonin and cortisol on immune-related genes.

- Following those chapters, a *general discussion* combining all the results is proposed with a consideration of the potential bias and limitations that occurred during the thesis.
- Finally, some *conclusions and perspectives* are made.

IV. Literature review

Melatonin as an immune modulator: a similar pattern in all vertebrates?

A. INTRODUCTION

The melatonin hormone, which was first isolated in 1959 from the bovine pineal gland (Lerner et al., 1960), shows a high conservation within phylogenetically distant organisms. Melatonin is indeed present in bacteria, invertebrates, vertebrates, algae, plants and fungi (Hardeland et al., 2003; Carrillo-Vico et al., 2005). In vertebrates, it was initially described to be produced and secreted exclusively by the pineal gland. Later, other tissues such as skin, retina and gastro-intestinal tract were identified as non-endocrine extrapineal sources of melatonin in mammals (Bubenik, 2002; Acuna-Castroviejo et al., 2014), birds (Underwood et al., 1984), fish (Bayarri et al., 2004) and amphibians (Serino et al., 1993). Its synthesis always involves a four-enzymatic intracellular steps, including the formation of serotonin from the amino-acid tryptophan by tryptophan-5-hydroxylase and 5-hydroxytryptophan decarboxylase and then the conversion to melatonin by arylalkylamine N-acetyltransferase (AANAT) and hydroxyindole-O-methyl transferase (HIOMT) (Carrillo-Vico et al., 2005; Calvo et al., 2013).

Melatonin functions are numerous. In plants, melatonin plays important physiological functions by enhancing resistance to a range of biotic and abiotic stressors and regulating growth, morphogenesis and light-dark cycles (Arnao, 2014). In bacteria, melatonin has also been described to be involved in the response to abiotic stressors that have been reported to promote the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Arnao and Hernández-Ruiz, 2015; Gao et al., 2020). In vertebrates, the pineal gland is the main organ participating in the release of circulating melatonin. By being produced exclusively during the dark phase of the photoperiod in a wide range of vertebrates, melatonin relays the information about the time of the day and the year to cells and organs (Migaud et al., 2007; Vera et al. 2007; Confente et al., 2010; Falcon et al., 2010; López-Patiño et al., 2014). This time-keeping hormone thus regulates countless physiological functions in vertebrates, including the synchronization of circadian rhythms (sleep-wake timing, locomotor activity, thermal preferences, osmoregulation, metabolic activity)
as well as annual processes such as migration, growth and sexual maturation (Downing et al., 2002; Carrillo-Vico et al., 2005; Falcón et al., 2007; 2010; Dumbell et al., 2016).

In addition to act as an antioxidant, onco-static and antiaging compound, a large body of evidence, mainly accumulated in mammals, supports a complex action of melatonin on the immune system (Srinivasan et al., 2005; Carrillo-Vico et al., 2006; Calvo et al., 2013). In parallel, immune mediators have been shown to modulate melatonin production and release (Carrillo-Vico et al., 2013). Such interactions between neuroendocrine and immune systems for the maintenance of homeostasis are widely accepted in vertebrates. The communication between these systems occurs through neurotransmitters and hormones in the modulation of immune reactivity as well as immune-cellsderived soluble mediators, named cytokines, in the modulation of neuroendocrine functions. And, in this complex neuroendocrineimmunological network, the pineal-synthetized melatonin is considered as a crucial intermediate (Skwarlo-Sonta, 2002; Guerrero and Reiter, 2002; Esteban et al., 2006; Cuesta et al., 2008; Falcon et al., 2010; Esteban et al., 2013).

From the early 70's, an accumulation of anatomical, physiological and pharmacological evidences supporting the immunomodulatory effects of melatonin were collected. Surgical or functional pinealectomy was shown to highly impact the immune system affecting immune organs and immune responses. In chick embryo, the pineal ablation leads to a retarded development of the primary lymphoid organs, including thymus, spleen and burse of Fabricius, and a decreased immune response (Jankovic et al., 1994). In mice, the ablation of the pineal gland leads to an involution of the thymus, a depression of cell-mediated immune response and a decrease in antibody production, interleukin-2 (IL-2) production and natural killer (NK) cell activity (Vaughan and Reiter, 1971; Maestroni et al., 1986; Del Gobbo et al., 1989). In addition to pinealectomy, the action of melatonin on immunity is supported by a correlation between melatonin production and the circadian and seasonal variations of the immune system (Nelson et al., 1995; Nelson and Drazen, 2000). Some examples are the daily and seasonal rhythmicity of blood lymphocyte count (Blom et al., 1994; Haldar et al., 2001), cytokine production (Petrovsky and Harrison, 1997), humoral innate immune activities (Esteban et al., 2006) and cell proliferation in bone marrow and lymphoid system (Haus et al., 1983), with short photoperiods generally associated with

enhanced immune functions (Nelson, 2004). Melatonin was also shown to exert its action through specific membrane and nuclear receptors that are found on immune cells and tissues. Finally, several immunologically-relevant organs, tissues and cells such as leukocytes, bone marrow, thymus and spleen were identified as extrapineal sources of melatonin (Carrillo-Vico et al., 2004; Lardone et al., 2006; Maldonado et al., 2010; Muxel et al., 2012; Markus et al., 2018).

Numerous documents considering the functions of melatonin in mammal's immunity have been published so far, allowing scientists to draw welldefined schemes of action. However, its immune functions and modes of action in other vertebrates have been little or rarely investigated.

The aim of this review is to compare the specific actions of melatonin on immunity in different vertebrate taxa and to point out the lack of knowledge in non-mammalian vertebrates. It will not integrate all the information concerning mammals since specific reviews have been published so far (Carrillo-Vico et al., 2005; Calvo et al., 2013; Ren et al., 2017; Xia et al., 2018; Zhao et al., 2019).

B. MELATONIN RECEPTORS

The main effects of melatonin are primarily induced through melatonin receptors MT1 and MT2 that are high affinity G protein-coupled membrane receptors (GPCRs) (Dubocovich and Markowska., 2005; Emet et al., 2016). In a wide range of vertebrates, these receptors are both expressed in numerous tissues including immune cells and tissues (see Table 1). The main signaling pathways of activated MT1 and MT2 induce a decrease in cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) levels and/or the activation of PKC/ERK pathway (Hardeland et al., 2009; Oishi et al., 2018). G protein-coupled receptor 50 (GPR50) was described as the third receptor of the melatonin receptor subfamily in mammals. However, it does not bind to melatonin and is thus classified as orphan receptor (Oishi et al., 2018). Finally, another melatonin receptor, Mellc, is found exclusively in fish, amphibians (Xenopus species) and birds (Dufourny et al., 2008; Emet et al., 2016). Since GPR50 might correspond to the mammalian ortholog of Mel1c, it is hypothesized that the receptor GPR50 lost its ability to bind melatonin during evolution (Oishi et al., 2018).

The melatonin receptors MT1 and MT2 are also described to form homo- and heteromers between each other or with other GPCRs (Oishi et al., 2018). MT1/MT2 heteromer was shown to regulate light sensitivity in the mouse retina, while MT1/GPR50 complex prevents melatonin binding to MT1 and subsequent inhibition of adenylyl cyclase (Levoye et al., 2006; Baba et al., 2013). However, such heteromerization of melatonin receptors has not been investigated yet in immune cells and tissues. Considering that functional properties of these complexes are different from monomers, they would make the understanding of the melatonin-immunity interactions more complex.

In addition to above-mentioned receptors, low-affinity binding sites of melatonin were detected. Several intracellular proteins, including quinone reductase 2 (QR2) and calmoduline have been suggested to interact with melatonin but only QR2, designated as the MT3 melatonin receptor, was confirmed as a melatonin target. However, no signaling pathway starting from this binding site is known (Nosjean et al., 2000; Oishi et al., 2018; Xia et al., 2018).

Finally, an interaction between melatonin and nuclear receptors belonging to RZR/ROR (Retinoic Z receptor/Retinoic acid-related Orphan Receptor) family, including RORa isoforms, has also been described (Carrillo-Vico et al., 2005). In several studies from the 90's performed on immune tissues of birds and mammals, the majority of specific melatonin binding was due to the nuclear fraction of tissue homogenates (Liu and Pang, 1993; Liu et al., 1995). The development of molecular biology as well as specific agonists and antagonists then led to the characterization, in various mammalian immune cells, of some nuclear receptors of RZR/ROR subfamily binding melatonin. They were identified in human and murine monocytes, macrophages, B lymphocytes, subsets of T lymphocytes and Jurkat cells (Carrillo-Vico et al., 2003b; Dzhagalov et al., 2004; Pozo et al., 2004; Moharrami et al., 2018) as well as in thymus and spleen of mouse and palm squirrel Funambulus pennanti (Carrillo-Vico et al., 2004; Gupta et al., 2015). More recent data confirmed that ROR subfamily isoforms are found in immune cells of mammals and that they play key roles in the development of several immune cells and in some immune responses (Cook et al., 2015). However, an absence of interactions of RORa receptors with melatonin was described (Slominski et al., 2016) suggesting an indirect action of melatonin on these receptors.

Vertebrate	Organism	Distribution	Mel-receptor subtypes	References					
		B and T	MT_1	Carrillo-Vico et al., 2003 ; Pozo et al., 2004 ;					
		lymphocytes		Lardone et al., 2009					
	II	Monocytes	MT_1	Pozo et al., 2004					
	Human	NK cells	MT_1	Pozo et al., 2004					
		Mast cells	$MT_1 \& MT_2$	Maldonado et al., 2010					
		Jurkat cells	MT ₁ & MT ₂	Guerrero et al., 2000 Lardone et al., 2006					
		Thymus	MT_1	Carrillo-Vico et al., 2003					
	Mouso	Spleen	$MT_1 \& MT_2$	Carrillo-Vico et al., 2003					
	Mouse								
Mammale				Singh et al., 2016					
Manmais		Thymus	$MT_1 \& MT_2$	Pozo et al., 1997					
				Sanchez-Hidalgo et al., 2009					
		Spleen	$MT_1 \& MT_2$	Pozo et al., 1997					
	Rat								
				Sanchez-Hidalgo et al., 2009					
		B and T	MT_1	Pozo et al., 1997					
		lymphocytes							
		Leukocytes	MT_2	Lotufo et al., 2001					
	Palm squirrel	Thymus	$MT_1 \& MT_2$	Ahmad and Haldar, 2010					

Table 1: Distribution of high-affinity melatonin receptors MT₁, MT₂ and Mel1c in immune cells and tissues of vertebrates.

		Spleen	$MT_1 \& MT_2$	Ahmad and Haldar, 2010					
		Spleen	MT_1	Vishwas and Haldar, 2014; Verma and Haldar; 2018					
	Golden hamster	Thymus	MT_1	Vishwas and Haldar, 2014					
	Golden nämster	Bone marrow	MT_1	Vishwas and Haldar, 2014					
		mononuclear cells							
	Duck	Spleen	Undefined	Yu et al., 1991					
		Thymus	MT ₁ ; MT ₂ & Mel1c	Wronka et al., 2008					
	Chicken	Spleen	MT_1 ; MT_2 & Mel1c	Wronka et al., 2008					
		Bursa of Fabricius	MT_1 ; MT_2 & Mel1c	Wronka et al., 2008					
Birds	Pigeon	Spleen	Undefined	Poon et al., 1993					
		Spleen	MT_1 ; MT_2	Yadav et al., 2011					
	Jungle bush	Splenocytes	MT_1 ; MT_2 & Mel1c	Yadav et al., 2014					
	quail	Lymphocytes in	MT_2	Kharwar and Haldar, 2011					
		BALT							
	Common carp	Leukocytes	MT_1	Kepka et al., 2015					
	Senegalese sole	Spleen	MT_1	Confente et al., 2010					
Fish	Rabbitfish	Spleen	MT_2	Park et al., 2006					
	European sea	Blood cells	MT_2	Sauzet et al., 2008					
	bass								
Amphibians & Reptiles	MT1 and MT2 re	ceptors were characte	erized in brain but no stu	dy so far has investigated their peripheral distribution.					

C. IMMUNE SYSTEM-SYNTHESIZED MELATONIN

While the pineal gland was initially described as the exclusive source of melatonin in the 60s and 70s, the production of melatonin by trout retina was reported by Gern and Ralph in 1979. Several extrapineal sources of melatonin were then identified in vertebrates, including gastrointestinal tract, skin, Harderian gland and, to a greater interest for this review, the immune system cells (Wiechmann et al., 2013; Acuña-Castroviejo et al., 2014; Markus et al., 2018). This production was observed in human lymphocytes, macrophages, bone marrow cells and Jurkat cells (Conti et al., 2000; Carrillo-Vico et al., 2004; Lardone et al., 2006; Markus et al., 2018), murine thymus, spleen, bone marrow cells and RAW264.7 macrophages (Gómez-Corvera et al., 2009; Muxel et al., 2012) and rat mast cells and macrophages (Martins et al., 2004; Maldonado et al., 2010). In addition, melatonin and/or its biosynthetic machinery was described in thymus of human and rat and in human peripheral blood cells (Carrillo-Vico et al., 2004; Naranjo et al., 2007). Since all these immune cells and tissues express melatonin receptors (Table 1), it became quite evident that melatonin synthetized by the immune system plays paracrine, autocrine and intracrine functions in the regulation of innate and acquired immune responses (Markus et al., 2018, Xia et al., 2018; Zhao et al., 2019). The biological significance of this immune-cell derived melatonin has also been explored, but to a lesser extent. It has been demonstrated that melatonin regulates the IL-2/II-2 receptor system in human lymphocytes as well as phagocytosis of human colostral mononuclear cells (Carrillo-Vico et al., 2005; Pires-Lapa et al., 2013). For additional information, readers are invited to consult the paper of Markus et al. (2018) reviewing the shift of melatonin production from the pineal gland to the immune cells during acute inflammatory responses.

Although specific melatonin receptors have been detected on immune cells and tissues of birds and fish (Table 1), no study, to our knowledge, has investigated yet the presence of such immune biosynthesis in immunederived cells of non-mammalian vertebrates or its biological significance.

D. MELATONIN ACTIONS ON INNATE IMMUNITY

The innate immune responses are the early line of defense against invading pathogens. It is composed of a set of different cells, including macrophages, dendritic cells, neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils, mast cells and NK cells, in addition to various humoral components. These humoral markers include lytic enzymes, components of the complement pathways, cytokines, chemokines and antibacterial peptides (Magnadóttir, 2006).

In mammals, the actions of melatonin on cellular innate immunity have been extensively analyzed and reviewed elsewhere (Calvo et al., 2013; Xia et al., 2018). In addition to influence leukocyte populations (Currier et al., 2000; Srinivasan et al., 2005), melatonin was shown to modulate the main functions of these cells, with the role on macrophage biology being the most documented. It concerns, in macrophages, the expression of cell surface molecules, including major histocompatibility complex class I and II, the production and secretion of free radicals and cytokines, including IL-12, TNF- α , IL-6 and IL-1 β , as well as their phenotype polarization (Calvo et al., 2013; Xia et al., 2018; Xu et al., 2018). Melatonin also modulates phagocytosis and ROS production of neutrophils as well as cytokine production and cytotoxic activity of NK cells (Pieri et al., 1998; Recchioni et al., 1998; Hriscu, 2005; Miller et al., 2006). In addition, it favors the recruitment of eosinophils and neutrophils to inflammatory sites (Calvo et al., 2013).

Despite the differences in the organization of some immune relays and a huge gap of knowledge in the melatonin-immunity interactions in non-mammalian vertebrates, the available data suggest a similar key role of melatonin on their innate immune system. In reptiles, the only two available studies described in a snake model an action of melatonin on nitric oxide and superoxide productions by macrophages and on phagocytic activity of neutrophils (Tripathi and Singh, 2014; Singh et al., 2016). Furthermore, monocyte, eosinophil and basophils counts increased in response to melatonin (Tripathi and Singh, 2014). In birds, melatonin stimulates heterophil phagocytic activity and total leukocyte counts and modulates splenocyte activity measured through blastogenic response, apoptosis and II-2 production (Rodriguez et al., 2001; Brennan et al., 2002; Terrón et al., 2005). In fish, melatonin was shown *in vivo* to enhance several innate immune responses,

including phagocytic, peroxidase, ROS and cell-mediated cytotoxic activities as well as neutrophil migration to an injury site (Cuesta et al., 2008; Ren et al., 2015).

Melatonin is mainly seen as an immunostimulant molecule, as demonstrated by the enhancement of immune functions following its injection or ingestion in various vertebrates (Table 2). And these immunoenhancing properties are best demonstrated in cases in which the immunity is depressed as a consequence of aging, stress or treatment (Carrillo-Vico et al., 2005). However, anti-inflammatory properties of melatonin in mammals were described, leading scientists to describe it as an immune buffer compound. Using in vitro approaches, Xia et al. (2012) described an inhibition of LPSstimulated production of TNF-a, Il-1b, IL-6 and IL-8 in RAW264.7 cells following melatonin treatment. During multiple organ dysfunction syndrome following heatstroke in rat, melatonin reduced plasma systemic inflammation response molecules, including IL-1b and IL-6, and promoted plasma levels of an anti-inflammatory cytokine, namely IL-10 (Lin et al., 2011). Melatonin was also shown to lower pro-inflammatory cytokines levels in different cases of inflammation, including neuroinflammation in streptozotocin-induced diabetic neuropathy, cerulean-induced pancreatitis and periodontitis in rat, as well as duchenne muscular dystrophy in human (Chahbouni et al., 2010; Jung et al., 2010; Negi et al., 2011; Kara et al., 2013). This anti-inflammatory property of melatonin was shown to be mediated by the inhibitions of both inflammasome and NF-KB activations (Markus et al., 2013; Tarocco et al., 2019). Melatonin thus preserves the subtle pro- and anti-inflammatory balance by acting as an immune stimulant under basal or immunosuppressive conditions to ensure an optimal response to infection or as an antiinflammatory compound in the case of inflammatory responses to protect the organism from host tissue damage (Carrillo-Vico et al., 2013; Tarocco et al., 2019).

Such buffering role of immune responses was explored only once in nonmammalian vertebrates. In common carp *Cyprinus carpio*, during zymosaninduced peritonitis, the administration of melatonin reduced leukocyte migration to the peritoneum and induced a decrease of the respiratory burst activity in peritoneal leukocytes (Kepka et al., 2015). However, more investigations are needed to hypothesize a similar melatonin dual function as observed in mammals.

Vertebrate taxa	Organism	Protocol	Effect on the immune system	References		
	Human	injection	 + neutrophil chemotactic response + expression of intracellular chemokines in neutrophils 	Peña et al., 2007		
	Mouse	i.p. injection	 + gene expression of M-CSF, TNF-α, TGFβ and SCF in peritoneal macrophages + gene expression of IL-1β, IFNγ, M-CSF, TNFα and SCF in splenocytes 	Liu et al., 2001		
		Oral administration	+ survival of precursor B cells	Yu et al., 2000		
	Rat	In vitro (1.2 nM); neutrophils and PBMCs	+ chemotaxis response	Peña et al., 2007		
Mammals		i.p. injection	Peña et al., 2007			
Mammals	Northern	Intratesticular injection	 + lymphatic tissue weight + lymphocyte count +lymphocyte proliferation in spleen and thymus + Il-2 + leukocyte 	Ahmad and Haldar, 2010		
	squirrel	s.c. injection	+ leukocyte count+ blastogenic response of splenocytes	Rai et al., 2009		
		s.c. injection	 + lymphocyte count of blood and bone marrow + blastogenic stimulation ratio of spleen and thymus 	Rai and Haldar, 2003		

Table 2: Immunomodulatory effects of exogenous melatonin.

	Sheen	Implant or injection	+ CD4+ T lymphocytes	Ramos et al. 2018		
	Sheep	implant of injection	+ antibody titer	Kanlos et al., 2016		
		In vitro $(430 \text{ nM} - 2 \mu M)$; lymphocytes	+ proliferation	Kharwar et al., 2015		
			+ spleen weight			
	Jungle	s c_injection	+ leukocyte count	Singh et al 2010		
	bush quail	s.e. injeetion	- Apoptosis	Singh et un, 2010		
			+ blastogenic response of splenocytes			
		In vitro (2.15 pM);	+ II-2 production	Singh et al. 2010		
Birds		splenocytes	+ blastogenic response	Singil et al., 2010		
	Iananasa		+ primary antibody titers	Moore and Siones		
	Japanese	Added in drinking water	+ cutaneous basophil hypersensitivity reaction	2003		
	quan		to phytohemagglutinin	2003		
	Chickon	s a injustion (40 mg/kg)	+ leukocyte count	Bronnan at al 2002		
	Chicken	s.e. injection (40 mg/kg)	+ T and B lymphocytes proliferation	Diemian et al., 2002		
	Ping dovo	Oral administration	+ phagocytosis	Tarrán at al 2005		
	King dove	Oral administration	- Superoxide radical levels	1enon et al., 2003		
			+ cytotoxic, phagocytic and respiratory burst			
	Gilthood	i.p. injection	activities of head-kidney leukocytes	Cuesta et al., 2008		
	saabraam		+ peroxidase activity in serum			
Tich	seablealli	In vitro $(20 - 400 \ \mu M)$;	+ respiratory burst activity	Cuesta et al. 2007		
F ISH		head kidney leukocytes	- peroxidase activity	Cuesta et al., 2007		
	Common	i.p. injection (during	- neutrophil and lymphocytes counts			
	com	zymosan-induced	- respiratory burst in inflammatory leukocytes	Kepka et al., 2015		
	carp	peritonitis)	- leukocyte apoptosis			

		In vitro $(10^{-6} - 10^{-10} M)$	- leukocyte migration	Kepka et al., 2015					
	Zebrafish	Pretreatment of larvae	+ neutrophil migration	Ren et al., 2015					
	Soo boss	In vitro (400 μ M); head	porovidoso activity	Cuesta et al. 2007					
	Sea Dass	kidney leukocytes	- peroxidase activity	Cuesta et al., 2007					
			+ thymus weight						
			+ nitrite release and superoxide production by						
			splenic macrophages						
	Asiatic		+ mitogen-induced splenic lymphocyte	Tripathi and Singh,					
Reptiles	water	i.p. injection	proliferation	2014					
	snake		+ monocyte, eosinophil and basophil counts	Singh et al., 2016					
			+ nitrite release and superoxide production by						
			leukocytes						
			- Leukocyte phagocytosis						
Amphibians	No study ha	s investigated the effects of exc	ogenous melatonin on immunity of amphibians						

E. MELATONIN ACTIONS ON SPECIFIC IMMUNITY

The main components of the acquired immune response, which is antigenspecific, are T and B lymphocytes in addition to circulating proteins including antibodies and cytokines. Seen as one of the most important cell types of the immunity, T lymphocytes are the most considered cells in the study of the melatonin immunomodulation and several recent reviews have been published so far in mammals (Ren et al., 2017; Zhao et al., 2019). In addition to express receptors for melatonin and to possess its biosynthetic machinery, T-cells were shown to be modulated by melatonin in mammals, from its development in thymus to its differentiation and even memory (Garcia-Mauriño et al. 1999; Guerrero and Reiter, 2002; Glebezdina et al., 2019; Luo et al., 2020). After exposure of the rat thymus to microwaves, melatonin stimulated the proliferation rate of thymocytes and decreased apoptosis (Sokolovic et al., 2013). Melatonin also activated proliferation markers of CD4+ and naïve CD4 T lymphocytes in murine spleen (Yoo et al., 2016) and modulated the differentiation of activated CD4+ T cell into specific T subsets (Ren et al., 2017). Finally, it promoted the survival of human and mouse T cells that may affect the generation of T memory cells (Yu et al., 2000; Pedrosa et al., 2010; Ren et al., 2017).

Several studies concluded that melatonin also plays a critical role in regulating the activation of B cells in mammals (Luo et al., 2020). In mouse, when orally administered, it promotes the survival of precursor B-cells in bone marrow (Yu et al., 2000). Melatonin also modulates both T-cell-dependent and T-cell-independent antibody production by B cells (Cernysiov et al., 2009). If used as an adjuvant in sheep vaccination, melatonin induced higher antibody titer and an increase in IgG+ B lymphocytes which both seem to be the result of an enhancement of T CD4 cell activation cooperating with B lymphocytes for adequate response to vaccine antigen (Ramos et al., 2018).

In birds, Chen et al. (2016) showed in pinealectomized chicken a partial restoration of T-cell proliferative activity with exogenous melatonin. Exogenous melatonin also increased T and B lymphocyte populations in chicken and in Jungle bush quail (Brennan et al., 2002; Singh et al., 2010) and *in vitro* proliferation of lymphocytes isolated from lung tissue of Jungle bush quail (Kharwar et al., 2015). The suppressive effects of dexamethasone and testosterone on lymphocyte counts were antagonized by melatonin

supplementation (Singh and Haldar, 2005; Singh et al., 2010). Finally, melatonin enhanced B lymphocyte proliferation isolated from the bursa of Fabricius of broilers (Li et al., 2015).

The only study focusing on T and B lymphocyte in teleosts observed no effects of exogenous melatonin on specific markers at the transcript level (TCR α - T cell receptor alpha chain - and IgM, respectively), suggesting a lack of effects on lymphocyte activation or proliferation (Cuesta et al., 2008). And no data were found concerning amphibians and reptiles.

F. INDIRECT ACTION ON IMMUNE TARGETS

Considering that several hormones are well-known immune modulators and that melatonin influences the secretion of these hormones, it became evident that melatonin acts on immune targets, not only through specific receptors, but also via intermediates. One of the main considered groups of molecules is glucocorticoids (GC) whose production is regulated by the hypothalamic-pituitary (HPA) axis in mammals and birds and by the hypothalamic-pituitary-interrenal cells (HPI) axis in fishes, amphibians and reptiles (Sopinka et al., 2015).

Melatonin was shown to modulate the secretion of the main GCs in vertebrates, namely cortisol in teleosts and corticosterone in birds, nonhuman mammals, reptiles and amphibians. And both cortisol and corticosterone are strong immune modulators (Tort, 2011; López-Patiño et al., 2013; Conde-Sieira et al., 2014; Morey et al., 2015; Sopinka et al., 2015; Taves et al., 2016, Berechshencko et al., 2018). However, the mechanisms of such action on the stress axis are not fully understood (Gesto et al., 2016). In mammals, melatonin was shown to inhibit the ACTH-mediated cortisol production in the adrenal gland (Torres-Farfan et al., 2003; Gesto et al., 2016). In the study of Gesto et al. (2016), adding melatonin in fish tank (100 nM) was effective in reducing in Solea senegalensis the intensity of the stress response and in attenuating the post-stress increase in *crh* gene expression in the hypothalamus. Such observation, taking into account that specific melatonin receptors have been detected on fish hypothalamus (Gaildrat and Falcón, 2000; Falcón et al., 2003; 2007; Maitra and Hasan, 2016), suggests that effects of melatonin on the HPI axis are mediated through an interaction with the hypothalamic control of pituitary function. In addition, the detection of melatonin receptors on pituitary gland provides evidence that melatonin might also modulate directly the neuroendocrine functions of this tissue (Maitra and Hasan, 2016). Melatonin was thus shown to modulate GH and PRL secretions by the pituitary gland (Falcón et al., 2003), but no information was found regarding ACTH secretion.

The neuroendocrine system was also shown to modulate immune functions through the release of prolactin (PRL), growth hormone (GH) and insulinlike growth factor-1 (IGF-1) (Kelley et al., 2007) whose secretions are all influenced by melatonin (Falcón et al., 2003; Oner et al., 2009; Molik et al., 2010). Finally, sex hormones influence both innate and adaptive immunity, with androgens showing mainly anti-inflammatory properties and estrogens being both pro- and anti-inflammatory (Gilliver, 2010; Berechshencko et al., 2018). And in mammals, melatonin is a modulator of androgen and estrogen production in gonadal cells, and a modulator of the levels of associated receptors (Menéndez-Menéndez and Martinez-Campa, 2018).

G. MODULATION OF PINEAL ACTIVITY

In fish, several environmental factors have been described to influence production and release of melatonin by the pineal organ. Is most fish species, the melatonin rhythmic profile is thus under the control of internal factors named circadian clocks which are untrained by light (photoperiod) and temperature, the two main synchronizing signals of the environment (Masuda et al., 2003; Sánchez-Vázquez et al., 2019). Those factors are thus crucial pineal modulator and an increase in melatonin levels were reported in fish reared in shorter photoperiod or higher temperature (Esteban et al., 2006; 2013). Inhibition of melatonin production and secretion was also described in several fish species following a stress event. Such inhibition is mediated by cortisol (Benyassi et al., 2001; Falcón et al., 2010; López-Patiño et al., 2014). In rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss), increasing external salinity promotes melatonin synthesis by the pineal organ through an activation of AANAT protein synthesis (López-Patiño et al., 2011). Age has also to be considered since a progressive decline in melatonin production occurs in zebrafish (Danio rerio) from year 1 to year 4 (Zhdanova et al., 2008).

H. A SIMILAR ACTION IN VERTEBRATES

The high conservation of melatonin structure and its associated biosynthetic machinery have been demonstrated in phylogenetically distant organisms. Some authors also suggest that the neuroendocrine-immune interactions through melatonin is evolutionary conserved, at least in vertebrates (Kepka et al., 2015). While the literature is abundant for mammals, only little attention has been paid on birds and fish. In addition, very few studies have considered this melatonin action in reptiles and none was found about amphibians. In the present document, we defined that, in all vertebrate taxa to the exception of amphibians due to inexistent information, the available data demonstrated a common action of the melatonin hormone on the immune system.

Plenty of protocols have been followed since 80's, from *in vitro* to *in vivo* approaches. They considered different animal models, environments and procedures, leading sometimes to contradictory results. However, all these studies have participated in the better understanding of one of the countless significant actions of melatonin. Even if a general observation can be drawn considering non-mammalian vertebrates supporting a common action shared between vertebrate taxa, additional investigations are needed to better clarify the immune-modulatory actions of melatonin, considering both direct and indirect actions.

I. **REFERENCES**

- Acuña-Castroviejo D, Escames G, Venegas C, Diaz-Casado ME, Lima-Cabello E, Lopez LC, Rosales-Corral S, Tan DX, Reiter RJ (2014). Extrapineal melatonin: sources, regulation, and potential functions. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.*, 71(16), 2997–3025.
- Ahmad Z, Haldar C (2010). Melatonin and androgen receptor expression interplay modulates cell-mediated immunity in tropical rodent *Funambulus pennanti*: an in-vivo and in-vitro study. *Scand. J. Immunol.*, 71(6), 420–430.
- Arnao MB (2014). Phytomelatonin: discovery, content, and role in plants. *Adv. botany*, Article ID 815769.
- M.B. Arnao, J. Hernández-Ruiz (2015). Functions of melatonin in plants: A review. J. Pineal Res., 59(2):133-150.
- Baba K, Benleulmi-Chaachoua A, Journé AS, Kamal M, Guillaume JL, Dussaud S, Gbahou F, Yettou K, Liu C, Contreras-Alcantara S, Jockers

R, Tosini G (2013). Heteromeric MT1/MT2 melatonin receptors modulate photoreceptor function. *Sci. Signal*, 6(296), 1–12.

- Bayarri MJ, Ligo M, Muñoz-Cuesto JA, Isorna E, Delgado MJ, Madrid JA, Sanchez-Vazquez FJ, Alonso-Gomez AL (2004). Binding characteristics and daily rhythms of melatonin receptors are distinct in the retina and the brain areas of the European sea bass retina (*Dicentrarchus labrax*). *Brain Res.*, *1029*, 241–250.
- Benyassi A, Schwartz C, Ducouret B, Falcón J (2001). Glucocorticoid receptors and serotonin N-acetyltransferase activity in the fish pineal organ. *Neuroreport*, 12(5), 889-892.
- Bereshchenko O, Bruscoli S, Riccadi C (2018). Glucocorticoids, sex hormones, and immunity. *Front. Immunol.*, *9*, 1332.
- Blom JMC, Gerber JM, Nelson RJ (1994). Day length interactions affects immune cell numbers in deer mice: with age, sex, and prenatal photoperiod. *Am. J. Physiol.*, 267(2), 596–601.
- Brennan CP, Hendricks GL, El-Sheikh TM, Mashaly MM (2002). Melatonin and the enhancement of immune responses in immature male chickens. *Poult. Sci.*, *81*(3), 371–375.
- Bubenik A (2002). Gastrointestinal melatonin: localization, function, and clinical relevance. *Dig. Dis. Sci.*, 47(10), 2336-2348.
- Calvo JR, Gonzalez-Yanes C, Maldonado MD (2013). The role of melatonin in the cells of the innate immunity: a review. *J. Pineal Res.*, *55*(2), 103–120.
- Carrillo-Vico A, García-Mauriño S, Calvo JR, Guerrero JM (2003). Melatonin counteracts the inhibitory effect of PGE2 on IL-2 production in human lymphocytes via its mt1 membrane receptor. *FASEB J.*, *17*(6), 755–757.
- Carrillo-Vico A, García-Pergañeda A, Naji L, Calvo JR, Romero MP, Guerrero JM (2003b). Expression of membrane and nuclear melatonin receptor mRNA and protein in the mouse immune system. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.*, 60(10), 2272–2278.
- Carrillo-Vico A, Calvo JR, Abreu P, Lardone PJ, Garci-Mauriño S, Reiter RJ, Guerrero JM (2004). Evidence of melatonin synthesis by human lymphocytes and its physiological significance: possible role as intracrine, autocrine, and/or paracrine substance. *FASEB J.*, *18*(3), 537–539.
- Carrillo-Vico A, Guerrero JM, Lardone PJ, Reiter RJ (2005). A review of the multiple actions of melatonin on the immune system. *Endocrine*, 27(2), 189–200.
- Carrillo-Vico A, Lardone PJ, Fernández-Santos MJ, Martin-Lacave I, Calvo JR, Karasek M, Guerrero JM (2005). Human lymphocyte-synthesized melatonin is involved in the regulation of the interleukin-2/interleukin-2 receptor system. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.*, *90*(2), 992–1000.

- Carrillo-Vico A, Reiter RJ, Lardone PJ, Herrera JL, Fernández-Montesinos R, Guerrero JM, Pozo D (2006). The modulatory role of melatonin on immune responsiveness. *Curr. Opin. Investig. Drugs.*, 7(5), 423–431.
- Carrillo-Vico A, Lardone PJ, Álvarez-Śanchez N, Rodrĩguez-Rodrĩguez A, Guerrero JM (2013). Melatonin: Buffering the immune system. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, *14*, 8638–8683.
- Cernysiov V, Gerasimcik N, Mauricas M, Girkontaite I (2009). Regulation of T-cell-independent and T-cell-dependent antibody production by circadian rhythm and melatonin. *Int. Immunol.*, 22(1), 25–34.
- Chahbouni M, Escames G, Venegas C, Sevilla B, Garcia JA, Lopez LC, Muñoz-Hoyos A, Molina-Carballo A, Acuna-Castroviejo D (2010). Melatonin treatment normalizes plasma pro-inflammatory cytokines and nitrosative/oxidative stress in patients suffering from Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J. Pineal Res., 48, 282–289.
- Chen F, Reheman A, Cao J, Wang Z, Dong Y, Zhang Y, Chen Y (2016). Effect of melatonin on monochromatic light-induced T-lymphocyte proliferation in the thymus of chickens. *J. Photochem. Photobiol. B*, *161*, 9–16.
- Confente F, Rendon MC, Besseau L, Falcón J, Muñoz-Cueto JA (2010). Melatonin receptors in a pleuronectiform species, *Solea senegalensis*: Cloning, tissue expression, day–night and seasonal variations. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.*, *167*(2), 202–214.
- Conti A, Conconi S, Hertens E, Skwarlo-Sonta K, Markowska M, Maestroni JM (2000). Evidence for melatonin synthesis in mouse and human bone marrow cells. *J. Pineal Res.*, 28, 193–202.
- Cook DN, Kang HS, Jetten AM (2015). Retinoic acid-related orphan receptors (RORs): regulatory functions in immunity, development, circadian rhythm, and metabolism. *Nucl. Receptor Res.*, 2:101185.
- Cuesta A, Cerezuela R, Esteban MA, Meseguer J (2008). In vivo actions of melatonin on the innate immune parameters in the teleost fish gilthead seabream. *J. Pineal Res.*, *45*, 70–78.
- Cuesta A, Rodriguez A, Calderon MV, Meseguer J, Esteban MA (2007). Effect of the Pineal Hormone Melatonin on Teleost Fish Phagocyte Innate Immune Responses After in vitro Treatment. J. Exp. Zool. A. Ecol. Genet. Physiol., 307A, 509–515.
- Currier NL, Sun LZY, Miller SC (2000). Exogenous melatonin: quantitative enhancement in vivo of cells mediating non-specific immunity. *J. Neuroimmunol.*, *104*, 101–108.
- Del Gobbo V, Libri V, Villani N, Calio R, Nistico G (1989). Pinealectomy inhibits interleukin-2 production and natural killer activity in mice. *Int. J. Immunopharmac.*, *11*(5), 567–573.

- Downing G (2002). Impact of spectral composition on larval haddock, *Melanogrammus aeglefinus* L., growth and survival. *Aquac. Res.*, 33, 251-259.
- Dubocovich ML, Markowska M (2005). Functional MT1 and MT2 melatonin receptors in mammals. *Endocrine*, 27(2), 101–110.
- Dufourny L, Levasseur A, Migaud M, Callebaut I, Pontarotti P, Malpaux B, Monget P (2008). GPR50 is the mammalian ortholog of Mel1c: Evidence of rapid evolution in mammals. *BMC Evol. Biol.*, 8: 105.
- Dumbell R, Matveeva O, Oster H (2016). Circadian Clocks, stress, and immunity. *Front. Endocrinol.*, 7(37).
- Dzhagalov I, Giguère V, He YW (2004). Lymphocyte development and function in the absence of retinoic acid-related orphan receptor alpha. *J. Immunol.*, *173*(5), 2952–2959.
- Emet M, Ozcan H, Ozel L, Yayla M, Halici Z, Hacimuftuoglu A. (2016). A review of melatonin, its receptors and drugs. *Eurasian J. Med.*, 48, 135–141.
- Esteban MA, Cuesta A, Rodríguez A, Meseguer J (2006). Effect of photoperiod on the fish innate immune system: a link between fish pineal gland and the immune system. *J. Pineal Res.*, *41*(3), 261-266.
- Esteban MA, Cuesta A, Chaves-pozo E, Meseguer J (2013). Influence of melatonin on the immune system of fish: a review. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, 14, 7979-7999.
- Falcón J, Besseau L, Fazzari D, Attia J, Gaildrat P, Beauchaud M, Boeuf G (2003). Melatonin modulates secretion of growth hormone and prolactin by trout pituitary glands and cells in culture. *Endocrinol.*, *144*(10), 4648–4658.
- Falcón J, Besseau L, Sauzet S, Boeuf G (2007). Melatonin effects on the hypothalamo-pituitary axis in fish. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.*, *18*, 81–88.
- Falcón J, Migaud H, Muñoz-Cueto JA, Carrillo M (2010). Current knowledge on the melatonin system in teleost fish. *Gen. Comp. Endocr.*, *165*, 469– 482.
- Gaildrat P, Falcón J (2000). Melatonin receptors in the pituitary of a teleost fish: mRNA expression, 2-[125I]iodomelatonin binding and cyclic AMP response. *Neuroendocrinol.*, 72:57–66
- Gao Y, Wang Y, Qian J, Si W, Tan A, Xu Y, Zhao Y (2020). Melatonin enhances the cadmium tolerance of mushrooms through antioxidant-related metabolites and enzymes. *Food Chem.*, *330*(*15*):127263.
- Garcia-Mauriño S, Pozo D, Carrillo-Vito A, Calvo JR, Guerrero JM (1999). Melatonin activates Th1 lymphocytes by increasing IL-12 production. *Life Sci.*, 65(20), 2143–2150.
- Gern WA, Ralph CL (1979). Melatonin synthesis by the retina. *Science*, 204, 183–84.

- Gesto M, Álvarez-otero R, Conde-sieira M, Otero-rodiño C, Usandizaga S, Soengas JL, Míguez JM, López-patiño MA (2016). A simple melatonin treatment protocol attenuates the response to acute stress in the sole *Solea senegalensis*. *Aquaculture*, 452, 272–282.
- Gilliver SC (2010). Sex steroids as inflammatory regulators. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol., 120(2–3), 105–15.
- Glebezdina NS, Olina AA, Nekrasova IV, Kuklina EM (2019). Molecular mechanisms of control of differentiation of regulatory T-lymphocytes by exogenous melatonin. *Dokl. Biochem. Biophys.*, 484(2), 13–16.
- Gómez-Corvera A, Cerrillo I, Molinero P, Naranjo MC, Lardone PJ, Sanchez-Hidalgo M, Carrascosa-Salmoral MP, Medrano-Campillo P, Guerrero JM, Rubio A (2009). Evidence of immune system melatonin production by two pineal melatonin deficient mice, C57BL/6 and Swiss strains. J. Pineal Res., 47, 15–22.
- Guerrero JM, Pozo D, García-Mauriño S, Osuna C, Molinero P, Calvo JR (2000). Involvement of nuclear receptors in the enhanced IL-2 production by melatonin in Jurkat cells. *Ann. N-Y Acad. Sci.*, *917*, 397–403.
- Guerrero JM, Reiter RJ (2002). Melatonin-immune system relationships. *Curr. Top. Med. Chem.*, 2(2), 167–179.
- Gupta S, Haldar C, Ahmad R (2015). Photoperiodic regulation of nuclear melatonin receptor ROR a in lymphoid organs of a tropical rodent *Funambulus pennanti*: Role in seasonal oxidative stress. *J. Photochem. Photobiol. B*, 142, 141–153.
- Haldar C, Singh R, Guchhait P (2001). Relationship between the annual rhythms in melatonin and immune system in the tropical palm squirrel, *Funambulus pennanti. J. Biol. Med. Rhythm Res.*, 18(1), 61–69.
- Hardeland R, Poeggeler B (2003). Non-vertebrate melatonin. J. Pineal Res., 34, 233-241.
- Hardeland R (2009). Melatonin: signaling mechanisms of a pleiotropic agent. BioFactors, 35,183-192.
- Haus E, Lakatua DJ, Swoyer J, Sackett-Lundeen L (1983). Chronobiology in hematology and immunology. *Am. J. Anat.*, *168*(4), 467–517.
- Hriscu ML (2005). Modulatory factors of circadian phagocytic activity. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci., 1057, 403–430.
- Jankovic BD, Knezevic Z, Kojic L, Nikolic V (1994). Immune functions in the chick embryo pinealectomized at 96 hours of incubation. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.*, 719, 398–409.
- Jung KH, Hong SW, Zheng HM, Lee HS, Lee H, Lee DH, Lee SY, Hong SS (2010). Melatonin ameliorates cerulein-induced pancreatitis by the modulation of nuclear erythroid 2-related factor 2 and nuclear factor-kappaB in rats. *J. Pineal Res.*, *48*, 239–250.

- Kara A, Akman S, Ozkanlar S, Tozoglu U, Kalkan Y, Canakci CF, Tozoglu S (2013). Immune modulatory and antioxidant effects of melatonin in experimental periodontitis in rats. *Free Radical Bio. Med.*, *55*, 21–26.
- Kelley K, Weigent D, Kooijman R (2007). Protein hormones and immunity. *Brain Behav. Immun.*, 21(4), 384–392.
- Kepka M, Szwejser E, Pijanowski L, Kemenade BMLV, Chadzinska M (2015). A role for melatonin in maintaining the pro- and antiinflammatory balance by influencing leukocyte migration and apoptosis in carp. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.*, *53*(1), 179–190.
- Kharwar RK, Haldar C (2011). Anatomical and histological profile of bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue and localization of melatonin receptor types (Mel1a and Mel1b) in the lung-associated immune system of a tropical bird, *Perdicula asiatica*. *Acta Histochemica*, *113*(3), 333–339.
- Kharwar RK, Haldar C, Singh S (2015). Mel1b receptor mediated action of melatonin in regulation of lung associated immune system (LAIS) of *Perdicula asiatica*: An *in vitro* study. *Biologia*, *70*(11), 1537–1544.
- Lardone PJ, Carrillo-Vico A, Molinero P, Rubio A, Guerrero JM (2009). A novel interplay between membrane and nuclear melatonin receptors in human lymphocytes: significance in IL-2 production. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.*, *66*, 516–525.
- Lardone PJ, Carrillo-Vico A, Naranjo MC, De Felipe B, Vallejo A, Karasek M, Guerrero J (2006). Melatonin synthesized by Jurkat human leukemic T cell line is implicated in IL-2 production. *J. Cell. Physiol.*, 206, 273–279.
- Lerner AB, Case JD, Takahashi Y (1960). Isolation of melatonin and 5methoxyindole-3-acetic acid from bovine pineal glands. J. Biol. Chem., 235, 1992-1997.
- Levoye A, Dam J, Ayoub MA, Guillaume JL, Couturier C, Delagrange P, Jockers R (2006). The orphan GPR50 receptor specifically inhibits MT1 melatonin receptor function through heterodimerization. *EMBO J.*, 25, 3012–3023.
- Li J, Cao J, Wang Z, Dong Y, Chen Y (2015). Melatonin plays a critical role in inducing B lymphocyte proliferation of the bursa of Fabricius in broilers via monochromatic lights. *J. Photochem. Photobiol. B*, 142, 29– 34.
- Lin XJ, Mei GP, Liu J, Li YL, Zuo D, Liu SJ, Zhao TB, Lin MT (2011). Therapeutic effects of melatonin on heatstroke-induced multiple organ dysfunction syndrome in rats. *J. Pineal Res.*, *50*, 436–444.
- Liu ZM, Pang SF (1993). [125I]Iodomelatonin-binding sites in the bursa of Fabricius of birds: binding characteristics, subcellular distribution, diurnal variations and age studies. *J. Endocrinol.*, *138*, 51-57.

- Liu Z, Zhao Y, Peng S (1995). Identification of 2-[125I] iodomelatonin binding sites in the thymus of mice and its significance. *Sci. China. B*, *38*, 1455-1461.
- Liu F, Ng TB, Fung MC (2001). Pineal indoles stimulate the gene expression of immunomodulating cytokines. *J. Neural Transm.*, *108*, 397–405.
- López-Patiño MA, Rodríguez-Illamola A, Gesto M, Soengas JL, Míguez JM (2011). Changes in plasma melatonin levels and pineal organ melatonin synthesis following acclimation of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) to different water salinities. *J. Exp. Biol.*, 214:928-936.
- López-Patiño MA, Conde-Sieira M, Gesto M, Librán-pérez M, Soengas JL, Míguez JM (2013). Melatonin partially minimizes the adverse stress effects in Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*). *Aquaculture*, 388–391, 165–172.
- López-Patiño MA, Gesto M, Conde-Sieira M, Soengas JL, Miguez JM (2014). Stress inhibition of melatonin synthesis in the pineal organ of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) is mediated by cortisol. *J. Exp. Biol.*, 217(8), 1407-1416.
- Lotufo CMC, Lopes C, Dubocovich ML, Farsky SHP, Markus RP (2001). Melatonin and N-acetylserotonin inhibit leukocyte rolling and adhesion to rat microcirculation. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, 430, 351–357.
- Luo J, Zhang Z, Sun H, Song J, Chen X, Huang J, Lin X, Zhou R (2020). Effect of melatonin on T/B cell activation and immune regulation in pinealectomy mice. *Life Sci.*, 242(117191).
- Maestroni GJ, Conti A, Pierpaoli W (1986). Role of the pineal gland in immunity. Circadian synthesis and release of melatonin modulates the antibody response and antagonizes the immunosuppressive effect of corticosterone. *J. Neuroimmunol.*, *13*(1), 19–30.
- Magnadóttir B (2006). Innate immunity of fish (overview). Fish Shellfish Immunol., 20(2):137-51.
- Maitra SK, Hasan KN (2016). The Role of Melatonin as a Hormone and an Antioxidant in the Control of Fish Reproduction. *Front. Endocrinol.*, 7:38.
- Maldonado MD, Moras-Santos M, Naji L, Carrascosa-Salmoral MP, Naranjo MC, Calvo JR (2010). Evidence of melatonin synthesis and release by mast cells. Possible modulatory role on inflammation. *Pharmacol. Res.*, 62, 282–287.
- Markus RP, Cecon E, Pires-lapa MA (2013). Immune-Pineal Axis: Nuclear Factor κB (NF-κB) Mediates the Shift in the Melatonin Source from Pinealocytes to Immune Competent Cells. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, *14*, 10979–10997.
- Markus RP, Fernandes PA, Kinker GS, Cruz-Machado SS, Marçola M (2018). Immune-Pineal Axis – Acute inflammatory responses

coordinate melatonin synthesis by pinealocytes and phagocytes. Br J Pharmacol., 175(16), 3239–3250.

- Martins EJ, Ferreira ACF, Skorupa AL, Afeche SC, Cipolla-Neto J, Costa Rosa LFBP (2004). Tryptophan consumption and indoleamines production by peritoneal cavity macrophages. *J. Leukoc. Biol.*, 75(6), 1116–1121.
- Masuda T, Iigo M, Mizusawa K, Naruse M, Oishi T, Aida K, Tabata M (2003). Variations in plasma melatonin levels of the rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) under various light and temperature conditions. *Zool. Sci.*, 20(8):1011-1016.
- Menéndez-Menéndez J, Martínez-Campa C (2018). Melatonin: an anti-tumor agent in hormone-dependent cancers. *Int. J. Endocrinol.*, 3271948.
- Migaud H, Daive A, Martinez Chavez CC, Al-Khamees S (2007). Evidence for differential photic regulation of pineal melatonin synthesis in teleosts. J. Pineal Res., 43, 327–335.
- Miller SC, Pandi PSR, Esquifino AI, Cardinali DP, Maestroni GJM (2006). The role of melatonin in immuno-enhancement: potential application in cancer. *Int. J. Exp. Path.*, 87, 81–87.
- Moharrami NN, Tande EB, Ryan L, Espevik T, Boyartchuk V (2018). RORα controls inflammatory state of human macrophages. *PLoS One*, *13*(*11*):*e02*.
- Molik E, Misztal T, Romanowicz K, Zieba DA (2010). The effects of melatonin on prolactin and growth hormone secretion in ewes under different photoperiods, during the early post partum period. *Small Ruminant Res.*, 94(1–3), 137–141.
- Moore CB, Siopes TD (2003). Melatonin enhances cellular and humoral immune responses in the Japanese quail (*Coturnix coturnix japonica*) via an opiatergic mechanism. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.*, 131, 258–263.
- Morey JN, Boggero IA, Scott AB, Segerstrom SC (2015). Current directions in stress and human immune function. *Curr. Opin. Psychol.*, *1*(5), 13–17.
- Muxel SM, Pires-lapa MA, Monteiro AWA, Cecon E, Tamura EK, Floeter-Winter LM, Markus RP (2012). NF-kB Drives the Synthesis of Melatonin in RAW 264.7 Macrophages by Inducing the Transcription of the (AA-NAT) gene. *PLoS One*, 7(12):e520.
- Naranjo MC, Guerrero JM, Rubio A, Lardone PJ, Carrillo-Vico A, Carrascosa-Salmoral MP, Jiménez-Jorge S, Arellano MV, Leal-Noval SR, Leal M, Lissen E, Molinero P (2007). Melatonin biosynthesis in the thymus of humans and rats. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.*, 64, 781–790.
- Negi G, Kumar A, Sharma SS (2011). Melatonin modulates neuroinflammation and oxidative stress in experimental diabetic neuropathy: effects on NF-kB and Nrf2 cascades. *J. Pineal Res.*, 50, 124–131.

- Nelson RJ, Demas GE, Klein SL, Kriegsfeld LJ (1995). The influence of season, photoperiod and pineal melatonin on immune function. *J. Pineal Res.*, *19*, 149–165.
- Nelson RJ, Drazen DL (2000). Melatonin mediates seasonal changes in immune function. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 917, 404–415
- Nelson RJ (2004). Seasonal immune function and sickness responses. *Trends Immunol.*, 25(4), 187–192.
- Nosjean O, Ferro M, Cogé F, Beauverger P, Henlin JM, Lefoulon F, Fauchère JL, Delagrange P, Canet E, Boutin JA (2000). Identification of the melatonin-binding site MT3 as the quinone reductase 2. J. Biol. Chem., 275(40), 31311–31317.
- Oishi A, Cecon E, Jockers R (2018). Melatonin Receptor Signaling: Impact of Receptor Oligomerization on Receptor Function. *Int. Rev. Cell Mol. Biol.*, 338, 59-77.
- Oner J, Kus I, Oner H (2009). Melatonin increases the expression of insulinlike growth factor I in rats with carbontetrachlorid-induced hepatic damage. *J Anim. Vet. Adv.*, 8(11), 2256-2261.
- Park YJ, Park JG, Kim SJ, Lee YD, Saydur Rahman M, Takemura A (2006). Melatonin receptor of a reef fish with lunar-related rhythmicity: cloning and daily variations. *J. Pineal Res.*, *41*, 166–174.
- Pedrosa AMC, Weinlich R, Mognol GP, Robbs BK, Viola JPB, Campa A, Amarante-Mendes GP (2010). Melatonin protects CD4+ T cells from activation-induced cell death by blocking NFAT-mediated CD95 ligand upregulation. *J. Immunol.*, *187*(7), 3487–3494.
- Peña C, Rincon J, Pedreanez A, Viera N, Mosquera J (2007). Chemotactic effect of melatonin on leukocytes. *J. Pineal Res.*, 43, 263–269.
- Petrovsky N, Harrison LC (1997). Diurnal rhythmicity of human cytokine production: A dynamic disequilibrium in T helper cell type 1/T helper cell type 2 balance?, *158*(11), 5163–5168.
- Pieri C, Recchioni R, Moroni F, Marcheselli F, Marra M, Marinoni S, Primio R (1998). Melatonin regulates the respiratory burst of human neutrophils and their depolarization. J. Pineal Res., 24, 43–49.
- Pioli C, Caroleo MC, Nistico G, Doria G (1993). Melatonin increases antigen presentation and amplifies specific and non specific signals for T-cell proliferation. *Int. J. Immunopharmac.*, *15*(4), 463–468.
- Pires-Lapa MA, Tamura EK, Salustiano EMA, Markus RP (2013). Melatonin synthesis in human colostrum mononuclear cells enhances dectin-1-mediated phagocytosis by mononuclear cells. *J. Pineal Res.*, 55, 240–246.
- Poon AM, Wang XL, Pang SF (1993). Characteristics of 2-[125I]iodomelatonin binding sites in the pigeon spleen and modulation of binding by guanine nucleotides. *J. Pineal Res.*, *14*(4), 169–177.

- Pozo D, Delgado M, Fernandez-Santos JM, Calvo JR, Gomariz RP, Martin-Lacave I, Ortiz GG, Guerrero JM (1997). Expression of the Mel1amelatonin receptor mRNA and B subsets of lymphocytes from rat thymus and spleen. *FASEB J.*, *11*(6), 466–473.
- Pozo D, Garcia-Maurino S, Guerrero JM, Calvo JR (2004). mRNA expression of nuclear receptor RZR/RORa, melatonin membrane receptor MT1, and hydroxindole-O-methyltransferase in different populations of human immune cells. *J. Pineal Res.*, *37*, 48–54.
- Rai S, Haldar C (2003). Pineal control of immune status and hematological changes in blood and bone marrow of male squirrels (*Funambulus pennanti*) during their reproductively active phase. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C*, *136*, 319–328.
- Rai S, Haldar C, Singh R (2009). Modulation of immunity in young-adult and aged squirrel, *Funambulus pennanti* by melatonin and p-chlorophenylalanine. *Immun Ageing*, 6:5.
- Ramos A, Prado, Miguez MP, Morgado S, Sanchez-Correa B, Gordillo JJ, Casado JG, Tarazona R, Regodón S (2018). Melatonin enhances responsiveness to *Dichelobacter nodosus* vaccine in sheep and increases peripheral blood CD4 T lymphocytes and IgG-expressing B lymphocytes. *Vet. Immunol. Immunop.*, 206, 1–8.
- Recchioni R, Marcheselli F, Moroni F, Gaspar R, Damjanovich S, Pieri C (1998). Melatonin increases the intensity of respiratory burst and prevents L-selectin shedding in human neutrophils *in vitro*. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 252, 20–24.
- Ren DI, Li YJ, Hu BB, Wang H, Hu B (2015). Melatonin regulates the rhythmic migration of neutrophils in live zebrafish. *J. Pineal Res.*, 58, 452–460.
- Ren W, Liu G, Chen S, Yin J, Wang J, Tan B, Wu G, Bazer FW, Peng Y, Li T, Reiter RJ, Yin Y (2017). Melatonin signaling in T cells: Functions and applications. J. Pineal Res., 62(3).
- Rodriguez AB, Terron MP, Duran J, Ortega E, Barriga C (2001). Physiological concentrations of melatonin and corticosterone affect phagocytosis and oxidative metabolism of ring dove heterophils. *J. Pineal Res.*, *31*, 31–38.
- Sanchez-Hidalgo M, Montavez JMG, Carrascosa-Salmoral MP, Gutierrez MCN, Lardone PJ, Romero CAL. (2009). Decreased MT1 and MT2 melatonin receptor expression in extrapineal tissues of the rat during physiological aging. J. Pineal Res., 46, 29–35.
- Sánchez-Vázquez FJ, López-Olmeda JF, Vera LM, Migaud H, López-Patiño MA, Míguez JM (2019). Environmental cycles, melatonin, and circadian control of stress response in fish. *Front Endocrinol.*, 10: 279.
- Sauzet S, Besseau L, Herrera Perez P, Covès D, Chatain B, Peyric E, Boeuf G, Muñoz-Cueto JA, Falcón J (2008). Cloning and retinal expression of

melatonin receptors in the European sea bass, *Dicentrarchus labrax*. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 157, 186e195.

- Serino I, D'Istria M, Monteleone P (1993). A comparative study of melatonin production in the retina, pineal gland and harderian gland of *Bufo viridis* and *Rana esculenta. Comp. Biochem. Physiol.*, *106*(1), 189–193.
- Singh A, Tripathi MK, Singh R (2016). Melatonin modulates leukocytes immune responses in freshwater snakes, *Natrix piscator. J. Herpetol.*, 50(1), 130–137.
- Singh SS, Yadav SK, Haldar C (2010). Effect of glucocorticoid and melatonin on immune function of an indian tropical bird, *Perdicula asiatica*: an *in vivo* and *in vitro* study. *Eur. J. Inflam.*, 8(2), 89–97.
- Singh SS, Deb A, Sutradhar S (2016). Dexamethasone modulates melatonin MT2 receptor expression in splenic tissue and humoral immune response in mice. *Biol. Rhythm Res.*, 48(3), 1–11.
- Singh SS, Haldar C (2005). Melatonin prevents testosterone-induced suppression of immune parameters and splenocyte proliferation in Indian tropical jungle bush quail, *Perdicula asiatica. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.*, 141, 226–232.
- Skwarlo-Sonta K (2002). Melatonin in immunity: comparative aspects. *Neuroendicrol. Lett.*, *1*:61–66.
- Slominski AT, Zmijewski MA, Jetten AM (2016). RORa is not a receptor for melatonin. *Bioessays*, *38*(12), 1193–1194.
- Sokolovic D, Djordjevic B, Kocic G, Veljkovic A, Marinkovic M, Basic J, Jevtovic-Stoimenov T, Stanojkovic Z, Sokolovic DM, Pavlovic V, Djindjic B, Krstic, D. (2013). Melatonin protects rat thymus against oxidative stress caused by exposure to microwaves and modulates proliferation/apoptosis of thymocytes. *Gen. Physiol. Biophys.*, *32*, 79– 90.
- Sopinka NM, Patterson LD, Redfern JC, Pleizier NK, Belanger CB, Midwood JD, Crossin GT, Cooke SJ (2015). Manipulating glucocorticoids in wild animals: basic and applied perspectives. *Conserv. Physiol.*, *3*(1), 1–16.
- Srinivasan V, Maestroni GJM, Cardinali DP, Esquifino AI, Perumal SRP, Miller SC (2005). Melatonin, immune functions and aging. *Immun. Ageing*, 2:17.
- Tarocco A, Caroccia N, Morciano G, Wieckowski MR, Ancora G, Garani G, Pinton P (2019). Melatonin as a master regulator of cell death and inflammation: molecular mechanisms and clinical implications for newborn care. *Cell Death Dis.*, 10(4), 317.
- Taves M, Hamden J, Soma K (2017). Local glucocorticoid production in lymphoid organs of mice and birds: functions in lymphocyte development. *Horm. Behav.*, 88, 4-14.

- Terron MP, Paredes SD, Barriga C, Ortega E, Reiter RJ, Rodriguez AB (2005). Oral administration of melatonin to old ring doves (*Streptopelia risoria*) increases plasma levels of melatonin and heterophil phagocytic activity. *J. Gerontol.*, 60A(1), 44–50.
- Torres-Farfan C, Richter HG, Rojas-García P, Vergara M, Forcelledo ML, Valladares LE, Torrealba F, Valenzuela GJ, Serón-Ferré M (2003). mt1 Melatonin receptor in the primate adrenal gland: inhibition of adrenocorticotropin-stimulated cortisol production by melatonin. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., 88(1):450-8.
- Tort L (2011). Stress and immune modulation in fish. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.*, 35, 1366–1375.
- Tripathi MK, Singh R (2014). Melatonin modulates splenocyte immune response in the freshwater snake, *natrix piscator*. *Herpetol*. *Conserv*. *Bio.*, *9*(2), 257–266.
- Underwood H, Binkley S, Scopes T, Mosher K (1984). Melatonin rhythms in the eyes, pineal bodies, and blood of Japanese quail (*Coturnix coturnix japonica*). *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.*, *56*, 70-81.
- Vaughan MK, Reiter RJ (1971). Transient hypertrophy of the ventral prostate and coagulating glands and accelerated thymic involution following pinealectomy in the mouse. *Tex. Rep. Biol. Med.*, 29(4), 579–586.
- Vera LM, De Oliveira C, López-Olmeda JF, Ramos J, Mañanós E, Madrid JA, Sánchez-Vázquez FJ (2007). Seasonal and daily plasma melatonin rhythms and reproduction in Senegal sole kept under natural photoperiod and natural or controlled water temperature. J. Pineal Res., 43, 50–55
- Verma R, Haldar C (2018). Expression of receptors for melatonin (MT1), thyroid hormone (TR-α), deiodinase (Dio-2), glucose transporters (GLUT-1 &4) and its relation with splenic cell survival (Bcl-2) of golden hamster, *Mesocricetus auratus. Biol. Rhythm Res.*, *50*, 454–465.
- Vishwas DK, Haldar C (2014). MT1 receptor expression and AA-NAT activity in lymphatic tissue following melatonin administration in male golden hamster. *Int. Immunopharmacol.*, 22, 258–265.
- Wiechmann AF, Sherry DM (2013). Role of melatonin and its receptors in the vertebrate retina. *Int. Rev. Cell Mol. Biol.*, 300, 211-242.
- Wroncka M, Maleszewska M, Stepinska U, Markowska M (2008). Diurnal differences in melatonin effect on intracellular Ca2+ concentration in chicken spleen leukocytes in vitro. *J. Pineal Res.*, 44, 134–140.
- Xia MZ, Liang YL, Wang H, Chen X, Huang YY, Zhang ZH, Chen YH, Zhang C, Zhao M, Xu DX, Song LH (2012). Melatonin modulates TLR4-mediated inflammatory genes through MyD88- and TRIFdependent signaling pathways in. *J. Pineal Res.*, *53*(4), 325–334.

- Xia Y, Chen S, Zeng S, Zhao Y, Zhu C, Deng B, Zhu G, Yin Y, Wang W, Hardeland R, Ren W (2018). Melatonin in macrophage biology: Current understanding and future perspectives. *J. Pineal Res.*, 66:e12547.
- Xu X, Wang G, Ai L, Shi J, Zhang J, Chen YX (2018). Melatonin suppresses TLR9- triggered proinflammatory cytokine production in macrophages by inhibiting ERK1/2 and AKT activation. *Sci. Rep.*, 8(15579).
- Yadav SK, Haldar C, Singh SS (2011). Variation in melatonin receptors (Mel1a and Mel1b) and androgen receptor (AR) expression in the spleen of a seasonally breeding bird, *Perdicula asiatica*. J. Reprod. Immunol., 92, 54–61.
- Yadav SK, Haldar C, Singh SK, Dash D (2014). Melatonin regulates splenocytes proliferation via IP3-dependent intracellular Ca2+ release in seasonally breeding bird, *Perdicula asiatica. J. Recept. Sig. Transd.*, 34(4), 233–240.
- Yoo YM, Jang SK, Kim GH, Park JY, Joo SS (2016). Pharmacological advantages of melatonin in immunosenescence by improving activity of T lymphocytes. *J. Biomed. Res.*, *30*(4), 314–321.
- Yu Q, Miller SC, Osmond DG (2000). Melatonin inhibits apoptosis during early B-cell development in mouse bone marrow. *J. Pineal Res.*, 29, 86– 93.
- Yu ZH, Yuan H, Lu Y, Pang SF (1991). [125]Iodomelatonin binding sites in spleens of birds and mammals. *Neurosci. Lett.*, *125*, 175–178.
- Zhao CN, Wang P, Mao YM, Dan YL, Wu Q, Li XM, Wang DG, Davis C, Hu W, Pan HF (2019). Potential role of melatonin in autoimmune diseases. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.*, 48, 1–10.
- Zhdanova IV, Yu L, Lopez-Patino M, Shang E, Kishi S, Guelin E (2008). Aging of the circadian system in zebrafish and the effects of melatonin on sleep and cognitive performance. *Brain Res. Bull.*, *75*, 433-441.

Experiment I: Optimal aquaculture modalities for pike-perch

V. Optimal aquaculture modalities for pike-perch

Foreword: This first experiment on pike-perch was conducted at the University of Lorraine, France. It aimed to characterize the effects of major husbandry practices and environmental factors on pike-perch physiology and to identify optimal rearing conditions ensuring low stress level and thereby good growth and survival. The hypothesis was that several factors, considered alone or in combinations, may create stressful conditions for the fish, leading to negative impacts on immunocompetence, growth and survival.

Multifactorial analyses revealed optimal aquaculture modalities improving husbandry fitness without clear effect on stress and immune status of pike-perch Sander lucioperca



Sébastien Baekelandt ^a, Baptiste Redivo ^a, Syaghalirwa N.M. Mandiki ^a, Thibaut Bournonville ^a, Alexis Houndji ^a, Benoît Bernard ^a, Najlae El Kertaoui ^a, Mélodie Schmitz ^a, Pascal Fontaine ^b, Jean-Noël Gardeur ^b, Yannick Ledoré ^b, Patrick Kestemont ^a

^a Research Unit in Environmental and Evolutionary Biology (URBE), Institute of Life, Earth & Environment, University of Namur, Rue de Bruxelles 61, B-5000, Belgium ^b Unit Research Animal and Functionality of Animal Products (UR AFPA), University of Nancy, INRA, 2 avenue de la Forêt de Haye, B.P. 172, F-54505 Vandoeuvre-lès-Nancy, France

A. ABSTRACT

High mortality and impairment in growth rate during pike-perch (*Sander lucioperca*) ongrowing are among the major bottlenecks for its development

in aquaculture. These failures may be related to high stress responsiveness since the rearing conditions are not yet optimized for this species. The objectives were to characterize the stress and immunological responses of pike-perch to major aquaculture modalities, and to identify the optimal aquaculture conditions for improving its welfare status. In a screening experiment, eight factors considered as relevant for the welfare of pike-perch were compared in two modalities using a fractional multifactorial design (2^{8-}) ⁴). Each experimental unit represented a combination of 8 factors in two modalities including grading, stocking density (15 vs 30 kg.m⁻³), feed type (sinking vs mid-floating), light intensity (10 vs 100 lux), light spectrum (red vs white), photoperiod (long vs short), dissolved oxygen (60 vs 90 %) and temperature (21 vs 26 °C). Fish sampling occurred on days 36 and 63. Stress markers (glucose, cortisol and brain serotonergic activity), innate immune parameters (plasma lysozyme and complement activities) and expression of some immune genes were assessed. Light intensity and the type of feed clearly appeared as directive factors for pike-perch culture. A strong effect of the feed type was observed on growth parameters while survival was impacted by high light intensity. Light characteristics (intensity, spectrum and photoperiod) and temperature were identified as determining factors for physiological and immune markers. No obvious relation was established between stress status and growth parameters and further investigations are needed to improve management strategies of pike-perch culture and knowledge on the relations between environmental conditions, stress and immunity in percid fish.

B. INTRODUCTION

Over the last decade, European inland aquaculture has shown weak increase in productivity despite the increase in the demand for fish products throughout the world (FAO, 2014). This low performance in fish production might be attributed to the low number of fish species that are cultivated in Europe. Indeed, European aquaculture is mainly focused on 5 fish species: Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar), rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss), common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*), European seabass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) and gilthead seabream (Sparus aurata). Therefore, it is essential to diversify the fish species pool in order to increase fish productivity throughout Europe and to tap into new niche markets. Pike-perch (Sander lucioperca) is one of the most promising freshwater fish species for diversification and an attractive alternative for inland aquaculture species according to its relatively fast growth compared to other, its high quality flesh and a favorable market acceptance leading to high economical expectations species (Hilge and Steffens, 1996; Barry and Malison, 2004; Wang et al, 2009; Dalsgaard et al, 2013).

However, the culture of pike-perch is still limited by an unpredictable high mortality rate and impairment in growth rate during both larval and juvenile stages with survival rate estimated between 8 and 30 % (Kestemont et al, 2007; Szkudlarek and Zakes, 2007; Dalsgaard et al, 2013). A low welfare related to high stress level may be one of the major causes of high mortality rate observed for young pike-perch. While intensive aquaculture is well mastered for salmonid species such as Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout, aquaculture technology for percid fishes is not yet optimal. It has also been demonstrated that percid fish such as Eurasian perch (Perca fluviatilis) are more sensitive to some aquaculture stressors such as emersion and handling (Jentoft et al, 2005). For the latter species, it was also demonstrated that moderate hypoxia may considerably impair the behavior but also the physiological status such as the immune functions (Strand et al, 2007; Douxfils et al, 2014). Stress responsiveness has received little attention in pike-perch whatever its developmental stage. It has been reported that light characteristics such as light intensity and light spectrum have a huge impact on the pike-perch physiology and behavior due to some retinal histoanatomical features (presence of *tapetum lucidum* and macroreceptors) which improve their vision in dim environment (Kozlowski et al, 2010; Luchiari et al, 2009; Sarameh et al, 2012). It was especially observed that pike-perch exhibited higher growth rate and food conversion rate under high light intensity (100 lux) of red spectrum than under white spectrum (Luchiari et al, 2009). But there is no clear information about the optimal intensity or light spectrum. Luchiari et al (2006) also showed a clear preference of pike-perch for low light intensities. These findings are in agreement with the behaviour of juvenile and adult pike-perch in natural environments since this species is a crepuscular predator that is actively feeding during dusk and night (Luchiari et al, 2006; Zingel and Paaver, 2010; Dalsgaard et al, 2013). The effects of temperature conditions on pike-perch stress physiology are also reported inconsistently. It was reported that the optimal temperature for pike-perch is in the range from 10 to 27 °C (Frisk et al, 2012), but fish size should be considered when optimizing temperature level in aquaculture production. According to some authors, better growth and feed utilization for ongrowing pike-perch are achieved under high temperature conditions ranging between 25-28 °C (Rónyai and Csengeri, 2008; Wang et al, 2009; Dalsgaard et al, 2013). Nonetheless, Frisk et al. (2013) reported that a smaller fraction of metabolic scope was utilized for digestion at 19 °C compared to 25 °C, indicating that low temperature conditions may be more suitable for pikeperch reared under intensive culture conditions. Extended and continuous photoperiods have been proposed to improve the growth performance in some fish species by increasing food intake (Biswas et al, 2016), but no attempt has been done for pike-perch. Photoperiod manipulations should be appropriate to the feeding behaviour of targeted fish species to avoid a possible stress side effect.

The relationships between population parameters such as stocking density and physiological stress status or immune competence have been described in various fish species (Barton, 2002; Pankhurst, 2011) whereas limited information is available for pike-perch. Preliminary observations reported that high stocking density has no marked effects on growth and food utilization of young pike-perch, and that pike-perch juveniles can be maintained at high densities comprised between 30 and 60 kg.m⁻³ without any increase in physiological stress response (Molnar et al, 2004; Steenfeldt et al, 2010; Dalsgaard et al, 2013). On the contrary, another study reported that high density may increase the susceptibility to diseases for pike-perch juveniles (Jensen et al, 2011). According to our observations, juveniles of pike-perch in intensive culture conditions are found to feed both on the ground and in the water column. Mid-floating feed has lower sinking velocity and better dispersion in the water which can improve feeding behavior in some fish species. No clear data are available on juvenile pike-perch and current practices are not yet standardized.

Numerous other stress factors can be encountered by cultured fish from water temperature to grading size and, as in any biological system, the overall performances are the result of interactions from multiple factors (Trabelsi et al, 2011). Therefore, fractional factorial approach has been proposed to consider simultaneously the impact of a large number of interrelated aquaculture factors using a few number of experimental units (Kobilinsky, 2000; Hamre et al, 2004; Gardeur et al, 2007; Teletchea et al, 2009).

It has been reported that a bi-directional communication between corticotropic axis and immune system is essential to maintain homeostasis in mammals and teleosts (Tort, 2011; Mathieu et al, 2014; Nardocci et al, 2014). Many pieces of evidence clearly support this close interaction since some of the immune and endocrine messengers belong to the same family of molecules and that the head kidney plays a central role in stress response regulation (Tort, 2011). In Eurasian perch, it has been shown that some corticosteroid hormones namely cortisol and 11-deoxycorticosterone are active mediators of the immune activity (Mathieu et al., 2014). However, the relationships between stress and immunity in pike-perch have received little attention.

In aquaculture, prolonged, repeated and/or unavoidable other stressors are largely associated to maladaptive physiological effects including failures in immune functions and disease resistance (Fast et al, 2008; Douxfils et al, 2011; Tort, 2011). The objectives of the present study were thus (a) to characterize the effects of major husbandry and environmental factors on growth related parameters and physiological status of cultured pike-perch and (b) to identify the optimal husbandry and environmental conditions which may induce mild physiological stress response, and thereby improve the growth and welfare of pike-perch in intensive culture conditions. To achieve these objectives, we selected 8 major husbandry and environmental factors according to the current pike-perch aquaculture practices and available information on potential stress impact of those factors on percid fish. These factors were compared in two modalities using a fractional factorial design.

C. MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Experimental design

Taking into account current practices in major European pike-perch intensive farms and available data in the literature (Luchiari et al, 2006; Teletchea et al, 2009; Wang et al, 2009; Sarameh et al, 2012; Dalsgaard et al, 2013), eight environmental factors at two levels (Table 1) were selected and tested in a multifactorial experiment based on a 2⁽⁸⁻⁴⁾ reduced factorial design (Kobilinsky, 2000: Torstensen et al. 2001: Hamre et al. 2004: Gardeur et al. 2007; Mairesse et al, 2007; Blanchard et al, 2008). With a full factorial design study of 8 factors at 2 levels, $256 (2^8)$ treatments would be tested resulting in the calculation of the main effects and all the interactions. With a fractional factorial design study, the number of combinations (treatments) is reduced from 256 (2^8) to 16 (2^4) . To generate such a design, an alias structure was selected (Table 2), determining which effects are confounded with others (Hamre et al, 2004, Trabelsi et al, 2011). Thus, it is possible to calculate main effects separated from each other and from the effects of two-factor interactions (Kobilinsky, 2000; Hamre et al, 2004; Gardeur et al, 2007). The main advantage of this approach is that it considers simultaneously the impact of a large number of interrelated aquaculture factors using a limited number of experimental units. With a $2^{(8-4)}$ reduced factorial design, each of the 16 combinations was tested once but each level of every factor was repeated eight times (Table 3).

Factor - abbreviation	Level									
Light intensity (lux)	100	10								
Light spectrum	Industrial white	Red (610 nm)								
Photoperiod (L:D)	24:00	10:14								
Density (kg m ⁻³)	30	15								
Temperature (°C)	26	21								
Oxygen saturation (%)	90	60								
Feed type	Mid-floating	Sinking								
Fish grading	Yes	No								

Selected modalities for the 8 environmental factors.

Table 1

Experiment I: Optimal aquaculture modalities for pike-perch

Table 2

Aliasing structure considering the 8 environmental factors: light intensity (Int.), oxygen saturation (Oxy.); density (Dens.), light spectrum (Spec.), photoperiod (Photo.), water temperature (Temp.), grading and feed type.

Group	Aliased effects
1	Int.*Oxy. ; Dens.*Grading ; Spec.*Temp. ; Photo.*Feed
2	Int.*Temp.; Dens.*Photo.; Spec.*Oxy.; Feed*Grading
3	Int.*Dens. ; Spec.*Feed ; Photo.*Temp. ; Grading*Oxy.
4	Int.*Spec. ; Dens.*Feed ; Photo.*Grading ; Temp.*Oxy.
5	Int.*Grading ; Dens.*Oxy. ; Spec.*Photo. ; Temp.*Feed
6	Int.*Photo. ; Dens.*Temp. ; Spec.*Grading ; Feed*Grading
7	Int.*Feed ; Dens.*Spec. ; Photo.*Oxy. ; Temp.*Grading

Table 3

Combinations (c1 - c16) of the factors following a $2^{(8-4)}$ reduced factorial design and results. Final weight heterogeneity (CV); Light spectrum: W = White, R = Red; Feed: S = Sinking, F = mid-Floating; Grading: Y = with manipulations mimicking grading, N = without grading. Global score: note of interest for each combination, based on husbandry output variables. The grey lines correspond to the five best combinations according to the global score of interest.

	Variables tested									Variables studied																		
Combination of the factors	Light intensity (lux)	Density (kg.m ⁻³)	Light spectra	Photoperiod (h)	Temperature (°C)	Feed	Grading	Oxygen saturation (%)	Final individual weight (g)	Mortality Rate (%)	CV (%)	Specific growth rate (% d-1)	Plasma Cortisol (D36, ng.mL ⁻¹)	Plasma Cortisol (D63, ng.mL ⁻¹)	Plasma Glucose (D36, µg.mL ⁻¹)	Plasma Glucose (D63, µg.mL ⁻¹)	Serotonergic activity (D36)	Serotonergic activity (D63)	ACH50 (D36)	ACH50 (D63)	Lysozyme activity (D36, U)	Lysozyme activity (D63, U)	Relative C3 gene expression to ef1+βactin (D36)	Relative <i>lysozyme</i> gene expression to ef1+βactin (D36)	Relative <i>C3</i> gene expression to ef1+βactin (D63)	Relative <i>lysozyme</i> gene expression to ef1+βactin (D63)	Global score of interest	Rank of the global score
c1	10	30	W	24	21	S	Y	90	168	4	37	0.9	84	31	457	318	0.84	0.61	98	202	17	19	0.011	0.018	0.0001	0.079	3.9	2
c2	100	15	R	10	26	F	Ν	60	146	3	50	0.7	17	13	378	427	0.71	0.77	145	142	16	19	0.027	0.016	0.0003	0.027	1.3	6
c3	100	15	W	24	21	S	Ν	60	172	13	40	1.0	20	15	355	371	0.94	0.74	162	215	16	18	0.014	0.045	0.0001	0.114	3.1	5
c4	100	30	R	10	21	S	Ν	90	143	31	29	0.7	19	14	264	340	0.79	0.72	153	216	17	19	0.027	0.024	0.0001	0.042	0.4	8
c5	10	15	R	10	21	S	Y	60	131	7	53	0.5	15	14	424	379	0.96	0.81	157	181	16	19	0.002	0.029	0.0002	0.025	-0.5	10
c6	10	15	W	10	21	F	N	90	88	7	67	0	16	14	342	365	0.53	0.82	76	264	15	15	0.004	0.061	0.0005	0.090	-5.4	16
c/	100	15	K	24	21	F	Y	90	113	24	61 52	0.3	1/	13	273	343	0.69	0.78	140	210	14	19	0.021	0.024	0.0008	0.065	-4.0	15
c8	10	15	W	24	26	F c	Y	60	140	10	20	0.7	60 26	13	322	359	0.60	0.72	125	244	10	21	0.004	0.022	0.0004	0.030	0.4	/
c10	100	30	W	10	20 21	ъ F	1 Y	90 60	120	13 41	59 52	1.1	20 17	13	371	411 317	1.06	0.75	173	223	17	20	0.015	0.035	0.0024	0.088	-3.0	4 13
c10	100	30	W	10	21	F	Y	60	122	41	52	0.7	17	14	339	317	1.06	0.76	173	261	17	20	0.008	0.028	0.0000	0.011	-3.0	13

c11	100	30	W	24	26	F	Ν	90	148	18	61	0.8	89	29	328	405	0.81	0.72	101	257	15	20	0.012	0.045	0.0010	0.015	-0.6	11
c12	10	30	R	10	26	F	Y	90	114	24	57	0.3	23	13	304	325	1.19	0.68	96	250	11	17	0.006	0.061	0.0002	0.014	-3.6	14
c13	100	30	R	24	26	S	Y	60	151	32	37	0.8	47	15	466	412	0.71	0.77	100	233	18	20	0.019	0.067	0.0005	0.021	0.3	9
c14	10	30	R	24	21	F	Ν	60	117	4	72	0.4	17	13	271	337	0.94	0.75	132	298	15	16	0.012	0.033	0.0013	0.019	-2.8	12
c15	10	30	W	10	26	S	Ν	60	167	3	36	0.9	27	15	420	373	0.67	0.73	124	249	16	16	0.027	0.049	0.0005	0.017	4.0	1
c16	10	15	R	24	26	S	Ν	90	169	7	40	0.9	18	15	375	369	0.89	0.64	67	267	14	18	0.003	0.019	0.0001	0.010	3.4	3
Mea	1								140	15	49	0.7	32	16	356	366	0.82	0.73	124	232	16	18	0.014	0.037	0.0005	0.042		
SD									24	12	13	0.3	24	6	63	35	0.17	0.06	31	38	2	2	0.008	0.017	$\hat{0}.0006$	0.034		
Table 4List of the husbandry variables and formulas. CV: Final weight heterogeneity.

Variables	Calculation
Final individual weight (g)	= mean of the final individual weight
Mortality rate (%)	= (number of dead individuals / initial number of individuals) *100
CV (%)	= standard deviation of final individual weight *100 / mean of the final individual weight
Specific growth rate (% day ⁻¹)	= (Ln(final individual weight) - Ln (initial individual weight)) *100 / duration of the experiment

Table 5

Sequences and melting temperatures (Tm) of primers used for gene expression quantification.

Gene	GenBank accession #	Sens	Sequence (5' to 3')	Tm (°C)	Efficiency
Complement component 3 (C3)	MF472630	Forward	TGGTGATGTGAGAGGAGCAG	56.5	92 %
		Reverse	GACGTCATGGCAACAGCATA	55.5	
Lysozyme	MF472629	Forward	AGCCAGTGGGAGTCGAGTTA	57.8	100 %
		Reverse	CATTGTCGGTCAGGAGCTCA	57.0	
β-actin	MF472627	Forward	CGACATCCGTAAGGACCTGT	56.5	98 %
		Reverse	GCTGGAAGGTGGACAGAGAG	57.3	
EF1alpha	MF472628	Forward	TGATGACACCAACAGCCACT	56.8	100 %
-		Reverse	AAGATTGACCGTCGTTCTGG	54.9	

2. Animals and rearing conditions

The present experiment was carried out in agreement with the European and French national legislations on animal welfare (protocol number: C54-547-1).

A stock of 3200 mixed-sex juveniles pike-perch (20-30 g) was provided by Asialor farm (Dieuze, France) and transferred to the URAFPA facilities at the University of Lorraine, France. Fish were first reared in 6 large tanks for acclimation and ongrowing until they reached 91 ± 5 g body weight. Working with fish around 90 g was relevant since high mortality rate is still observed at this developmental stage. During acclimation, they were maintained in constant conditions (temperature: 23 °C; light intensity: 10 lux; photoperiod: 12D:12L) and fed twice daily at 1.5 % biomass with a sinking food. They were then distributed into 16 indoor 200 L-tanks and stocked at two densities (15 or 30 kg m⁻³) according to Table 3. Each of the 16 experimental units was operating independently in a recirculating circuit (RAS). Rearing conditions, including light intensity, light spectrum, photoperiod, temperature, feed type, grading manipulations and oxygen saturation were then applied as indicated in Table 3. Temperature, light intensity and oxygen saturation were checked daily. Fish diets consisted in mid-floating or sinking feed (D-D Optibream 2P or 2P-Optobream, 4 mm, Skretting, France) containing the same contents of crude proteins (46%) and lipids (16%). Food fixed at 1.5% biomass was distributed during a photophase of either 24 h or 10 h depending on the tank photophase. Manipulations mimicking grading were applied every two weeks. For this purpose, fish were starved one day before handling. All fish were harvested from each tank by a handling-net, and put in one or two basins with water. Then, they were transferred to a fish size grader to simulate the sorting process. Duration of grading manipulations varied between 15-20 min per tank.

3. Sampling procedure

Fish were sampled on days 36 and 63 and were starved one day before. Six fish were removed randomly from each tank and anesthetized with MS-222 (150 mg l^{-1}). Blood was quickly collected by caudal vein puncture with heparinized syringes within 5 min and centrifuged at 7,500 g during 10 min at 4 °C. Plasma was stored at -80 °C until assayed. Fish were then rapidly killed by cervical dislocation to collect the whole brain and the anterior

kidney. These organs were directly frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 $^\circ\mathrm{C}.$

4. Husbandry variables

Final individual weight (FIW), mortality rate (MR) and weight heterogeneity (CV) were all determined on day 63 for each experimental condition (Table 4). Specific Growth Rate (SGR) was also estimated at days 24 and 63.

5. Stress indicators

Cortisol and glucose assays

Plasma cortisol was assayed in triplicate using a cortisol ELISA kit (DRG, EIA-1887), following the manufacturer's instructions (BioSource, Belgium). The intra-assay coefficient of variation was 3.6 %. The assay dynamic range was between 0 and 800 ng ml⁻¹ and the analytical sensitivity was 2.5 ng ml⁻¹. Plasma glucose was determined calorimetrically based on a glucose oxidase/peroxidase method described by Trinder (1969).

Brain neurotransmitters

High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) was performed according the methods of Lepage et al (2000), with some modifications, to assess in whole brain serotonergic activity, expressed as serotonin (5-HT) / hydroxyl-indol-acetic acid ratio (5-HIAA) ratio.

For each fish, the whole brain tissue was weighed out and homogenized for 6 min in perchloric acid 4% (250 μ L per 50 mg of tissue) containing 4 μ M 2-3 dihydroxybenzoic acid (DHBA) as internal standard. The homogenate was sonicated for 20 s and then centrifuged at 21.000 g for 20 min at 4 °C. The supernatant was transferred to a new tube, mixed with HPLC mobile phase (v/v; 75 mM NaH₂PO₄, 7 mM octane sulfonic acid (OSA, Sigma-Aldrich) and 10 % MeOH adjusted to pH 3) and centrifuged at 21.000 g for 20 min at 4 °C. The whole procedure was carried out on ice.

HPLC analysis was performed using a GP50 gradient pump (Dionex, Sunnyvale, USA) equipped with an autosampler FAMOS (LC packings). Neurohormones were monitored using a DC amperometry detector (Dionex, Sunnyvale, USA) with Glassy Carbon Working Electrode (0.80V, Ag/AgCl – P/N 061677). The mobile phases were all degassed with helium. ChromeleonTM software (6.8) (Dionex, Sunnyvale, USA) was used for data

acquisition and processing. The samples were individually applied (50 μ l) on a 2.6 μ m particle size (150 x 4.6 mm, I.D.) C₁₈ analytical Kinetex column at 1 ml/min. The mobile phase consisted of 75 mM NaH2PO4, 7 mM octane sulfonic acid (OSA, Sigma-Aldrich) and 10 % MeOH adjusted to pH 3.0. The column was reconditioned by washing with 95 % MeOH during 10 min and then re-equilibrated with buffer during 20 min. The column was kept at 25 °C.

Purified 5-HT and 5-HIAA were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich. Standard solutions were treated similarly to samples. Concentrations of the compounds were calculated by interpolation of their respective standard curves. The intraassay coefficients of variation were 5.9 % and 7.1 % respectively.

6. Immune variables

Plasma lysozyme activity

Lysozyme activity was evaluated in plasma samples by the turbimetric method (Siwiki and Studnicka, 1987; Douxfils et al, 2012). Plasma samples (10 μ l) were mixed with 10 μ l of Na₂HPO₄ 0.05 M pH 6.2 and 130 μ l *Micrococcus lysodeikticus* (Sigma-Aldrich) solution (0.6 g/L). This assay was performed in triplicate. Absorbance was measured at 450 nm every 5 min during 30 min at room temperature. Lysozyme activity (units) is defined as the amount of enzyme decreasing the turbidity of 0.001 OD per min.

Plasma haemolytic activity of the alternative complement pathway

Plasma complement (ACH50) was assayed by measuring the haemolytic activity in plasma samples using rabbit erythrocytes as targets (Sunyer and Tort, 1995). In brief, serial dilutions (from 15 to 160 times) of plasma samples were performed in veronal buffer (Biomerieux, Marcy-l'Etoile, France). Then 60 μ l of each dilution were mixed with 10 μ l of 3 % rabbit erythrocytes suspended in veronal buffer. After incubation at 37 °C for 100 min and centrifugation at 2000 g for 10 min at 4 °C, supernatants were collected and read at 405 nm. The spontaneous hemolysis was obtained by adding veronal buffer to 10 μ l of rabbit erythrocytes to distilled water (total volume = 70 μ l). ACH50 was calculated by linear regression and corresponds to the lysis of 50 % of the rabbit erythrocytes.

7. Expression levels of some immune genes in anterior kidney

For further immune markers, the expression level of two immune-related genes was determined in anterior kidney tissues, namely C-type lysozyme and complement component 3 (C3). Primer sequences are presented in Table 5. Total RNA from anterior kidney was extracted using TRIzol Reagant (ThermoFisher Scientific) according to manufacturer's instructions. Tissue samples were homogenized using a SpeedMill PLUS homogenizer (AnalytikJena, Germany) in tubes containing ceramic beads and TRIzol Reagant. Total RNA was resuspended in 50 µl of DPEC-treated water. RNA integrity and concentration was checked by denaturating gel electrophoresis (1.2% agarose) and OD₂₆₀/OD₂₈₀ and OD₂₆₀/OD₂₃₀ nm absorption ratio using Nanodrop-1000 (ThermoFisher Scientific). Twelve ug of each RNA sample were treated with FreeDNA kit (Ambion, Austin, TX, USA) to remove genomic DNA. mRNA was then retrotranscribed with Reverse Transcription System kit (Promega, Wisconsin, USA) according to manufacturer's instructions. The cDNA was then 20 times diluted and aliquoted. qPCR was performed using Power SYBR® Green PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystem, Warrington, UK), 2.5 µl of both right and left primers (5 µM) and 5 µl of the diluted cDNA. A four steps experimental run protocol was followed: denaturation (10 min at 95 °C), amplification (40 cycles, 15 s at 95 °C, 1 min at 60 °C), melting curve (40 to 95 °C, heating rate 0.10 °C s⁻¹) and a final cooling step (4°C) using a StepOne plus real time PCR machine (Applied Biosystem). Relative quantification of the target gene transcript was calculated following the Pfaffl method (Pfaffl, 2001), considering the Ct value and the primer efficiency. The relative expression levels of C-type lysozyme and complement C3 in each sample were normalized with the geometric mean of ef1- α and β -actin calculated by the relative standard curve method.

8. Statistical analyses

To determine the best combinations of factors-modalities, each experimental unit was assigned to a global score of interest. This global score was calculated using results of husbandry output variables and was based on the transformation of each output in centered reduced output (Gardeur et al, 2007). Principal component analyses (PCA) were also performed to analyze the global effect of combinations on husbandry output variables. Main effects and two factor-interactions were then analyzed using Analys software (Kobilinsky, 2000). This method is first based on the detection of potentially active effects using Daniel graphics (Daniel, 1959). It is followed by ANOVA to test these potentially active effects. Significant results (p < 0.05) were finally confirmed by ANOVA (p < 0.05) using Statistica software version 10 (StatSoft Inc., France, 2011). Significant correlations were then calculated between growth parameters and stress and immune markers.

D. RESULTS

1. Husbandry parameters

Global score results showed that the combination 15 (c15) resulted in the best husbandry performances (Table 3). High global scores of interest (> 3) were also obtained for c1, c16, c9 and c3. All these experimental treatments resulted in the highest FIW (158 to 172 g), the lowest MR (3 to 13 %) and the highest SGR (0.9 to 1.1 % d⁻¹). The lowest weight heterogeneity was observed for c1, c4, c9, c13 and c15 and averaged 36 %. The five best combinations were commonly influenced by the type of feed (sinking) as input variable. The worst husbandry outputs were observed with combinations c6, c7, c10 and c12 and they had in common the use of mid-floating feed. Further ANOVA revealed no effect of feed type on SGR between D0 and D24 while sinking feed significantly improved SGR between D24 and D63 (p < 0.05).

Further comparison by PCA approach confirmed that only the feed type was the major influencing factor husbandry parameters but also with the light intensity (Fig. 1). Indeed, on the axis 1, c1, c3, c9, c15 and c16 were characterized by a high SGR, a high FIW and a low CV. The use of sinking feed mainly defined these combinations confirming that the use of such feed type led to significant higher SGR (Fig. 2a, p < 0.01) and FIW (Fig. 2b, p < 0.001) with values reaching respectively 0.86 ± 0.19 % d⁻¹ and 157 ± 15 g. This type of feed also decreased the CV from 59 ± 8 % to 39 ± 7 % (Fig. 2c, p < 0.01). The opposite results were observed for c6, c7, c12 and c14. On the second axis, combinations c4, c10 and c13 displayed a high MR and they were mainly defined by the high light intensity vector. The opposite results were observed with the low light intensity for c2, c5 and c8. Lowest MR was observed under low light intensity (8 ± 7 %) compared to high light intensity (22 ± 12 %) (p < 0.05) (Fig. 2d).



Fig. 1: Projections of husbandry outputs and combinations (1 to 16) on the two first axis of the principal component analysis. The plans 1 and 2 of the PCA explain 93 % of the projected inertia. Axis 1 (inertia 66 %) represents Specific growth rate (SGR), Final individual weight (FIW), final weight heterogeneity (CV) and the type of feed (Sinking *S vs* mid-floating *F*). Axis 2 (inertia 27 %) represents mortality rate (MR) and light intensity (10 vs 100 lux).

2. Stress and immune parameters

The experimental combinations (c1, c3, c4, c5, c9, c13, c15 and c16) that included the sinking feed induced higher glucose level ($392 \pm 66 \ \mu g.ml^{-1}$) on day 36 (Fig. 3a, p < 0.05) but not on day 63. High temperature level (26 °C; combinations c2; c8; c9; c11; c12; c13; c15; c16) also increased glycaemia on day 63 (Fig. 3b, p < 0.05). No statistical influencing factor was observed for plasma cortisol level both on D36 and D63. Plasma cortisol values were nearly to basal level both on D36 and D63, except for C1 and C8 on D36; and a significant decrease was observed between D36 and D63 (p < 0.05). Therefore, non-significant coefficients of correlation could be calculated between cortisol or glucose values and those growth parameters on D36 and D63. While no single factor influenced serotonergic activity in the brain, light spectrum and light intensity appeared clearly to act synergistically since the serotonergic activity increased when the red light was used with low light intensity (combinations c5, c12, c14 and c16) or when white light was combined with high light intensity (combinations c3, c9, c10 and c11) (Fig. 3c, p < 0.001). It is interesting to notice that the best three ranked combinations (c15, c1 and c16) in terms of husbandry performances were characterized by low values of serotonergic activity. Moreover, significant negative coefficient of correlation ($R^2 = 0.31$; p < 0.05) was calculated between values of serotonergic activity on D63 and those of final body weight. So, red light spectrum at low intensity or white light spectrum at high intensity may induce both a higher stress status in pike-perch.

Low oxygen saturation significantly increased complement activity in plasma on D36 (p < 0.05, Fig. 4a) but not on D63, and no significant factor interaction was detected. Values for complement activity increased between D36 and D63 (p < 0.001). Light intensity and photoperiod acted in synergy on complement gene expression level in kidney on day 36 and such effect is not detected on D63. Significantly lower values were observed when a 10 lux intensity was combined with a long photoperiod than when combined with a short photoperiod (p < 0.05) (Fig. 4b). No effect on lysozyme activity and Ctype lysozyme expression was observed.





Fig. 2: Effects of tested factors on (*A*) specific growth rate, (*B*) final individual weight, (*C*) final weight heterogeneity, and (*D*) mortality rate. Day 63. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM (n = 8). Lowercase letters indicate a significant difference at p < 0.05.



Fig. 3: Effects of tested factors on (*A*) plasma glucose D36, (*B*) plasma glucose D63, and (*C*) serotonergic activity in brain. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM (n = 8 (*A*); 8 (*B*); 4(*C*)). Lowercase letters indicate a significant difference at p < 0.05.



Fig. 4: Effects of tested factors on (*A*) plasma complement activity, and (*B*) relative C3 gene expression. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM (n = 8 (*A*); 4 (*B*)). Lowercase letters indicate a significant difference at p < 0.05.

E. DISCUSSION

The present study aimed to define the main directive factor-modalities for pike-perch aquaculture as well as the best combination of husbandry factors inducing the lowest stress status together with high husbandry performances and better welfare status. To our knowledge, very few studies have examined the optimization of aquaculture conditions for percid fish by taking into account a wide range of environmental and husbandry factors. Despite the loss of resolution compared to a full factorial design, fractional factorial approach has the main advantage of considering simultaneously the impact of a large number of inter-related aquaculture factors while traditional full factorial design rarely exceeds 3 factors (Hamre et al, 2004; Gardeur et al, 2007; Trabelsi et al, 2011).

In the present study, we have considered a 2 month-experiment to better assess the effects of the 8 environmental factors on growth related parameters, stress markers and immune status. Only considering mortality, 3 of the 16 tanks exceeded 30 % of mortality while 4 other tanks did not reach 5 %. Such difference was not expected within 2 months but allowed us to consider more especially some factors as crucial for welfare and survival of pike-perch in intensive culture conditions.

Directive factors improving husbandry performances

The classification of the combinations and the PCA have revealed the type of feed and the light intensity as the two main directive factors for husbandry variables, which are regarded as valuable indicators for estimating the fitness in aquaculture conditions (Moberg and Mench, 2001). The use of sinking feed improved growth performances and decreased weight heterogeneity. Fish were fed with sinking feed before the experiment and no habituation to midfloating feed was done. However, the change of feeding strategy and the lack of habituation do not have impacted feeding behavior during the first days since no effect of feed type was detected on SGR between D0 and D24 in contrast to differences observed on D63 at the end of the experiment. The use of mid-floating feed has thus impacted, independently of the lack of habituation, food intake resulting in decreased growth performances. It has been demonstrated that the use of sinking feed has a better effect on food intake and thereby on husbandry performances comparing to mid-floating feed in other fish species such as the Atlantic halibut Hippoglossus hippoglossus (Kristiansen and Ferno, 2007).

The present study revealed that light intensity is a determining factor for pikeperch with better survival observed under low light intensities. Light intensity affects many behavioral and biological processes in fish, such as foraging and growth (Fraser and Metcalfe, 1997; Trippel and Neil, 2003; Luchiari et al, 2006). The present study confirmed that pike-perch reared under conditions of low light intensity set at 10 lux displayed better husbandry performances than those submitted to 100 lux. Such preference of pike-perch for low light intensities has already been described by Luchiari et al (2006) since this species is a nocturnal and crepuscular predator. *Sander* species also possess a *tapetum lucidum* that is a specific anatomo-histological tissue of the retina which greatly amplifies the eye sensitivity to light (Feiner and Höök, 2015). This preference for low light intensities can be related to an innate behavior to avoid possible harmful effects of light on light-sensitive eyes (Sandström, 1999; Luchiari et al, 2006).

It is surprising that other tested factors such as grading were not demonstrated as directive influencing factors on husbandry variables in the context of the present study. Indeed, it has been reported that frequent manipulations markedly affect growth rate of young Eurasian perch (Jentoft et al. 2005; Strand et al, 2007), a species biologically close to pike-perch. Perhaps, the frequency of grading every two weeks, and the relative manipulations were not so detrimental at the developmental stage used in the present experiment. Temperature level was not also found as main directive factor for husbandry performances, and the positive interactions with sinking feed were observed with the treatments which included the lowest temperature. So, our finding did not corroborate previous reports that high temperature promotes growth rate in pike-perch juveniles (Rónyai and Csengeri, 2008; Wang et al, 2009; Dalsgaard et al, 2013), but may support the hypothesis that more energy is spent for increased metabolic rates when pike-perch are reared at 25°C (Frisk et al, 2013). And considering that high temperature may weaken the immunocompetence and thereby increase pathogen outbreaks in intensive culture conditions (Raida and Buckmann, 2007; Martins et al., 2011), we therefore conclude that temperature around 21°C is more favourable for pikeperch culture.

Our results also support observations reporting that high stocking density has no marked effects on growth and food utilization of young pike-perch, and that small juveniles can be kept at high densities ranging between 15 and 30 kg.m⁻³ without any increase in physiological stress response (Molnar et al., 2004; Steenfeldt et al., 2010; Dalsgaard et al., 2013). It was also reported that higher densities (30 to 60 kg.m⁻³) for larger pike-perch up to 2 kg are associated to good growth without any increase in crowding stress parameters (Dalsgaard et al., 2013).

Percid fish display sexual growth dimorphism as females grow faster than males (Craig, 2000). Therefore, rearing all-female populations would improve production of these species and this would be achieved by hormonal sex reversal treatment (Rougeot, 2015). The difference of growth performances between mixed-sex families and all-female families reaches 30 % in juvenile Eurasian perch after 360 days of rearing (Rougeot and Mélard, 2008). However, the methods for all-female production have not been yet

optimized for pike-perch, and since sex-determination in not possible with juvenile pike-perch, a mixed-sex population was used in the present experiment.

Directive modality interactions for pike-perch physiological and immune status

In the present experiment, no effect of the different culture conditions on plasma cortisol level was observed. Cortisol is well known to be part of the stress response and to be a major stress indicator promoting the metabolic pathways that increase plasma glucose levels in response to energy expenditure (Laiz-Carrion, 2003; Milla et al, 2010; Oliveira et al, 2013). A decrease in cortisol release along exposure to long-lasting stressors is a mechanism that minimizes the deleterious effects of sustained cortisol elevation on biological functions (Milla et al, 2015). While the assessment of cortisol is used as a valuable indicator of first stress response, it has been debated whether such indicator is a reliable indicator of welfare status since itself is not predictive of the fish's ability to cope with a stress situation (Ellis, 2012). A previous experiment on pike-perch (unpublished data) showed that plasma cortisol level returned to basal level as soon as 1 h post-stress while glucose peak was sustained for more than 3 h. A similar rapid decrease in the amplitude of stress response was characterized in juvenile Eurasian perch following a single or multiple emersion stressor (Douxfils et al, 2014). These observations may suggest a habituation to stress and/or a rapid metabolism of cortisol indicating the interest for using various stress indicators to account for the stress responsiveness in pike-perch. While assaying cortisol from plasma samples has already been used in several fish species with good results when collected within 5 min to avoid handling-induced cortisol (Wang et al, 2004; Douxfils et al, 2011), non-invasive methods have also been developed including direct fecal corticoid metabolites measurement and cortisol release measurement in water (Ellis et al. 2004; Cao et al. 2017). These methods should be better considered for offering various advantages including the absence of fish disturbance and the reduction of the number of animals required (Fanouraki et al, 2008).

The significant impact of high temperature on plasma glucose observed in the present study may be related to a better feeding behaviour since the feed type influenced glycaemia. Higher temperature conditions ranging between 25-28 °C have been described to promote growth and feed utilization in pike-perch

juveniles (Rónyai and Csengeri, 2008; Wang et al, 2009, Dalsgaard et al, 2013). However, if this is convenient for juveniles, it cannot be extrapolated to larger pike-perch without investigation since several studies have shown that optimal temperature seems to decrease with fish weight as observed with the African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) or the Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) (Hogendoorn et al, 1983; Björnsson et al, 2007; Rónyai and Csengeri, 2008; Wang et al, 2009). In the present experiment, while the feeding behavior may have been improved by high temperature, this factor did not significantly affect growth performances. Frisk et al. (2013) reported that a smaller fraction of metabolic scope was utilized for digestion at 19 °C compared to 25 °C, indicating that low temperature conditions are more favorable for pike-perch reared under intensive culture conditions. Even if this was not evidenced in the present study showing low cortisol levels on both D36 and D63, high temperature condition may induce a long-term stress that leads to energy reallocation resulting in less energy available for some biological functions such as growth, reproduction or disease resistance (Schreck et al, 2001; Tort, 2011; Segner et al, 2012, Milla et al, 2015).

Serotonergic activity has been described several times as a good indicator of acute and chronic stress in various fish species including the Senegalese sole Solea senegalensis and several salmonids (Winberg and Nilsson, 1993; Gesto et al, 2013; 2016; Conde-Sieira et al, 2014). When considering serotonergic activity level in the presented study, red light spectrum at low intensity or white light spectrum at high intensity induced both a higher stress status. Environmental colors affect the vision of fishes, influencing for example food intake, signals for hierarchical status, reproduction, growth and even survival (Downing, 2002; Politis et al, 2004; Luchiari and Pirhonen, 2008). Speciesdependent preferences are a reflection of the photic environment the populations have evolved in (Migaud et al, 2007). Luchiari et al (2009) showed an improved specific growth rate and feed efficiency under red light, only considering high light intensity. In parallel, Luchiari et al (2006) described a preference for low light intensities. Among the three stress indicators tested in the present study, only brain serotonergic activity showed plausible correlation with husbandry performances, indicating that high stress level is one of the main causes of low husbandry performances in pike-perch culture. By elsewhere, brain serotonergic activity may be considered as a more reliable stress indicator in percid fish than plasma cortisol. It has been suggested that a low degree of responsiveness to stressors in cultured fish

may result in better performances (Pottinger and Pickering, 1997). The converse may also be true considering the greater advantage of fish with a high degree of stress responsiveness, through a faster acclimation to environmental and social changes (Pottinger and Carrick, 1999). While the latter authors have described no correlation between cortisol response and growth performances in rainbow trout, better growth was obtained in low cortisol responders (Fevolden et al, 2002). And, as well as plasma cortisol level, it was reported that brain serotonergic, noradrenergic and dopaminergic activities are influenced by dominant-subordinate relationships in several fish species, including the rainbow trout (Overli et al, 1999). Social dominance was not followed in the present experiment but could have influenced the lack of relationship between growth and cortisol level since it has been shown in other fish species that socially defeated animals exhibit increased glucocorticoid secretion, sustained sympathetic activation and other physiological stress responses (Winberg and Lepage, 1998; Overli et al, 1999).

In terms of cortisol level, it is also surprising that grading manipulations did not induce higher stress status of pike-perch since grading practice has already been reported to markedly affect fish welfare (Jentoft et al, 2005; Strand et al, 2007). Before starting the experiment, the fish were size graded several times according to common practices of intensive pike-perch culture. Grading manipulations were then applied every two weeks according to the protocol. To explain the absence of the expected impact on cortisol level, it could be hypothesized that pike-perch submitted to such sequential stressors can exhibit a habituation on its cortisol response and an attenuation of the response as shown in several fish species (Schreck, 2000; Koakoski et al, 2013). However, the results on habituation and accumulation are highly dependent on the type of stressor, the length of time between discrete stressors and the number of repeated stressor (Koakoski et al, 2013). In the present experiment, the purpose was not to characterize the stress response after fish manipulations but to characterize chronical effects of several husbandry practices and, therefore, the long-term impact on stress markers. It is worth noting that serotonergic activity appeared as more sensitive marker than cortisol since plausible correlation was established with growth rate.

Concerning immune status, humoral immune activities were slightly impacted by some tested factors during the 2-month period. The effects of low oxygen saturation on complement activity on day 36 were no longer observed on day 63, suggesting only a short-term effect. This decrease in the impact of low oxygen saturation may be account for the increase in ACH50 values between D36 and D63. On the other hand, the effect of low oxygen level on humoral immunity may be explained by the fact that pike-perch requires high oxygen saturation and recommendations are to maintain the oxygen level above 50 % saturation to sustain growth and biofilter performance (Dalsgaard et al, 2013). In contrast to what was observed for growth rate, long photoperiod combined with high light intensity, which was characterized as a stressful factor, led to an increase in the immune expression level of both tested genes. Long photoperiod increased the exposure time to stressful light conditions that may have resulted in a short-term immune stimulation. However, since no single effect of photoperiod on stress and immune status was detected, the impact of such factor should be investigated in further experiments. The other factors tested in the present experiment were not revealed as directive variables for stress or immune status.

The lack of significant impact for high stocking density (30 kg.m⁻³) corroborates previous reports indicating that pike-perch juveniles from 10 to 50 g should be maintained at densities below 15 - 30 kg.m⁻³ while fish up to 2 kg can be kept around 30 - 60 kg.m⁻³ without any increase in crowding stress parameters, suppressed growth, or increase in feed conversion ratio (Steenfeldt et al, 2010). The lack of enough information on the imposing stress events for pike-perch in intensive aquaculture did not allow further discussion concerning the impact of the tested factors-modalities on immune status. So, further investigations are needed to explore potential effects of high stress responsiveness on immune status of pike-perch.

F. CONCLUSION

This experiment was based on a factorial fractional design study which allowed simultaneously to study the effects of 8 common husbandry practices in two modalities on pike-perch growth and welfare. Several husbandry practices, including light intensity, feed type and temperature were revealed to be directive factors for husbandry and stress parameters in pike-perch aquaculture while immune status was mainly influenced by photoperiod and oxygen saturation level. Best husbandry performances were thus obtained with sinking feed and low light intensity, and no obvious relation was established between stress status and growth parameters. Further investigations focusing on light characteristics, temperature and feed type are needed to improve management strategies of pike-perch culture, and knowledge on the interrelations between stress and immunity in percid fish.

G. ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This study has been supported under the framework of the European Union Seventh Framework Programme project DIVERSIFY (KBBE-2013-07 single stage, GA 603121) titled "Exploring the biological and socio-economic potential of new/emerging fish species for the expansion of the European aquaculture industry". The authors thank Prof. Pierre Van Cutsem (Unit of Research in Plant Cellular and Molecular Biology, Namur, Belgium) and Pierre Cambier for providing access to and guidance with their HPLC system.

H. REFERENCES

- Barry T. P. & Malison J. A. (2004) Proceedings of PERCIS III, the Third International Percid Fish Symposium. University of Wisconsin, Madison, 20-24 July 2003, Wisconsin, USA.
- Barton, B. A. (2002). Stress in fishes: a diversity of responses with particular reference to changes in circulating corticosteroids. *Integr. Comp. Biol.*, 42, 517–525.
- Blanchard, G., Gardeur, J. N., Mathis, N., Brun-bellut, J., & Kestemont, P. (2008). Ultrastructural features of hepatocytes in cultured Eurasian perch (*Perca fluviatilis* L.) as affected by nutritional and husbandry conditions. *Br. J. Nutr.*, 100, 317–331.
- Biswas, A., Takaoka, O., Kumai, H., & Takii, K. (2016). Combined effect of photoperiod and self-feeder on the growth performance of striped knifejaw, *Oplegnathus fasciatus*. *Aquaculture*, *452*, 183–187.
- Björnsson, B., Steinarsson, A., & Árnason, T. (2007). Growth model for Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*): Effects of temperature and body weight on growth rate. *Aquaculture*, 271, 216–226.
- Boeuf, G., & Bail, P. Le. (1999). Does light have an influence on fish growth? *Aquaculture*, *177*, 129–152.
- Cao, Y., Tveten, A., & Stene, A. (2017). Establishment of a non-invasive method for stress evaluation in farmed salmon based on direct fecal corticoid metabolites measurement. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 66, 317– 324.

- Conde-sieira, M., Muñoz, J. L. P., López-patiño, M. A., Gesto, M., Soengas, J. L., & Míguez, J. M. (2014). Oral administration of melatonin counteracts several of the effects of chronic stress in rainbow trout. *Domest. Anim. Endocrinol.*, 46, 26–36.
- Craig, J.F. (2000). Percid fishes systematics, ecology and exploitation, vol 3, Fish and aquatic resources series, Blackwell, Oxford.
- Dalsgaard, J., Lund, I., Thorarinsdottir, R., Drengstig, A., Arvonen, K., & Pedersen, P. B. (2013). Farming different species in RAS in Nordic countries: Current status and future perspectives. *Aquac. Eng.*, 53, 2–13.
- Daniel, C. (1959). Use of half-normal plots in interpreting factorial two-level experiments. *Technometrics*, *1*, 311-341.
- Douxfils, J., Mandiki, S. N. M., Marotte, G., Wang, N., Silvestre, F., Milla, S., Henrotte, E., Vandecan, M., Rougeot, C., Mélard, C., Kestemont, P. (2011). Does domestication process affect stress response in juvenile Eurasian perch *Perca fluviatilis? Comp. Biochem. Physiol.*, 159, 92–99.
- Douxfils, J., Deprez, M., Mandiki, S. N. M., Milla, S., Henrotte, E., Mathieu, C., Silvestre, F., Vandecan, M., Rougeot, C., Mélard, C., Dieu, M., Raes, M., Kestemont, P. (2012). Physiological and proteomic responses to single and repeated hypoxia in juvenile Eurasian perch under domestication -Clues to physiological acclimation and humoral immune modulations. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 33, 1112–1122.
- Douxfils, J., Lambert, S., Mathieu, C., Milla, S., Mandiki, S. N. M., Henrotte, E., Wang, N., Dieu, M., Raes, M., Rougeot, C., Kestemont, P. (2014). Influence of domestication process on immune response to repeated emersion stressors in Eurasian perch (*Perca fluviatilis*, L.). *Comp. Biochem. Physiol.*, 173, 52–60.
- Downing, G. (2002). Impact of spectral composition on larval haddock, *Melanogrammus aeglefinus* L., growth and survival. *Aquac. Res.*, 33, 251–259.
- Ellis, T., James, J. D., Stewart, C., & Scott, A. (2004). A non-invasive stress assay based upon measurement of free cortisol released into the water by rainbow trout. *J. Fish Biol.*, *65*, 1233–1252.
- Ellis, T., Yildiz, H. Y., Lopez-Olmeda, J., Spedicato, M. T., Tort, L., Øverli, Ø., & Martins, C. I. M. (2012). Cortisol and finfish welfare. *Fish Phys. Biochem.*, 38, 163–188.
- Fanouraki, E., Papandroulakis, N., Ellis, T., Mylonas, C. C., Scott, A. P., & Pavlidis, M. (2008). Water cortisol is a reliable indicator of stress in European sea bass, *Dicentrarchus labrax*. *Behaviour*, 145, 1267–1281.
- FAO (2014). The state of world fisheries and aquaculture. Rome. 223 pp.
- Fast, M. D., Hosoya, S., Johnson, S. C., & Afonso, L. O. B. (2008). Cortisol response and immune-related effects of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* Linnaeus) subjected to short- and long-term stress. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 24, 194–204.

- Feiner, Z. S. & Höök, T. O., Environmental biology of Percid fishes, in: Kestemont, P., Dabrowski, K., & Summerfelt, R. C. (Eds.), Biology and culture of Percid fishes, Springer Science+Business Media Dordrecht, 2015, pp. 61-100.
- Fevolden, S., Røed, K. H., & Fjalestad, K. T. (2002). Selection response of cortisol and lysozyme in rainbow trout and correlation to growth. *Aquaculture*, 205, 61–75.
- Fraser, N. H. C., & Metcalfe, N. B. (1997). The costs of becoming nocturnal: feeding efficiency in relation to light intensity in juvenile Atlantic Salmon. *Funct. Ecol.*, 11, 385–391.
- Frisk, M., Skov, P. V., & Steffensen, J. F. (2012). Thermal optimum for pikeperch (*Sander lucioperca*) and the use of ventilation frequency as a predictor of metabolic rate. *Aquaculture*, 324-325, 151–157.
- Frisk, M., Fleng, J. F., & Skov, P. V. (2013). The effects of temperature on specific dynamic action and ammonia excretion in pike-perch (*Sander lucioperca*). Aquaculture, 404-405, 65–70.
- Gardeur, J., Mathis, N., Kobilinsky, A., & Brun-Bellut, J. (2007). Simultaneous effects of nutritional and environmental factors on growth and flesh quality of *Perca fluviatilis* using a fractional factorial design study. *Aquaculture*, 273, 50–63.
- Gesto, M., López-patiño, M. A., Hernández, J., Soengas, J. L., & Míguez, J. M. (2013). The response of brain serotonergic and dopaminergic systems to an acute stressor in rainbow trout: a time course study. J. Exp. Biol., 216, 4435–4442.
- Gesto, M., Álvarez-otero, R., Conde-sieira, M., Otero-rodiño, C., Usandizaga, S., Soengas, J. L., Míguez, J. M., & López-patiño, M. A. (2016). A simple melatonin treatment protocol attenuates the response to acute stress in the sole *Solea senegalensis*. *Aquaculture*, 452, 272–282.
- Hamre, K., Christiansen, R., Waagbø, R., Maage, A., Torstensen, B. E., Lygren, B., Lie, Ø., Wathne, E., Albrektsen, S. (2004). Antioxidant vitamins, minerals and lipid levels in diets for Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*, L.): effects on growth performance and fillet quality. *Aquac. Nutr.*, 10, 113–123.
- Hilge, V., & Steffens, W. (1996). Aquaculture of fry and fingerling of pikeperch (*Stizustediun Zuciuperca* L.) - a short review. J. Appl. Ichthyol., 12, 167–170.
- Hogendoorn, H., Jansen, J.A.J., Koops,W.J., Machiels, M.A.M., van Ewijk, P.H., van Hees, J.P. (1983). Growth and production of the African catfish, *Clarias lazera* (C.& V.). II. Effects of bodyweight, temperature and feeding level in intensive tank culture. *Aquaculture* 34, 265–285.
- Jentoft, S., Aastveit, A. H., Torjesen, P. A., & Andersen, Ø. (2005). Effects of stress on growth, cortisol and glucose levels in non-domesticated

Eurasian perch (*Perca fluviatilis*) and domesticated rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 141, 353–358.

- Jensen, B. B., Holopainen, R., Tapiovaara, H., & Ariel, E. (2011). Susceptibility of pike-perch *Sander lucioperca* to a panel of ranavirus isolates. *Aquaculture*, *313*, 24–30.
- Kestemont, P., Xueliang, X., Hamza, N., Maboudou, J., & Toko, I. I. (2007). Effect of weaning age and diet on pike-perch larviculture. *Aquaculture*, 264, 197–204.
- Koakoski, G., Kreutz, L. C., Fagundes, M., Oliveira, T. A., Ferreira, D., Rosa, J. G. S., & Barcellos, L. J. G. (2013). Repeated stressors do not provoke habituation or accumulation of the stress response in the catfish *Rhamdia quelen*. *Neotrop. Ichthyol.*, 11(2), 453–457.
- Kobilinsky, A. (2000). Reparametrisation of interest in non-uniform factorial designs. *Linear Algebra Appl.*, *321*, 239–280.
- Kozlowski, M., Zakêœ, Z., Szczepkowski, M., Wunderlich, K., Piotrowska, I., & Szczepkowska, B. (2010). Impact of light intensity on the results of rearing juvenile pike-perch, *Sander lucioperca* (L.), in recirculating aquaculture systems. *Arch. Pol. Fish.*, 48, 77–84.
- Kristiansen, T. S., & Fernö, A. (2007). Individual behaviour and growth of halibut (*Hippoglossus hippoglossus* L.) fed sinking and mid-floating feed: Evidence of different coping styles. *Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci.*, 104, 236– 250.
- Laiz-Carrión, R., P. Martín Del Río, M., M. Miguez, J., M. Mancera, J., & L. Soengas, J. (2003). Influence of Cortisol on Osmoregulation and energy metabolism in gilthead seabream *Sparus aurata*. J. Exp. Zool., 298A, 105– 118.
- Lepage, O., Overli, O., Petersson, E., Järvi, T., & Winberg, S. (2000). Differential Stress Coping in Wild and Domesticated Sea Trout. *Brain. Behav. Evol.*, 56, 259–268.
- Luchiari, A.C., Freire, F., Koskela, J., & Pirhonen, J. (2006). Light intensity preference of juvenile pike-perch Sander lucioperca (L.). Aquac. Res., 37, 1572–1577.
- Luchiari, A.C., & Pirhonen, J. (2008). Effects of ambient colour on colour preference and growth of juvenile rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum). J. Fish. Biol., 72, 1504–1514.
- Luchiari, A.C., Freire, F. A. M., Pirhonen, J., & Koskela, J. (2009). Longer wavelengths of light improve the growth, intake and feed efficiency of individually reared juvenile pike-perch *Sander lucioperca* (L .). *Aquac. Res.*, 40, 880–886.
- Mairesse, G., Thomas, M., Gardeur, J., & Brun-bellut, J. (2007). Effects of dietary factors, stocking biomass and domestication on the nutritional and technological quality of the Eurasian perch *Perca fluviatilis*. *Aquaculture*, 262, 86–94.

- Mathieu, C., Milla, S., Mandiki, S. N. M., Douxfils, J., & Kestemont, P. (2014). In vivo response of some immune and endocrine variables to LPS in Eurasian perch (*Perca fluviatilis*, L.) and modulation of this response by two corticosteroids, cortisol and 11-deoxycorticosterone. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol., Part A.*, 167, 25–34.
- Martins, M. L., Xu, D. H., Shoemaker, C. A., & Klesius, P. H. (2011). Temperature effects on immune response and hematological parameters of channel catfish *Ictalurus punctatus* vaccinated with live theronts of *Ichthyophthirius multifiliis*. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 31, 774–780.
- Migaud, H., Daive, A., Martinez Chavez, C. C., & Al-Khamees, S. (2007). Evidence for differential photic regulation of pineal melatonin synthesis in teleosts. *J. Pineal Res.*, *43*, 327–335.
- Milla, S., Mathieu, C., Wang, N., Lambert, S., Nadzialek, S., Massart, S., Henrotte, E., Douxfils, J., Mélard, C., Mandiki, S.N.M., Kestemont, P. (2010). Spleen immune status is affected after acute handling stress but not regulated by cortisol in Eurasian perch, *Perca fluviatilis*. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 28, 931–941.
- Milla, S., Douxfils, J., Mandiki, S.N.M, Saroglia, S.N.M., Corticosteroids and the stress response in Percid fish, in: Kestemont, P., Dabrowski, K., & Summerfelt, R. C. (Eds.), Biology and culture of Percid fishes, Springer Science+Business Media Dordrecht, 2015, pp. 725-742.
- Moberg, G. P., & Mench, J. A. (2001). The biology of animal stress: basic principles and implications for animal welfare. *Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci.*, 72, 375–378.
- Molnár, T., Hancz, C., Bódis, M., Müller, T., Bercsény, M., & Horn, P. (2004). The effect of initial stocking density on growth and survival of pike-perch fingerlings reared under intensive conditions. *Aquac. Int.*, 12, 181–189.
- Olivieira, C. V. O., Aparício, R., Blanco-Vives, B., Chereguini, O., Martín, I., & Sánchez-Vazquez, F. J. (2013). Endocrine (plasma cortisol and glucose) and behavioral (locomotor and self-feeding activity) circadian rhythms in Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis* Kaup 1858) exposed to light / dark cycles or constant light. *Fish Physiol. Biochem.*, 39, 479–487.
- Øverli, Ø., Harris, C. A., & Winberg, S. (1999). Short-Term Effects of Fights for Social Dominance and the Establishment of Dominant-Subordinate Relationships on Brain Monoamines and Cortisol in Rainbow Trout. *Brain Behav. Evol.*, *54*, 263–275.
- Pankhurst, N. W. (2011). The endocrinology of stress in fish: An environmental perspective. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.*, 170, 265–275.
- Pfaffl, M. W. (2001). A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT-PCR. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 29(9), 16–21.

- Politis, S. N., Butts, I. A. E., & Tomkiewicz, J. (2014). Light impacts embryonic and early larval development of the European eel, *Anguilla* anguilla. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol., 461, 407–415.
- Pottinger, T.G., Pickering, A.D., Genetic basis to the stress response, in: Iwama, G.K., Pickering, A.D., Sumpter, J.P., Schreck, C.B. Eds., Fish Stress and Health in Aquaculture. Cambridge Univ. Press, Z. Cambridge, 1997, pp. 171–193.
- Pottinger, T. G., & Carrick, T. R. (1999). A comparison of plasma glucose and plasma cortisol as selection markers for high and low stressresponsiveness in female rainbow trout. *Aquaculture*, *175*, 351–363.
- Raida, M. K., & Buchmann, K. (2007). Temperature-dependent expression of immune-relevant genes in rainbow trout following *Yersinia ruckeri* vaccination. *Dis. Aquat. Org.*, 77, 41–52.
- Rónyai, A., & Csengeri, I. (2008). Effect of feeding regime and temperature on ongrowing results of pike-perch (*Sander lucioperca L.*). *Aquac. Res.*, 39, 820–827.
- Rougeot, C., Sex and ploidy manipulation in Percid fishes, in: Kestemont, P., Dabrowski, K., & Summerfelt, R. C. (Eds.), Biology and culture of Percid fishes, Springer Science+Business Media Dordrecht, 2015, pp. 625-634.
- Rougeot, C., Mélard, C., Genetic improvement of growth, in: Rougeot, C., Toner, D. (Eds.), Farming of Eurasian perch. Volume 1: Juvenile production. Aquaculture explained, n 24. Aquaculture Development Division, Bord Iascaigh Mahra, Dublin, pp 42-51.
- Sandström, A. 1999. Visual ecology of fish a review with special reference to percids. Fiskeriverket. Rapport 2, 45–80
- Sarameh, P. P., Falahatkar, B., Azari, G. A., & Efatpanah, I. (2012). Effects of different photoperiods and handling stress on spawning and reproductive performance of pike-perch *Sander lucioperca*. *Animal Reproduction Science*, *132*, 213–222.
- Schreck, C.B., Accumulation and Long-Term Effects of Stress in Fish, in Moberg, G. P. & J. A. Mench (eds.). The Biology of Animal Stress: Basic Principles and Implications for Animal Welfare, New York, Cabi Publishing, 2000, pp. 147-158
- Schreck, C. B., Contreras-sanchez, W., & Fitzpatrick, M. S. (2001). Effects of stress on fish reproduction, gamete quality, and progeny. *Aquaculture*, 197, 3–24.
- Segner, H., Sundh, H., Buchmann, K., Douxfils, J., Sundell, K. S., Mathieu, C., Ruane, N., Jutfelt, F., Toften, H. & Vaughan, L. (2012). Health of farmed fish: its relation to fish welfare and its utility as welfare indicator. *Fish Physiol. Biochem.*, 38, 85–105.
- Siwicki, A., & Studnicka, M. (1987). The phagocytic ability of neutrophils and serum lysozyme activity in experimentally infected carp, *Cyprinus carpio* L. J. Fish Biol., 31, 57–60.

- Steenfeldt, S. J., Vestergaard, M., Overton, J.L., Lund, I., Paulsen, H., Larsen, V.J., Henriksen, N.H., (2010). Further development of intensive pikeperch rearing in Denmark. DTU Aqua Research Report no. 228, Technical University of Denmark, Denmark. (in Danish)
- Strand, Å., Magnhagen, C., & Alanärä, A. (2007). Effects of repeated disturbances on feed intake, growth rates and energy expenditures of juvenile perch, *Perca fluviatilis*. *Aquaculture*, 265, 163–168.
- Sunyer JO, Tort L (1995) Natural haemolytic and bactericidal activities of sea bream *Sparus aurata* serum are effected by the alternative complement pathway. *Vet. Immunol. Immunop.*, 45(3-4): 333-345.
- Szkudlarek, M., & Zakes, Z. (2007). Effect of stocking density on survival and growth performance of pike-perch, *Sander lucioperca* (L.), larvae under controlled conditions. *Aquac. Int.*, *15*, 67–81.
- Teletchea, F., Gardeur, J., Psenicka, M., Kaspar, V., Le, Y., Linhart, O., & Fontaine, P. (2009). Effects of four factors on the quality of male reproductive cycle in pike-perch *Sander lucioperca*. *Aquaculture*, 291, 217–223.
- Torstensen, B. E., Lie, Ø., & Hamre, K. (2001). A factorial experimental design for investigation of e € ects of dietary lipid content and pro- and antioxidants on lipid composition in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) tissues and lipoproteins. *Aquac. Nutr.*, *7*, 265–276.
- Tort, L. (2011). Stress and immune modulation in fish. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.*, 35, 1366–1375.
- Trabelsi, A., Gardeur, J., Teletchea, F., & Fontaine, P. (2011). Effects of 12 factors on burbot *Lota lota* (L., 1758) weaning performances using fractional factorial design experiment. *Aquaculture*, 316, 104–110.
- Trinder, P. (1969). Determination of glucose in blood using glucose oxidase with an alternative oxygen acceptor. *Ann. Clin. Biochem.*, 6, 24–27.
- Trippel, E. A., & Neil, S. R. E. (2003). Effects of photoperiod and light intensity on growth and activity of juvenile haddock (*Melanogrammus* aeglefinus). Aquaculture, 217, 633–645.
- Wang, N., Fontaine, P., Gardeur, J.N., Marie, M. (2004). Temperature effect on the time course of cortisol release during acute stress in Eurasian perch (*Perca fluviatilis*), *Proceedings of the 5th International Symposium on Fish Endocrinology*. Castellon, Spain. 172.
- Wang, N., Xu, X., & Kestemont, P. (2009). Effect of temperature and feeding frequency on growth performances, feed efficiency and body composition of pike-perch juveniles (*Sander lucioperca*). Aquaculture, 289, 70–73.
- Winberg, S., & Nilsson, G. E. (1993). Roles of brain monoamine neurotransmitters in agonistic behaviour and stress reactions, with particular reference to fish. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol.*, 106, 597–614.

- Winberg, S., & Lepage, O. (1998). Elevation of brain 5-HT activity, POMC expression, and plasma cortisol in socially subordinate rainbow trout. *Am. J. Physiol.*, *274*, 645–654.
- Zingel, P., & Paaver, T. (2010). Effects of turbidity on feeding of the youngof-the-year pike-perch (*Sander lucioperca*) in fishponds. *Aquac. Res.*, *41*, 189–197.

VI. Daily rhythms of immune markers

Foreword: Since the light environment profoundly affects pike-perch physiology, we considered the modulation of the immune system by the light environment whose characteristics are spectrum, intensity and photoperiod. Available data confirmed that several fish species are sensitive to the light in terms of behavior, growth and reproduction. However, few authors have considered the immune system. In this experiment, we thus aimed to identify the 24-h profiles for rhythmicity in several stress and innate immune markers. Furthermore, the potential effects of two light spectra on those parameters were compared.

Influence of the light spectrum on the daily rhythms of stress and humoral innate immune markers in pike-perch *Sander lucioperca*



Sébastien Baekelandt, Syaghalirwa N.M. Mandiki, Mélodie Schmitz, Patrick Kestemont

Research Unit in Environmental and Evolutionary Biology (URBE), Institute of Life, Earth & Environment, University of Namur, Rue de Bruxelles 61, B-5000, Belgium

A. ABSTRACT

This study investigated the daily variations of stress markers namely plasma cortisol and glucose and some humoral innate immune markers, including peroxidase, lysozyme and complement activities, of pike-perch (*Sander lucioperca*) and the effect of light spectrum on these variations. Fish were reared under a white or red light spectrum at a constant photoperiod (12D:12L). Samples were collected at 22:00, 04:00, 10:00 and 16:00 at days

Experiment II: Daily rhythms of immune markers

1 and 42 of the experiment. After 42 days, the use of a red light spectrum led to a significant increase in final bodyweight. Specific growth rate reached 2.1 \pm 0.18 and 1.8 \pm 0.17 % d⁻¹ under red and white spectra respectively. The profiles of plasma cortisol followed a cyclic activity with a surge during photophase at 10:00 without any effect of the light spectrum at day 42. Both lysozyme and peroxidase activities in blood followed a day-night variation with a peak at 4:00 corresponding to low cortisol values. No rhythmicity was detected for the complement activity but higher values were observed at 16:00 when cortisol values were lowest. Light spectra also influenced humoral immune markers with an increase in lysozyme activity and a decrease in peroxidase activity in a red light environment. The present results indicate a strong effect of the light environment, including the light-dark cycle and the light spectrum, on pike-perch physiology. Especially, some innate immune status seemed stimulated during the dark phase in relation to a decrease in the stress level markers. Such parallelism in the relationship between the immune status and stress markers may be affected positively or negatively by the light characteristics. Humoral immune markers were also modulated according to the light spectrum without no clear trend (stimulation or inhibition) for the immunocompetence status.

B. INTRODUCTION

Due to its fast growth, high quality flesh and high economical expectation, pike-perch Sander lucioperca is one of the most promising freshwater fish species for the diversification of European inland aquaculture (Wang et al, 2009; Dalsgaard et al, 2013; Overton et al, 2015). However, its culture is still limited by impairment in growth rate and high mortality rate during the young developmental stages. These failures may be related to inadequate rearing conditions inducing high stress level since the pike-perch aquaculture management has not been optimized yet. It has been shown that percid fish are more sensitive to aquaculture stressors than other species with a longer history of domestication (Jentoft et al, 2005). And since decreased welfare may lead to increased stress level and to disease outbreaks, it is essential to improve its management strategy. In previous studies (Luchiari et al, 2006; 2009; Baekelandt et al, 2018), light was defined as a determining factor affecting physiology and, by the way, culture of pike-perch. However, the effects of the light environment, including light-darkness cycle and light spectrum, on physiology and immunity of pike-perch, are poorly documented and would merit more attention.

The aquatic environment is critical for the maintenance of fish homeostasis. It is well established that a perturbation of the pathogen-host-environment balance favors disease outbreaks that can severely limit aquaculture success (Esteban et al, 2006). From environmental cues, photoperiod is one of the major factors regulating a wide range of biological processes. The lightdarkness cycle is perceived by photoreceptors and integrated into a melatonin rhythmic signal. It has been described several times to play in almost all vertebrates, a central role in driving circadian rhythms, including locomotor activity, thermal preferences, rest, osmoregulation and metabolic activity, as well as annual processes such as growth and sexual maturation (Falcón et al, 2007; 2010). Few studies also support a circadian and circannual activity of the immune system (Esteban et al, 2006; Morgan et al, 2008). Esteban et al (2006) pointed out a variation of some humoral immune markers in seabream and sea bass based on the light-darkness cycle. In addition to vary seasonally, immunity was shown to be influenced by artificial photoperiod (Leonardi and Klempau, 2003). While only little is known on this matter, a better understanding of the immune regulation by the light-darkness cycle would improve management strategies of cultured species. And as already used to control timing of broodstock spawning, smoltification and early maturation

Experiment II: Daily rhythms of immune markers

in several fish species (Falcón et al, 2010), photoperiod manipulation could be an interesting tool for improving their immunocompetence.

Environmental colors affect the vision of teleosts, influencing for example food intake, signals for hierarchical status, reproduction, growth and even survival (Downing, 2002; Politis et al, 2014; Karakatsouli et al, 2007; Luchiari and Pirhonen, 2008). The use of optimal light colors was described to decrease stress status and stress-induced cortisol response in several fish species (Volpato and Barreto, 2001; Karakatsouli et al, 2007; Eslamloo et al, 2015). Unnatural light spectra also negatively affect important aspects of larval development and performance (Villamizar et al, 2009; Blanco-Vives, 2010). In pike-perch, it was shown that the use of red light improved specific growth rate and feed efficiency, with no consideration on the stress status or the immune system (Luchiari et al, 2009). These species-dependent preferences are explained by their specific natural habitat characteristics in relation to the adaptations of their visual system (Karakatsouli et al, 2007; Migaud et al, 2007). In the case of pike-perch, natural habitats are typically eutrophic and only light above 600 nm, including red wavelengths, penetrates below 1 m (Luchiari et al, 2009). Considering current practices in pike-perch culture and previous data (Baekelandt et al, 2018), red and industrial white light spectra were chosen to better evaluate the potential effects of the light spectrum on humoral innate immune markers.

As a potent immunosuppressive agent in vertebrates with complex actions on immune cells, cortisol has to be taken into account when investigating the potential effects of the light environment on the immune system (Tort et al, 2011). This glucocorticoid is well known to be part of the stress response and to be a major stress indicator promoting the metabolic pathways that increase plasma glucose levels in response to energy expenditure (Laiz-Carrion, 2003; Milla et al, 2010; Oliveira et al, 2013).

Globally, involvement of light characteristics in the regulation of the immune system in fish is poorly documented. Therefore, as a first step in describing the immunomodulation by the light environment, we tested in pike-perch the 24-h profiles for rhythmicity in cortisol and glucose release and in humoral innate immune markers, including peroxidase, lysozyme and complement activities. Furthermore, the effects of two light spectra (red and white) on stress status and on the latter immune markers were assessed.

C. MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Animals and rearing conditions

A stock of 960 pike-perch (*S. lucioperca*) juveniles from Asialor farm (Dieuze, France) were transferred to URBE facilities at the University of Namur, Belgium. Animals were randomly distributed in 24 indoor 100 L-tanks. They were acclimated for 20 days under constant white lightning conditions (industrial white spectrum, 10 lux, 12 h of night duration from 8 pm to 8 am) and 22 ± 0.5 °C water temperature until they reached 10 ± 1 g bodyweight. At day 1 of the experiment, the white spectrum was replaced by a red spectrum (610 nm) for half of the tanks. Intensity was maintained at 10 lux at water surface. Fish were reared under these conditions (red or white spectrum) with a 12 L:12 D daily cycle for 42 days. They were fed twice a day at 10:30 and 18:00 with a commercial pellet diet (44 % proteins and 26 % lipids; Coppens, Netherlands) at 2.0 % biomass during all the experimental period. These rearing conditions were adapted according to a previous multifactorial experiment comparing major husbandry practices in pike-perch culture (Baekelandt et al, 2018).

The present protocol (16 276 KE) has been carried out in agreement with the local Ethics Committee for Animal Experiments.

2. Sampling procedures

Samplings occurred at 22:00, 4:00, 10:00 and 16:00 h (5 fish per time and per tank) at both days 1 and 42. To avoid repetitive stressful events on fish and potential artefacts on results, 6 tanks (3 per condition) were assigned at each time of sampling. Each treatment group had thus 3 replicates. Fish were starved one day before samplings. Five fish were removed randomly from each tank and anesthetized with MS-222 (150 mg L⁻¹) in a bucket covered with a tissue. As soon as they were anesthetized, fish head was covered with a tissue and blood was quickly collected by caudal vein puncture with heparinized syringes and centrifuged at 3,000 g during 10 min at 4 °C. The time between fish capture from their rearing tank and the blood sampling was optimized within 4 min. Plasma was aliquoted and stored at -80 °C until assayed.

3. Husbandry variables

Final individual weight (FIW) and Specific Growth Rate (SGR) were determined on day 42 for each experimental condition. SGR was estimated according to the formula: ((Ln(final individual weight) – Ln (initial individual weight)) *100 / duration of the experiment).

4. Cortisol and glucose assays

Cortisol was assayed in triplicate using a cortisol ELISA kit (DRG, EIA-1887), following the manufacturer's instructions (BioSource, Belgium). The intra-assay coefficient of variation was 3.6 %, the assay dynamic range was between 0-800 ng mL⁻¹ and the analytical sensitivity was 2.5 ng ml⁻¹. Plasma glucose, also assayed in triplicate, was determined calorimetrically based on a glucose oxidase/peroxidase method described by Trinder (1969).

5. Plasma lysozyme activity

Lysozyme activity was evaluated in plasma samples by the turbimetric method (Siwiki and Studnicka, 1987; Douxfils et al, 2012). Plasma samples (10 μ l) were mixed with 10 μ l of Na₂HPO₄ 0.05 M pH 6.2 and 140 μ l *Micrococcus lysodeikticus* (Sigma-Aldrich) solution (0.6 g/L). This assay was performed in triplicate. Absorbance was measured at 450 nm every 2 min during 20 min at room temperature. Lysozyme activity (units) is defined as the amount of enzyme decreasing the turbidity of 0.001 OD per min.

6. Peroxidase activity

The total peroxidase activity in plasma was assessed following the method described in Quade and Roth (1997). Briefly, 15 μ l of plasma was diluted in 140 μ l of HBSS without Ca+2 or Mg+2 and mixed with 50 μ l of 20 mM 3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine hydrochloride (Sigma) and 5 mM H2O2. The reaction was stopped after 2 min by adding 50 μ l of 4 M sulphuric acid and absorbance was measured at 450 nm. The peroxidase activity was determined defining as one unit the peroxidase that produces an absorbance change of 1 OD.

7. Plasma alternative complement pathway

The alternative complement pathway (ACH50) was assayed by measuring the haemolytic activity in plasma samples using rabbit erythrocytes as targets

Experiment II: Daily rhythms of immune markers

(Sunyer and Tort, 1995). Briefly, 10 μ l of rabbit red blood cells suspension suspended at 3% in veronal buffer (Biomerieux, Marcy-l'Etoile, France) were mixed with serial dilutions of plasma (from 40 to 800 times). Plates were then read at 405 nm after incubation at 28 °C for 120 min. The spontaneous hemolysis was obtained by adding veronal buffer to 10 μ l of rabbit erythrocytes and total lysis was obtained by mixing 10 μ l of rabbit erythrocytes to distilled water (total volume = 70 μ l). ACH50 was calculated using 4-parameter logistic regression and corresponds to the lysis of 50 % of the rabbit erythrocytes.

8. Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as the mean \pm standard error (SEM). Kolmogorov and Smirnov's test was used to assess the normality of data sets (p < 0.05) and Bartlett's test was conducted to evaluate variance homogeneity (p < 0.05). Results from day 1 and day 42 were separately analyzed with a two-way ANOVA (p < 0.05) taking the light spectrum (white or red) and the time of the day (4:00; 10:00; 16:00 and 22:00) as the two-modality factors. When significant, mean values were compared according to Tuckey's HSD posthoc test (p < 0.05). The results were analyzed with JMP 12.1 software (SAS Institute Inc., North Carolina, USA). Moreover, a nonlinear regression with a cosine function (Refinetti et al, 2007) was performed to test 24-h profiles for rhythmicity under white and red spectra.

D. RESULTS

Rearing pike-perch juveniles in a red light environment resulted in a significant increase in husbandry performances (Fig. 1) with a higher final body weight and Specific Growth Rate (SGR) (p < 0.001). SGR reached 2.1 \pm 0.18 and 1.8 \pm 0.17 % d⁻¹ under red and white spectra respectively.

Plasma cortisol level was influenced by the day-night variation at both days 1 and 42 (Fig. 2). Values reached 82 ± 17 ng ml⁻¹ during the photophase at 10:00 and significantly (p < 0.01) dropped to 28 ± 12 ng ml⁻¹ during the scotophase, regardless of the day of sampling and light spectrum. Moreover, at day 1, the red light spectrum led to a significant decrease in plasma cortisol (p < 0.01) compared to the white spectrum. Concerning plasma glucose level, no clear rhythmicity was detected (Fig. 3) whatever the light spectrum.

However, the red spectrum induced a higher plasma glucose at days 1 and 42 (p < 0.01) compared to the white one.

Lysozyme and peroxidase activities both followed a daily rhythm (Fig. 4 and 5) (p < 0.001). They peaked at 4:00 and then dropped by a 25 to 40 % during the photophase at 10:00 and 16:00. Moreover, at day 42, the lysozyme activity was found to be stimulated by the red light while the peroxidase activated by the white one. As regards to ACH50 activity, the maximum activity was observed during the photophase around 16:00 corresponding to a high level of plasma cortisol level, but no significant rhythmicity was detected (Fig. 6).



Fig. 1: Effects of the light spectrum on final body weight and Specific Growth Rate (SGR) of pike-perch juveniles reared under a red or a white light spectrum. Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 12). Lowercase letters indicate significant differences at p < 0.05.



Fig. 2: Daily variations of plasma cortisol in pike-perch juveniles at days 1 (A) and 42 (B). Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 12). Lowercase and capital letters indicate significant differences at p < 0.05 between sampling time points, for red and white spectrum respectively. In boxes, (*), (**) and (***) indicate significant daily rhythmicity (DR) at p < 0.05, 0.01 and 0.001 respectively. Effect of the light spectra was also tested (NS: not significant).



Fig. 3: Daily variations of plasma glucose in pike-perch juveniles at days 1 (A) and 42 (B). Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 12). Lowercase and capital letters indicate significant differences at p < 0.05 between sampling time points, for red and white spectrum respectively. In boxes, (*), (**) and (***) indicate significant daily rhythmicity (DR) at p < 0.05, 0.01 and 0.001 respectively. Effect of the light spectra was also tested.



Fig. 4: Daily variations of plasma peroxidase activity in pike-perch juveniles at days 1 (A) and 42 (B). Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 12). Lowercase and capital letters indicate significant differences at p < 0.05 between sampling time points, for red and white spectrum respectively. In boxes, (*), (**) and (***) indicate significant daily rhythmicity (DR) at p < 0.05, 0.01 and 0.001 respectively. Effect of the light spectra was also tested (NS: not significant).


Fig. 5: Daily variations of plasma lysozyme activity in pike-perch juveniles at days 1 (A) and 42 (B). Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 12). Lowercase and capital letters indicate significant differences at p < 0.05 between sampling time points, for red and white spectrum respectively. In boxes, (*), (**) and (***) indicate significant daily rhythmicity (DR) at p < 0.05, 0.01 and 0.001 respectively. Effect of the light spectra was also tested (NS: not significant).



Fig. 6: Daily variations of plasma hemolytic complement activity in pike-perch juveniles at days 1 (A) and 42 (B). Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 12). Lowercase and capital letters indicate significant differences at p < 0.05 between sampling time points, for red and white spectrum respectively. In boxes, (*), (**) and (***) indicate significant daily rhythmicity (DR) at p < 0.05, 0.01 and 0.001 respectively. Effect of the light spectra was also tested (NS: not significant).

E. DISCUSSION

Using immuno-stimulants and vaccines on fish to prevent disease is of a growing interest in aquaculture (Mastan, 2015). Additionally, acting on fish environment as a first step may be an easier way to prevent disease outbreak. Photoperiod is known to regulate energetically expensive functions such as breeding and birthing but also to entrain circadian rhythms including osmoregulation, locomotor activity and metabolic activity (Falcón et al, 2007; 2010). In mammals, the effects of photoperiod on the immune system

are well documented while little is known in teleosts. And improving immunocompetence of commercially important species through photoperiod manipulations could be a very interesting tool.

In the present study, a daily cyclic activity was observed for humoral innate immune markers, namely lysozyme and peroxidase activities. Such daily variations in similar immune markers were already observed, including ACH50 activity in gilthead seabream (Sparus aurata) and seabass (Dicentrarchus labrax) and peroxidase and lysozyme activities in seabass and Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) (Esteban et al, 2006; Lazado et al, 2016). However, cyclic activity of these immune markers seems to be speciesspecific since their peaks were observed during the light-phase or the darkphase depending on the species (Esteban et al, 2006), suggesting that the responsiveness of humoral factors to a pathogen may differ according to the time of the day and to the species considered. In the study of Esteban et al (2006), these daily variations were correlated to the daily cyclic activity of the pineal gland which releases the melatonin hormone during the dark phase of the photoperiod. Complementary experiments to the current study conducted in pike-perch reared under the same lighting conditions (constant photoperiod, industrial white light spectrum, 10 lux, 12 h of night duration from 8 pm to 8 am) revealed basal values around 15 pg ml⁻¹ during the day and up to 100 pg ml⁻¹ during the dark period, at 04:00 (unpublished data). Little is known on the regulatory mechanisms and different models of action have been proposed, including a direct action of melatonin on immune cells and tissues through specific receptors, an indirect action via various hormones (glucocorticoids, growth hormone, prolactin) or a combination of both models (Cuesta, 2008; Falcón et al, 2010; Esteban et al, 2013).

Cortisol is the main glucocorticoid taking part in the stress response and it is well known to act on immune cells and tissues through specific receptor (Tort et al, 2011; Mathieu et al, 2013). In the present study, we described in pikeperch the existence of a daily rhythmicity in plasma cortisol levels with a surge during photophase at 10:00. However, daily variations in cortisol are species-dependent. For instance, a peak of plasma cortisol occurs during the night in salmonids while it happens during photophase at 15:00 in Senegalese sole and at light onset in goldfish and Eurasian perch (Noeske and Spieler, 1983; Laidley and Leatherland, 1988; Oliveira et al, 2013; Brüning et al, 2015). Such differences between species in terms of cortisol profile can be explained, at least partially, by the meal time that could be perceived as an

entraining signal of cortisol rhythm (Kulczykowska and Sánchez Vázquez, 2010, Oliveira et al, 2013). In the current study, the decrease in peroxidase and lysozyme activities during photophase is correlated to the peak of plasma cortisol. Considering as a potent immunosuppressive agent, it is suggested that cortisol may be involved in the morning decrease in these humoral immune activities. A wide range of data describes an enhancement of humoral components after an acute stress (*i.e.* short release of cortisol in plasma) while a chronic stress is more suppressive (Demers and Bayne, 1997; Tort et al, 2011; Cortés et al, 2013).

In contrast to plasma cortisol profile, no clear daily cycle was detected concerning plasma glucose profile. However, it had been described to follow a cyclic rhythm in several fish species including rainbow trout and tench (*Tinca tinca*) (De Pedro et al, 2005; Polakof et al, 2007). Glucose level in plasma does not only depend on cortisol through the regulation of neoglucogenesis during a stress event, but also on diet composition and feeding habits (Oliveira et al, 2013). Fish used in this experiment were not fed during the days of sampling which could have resulted in this absence of glucose rhythmicity. Montoya et al (2010) described in gilthead seabream an absence of glucose rhythmicity when the fish are fed every day at the same time, indicating a lack of a clear daily rhythm in blood glucose or a daily rhythm related to the species or experimental conditions.

Spectral composition in water greatly varies between environments and photopigments of fish show adaptations to available wavelengths (Bayarri et al, 2002). Luchiari et al (2009) described in pike-perch the advantageous effects of long-wavelengths light, especially red light compared to white or short-wavelength lights, including a better feeding behavior and feed efficiency. This preference for long-wavelength environments is related to cones containing photopigments absorbing at 603 and 535 nm in the retina (Luchiari et al, 2009). In the present experiment, the use of a red light spectrum improved growth performances of pike-perch, confirming the results from Luchiari et al (2009). Moreover, and for the first time in pikeperch, we described an effect of the light spectrum on the innate immune system after a long-term exposure (42 days). Since opposite responses for lysozyme and peroxidase activities were observed when fish were reared under a red light spectrum, we are not able at this stage to define a clear trend (stimulation or inhibition) of the immune system. The only study found on immune regulation by the light spectrum in teleosts focused on goldfish

(Eslamloo et al, 2015). This study revealed that a red or a blue environmental lights are chronically stressful and immunosuppressive with increase in plasma cortisol and decreases in lysozyme and plasma antiprotease. In our study, low cortisol values almost corresponded to a higher stimulation in all the tested immune markers, confirming the previous studies that variations in immune markers are negatively affected by high cortisol release following a stress event (Tort et al, 2011; Cortés et al, 2013). But, other hormones may also have acted on these immune markers including melatonin, growth hormone, prolactin or other glucocorticoids (Falcón et al, 2010, Mathieu et al, 2013). However, more investigations on innate and acquired immune markers are needed to better define and describe the immunoregulation by the environmental light colors in teleosts.

To conclude, light environment is a crucial factor to be considered in pikeperch culture. The day-night cycle regulated both endocrine and some immune functions, suggesting that photoperiod manipulation may be a valuable tool to improve immunocompetence of cultured fish species. Additionally, while the use of a red light improved husbandry performances, light spectrum also modulated innate humoral immune activities through a putative action on HPI axis. However, no clear trend direction of the light spectrum on the immune system was defined and more investigations focusing on the immune modulation by the light environment and the underlying mechanisms are needed.

F. ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This work was supported by the FRIA (Fonds de la Recherche dans l'Industrie et l'Agriculture, Wallonia-Brussels Federation) and supported under the framework of the European Union Seventh Framework Programme project DIVERSIFY (KBBE-2013-07 single stage, GA 603121) titled "Exploring the biological and socio-economic potential of new/emerging fish species for the expansion of the European aquaculture industry".

G. **REFERENCES**

Baekelandt, S., Redivo, B., Mandiki, S. N. M., Bournonville, T., Houndji, A., Bernard, B., El Kertaoui, N., Schmitz, M., Fontaine, P., Gardeur, J.-N.,

Ledoré, Y., Kestemont, P. (2018). Multifactorial analyses revealed optimal aquaculture modalities improving husbandry fitness without clear effect on stress and immune status of pike-perch *Sander lucioperca*. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.*, 258, 194–204.

- Bayarri, M.J., Madrid, J.A., Sánchez-Vázquez, F.J., 2002. Influence of light intensity, spectrum and orientation on sea bass plasma and ocular melatonin. J. Pineal Res., 32, 34–40.
- Blanco-Vives, B., Villamizar, N., Ramos, J., Bayarri, M.J., Chereguini, O., Sánchez-Vázquez, F.J. (2010). Effect of daily thermo- and photo-cycles of different light spectrum on the development of Senegal sole (*Solea senegalensis*) larvae. *Aquaculture*, 306, 137-145.
- Brüning, A., Hölker, F., Franke, S., Preuer, T., & Kloas, W. (2015). Spotlight on fish: Light pollution affects circadian rhythms of European perch but does not cause stress. *Sci. Total Environ.*, *511*, 516–522.
- Cortés, R., Teles, M., Trídico, R., Acerete, L., Tort, L. (2013). Effects of cortisol administered through slow-release implants on innate immune responses in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Int. J. Genomics.*, Article ID 619714, 7 pages.
- Cuesta, A. (2008). In vivo actions of melatonin on the innate immune parameters in the teleost fish gilthead seabream. *J. Pineal Res.*, 45, 70–78.
- Dalsgaard, J., Lund, I., Thorarinsdottir, R., Drengstig, A., Arvonen, K., & Pedersen, P. B. (2013). Farming different species in RAS in Nordic countries: Current status and future perspectives. *Aquac. Eng.*, 53, 2–13.
- Demers, N.E., Bayne, C.J. (1997). The immediate effects of stress on hormones and plasma lysozyme in rainbow trout. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.*, 21(4), 363-373.
- De Pedro, N., Guijarro, A. I., López-Patiño, M. A., Martínez-Álvarez, R., & Delgado, M. J. (2005). Daily and seasonal variations in haematological and blood biochemical parameters in the tench, *Tinca tinca* Linnaeus, 1758. *Aquacult. Res.*, 36(12), 1185–1196.
- Douxfils, J., Deprez, M., Mandiki, S. N. M., Milla, S., Henrotte, E., Mathieu, C., Silvestre, F., Vandecan, M., Rougeot, C., Mélard, C., Dieu, M., Raes, M., Kestemont, P. (2012). Physiological and proteomic responses to single and repeated hypoxia in juvenile Eurasian perch under domestication -Clues to physiological acclimation and humoral immune modulations. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 33, 1112–1122.
- Downing, G. (2002). Impact of spectral composition on larval haddock, *Melanogrammus aeglefinus* L., growth and survival. *Aquac. Res.*, 33, 251–259.
- Esteban, M. A., Cuesta, A., Rodríguez, A., & Meseguer, J. (2006). Effect of photoperiod on the fish innate immune system: A link between fish pineal gland and the immune system. *J. Pineal Res.*, *41*(3), 261–266.

- Esteban, M.A., Cuesta, A., Chaves-Pozo, E., Meseguer, J. (2013). Influence of melatonin on the immune system of fish: a review. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, 14, 7979-7999.
- Eslamloo, K., Akhavan, S. R., Eslamifar, A., & Henry, M. A. (2015). Effects of background colour on growth performance, skin pigmentation, physiological condition and innate immune responses of goldfish, *Carassius auratus. Aquacult. Res.*, 46(1), 202–215.
- Falcón, J., Besseau, L., Sauzet, S., Boeuf, G. (2007). Melatonin effects on the hypothalamo-pituitary axis in fish. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.*, 18, 81–88.
- Falcón, J., Migaud, H., Munoz-Cueto, J. A., & Carrillo, M. (2010). Current knowledge on the melatonin system in teleost fish. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.*, 165(3), 469–482.
- Jentoft, S., Aastveit, A. H., Torjesen, P. A., & Andersen, Ø. (2005). Effects of stress on growth, cortisol and glucose levels in non-domesticated Eurasian perch (*Perca fluviatilis*) and domesticated rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 141, 353–358.
- Karakatsouli, N., Papoutsoglou, S. E., Pizzonia, G., Tsatsos, G., Tsopelakos, A., Chadio, S., Kalogiannis, D., Dalla, C., Polissidis, A., Papadopoulou-Daifoti, Z. (2007). Effects of light spectrum on growth and physiological status of gilthead seabream *Sparus aurata* and rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* reared under recirculating system conditions. *Aquacult. Eng.*, 36(3), 302–309.
- Kulczykowska, E., & Sánchez Vázquez, F. J. (2010). Neurohormonal regulation of feed intake and response to nutrients in fish: Aspects of feeding rhythm and stress. *Aquacult. Res.*, *41*(5), 654–667.
- Laidley, C.W., Leatherland, J.F. (1988). Circadian studies of plasma cortisol, thyroid hormone, protein, glucose and ion concentration, liver glycogen concentration and liver and spleen weight in rainbow trout, *Salmo* gairdneri Richardson. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A Physiol., 89, 495–502.
- Laiz-Carrión, R., P. Martín Del Río, M., M. Miguez, J., M. Mancera, J., & L. Soengas, J. (2003). Influence of cortisol on osmoregulation and energy metabolism in Gilthead Seabream *Sparus aurata*. J. Exp. Zool., 298A, 105–118.
- Lazado, C. C., Skov, P. V., & Pedersen, P. B. (2016). Innate immune defenses exhibit circadian rhythmicity and differential temporal sensitivity to a bacterial endotoxin in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 55, 613–622.
- Leonardi, M.O., Klempau, A.E. (2003). Artificial photoperiod influence on the immune system of juvenile rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) in the Southern Hemisphere. *Aquaculture*, 221, 581-591.
- Luchiari, A. C., Freire, F., Koskela, J., & Pirhonen, J. (2006). Light intensity preference of juvenile pike-perch *Sander lucioperca* (L.). *Aquac. Res.*, *37*, 1572–1577.

- Luchiari, A. C., & Pirhonen, J. (2008). Effects of ambient colour on colour preference and growth of juvenile rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum). J. Fish. Biol., 72, 1504–1514.
- Luchiari, A. C., Freire, F. A. M., Pirhonen, J., & Koskela, J. (2009). Longer wavelengths of light improve the growth, intake and feed efficiency of individually reared juvenile pike-perch *Sander lucioperca* (L.). *Aquac. Res.*, 40, 880–886.
- Mastan, S. A. (2015). Use of immunostimulants in aquaculture disease management. *Int. J. Fish. Aquat. Stud.*, 2(4), 277–280.
- Mathieu, C., Milla, S., Mandiki, S.N.M., Douxfils, J., Douny, C., Scippo, M.L., De Pauw, E., Kestemont, P. (2013). First evidence of the possible implication of the 11-deoxycorticosterone (DOC) in immune activity of Eurasian perch (*Perca fluviatilis*, L.): Comparison with cortisol. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A*, 165,149–158
- Migaud, H., Daive, A., Martinez Chavez, C. C., & Al-Khamees, S. (2007). Evidence for differential photic regulation of pineal melatonin synthesis in teleosts. *J. Pineal Res.*, *43*, 327–335.
- Milla, S., Mathieu, C., Wang, N., Lambert, S., Nadzialek, S., Massart, S., Henrotte, E., Douxfils, J., Mélard, C., Mandiki, S.N.M., Kestemont, P. (2010). Spleen immune status is affected after acute grading stress but not regulated by cortisol in Eurasian perch, *Perca fluviatilis*. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 28, 931–941.
- Montoya A, López-Olmeda JF, Yúfera M, Sánchez-Muros MJ, Sánchez-Vázquez FJ (2010) Feeding time synchronises daily rhythms of behaviour and digestive physiology in gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*). *Aquaculture* 306: 315–321
- Morgan, E.L., Thompson, K.D., Auchinachie, N.A., Migaud, H. (2008). The effect of seasonality on normal haematological and innate immune parameters of rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* L. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 25, 791-799.
- Noeske, T.A., Spieler, R.E., (1983). Photoperiod and diel variations of serum cortisol, thyroxine and protein in goldfish, *Carassius auratus* L. J. Fish Biol., 23, 705–710.
- Oliveira, C. V. O., Aparício, R., Blanco-Vives, B., Chereguini, O., Martín, I., & Sánchez-Vazquez, F. J. (2013). Endocrine (plasma cortisol and glucose) and behavioral (locomotor and self-feeding activity) circadian rhythms in Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis* Kaup 1858) exposed to light / dark cycles or constant light. *Fish Physiol. Biochem.*, 39, 479–487.
- Overton, J. L., Toner, D., Policar, T., Kucharczyk, D., Environmental biology of Percid fishes, in: Kestemont, P., Dabrowski, K., & Summerfelt, R. C. (Eds.), Biology and culture of Percid fishes, Springer Science+Business Media Dordrecht, 2015, pp. 881-9.

- Polakof, S., Míguez, J. M., & Soengas, J. L. (2007). Daily changes in parameters of energy metabolism in liver, white muscle, and gills of rainbow trout: Dependence on feeding. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A Mol. Integr. Physiol.*, 147, 363–374.
- Politis, S. N., Butts, I. A. E., & Tomkiewicz, J. (2014). Light impacts embryonic and early larval development of the European eel, *Anguilla* anguilla. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol., 461, 407–415.
- Quade, M.J., Roth, J.A. (1997). A rapid, direct assay to measure degranulation of bovine neutrophil primary granules. *Vet. Immu- nol. Immunopathol.*, 58, 239–248.
- Refinetti, R., Lissen, G. C., & Halberg, F. (2013). Procedures for numerical analysis of circadian rhythms. *Biol. Rhythm Res.*, *38*(4), 275–325.
- Siwicki A, Studnicka M. (1987). The phagocytic ability of neutrophils and serum lysozyme activity in experimentally infected carp, *Cyprinus carpio* L. J. Fish Biol., 31, 57-60.
- Sunyer JO, Tort L (1995) Natural haemolytic and bactericidal activities of sea bream *Sparus aurata* serum are effected by the alternative complement pathway. *Vet. Immunol. Immunop.*, 45(3-4): 333-345.
- Tort, L. (2011). Stress and immune modulation in fish. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.*, 35, 1366–1375.
- Trinder, P. (1969). Determination of glucose in blood using glucose oxidase with an alternative oxygen acceptor. *Ann. Clin. Biochem.*, 6, 24–27.
- Villamizar, N., García-Alcarzar, A., Sánchez-Vázquez, F.J. (2009). Effect of light spectrum and photoperiod on growth, development and survival of European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) larvae. *Aquaculture*, 292, 80-86.
- Volpato, G. L., & Barreto, R. E. (2001). Environmental blue light prevents stress in the fish Nile tilapia. *Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res.*, *34*(8), 1041–1045.
- Wang, N., Xu, X., and Kestemont, P. (2009). Effect of temperature and feeding frequency on growth performances, feed efficiency and body composition of pike-perch juveniles (*Sander lucioperca*). Aquaculture, 289, 70–73.

VII. Immune modulation by the light environment

Foreword: Both day-night cycle and light spectrum influenced innate immune activities in pike-perch. Considering that the light information in vertebrates is converted into a melatonin signal by the pineal gland, we focused on the hypothesis that melatonin, a multifunctional molecule, may play a central role by being a relay between the light, the stress axis and the immune system. In the following experiment, we considered the three light characteristics and we measured stress levels, immune status and plasma melatonin content in pike-perch exposed to various light environments.

Are cortisol and melatonin involved in the immune modulation by the light environment in pike-perch *Sander lucioperca?*



Sébastien Baekelandt *, Syaghalirwa N.M. Mandiki, Patrick Kestemont Research Unit in Environmental and Evolutionary Biology (URBE), Institute of Life, Earth & Environment, University of Namur, Rue de Bruxelles 61, B-5000, Belgium

A. ABSTRACT

The pineal gland is the main organ involved in the transduction process converting environmental light information into a melatonin response. Since light environment was described as an important factor that could affect physiology of teleosts, and because melatonin is a crucial hormone regulating numerous physiological processes, we hypothesized that environmental light may act on both stress and circadian axes which in turn could influence the immune status of pike-perch. Therefore, we investigated the effects of two light spectra (red and white) and two light intensities (10 and 100 lx) with a constant photoperiod $12L_{(8:00-20:00)}/12D$ on pike-perch physiological and

immune responses. Samples were collected at 04:00 and 16:00 at days 1 and 30 of the experiment. Stress markers, plasma melatonin levels, humoral innate immune markers and expression of key immune genes in the head-kidney were assessed. Light intensity clearly affected pike-perch physiology. This included negative growth performances, increase in stress status, decrease in plasma melatonin levels, and immune depression. Light spectrum had only little influences. These results demonstrate that high stress status may have impacted melatonin production and secretion by the pineal organ. The drop in circulating melatonin and the increase in stress status may both be involved in the immune suppression.

B. INTRODUCTION

Pike-perch (*Sander lucioperca*) is one of the most promising freshwater fish species for diversification of European aquaculture and an attractive inland aquaculture species [1-3]. However, its culture is still limited by impairment of growth and survival rates during the young developmental stages. It has been shown that percid fish are more sensitive to aquaculture stressors than other species with a longer history of domestication, such as rainbow trout [5], and that frequent manipulations or emersion can decrease growth rate or induce an immunodepression in percid fish juveniles [5, 6]. Stress is thus one of the possible explanations for these production deficiencies since pike-perch aquaculture management has not been optimized yet. In previous studies [7-10], light was defined as a determining factor affecting physiology and, by the way, culture of pike-perch. However, the effects of the light environment, including the light intensity and the light spectrum, on the physiology and immunity of pike-perch, and more generally of teleosts, are poorly documented and would merit more attention.

Visual systems of fishes are adapted to their specific natural habitat characteristics. It is essential to maintain fish in optimal light environment since light intensity and environmental colors were both shown to affect the vision of the fish. On the one hand, spectral content influences food intake, reproduction, growth and even survival of various fish species [11-16]. In pike-perch, it was described that long-wavelength light, especially red light compared to white or short-wavelength lights, improved feeding behavior, feed efficiency and growth [8, 10]. Considering these information, and because current practices for pike-perch rearing are not yet optimized [9], red and industrial white light spectra were chosen to better evaluate the potential effects of the light spectrum on pike-perch physiology. On the other hand, light intensity is described to affect many behavioral and biological processes in fish, such as foraging and growth [7, 17, 18]. In a previous study [9], we demonstrated that pike-perch reared under conditions of low light intensity set at 10 lx displayed better husbandry performances than those submitted to 100 lx. Such preference of pike-perch for low light intensities was also described by Luchiari et al [7] since this species is a crepuscular predator actively feeding during dusk and night [2, 19].

As the key hormone of the circadian axis, melatonin is produced and secreted by the pineal gland during the dark phase of the photoperiod [20, 21]. Through the secretion of this hormone, the pineal gland processes light information and provides information such as time of the day and season for cells and organs [22, 23]. In mammals, melatonin is largely described to act physiological functions, including on important thermoregulation, reproduction and immune functions [24, 25]. In various fish species, its involvement in daily rhythms including rest, skin pigmentation, osmoregulation, thermoregulation and locomotor activity and annual processes such as reproduction, development and migration is well documented [21, 26-28]. Nevertheless, its potential role on immune functions is not well described. Few evidences suggest that melatonin may act as an important immune regulator [21, 29-31]. In pike-perch, we have already described daily cyclic activities of several humoral innate immune markers correlated to the light-dark cycle [10], but the relation with melatonin secretion was not reported.

Considering cortisol is crucial when studying the potential impact of the light environment on circadian axis and immune system. In vertebrates, cortisol is known as a potent immunosuppressive agent with complex actions on immune cells and tissues [32-34]. Furthermore, a bi-directional communication between the HPI axis and the melatonin axis was also revealed. On the one hand, an anti-stress role for melatonin was described, including reduced post-stress plasma cortisol levels in Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*) and rainbow trout [35, 36]. On the other hand, stress has been shown, with cortisol as a mediator, to negatively affect melatonin release by the pineal organ of rainbow trout, with highest reduction observed in fish exposed to long-term stress [37].

Only few studies have focused on immune regulation by spectral content or light intensity and none has considered the potential involvement of both the HPI and the circadian axis. Eslamloo et al. [16] revealed that red or blue environments are chronically stressful and immunosuppressive with increase in plasma cortisol and decrease in lysozyme and plasma antiprotease. In rainbow trout, light color affects both serotonergic and dopaminergic activities which have been described several times as good indicators of acute and chronic stress in fish species with no consideration of the immune system [13, 36, 38, 39]. A preliminary study in pike-perch showed that light spectrum influences humoral immune markers with an increase in lysozyme activity and a decrease in peroxidase activity in a red light environment (when

compared with white light environment) without clear effect on cortisol release [9].

Since light environment is described to affect physiology of teleosts, and because melatonin is a crucial hormone regulating many physiological processes including the stress response and potentially the immune system, we hypothesized that environmental light may act on melatonin and cortisol secretions which in turn could influence the immune status of pike-perch. Therefore, we investigated during scotophase (04:00) and photophase (16:00) the effects of two light spectra (red and white) and two light intensities (10 and 100 lx) of a constant photoperiod $12L_{(8:00-20:00)}/12D$ on melatonin secretion, stress level (glucose, cortisol, brain dopaminergic and serotonergic activities and the Glucocorticoid Receptor 1 gene expression), humoral innate immune markers (plasma lysozyme and peroxidase activities), expression of key immune genes in the head-kidney and growth performances of pike-perch during a 30-day experiment.

C. MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Animals and rearing conditions

A stock of 1,000 pike-perch (S. lucioperca) juveniles from Asialor farm (Dieuze, France) was transferred to URBE facilities at the University of Namur, Belgium. Animals were randomly distributed in 24 indoor 1001-tanks of a recirculating aquaculture system (RAS). They were acclimated for 30 days under constant lighting conditions (spectrum: white; light intensity at water surface: 101x; photoperiod: $12L_{(8:00-20:00)}/12D$) and 22 ± 0.5 °C water temperature until they reached 19 ± 4 g body weight. Water was continuously aerated (90% of oxygen saturation) and water inflow into the tank was regulated to ensure a complete water exchange once per hour. They were fed manually twice a day at 8:00 and 14:00 with a commercial pellet diet (Skretting, France) at 2.0 % biomass during all the experimental period. At day 0, new light conditions were applied, with 6 tanks per experimental condition: 10 lx-white; 10 lx-red; 100 lx-white and 100 lx-red. Light intensity was measured at water surface and spectra included a white (industrial white - Osram, cool white 840 Lumilux, Germany) and a red color (red filter, 610 nm, Lumis, Belgium). The group exposed to the 10-lux light of white spectrum was considered as the control group since fish were acclimated in

these light conditions. These light settings are also the main conditions encountered by this species in its natural environment. The photoperiod was the same as used for acclimation. Water analysis (ammonia, nitrite and nitrate) were done twice a week and concentrations did not exceed 0.02, 0.1 and 2 mg/l respectively. The present protocol (16 276 KE) has been carried out in agreement with the local Ethics Committee for Animal Experiments.

2. Sampling procedures

Samplings occurred during scotophase at 04:00 and photophase at 16:00, at both days 1 and 30. To avoid repetitive stressful events on fish and potential artefacts on results, 12 tanks (3 per condition) were assigned at each time of sampling. Each treatment group had thus 3 replicates. Fish were starved one day before samplings. Five fish were removed randomly from each tank and anesthetized with MS-222 (150 mg/l) in a bucket covered with a tissue. As soon as they were anesthetized, fish head was covered with a tissue and blood was quickly collected by caudal vein puncture with heparinized syringes within 5 min and centrifuged at 3,000 g during 10 min at 4 °C. Plasma was aliquoted and stored at -80 °C until assayed. Fish were then euthanized before collecting the whole brain and the anterior kidney. These organs were directly frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C until assayed.

3. Husbandry performances

Final individual weight (FIW) and Specific Growth Rate (SGR) were determined on day 30 for each experimental condition.

4. Stress indicators

Cortisol was assayed in triplicate using a cortisol ELISA kit (DRG, EIA-1887), following the manufacturer's instructions (BioSource, Belgium). Plasma glucose, also assayed in triplicate, was determined calorimetrically according to Trinder [40].

High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) was performed according to the methods of Lepage et al. [41], with some modifications, to assess in whole brain the serotonergic and dopaminergic activities expressed as hydroxyl-indol-acetic acid (5-HIAA) / serotonin (5-HT) and 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetic acid (DOPAC) / dopamine (DA) ratios, respectively. Tissues were weighed out and homogenized using a Bullet Blender Storm 24 (NextAdvance, New York, USA) in tubes containing 0.5 mm zirconium

oxide beads (Dutscher, Brumath, France) and mobile phase (1.5 ml per g of tissue) used in the chromatography. They were then submitted to ultrasonic disruption. Homogenates were centrifuged (20,000 x g, 10 min, 4 °C) and filtered through 0.5 μ m filters (Phenomenex, California, USA). An aliquot (35 μ l) of the filtrate was injected into the HPLC system. The whole procedure was carried out on ice.

HPLC analysis was performed using a GP50 gradient pump (Dionex, Sunnyvale, USA) equipped with an autosampler FAMOS (LC packings). Neurohormones were monitored using a DC amperometry detector (Dionex, Sunnyvale, USA) with Glassy Carbon Working Electrode (0,700 V, Ag/AgCl – P/N 061677). ChromeleonTM software (6.8) (Dionex, Sunnyvale, USA) was used for data acquisition and processing. The samples were individually applied on a 2.6 μ m particle size (150 x 4.6 mm, I.D.) C₁₈ analytical Kinetex column at 1 ml.min⁻¹. The mobile phase consisted of 65 mM NaH2PO4, 1.63 mM octane sulfonic acid (OSA, Sigma-Aldrich), 0.1 mM EDTA-Na2 and 13 % MeOH adjusted to pH 2.79 with orthophosphoric acid. The column was kept at 25 °C.

Purified hormones were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (Saint-Louis, USA). Standard solutions were treated similarly to samples. Concentrations of the compounds were calculated by interpolation of their respective standard curves. The intra- and inter-assay coefficients of variation for tested hormones were respectively under 5.9 % and 7.4 %.

5. Humoral immune variables

Lysozyme activity was evaluated in plasma samples by the turbimetric method [42, 43]. Activity (units) is defined as the amount of enzyme decreasing the turbidity of 0.001 OD per min.

The total peroxidase activity in plasma was assessed following the method described in Quade and Roth [44]. The activity was determined defining as one unit the peroxidase that produces an absorbance change of 1 OD.

6. Gene expression analysis

Total RNA isolation was performed using Extract-all® reagent (Eurobio, Paris, France) following manufacturer's instructions. Each RNA sample was subjected to DNase treatment (DNase Ambion, Life Technologies) and reverse-transcription (RevertAidTM H Minus First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit, Thermo Scientific) following the manufacturer's instructions.

The relative expression of several immune-related genes were investigated by RT-qPCR in anterior kidney tissues, including genes involved in bactericidal defense, namely C-type lysozyme (*lys*), Hepcidin c (*hepc*) and complement C3 (*c3*), and in pro-inflammatory action, namely interleukine-1 (*il-1*) and Tumor Necrosis Factor alpha (*tnf-a*). In addition, expression of glucocorticoid receptor 1 (*gr1*) and reference genes β -actin and elongation factor alpha (*ef1- a*) were assessed. Efficiencies of primers (Table 1) were validated when ranged between 90 and 105 %. The relative mRNA levels of *c3*, *lys*, *il-1*, *gr1*, *hepc* and *tnf-a* in each sample were normalized with the geometric mean of *ef1-a* and β -actin calculated by the relative standard curve method [45].

Gene	GenBank accession #	Sens	Sequence (5' to 3')
β -actin	MF472627	Forward	CGACATCCGTAAGGACCTGT
		Reverse	GCTGGAAGGTGGACAGAGAG
ef1- α	MF472628	Forward	TGATGACACCAACAGCCACT
		Reverse	AAGATTGACCGTCGTTCTGG
tnf-a	MK167462	Forward	CTGATTCGCCTCAACGTGTA
		Reverse	GGAGATGGGTCATGAGGAGA
hepc	MK036790	Forward	CCGTCGTGCTCACCTTTATT
		Reverse	GCCACGTTTGTGTCTGTTGT
il-1	MK036791	Forward	TTTCCCATCATCCACTGACA
		Reverse	ATTCACACACGCACACCATT
Complement	MF472630	Forward	TGGTGATGTGAGAGGAGCAG
component 3 (c3)			
		Reverse	GACGTCATGGCAACAGCATA
lys	MF472629	Forward	AGCCAGTGGGAGTCGAGTTA
		Reverse	CATTGTCGGTCAGGAGCTCA
gr1	MK036792	Forward	GGACAGGGTGAAACCAAAGA
		Reverse	TGAGGTGCTGATGACAGAGG

Table 1: Sequences and melting temperatures (Tm) of primers used for gene expression quantification.

7. Melatonin content in plasma

Plasma melatonin was assayed in triplicate using a Melatonin ELISA kit (E-EL-M0788, Elabscience Biotechnology Co., USA), following the manufacturer's instructions. Parallelism to the standard curve was confirmed using serially diluted plasma sample. Recovery rate was estimated around 90 to 95 % for melatonin values ranging from 5 to 100 pg ml⁻¹. Intra and interassays of coefficients were 5.8 % and 7.4 % respectively (n = 4). Nocturnal plasma samples were diluted to get values between 5 and 100 pg ml⁻¹.

8. Statistical analyses

Data are expressed as the mean \pm standard of the mean (SEM). Kolmogorov and Smirnov's test was used to assess the normality of data sets (p < .05) and Bartlett's test was conducted to evaluate variance homogeneity (p < .05). Results were analyzed with a four-way ANOVA (p < .05) taking the light spectrum (white or red), the light intensity (10 or 100 lx), the time of the day (04:00 or 16:00) and the day (1 or 30) as two-modality factors. Statistics were performed using the fish as the experimental unit with the exception of growth parameters (final body weight and SGR). Tank effect was previously tested not significant. When interactions were tested significant, values were compared according to Tuckey's HSD post-hoc test (p < .05). Correlations between plasma melatonin values and other examined parameters were tested for significance. The results were analyzed with JMP 12.1 software (SAS Institute Inc., North Carolina, USA) and graphs were performed with GraphPad Prism V5.04 (California, USA).

D. RESULTS

Rearing pike-perch juveniles during 30 days in a 10 lx-light environment resulted in a significant increase in husbandry performances (Fig. 1) with a higher final body weight and Specific Growth Rate (SGR) (p < .01) compared to 100 lux-light experimental conditions. SGR reached 1.60 ± 0.25 and 1.16 ± 0.41 % d⁻¹ under low and high light intensity respectively. Moreover, a trend of increase in growth performances by the red spectrum was observed at high light intensity. Mortality rate averaged 4 % and no difference was detected between the experimental conditions.

Plasma cortisol level showed a significant day-night variation with the highest values at night, regardless the light conditions (intensity and spectra) and the day of sampling (Fig. 2). However, at day 1, the use of a 100-lx light resulted in a significant increase in plasma cortisol during light-phase with values reaching 52 ± 12 ng ml⁻¹. Such daily rhythmicity was not detected for plasma glucose (Fig. 3).

The application of a 100-lx light of white or red spectra resulted in a significant increase in the serotonergic activity at day 1 during the light-phase compared to the dark-phase of the photoperiod (Fig. 4). Additionaly, a long-term exposure of pike-perch juveniles to high light intensity led to a significant increase in the 5HIAA/5HT ratio regardless the time of the day and the light spectrum. Moreover, the white light spectrum at 100 lx led to a significant increase in the dopaminergic activity at day 30 during the night (Fig. 5).



Fig. 1: Effects of the light spectrum and the light intensity on (left) final body weight (g) and (right) Specific Growth Rate (SGR, % d⁻¹) of pikeperch juveniles reared under 4 light conditions, combining 2 light intensities (10 and 100 lx) and 2 light spectra (cool white and red at 610 nm). Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 6 tanks). Capital letters indicate significant differences at p < .05.



Fig. 2: Day-night variation (16:00 vs 4:00) of plasma cortisol at days 1 and 30 in pikeperch juveniles reared under 4 light conditions, combining 2 light intensities (10 and 100 lx) and 2 light spectra (cool white and red at 610 nm). Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 9). Capital letters indicate significant differences at p < .05.



Fig. 3: Day-night variation (16:00 vs 4:00) of plasma glucose at days 1 and 30 in pikeperch juveniles reared under 4 light conditions, combining 2 light intensities (10 and 100 lx) and 2 light spectra (cool white and red at 610 nm). Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 9). Capital letters indicate significant differences at p < .05.



Fig. 4: Day-night variation (16:00 *vs* 4:00) of serotonergic activity in the whole brain (5-HIAA / 5-HT ratio) at days 1 and 30 in pikeperch juveniles reared under 4 light conditions, combining 2 light intensities (10 and 100 lx) and 2 light spectra (cool white and red at 610 nm). Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 9). Capital letters indicate significant differences at p < .05.



Fig. 5: Day-night variation (16:00 vs 4:00) of dopaminergic activity in the whole brain (DOPAC / DA ratio) at days 1 and 30 in pikeperch juveniles reared under 4 light conditions, combining 2 light intensities (10 and 100 lx) and 2 light spectra (cool white and red at 610 nm). Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 9). Capital letters indicate significant differences at p < .05.

Concerning plasma melatonin, values reached 100 pg ml⁻¹ at 04:00 (night) and significantly dropped to 11 ± 4 pg ml⁻¹ at 16:00 (day) whatever light spectrum or light intensity or the sampling day (Fig. 6). Increasing the white not red light intensity from 10 to 100 lx was followed by a significant decrease of the night plasma melatonin at day 1. Moreover, after 30 days, a significant drop in the night plasma melatonin level was detected under a high light intensity for both red and white light spectra at 04:00 (Fig. 6). In addition, significant correlations (p < .01) were observed between melatonin and several markers including plasma cortisol (0.79), glucose (0.37), lysozyme (0.54) and peroxidase (0.51) and *il-1* (-0.61), *tnf-a* (-0.54) and *gr1* (-0.45) gene expressions in the head kidney.

Concerning lysozyme and peroxydase activities, they both showed day-night variations (Fig. 7, Fig. 8) with activity peaks at night. Moreover, the lysozyme activity was significantly decreased after 30 days when fish were exposed to a high light intensity.

The relative *gr1* expression was mainly influenced by the light intensity since increases were observed during the light-phase under the 100-lx light at both days 1 and 30 (Fig. 9a). While no differences was detected for the *lys* expression (Fig. 9f), the high light intensity also influenced *c3* expression with a significant increase during the light-phase, compared to the dark phase of the photoperiod, at day 30 whatever the light spectrum (Fig. 9b). Similar observation was made for *hepc* expression at both days 1 and 30 (Fig. 9c). *tnf-a* and *il-1* expressions both followed a daily cyclic activity with increases at 16:00 (Fig. 9d,e). Furthermore, these two gene expressions were also significantly decreased after a long-term exposure of pike-perch juveniles to the 100-lx light during the day compared to the 10-lx light.



Fig. 6: Day-night variation (16:00 vs 4:00) of plasma melatonin at days 1 and 30 in pikeperch juveniles reared under 4 light conditions, combining 2 light intensities (10 and 100 lx) and 2 light spectra (cool white and red at 610 nm). Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 12). Capital letters indicate significant differences at p < .05.



Fig. 7: Day-night variation (16:00 *vs* 4:00) of plasma lysozyme activity at days 1 and 30 in pikeperch juveniles reared under 4 light conditions, combining 2 light intensities (10 and 100 lx) and 2 light spectra (cool white and red at 610 nm). Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 12). Capital letters indicate significant differences at p < .05.



Fig. 8: Day-night variation (16:00 *vs* 4:00) of plasma peroxidase activity at days 1 and 30 in pikeperch juveniles reared under 4 light conditions, combining 2 light intensities (10 and 100 lx) and 2 light spectra (cool white and red at 610 nm). Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 12). Capital letters indicate significant differences at p < .05. Data from days 1 and 30 were combined since no statistical difference was detected.



130



Fig. 9: Day-night variation (16:00 *vs* 4:00) of relative (a) *gr1*, (b) *c3*, (c) *hepc*, (d) *tnf-a*, (e) *il-1* and (f) *lys* expressions at days 1 and 30 in the head kidney of pikeperch juveniles reared under 4 light conditions, combining 2 light intensities (10 and 100 lx) and 2 light spectra (cool white and red at 610 nm). Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 9). Capital letters indicate significant differences at p < .05. Modalities from a tested factor were combined when no statistical difference was detected.

E. DISCUSSION

Visual systems of fish are adapted to the specific environment they inhabit. A preference of pike-perch for low light intensities and red color are explained by specific adaptations of its retina. It includes a *tapetum lucidum*, that is a specific anatomo-histological tissue of the retina which greatly amplifies the eye sensitivity to light, and specific cones absorbing red wavelengths [7, 8, 10, 46]. In the present experiment, the best husbandry performances were obtained with a 10-lx light supporting previous results [9] while light spectra did not significantly affect growth. In Baekelandt et al. [10], we described better growth performances of pike-perch reared for 42 days under a red light environment. Although not significant, the results obtained in the present experiment followed the same trend at high light intensity.

Cortisol, considered as a major stress marker in fish, plays a crucial role in several biological functions including stress response, growth, immune functions and energy metabolism [33, 34, 47]. In the present experiment, the increase in plasma cortisol at day 1 under a 100-lx light confirmed that the exposure to high light intensities is stressful for pike-perch. The absence of cortisol peak at day 30 may result of a mechanism that minimizes the deleterious effects of sustained cortisol elevation on biological functions when organism is exposed to long-lasting stressors [48]. However, the lack of such cortisol increase at day 30 also raises the question about the relevance of this latter stress marker in percid fish. A previous experiment on pike-perch (unpublished data) showed that plasma cortisol level returned to basal level within 1 h post-stress. A rapid decrease in the amplitude of stress response was also described in juvenile Eurasian perch submitted to single or multiple emersion stressor [6]. Such observations may suggest a habituation to stress and/or a rapid metabolism and clearance of cortisol indicating the interest for using various stress indicators to account for the stress responsiveness in percids, such as brain neurotransmitters [9]. Additionally, plasma level of glucose strongly depends on cortisol (through the regulation of neoglucogenesis during a stress event), but also on feeding (diet composition, feeding habits) [34]. Glucose responses did not follow the same pattern as plasma cortisol (no day-night variation and no increase at day 1 under a 100lx white spectrum) pointing the importance of the feeding habits. For instance, it was shown in gilthead seabream (Sparus aurata) that feeding the fish every day at the same time lead to an absence of glucose rhythmicity

[49]. Brain serotonergic and dopaminergic activities have been described several times as reliable indicators of acute and chronic stress in various fish species since these brain monoamine neurotransmitters are involved in primary responses to stress [35, 36, 38, 39, 50]. In some fish species, the responses of the dopaminergic activity have been shown to be highly dependent on the nature of the stressor and the brain region while increase in the serotonergic activity is consistently observed after a stress event [38, 39, 51]. In the present experiment, the only increase in DOPAC/DA ratio was detected at day 30 during the night under a high, white light intensity while the 100-lx light induced a higher serotonergic activity at both days 1 and 30. Therefore in percid fish, the dopaminergic system seems less sensitive to light-induced stress, suggesting that the serotonergic activity would be a more key stress indicator in that case, since plasma cortisol level was not indicative for a stressful status. In a previous study, we also observed an increase in serotonergic activity after a sixty-day exposure of pike-perch juveniles to high light intensity of white spectra, while plasma cortisol level was almost at a basal threshold [9], confirming altogether the high sensitivity of this brain monoamine activity to high light intensities in pike-perch.

The exposure of pike-perch to the 100-lx light was followed by a decrease in day-night variations of circulating melatonin with drops observed during the night at both days 1 and 30. Similar results were already described in López-Patiño et al. [37] with stress (chasing or high stocking density) affecting production and release of the melatonin hormone by the pineal organ of rainbow trout. Melatonin synthesis was reported to be modulated by glucocorticoid hormones [52]. Exogenous cortisol in rainbow trout led to a decrease in the aryl-alkylamine N-acetyltransferase 2 (*AANAT2*) enzyme activity – considered as the rate-limiting enzyme of melatonin synthesis – and to its mRNA abundance in the pineal organ at night [21, 37]. Such observations suggest that high cortisol levels following stress events result in a decrease in melatonin synthesis and release and that such effect might be mediated by specific glucocorticoid receptors on the pineal organ.

Furthermore, in fish, several evidences support an anti-stress role of the melatonin hormone at both central and peripheral levels, including a suppressor effect on the HPI axis [35, 39, 53]. Exogenous melatonin minimized the stress response in Senegalese sole and rainbow trout with an inhibition of the HPI axis and a decrease in both dopaminergic and serotonergic activities in the hypothalamus [35, 36]. Cortisol secretion was

also affected by subchronic melatonin treatment in goldfish [53]. However, the underlying mechanism of this anti-stress action is not fully understood. Gesto et al. [39] suggested a possible action on hypothalamus with a reduction of the post-stress activation of the neuronal pathways regulating stress at this tissue. Moreover, melatonin receptors were detected in the pituitary gland of some fish species and may regulate the release of several hormones including adrenocorticotropin (ACTH), growth hormone and prolactin [20, 54, 55]. In these studies, the anti-stress role of melatonin was only detected by using exogenous melatonin treatment and no evidence suggested that physiological concentrations in fish plasma could significantly inhibit the stress response. Thus, our results suggest that the stressful light environment has significantly impacted melatonin synthesis and release by the pineal organ through the activation of the HPI axis. However, the absence of plasma cortisol rise at day 30 suggests that another underlying mechanism may be involved, such as an increase in glucocorticoid receptor expression in the pineal gland as we observed in the head kidney at day 30. Further research is needed to clarify this hypothesis.

Coping with a stressor involves a metabolic reorganization that can affect food intake, reproduction, growth and immune functions [35, 47]. Long-term exposure to a stressor is characterized by an immune depression or suppression including decreases in innate immune activities, leucocyte populations and antibodies levels and increase in disease susceptibility in various fish species (6, 47, 56, 57). In the present study, rearing pike-perch during 30 days in stressful light conditions led to a significant depression in some innate immune functions, including a decrease in plasma lysozyme activity and in *tnf-a* and *il-1* expressions in the head-kidney. Lysozyme, considered as a key element of the humoral innate immunity, is one of the main anti-bacterial molecules in teleosts. Mainly produced by neutrophils [58], this protein was positively or negatively modulated according to stress duration and cortisol release [59 - 62]. Tnf- α is a pro-inflammatory cytokine and its expression is known to be inhibited following a stress event [32, 62]. Expression of $tnf-\alpha$, as other cytokines including *il-1*, seems to be downregulated by glucocorticoids through the inhibition of NF-kB as observed in mammals [47, 64, 65]. As for maintaining the bactericidal defense, hepc expression showed the opposite trend compared to values of $tnf-\alpha$ and il-1expressions with a stimulation under a high light intensity. Hepcidin mRNA was downregulated in spleen of Eurasian perch (Perca fluviatilis) after

handling stress [33] while no effect was observed in rainbow trout's liver following handling and confinement stress [66]. The up-regulation of hepc expression at day 1 and day 30 in the current study may be the result of a process counteracting a possible decrease in protein abundance and/or activity. However, while no subsequent elevation of plasma cortisol was reported at day 30 which could jeopardize the hypothesis of the possible effect of the HPI axis on the immune system, an increase in *gr1* gene expression was detected in the head-kidney suggesting that basal plasma cortisol levels (as observed at day 1 under a 10-1x white spectrum) could have a greater impact on targeted cells and tissues.

The 100-lx light environment has thus clearly impacted pike-perch immunity in the current study, including lysozyme and expression of pro-inflammatory genes, but the underlying mechanisms are still unclear. A direct effect of glucocorticoids on immune cells and tissues seems consistent according to our results. However, a possible effect of the decreasing plasma melatonin levels on immunity cannot be discarded. Several studies support the melatonin as a regulator of fish immune defense. Exogenous melatonin in gilthead seabream increased several innate immune responses including peroxidase, phagocytic ability and cytotoxic activity of head-kidney leucocytes and expression of immune-relevant genes in head-kidney such as *il-1β*, major histocompatibility complex and interferon-regulatory factor-1 [67]. In the present study, day-night variations of activity were observed for humoral innate immune markers including peroxidase and lysozyme activities and immune genes involved in inflammatory activity, namely $tnf-\alpha$ and *il-1*. Such day-night rhythmicity of humoral innate immune variables was already described in several teleosts including gilthead seabream and seabass (Dicentrarchus labrax) [30, 68]. In a previous study on pike-perch, both lysozyme and peroxidase activities were already shown to follow a daily rhythmicity with peaks at 04:00 and drops by a 25 to 40 % during the photophase at 10:00 and 16:00 [10]. However, we show for the first time daynight variations in immune mRNA gene expressions in association to the cyclic release of melatonin in blood, supposing a potential effect of this hormone on the immune system. Different models of action have been proposed, including a direct action on immune cells and tissues through specific receptors and/or an indirect action via several candidate hormones (glucocorticoids, growth hormone, prolactin) [21, 29, 31]. In various fish species, three high affinity melatonin receptor subtypes with different

distributions were identified: *MT1*, *MT2* and *Mel1c* [21, 69]. *MT1* and *MT2* are both found in the retina, the brain and some peripheral tissues while Mel1c is detected in the skin and the retina [20, 21, 55, 70]. To our knowledge, no study has examined their presence in immune cells or tissues in teleosts. However, they are found in the kidney of rainbow trout, flounder (*Platichthys flesus*), sea bream, golden rabbitfish (*Siganus guttatus*) and Senegalese sole and in the spleen of the golden rabbitfish and seabream [20, 70, 71].

Daily rhythms of immune variables were also correlated to the daily cyclic release of cortisol in plasma, which could support an indirect action of melatonin on immune markers in the present study. Such night increase in plasma cortisol was already described in salmonids [72]. However, cortisol peaks happen during photophase at 15:00 in Senegalese sole and at light onset in goldfish and Eurasian perch [23, 34, 73]. A previous experiment in pike-perch also showed a cortisol peak at 10:00 during photophase [10] while humoral immune activity peaks also occurred during the night as in the present experiment. Such differences between species and experiments could be mainly explained by the meal time that can be perceived as an entraining signal of cortisol rhythm [34, 74]. In the present experiment, fish were fed daily at 8:00 and 14:00 and it not clear whether the observed cortisol peak at 04:00 was related to anticipative behavior of morning feeding.

Both the regulation of the HPI axis and the circadian axis may have resulted in the decrease in some bactericidal and pro-inflammatory functions. However, the present results cannot define the importance of the effects of each axis on immune variables neither if the melatonin hormone acted directly on immune variables nor if it acted through other hormonal regulation.

In conclusion, environmental light characteristics can profoundly affect fish physiological and immune responses. Increasing the light intensity in the rearing conditions of pike-perch led to an increase in stress status, a slight decrease in plasma melatonin levels, an immune depression and a negative effect on growth performances. Since melatonin is thought to be a crucial immune modulator, both the decrease in circulating melatonin and the increase stress status may have led to the immune depressions. However, little is known on the underlying mechanisms and more investigations are needed to clarify the direct and/or indirect actions of the melatonin hormone on immunity.

F. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the FRIA (Fonds de la Recherche dans l'Industrie et l'Agriculture, Wallonia-Brussels Federation), providing a grant to S.B. as well as under the framework of the European Union Seventh Framework Programme project DIVERSIFY (KBBE-2013-07 single stage, GA 603121) titled "Exploring the biological and socio-economic potential of new/emerging fish species for the expansion of the European aquaculture industry". The authors thank Prof. Pierre Van Cutsem (Unit of Research in Plant Cellular and Molecular Biology, Namur, Belgium) and Pierre Cambier for providing access to their HPLC system. We are grateful to C. Carpentier from UNamur for statistical advices.

G. **REFERENCES**

- 1. Wang, N., Xu, X., Kestemont, P. (2009). Effect of temperature and feeding frequency on growth performances, feed efficiency and body composition of pike-perch juveniles (*Sander lucioperca*). *Aquaculture*, 289, 70–73.
- Dalsgaard, J., Lund, I., Thorarinsdottir, R., Drengstig, A., Arvonen, K., Pedersen, P. B. (2013). Farming different species in RAS in Nordic countries: Current status and future perspectives. *Aquac. Eng.*, 53, 2–13.
- Overton, J. L., Toner, D., Policar, T., Kucharczyk, D., Environmental biology of Percid fishes, in: Kestemont, P., Dabrowski, K., Summerfelt, R. C. (Eds.), Biology and culture of Percid fishes. Springer Science+Business Media Dordrecht, 2015, pp. 881-889.4. Jentoft, S., Aastveit, A. H., Torjesen, P. A., Andersen, Ø. (2005). Effects of stress on growth, cortisol and glucose levels in non-domesticated Eurasian perch (Perca fluviatilis) and domesticated rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Comp. Biochem. Physiol.*, 141, 353–358.
- Strand, Å., Magnhagen, C., Alanärä, A. (2007). Effects of repeated disturbances on feed intake, growth rates and energy expenditures of juvenile perch, *Perca fluviatilis*. *Aquaculture*, 265, 163–168.
- Douxfils, J., Lambert, S., Mathieu, C., Milla, S., Mandiki, S. N. M., Henrotte, E., Wang, N., Dieu, M., Raes, M., Rougeot, C., Kestemont, P. (2014). Influence of domestication process on immune response to

repeated emersion stressors in Eurasian perch (*Perca fluviatilis*, L.). *Comp. Biochem. Physiol.*, 173, 52–60.

- Luchiari, A. C., Freire, F., Koskela, J., Pirhonen, J. (2006). Light intensity preference of juvenile pike-perch *Sander lucioperca* (L.). *Aquac. Res.*, 37, 1572–1577.
- Luchiari, A. C., Freire, F. A. M., Pirhonen, J., Koskela, J. (2009). Longer wavelengths of light improve the growth, intake and feed efficiency of individually reared juvenile pike-perch *Sander lucioperca* (L.). *Aquac. Res.*, 40, 880–886.
- Baekelandt, S., Redivo, B., Mandiki, S. N. M., Bournonville, T., Houndji, A., Bernard, B., El Kertaoui, N., Schmitz, M., Fontaine, P., Gardeur, J.-N., Ledoré, Y., Kestemont, P. (2018). Multifactorial analyses revealed optimal aquaculture modalities improving husbandry fitness without clear effect on stress and immune status of pike-perch *Sander lucioperca. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.*, 258, 194–204.
- Baekelandt, S., Mandiki, S.N.M., Schmitz, M., Kestemont, P. (2019). Influence of the light spectrum on the daily rhythms of stress and humoral innate immune markers in pike-perch Sander lucioperca. *Aquaculture*, 499, 358-363.
- 11. Volpato, G. L., Barreto, R. E. (2001). Environmental blue light prevents stress in the fish Nile tilapia. *Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res.*, *34*(8), 1041–1045.
- 12. Downing, G. (2002). Impact of spectral composition on larval haddock, *Melanogrammus aeglefinus* L., growth and survival. *Aquac. Res.*, 33, 251–259.
- Karakatsouli, N., Papoutsoglou, S. E., Pizzonia, G., Tsatsos, G., Tsopelakos, A., Chadio, S., Kalogiannis, D., Dalla, C., Polissidis, A., Papadopoulou-Daifoti, Z. (2007). Effects of light spectrum on growth and physiological status of gilthead seabream *Sparus aurata* and rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* reared under recirculating system conditions. *Aquacult. Eng.*, *36*(3), 302–309.
- Luchiari, A. C., Pirhonen, J. (2008). Effects of ambient colour on colour preference and growth of juvenile rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum). J. Fish. Biol., 72, 1504–1514.
- 15. Politis, S. N., Butts, I. A. E., Tomkiewicz, J. (2014). Light impacts embryonic and early larval development of the European eel, *Anguilla anguilla*. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol., 461, 407–415.
- 16. Eslamloo, K., Akhavan, S. R., Eslamifar, A., Henry, M. A. (2015). Effects of background colour on growth performance, skin pigmentation, physiological condition and innate immune responses of goldfish, *Carassius auratus. Aquacult. Res.*, *46*(1), 202–215.
- 17. Fraser, N. H. C., Metcalfe, N. B. (1997). The costs of becoming nocturnal: feeding efficiency in relation to light intensity in juvenile Atlantic Salmon. *Funct. Ecol.*, *11*, 385–391.

- 18. Trippel, E. A., Neil, S. R. E. (2003). Effects of photoperiod and light intensity on growth and activity of juvenile haddock (*Melanogrammus aeglefinus*). Aquaculture, 217, 633–645.
- 19. Zingel, P., Paaver, T. (2010). Effects of turbidity on feeding of the youngof-the-year pike-perch (*Sander lucioperca*) in fishponds. *Aquac. Res.*, *41*, 189–197.
- Confente, F., Carmen, M., Besseau, L., Falcón, J., Muñoz-cueto, J. A. (2010). Melatonin receptors in a pleuronectiform species, *Solea senegalensis*: Cloning, tissue expression, day night and seasonal variations. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.*, 167(2), 202-214.
- Falcón, J., Migaud, H., Munoz-Cueto, J. A., Carrillo, M. (2010). Current knowledge on the melatonin system in teleost fish. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.*, 165(3), 469–482.
- 22. Kulczykowska E, Gozdowska M, Martos-Sitcha JA, Kalamarz H, Nietrzeba M, Martínez-Rodríguez G. (2010). Melatonin, vasotocin and isotocin as biomarkers of the condition of fish. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A.*, 157:S18.
- 23. Brüning, A., Hölker, F., Franke, S., Preuer, T., Kloas, W. (2015). Spotlight on fish: Light pollution affects circadian rhythms of European perch but does not cause stress. *Sci. Total Environ.*, *511*, 516–522.
- 24. Carrillo-vico, A., Guerrero, J. M., Lardone, P. J., Reiter, R. J. (2005). A Review of the Multiple Actions of Melatonin on the Immune System. *Endocrine*, *27*(2), 189–200.
- 25. Dumbell, R., Matveeva, O., Oster, H. (2016). Circadian clocks, stress, and immunity. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 7, 1–8.
- 26. Boeuf, G., Bail, P. Le. (1999). Does light have an influence on fish growth? *Aquaculture*, *177*, 129–152.
- 27.Downing, G., Litvak, M.K. (2002). Effects of light intensity, spectral composition and photoperiod on development and hatching of haddock (*Melanogrammus aeglefinus*) embryos. *Aquaculture*, 213, 265–278.
- Mehner, T. (2012). Diel vertical migration of freshwater fishes proximate triggers, ultimate causes and research perspectives. *Freshwater Biol.*, 57(7), 1342–1359.
- Cuesta, A., Laiz-Carrión, R., Arjona, F., Martín del Río, M.P., Meseguer, J., Mancera, J.M., Esteban, M.A. (2006). Effect of PRL, GH and cortisol on the serum complement and IgM levels in gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata* L.). *Fish and Shelfish Immunology*, 20, 427-432.
- 30. Esteban, M. A., Cuesta, A., Rodríguez, A., Meseguer, J. (2006). Effect of photoperiod on the fish innate immune system: A link between fish pineal gland and the immune system. *J. Pineal Res.*, *41*(3), 261–266.
- Esteban, M. Á., Cuesta, A., Chaves-pozo, E., Meseguer, J. (2013). Influence of Melatonin on the Immune System of Fish: A Review. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, 14, 7979–7999.

- Laiz-Carrión, R., P. Martín Del Río, M., M. Miguez, J., M. Mancera, J., L. Soengas, J. (2003). Influence of cortisol on osmoregulation and energy metabolism in Gilthead Seabream *Sparus aurata*. J. Exp. Zool., 298A, 105–118.
- 33. Milla, S., Mathieu, C., Wang, N., Lambert, S., Nadzialek, S., Massart, S., Henrotte, E., Douxfils, J., Mélard, C., Mandiki, S.N.M., Kestemont, P. (2010). Spleen immune status is affected after acute grading stress but not regulated by cortisol in Eurasian perch, *Perca fluviatilis*. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 28, 931–941.
- 34. Oliveira, C. V. O., Aparício, R., Blanco-Vives, B., Chereguini, O., Martín, I., Sánchez-Vazquez, F. J. (2013). Endocrine (plasma cortisol and glucose) and behavioral (locomotor and self-feeding activity) circadian rhythms in Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis* Kaup 1858) exposed to light / dark cycles or constant light. *Fish Physiol. Biochem.*, 39, 479–487.
- López-Patiño, M. A., Conde-Sieira, M., Gesto, M., Librán-Pérez, Soengas, J. L., Míguez, J. M. (2013). Melatonin partially minimizes the adverse stress effects in Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*). *Aquaculture*, 388-391(1), 165–172.
- Conde-Sieira, M., Muñoz, J. L. P., López-patiño, M. A., Gesto, M., Soengas, J. L., Míguez, J. M. (2014). Oral administration of melatonin counteracts several of the effects of chronic stress in rainbow trout. *Domest. Anim. Endocrinol.*, 46, 26–36.
- Lopez-Patino, M. A., Gesto, M., Conde-Sieira, M., Soengas, J. L., Miguez, J. M. (2014). Stress inhibition of melatonin synthesis in the pineal organ of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) is mediated by cortisol. *J. Exp. Biol.*, 217(8), 1407–1416.
- Gesto, M., López-patiño, M. A., Hernández, J., Soengas, J. L., Míguez, J. M. (2013). The response of brain serotonergic and dopaminergic systems to an acute stressor in rainbow trout: a time course study. *J. Exp. Biol.*, 216, 4435–4442.
- Gesto, M., Álvarez-otero, R., Conde-sieira, M., Otero-rodiño, C., Usandizaga, S., Soengas, J. L., Míguez, J. M., López-patiño, M. A. (2016). A simple melatonin treatment protocol attenuates the response to acute stress in the sole *Solea senegalensis*. *Aquaculture*, 452, 272–282.
- 40. Trinder, P. (1969). Determination of glucose in blood using glucose oxidase with an alternative oxygen acceptor. *Ann. Clin. Biochem.*, *6*, 24–27.
- 41. Lepage, O., Overli, O., Petersson, E., Järvi, T., Winberg, S. (2000). Differential Stress Coping in Wild and Domesticated Sea Trout. *Brain. Behav. Evol.*, *56*, 259–268.
- 42. Siwicki A, Studnicka M. (1987). The phagocytic ability of neutrophils and serum lysozyme activity in experimentally infected carp, *Cyprinus carpio* L. J. Fish Biol., 31, 57-60.

- 43. Douxfils, J., Deprez, M., Mandiki, S. N. M., Milla, S., Henrotte, E., Mathieu, C., Silvestre, F., Vandecan, M., Rougeot, C., Mélard, C., Dieu, M., Raes, M., Kestemont, P. (2012). Physiological and proteomic responses to single and repeated hypoxia in juvenile Eurasian perch under domestication - Clues to physiological acclimation and humoral immune modulations. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, *33*, 1112–1122.
- 44. Quade, M.J., Roth, J.A. (1997). A rapid, direct assay to measure degranulation of bovine neutrophil primary granules. *Vet. Immu- nol. Immunopathol.*, 58, 239–248.
- 45. Larionov, A., Krause, A., & Miller, W. (2005). A standard curve based method for relative real time PCR data processing. *BMC Bioinformatics*, *6*, 62.
- Feiner, Z. S. Höök, T. O., Environmental biology of Percid fishes, in: Kestemont, P., Dabrowski, K., Summerfelt, R. C. (Eds.), Biology and culture of Percid fishes. Springer Science+Business Media Dordrecht, 2015, pp. 61-100.
- 47. Tort, L. (2011). Stress and immune modulation in fish. Dev. Comp. Immunol., 35, 1366–1375.
- Milla, S., Douxfils, J., Mandiki, S.N.M., Saroglia, S.N.M., Corticosteroids and the stress response in Percid fish. In: Kestemont, P., Dabrowski, K., Summerfelt, R.C. (Eds.), Biology and culture of Percid fishes. Springer Science+Business Media Dordrecht, 2015, pp. 725–742.
- 49. Montoya, A., López-Olmeda, J.F., Yúfera, M., Sánchez-Muros, M.J., Sánchez-Vázquez, F.J. (2010). Feeding time synchronises daily rhythms of behaviour and digestive physiology in gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*). *Aquaculture*, 306: 315–321.
- 50. Winberg, S., Nilsson, G. E. (1993). Roles of brain monoamine neurotransmitters in agonistic behaviour and stress reactions, with particular reference to fish. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol.*, *106*, 597–614.
- Gesto, M., López-Patiño, M.A., Hernández, J., Soengas, J.L., Míguez, J.M. (2015). Gradation of the stress response in rainbow trout exposed to stressors of different severity: the role of brain serotonergic and dopaminergic systems. J. Neuroendocrinol., 27(2):131-41.
- 52. Benyassi, A., Schwartz, C., Ducouret, B., Falcón, J. (2001). Glucocorticoid receptors and serotonin N-acetyltransferase activity in the fish pineal organ. *Neuroreport*, 12(5), 889-892.
- Azpeleta, C., Martínez-Álvarez, R. M., Delgado, M. J., Isorna, E., De Pedro, N. (2010). Melatonin reduces locomotor activity and circulating cortisol in goldfish. *Horm. Behav.*, 57(3), 323–329.
- 54. Falcón, J., Besseau, L., Fazzari, D., Attia, J., Gaildrat, P., Beauchaud, M., Bœuf, G. (2003). Melatonin modulates secretion of growth hormone and prolactin by trout pituitary glands and cells in culture. *Endocrinology*, 144, 4648-4658.
Experiment III: Immune modulation by the light environment

- 55. Sauzet, S., Besseau, L., Herrera Perez, P., Covès, D., Chatain, B., Peyric, E., Bœuf, G., Muñoz-Cuetoc, J.A., Falcón, J. (2008). Cloning and retinal expression of melatonin receptors in the European sea bass, *Dicentrarchus labrax. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.*, 157, 186–195.
- 56. Esteban, M. A., Rodriguez, A., Ayala, A. G., Meseguer, J. (2004). Effects of high doses of cortisol on innate cellular immune response of seabream (*Sparus aurata* L.). *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.*, *137*, 89–98.
- 57. Douxfils, J., Mandiki, S. N. M., Marotte, G., Wang, N., Silvestre, F., Milla, S., Henrotte, E., Vandecan, M., Rougeot, C., Mélard, C., Kestemont, P. (2011). Does domestication process affect stress response in juvenile Eurasian perch *Perca fluviatilis? Comp. Biochem. Physiol.*, 159, 92–99.
- 58. Yada, T., Hyodo, S., Schreck, C.B. (2008). Effects of seawater acclimation on mRNA levels of corticosteroid receptor genes in osmoregulatory and immune systems in trout. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 156, 622–627.
- 59. Fevolden, S., Røed, K. H., Fjalestad, K. T. (2002). Selection response of cortisol and lysozyme in rainbow trout and correlation to growth. *Aquaculture*, 205, 61–75.
- Hoeger, B., Hitzfeld, B., Kollner, B., Dietrich, D.R., Van den Heuvel, M.R. (2005). Sex and low-level sampling stress modify the impacts of sewage effluent on the rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) immune system. *Aquat. Toxicol.*, 73, 79-90.
- 61. Wang, W.B., Li, A.H., Cai, T.Z., Wang, J.G. (2005). Effects of intraperitoneal injection of cortisol on non-specific immune functions of *Ctenopharyngodon idella*. J. Fish Biol. 67, 779–793.
- 62. Mathieu, C., Milla, S., Mandiki, S.N.M., Douxfils, J., Douny, C., Scippo, M.L., De Pauw, E., Kestemont, P. (2013). First evidence of the possible implication of the 11-deoxycorticosterone (DOC) in immune activity of Eurasian perch (*Perca fluviatilis*, L.): Comparison with cortisol. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A*, 165,149–158
- 63. Castillo, J., Castellana, B., Acerete, L., Planas, J.V., Goetz, F.W, Mackenzie, S., Tort, L. (2008). Stress-induced regulation of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein expression in head kidney of Gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*). *J. Endocrinol.*, 196(2), 313-322.
- 64. Sternberg, E.M. (2006). Neural regulation of innate immunity: a coordinated nonspecific host response to pathogens. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.*, 6(4), 318-328
- 65. Castro, R., Zou, J., Secombes, C.J., Martin, S.A.M. (2011). Cortisol modulates the induction of inflammatory gene expression in a rainbow trout macrophage cell line. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 30, 215-223.
- 66. Cairns, M.T., Johnson, M.C., Talbot, A.T., Pemmasani, J.K., McNeill, R.E., Houeix, B., Sangrador-Vegas, A., Pottinger T.G. (2008). A cDNA

microarray assessment of gene expression in the liver of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*), in response to a handling and confinement stressor. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B*, 3, 51-66.

- 67. Cuesta, A. (2008). In vivo actions of melatonin on the innate immune parameters in the teleost fish gilthead seabream. *J. Pineal Res.*, 45, 70–78.
- 68. Lazado, C. C., Skov, P. V., Pedersen, P. B. (2016). Innate immune defenses exhibit circadian rhythmicity and differential temporal sensitivity to a bacterial endotoxin in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, *55*, 613–622.
- 69. Bayarri, M. J., Ligo, M., Munoz-Cueto, J. A., Isorna, E., Delgado, M. J., Madrid, J. A., Sánchez-Vázquez, F.J., Alonso-Gomez, A. L. (2004). Binding characteristics and daily rhythms of melatonin receptors are distinct in the retina and the brain areas of the European sea bass retina (*Dicentrarchus labrax*). *Brain Research*, 1029, 241–250.
- Park, Y.J., Park, J.G., Kim, S.J., Lee, Y.D., Rahman, M.S., Takemura, A. (2006). Melatonin receptor of a reef fish with lunar-related rhythmicity: cloning and daily variations. *J. Pineal Res.*, 41, 166–174.
- 71. Kulczykowska, E., Kalamarz, H., Warne, J.M., Balment, R.J. (2006). Day-night specific binding of 2-[¹²⁵I]iodomelatonin and melatonin content in gill, small intestine and kidney of three fish species. *J. Comp. Physiol. B*, 176, 277-285.
- 72. Laidley, C.W., Leatherland, J.F. (1988) Cohort sampling, anaesthesia and stocking-density effects on plasma cortisol, thyroid hormone, metabolite and ion levels in rainbow trout, *Salmo gairdneri* Richardson. *J. Fish Biol.* 33:73–88.
- Noeske, T.A., Spieler, R.E., (1983). Photoperiod and diel variations of serum cortisol, thyroxine and protein in goldfish, *Carassius auratus* L. J. *Fish Biol.* 23, 705–710.
- 74. Kulczykowska, E., Sánchez Vázquez, F. J. (2010). Neurohormonal regulation of feed intake and response to nutrients in fish: Aspects of feeding rhythm and stress. *Aquacult. Res.*, *41*(5), 654–667.

Experiment III: Immune modulation by the light environment

VIII. Photoperiod influences melatonin release and immunity

Foreword: The previous experiment supports an action of melatonin on pikeperch innate immunity. In order to better characterize *in vivo* the immune modulation by the melatonin hormone, we considered a fourth experiment to characterize some immune activities when fish are exposed to seasonalsimulated photoperiods. We hypothesized that natural variations of photoperiod and subsequent changes in melatonin release profile may act on immune status of pike-perch with limited effect on the stress axis.

Seasonal simulated photoperiods influence melatonin release and immune markers of pike perch *Sander lucioperca*



Sébastien Baekelandt ^a*, Sylvain Milla ^b, Valérie Cornet ^a, Enora Flamion ^a, Yannick Ledoré ^b, Baptiste Redivo ^a, Sascha Antipine ^a, Syaghalirwa N.M. Mandiki ^a, Alexis Houndji ^a, Najlae El Kertaoui ^a, Patrick Kestemont ^a

^a Research Unit in Environmental and Evolutionary Biology (URBE), Institute of Life, Earth & Environment, University of Namur, Rue de Bruxelles 61, B-5000, Belgium

^b Animal and Functionality of Animal Products Research Unit (URAFPA), University of Lorraine, Boulevard des Aiguillettes, BP 236, 54506 Vandoeuvre-Les-Nancy, France

A. ABSTRACT

Melatonin is considered as the time-keeping hormone acting on important physiological functions of teleosts. While the influence of melatonin on reproduction and development is well described, its potential role on immune

functions has little been considered. In order to better define an immune modulation by the melatonin hormone, we hypothesized that natural variations of photoperiod and subsequent changes in melatonin release profile may act on immune status of pike-perch. Therefore, we investigated during 70 days the effects of two photoperiod regimes simulating the fall and spring in western Europe, on pike-perch physiological and immune responses. Samples were collected at 04:00 and 15:00 at days 1, 37 and 70. Growth, plasma melatonin levels, innate immune markers and expression of immunerelevant genes in head kidney tissue were assessed. While growth and stress level were not affected by the seasonal simulated photoperiods, nocturnal levels of plasma melatonin were photoperiod-dependent. Innate immune markers, including lysozyme, complement, peroxidase and phagocytic activities, were stimulated by the fall-simulated photoperiod and a significant correlation was made with plasma melatonin. In addition to bring the first evidence of changes in fish immunocompetence related to photoperiod, our results provide an additional indication supporting the immunomodulatory action of melatonin in teleosts.

B. INTRODUCTION

As photoperiod transducer, the melatonin hormone is mainly produced and secreted by the pineal gland during the night [1-5]. Through this activity, the pineal gland converts light information into a melatonin signal and thus relays information such as the time of the day and year for cells [6,7]. The melatonin hormone is indeed seen as the main actor for anticipating changes in season since its peak of production and release by the pineal organ is directly proportional to the length of the night and thus provides a direct transduction of night length [8]. In mammals as well as in teleosts, melatonin is described to act on important physiological functions, including development and reproduction [3,9-13]. In mammals, it is also known to interact with the immune system [4,12,14-18]. However, such immunomodulatory effects of melatonin have little been investigated in fish. Nevertheless, the available information supports an immune regulation by the melatonin hormone in teleosts [3,19-22]. In pike perch, a potential dual action of cortisol and melatonin hormones on immune defenses was described [23,24]. In addition, these experiments defined a correlation between daily cyclic activities of humoral innate immune markers and the nocturnal peak of plasma melatonin.

The life of the organisms is strongly conditioned by seasons, and this influence is more and more marked further from the equator. Seasonality is known to modulate reproductive activity and to influence food intake, locomotor activity, growth performance and immune responses of teleosts [8,25,26]. In temperate latitudes, the main factors characterizing the seasonal cycle are photoperiod and temperature. From these two factors, the annual cycle of changing photoperiod is the most precise temporal cue for determining the time of year and it has already been well established to influence growth, feeding, smoltification and reproduction [8,25,27,28]. Photoperiod manipulation is also used in aquaculture to modulate sexual maturation and growth of various fish species [29], including the Eurasian perch (Perca fluviatilis) and the pike perch (Sander lucioperca) [30]. However, the available information of such influence on fish immune system is very scarce. Considering the potential immunomodulatory action of the melatonin hormone and the annual rhythmicity of melatonin secretion by the pineal gland, it is feasible that changing photoperiod co-ordinates fish immunity through the modulation of melatonin secretion. Since bi-directional communications are described in teleosts between HPI axis and both melatonin axis and immune system, several stress markers were considered in the present experiment. While cortisol is known as a potent immunosuppressive agent in vertebrates [31,32], a mutual inhibition was described between HPI and melatonin axes [33-35]. In addition, brain serotonergic and dopaminergic activities, which are both indicators of acute and chronic stress in teleosts, were affected by light color and intensity but no consideration of the photoperiod was made [24,35-38]. Pike perch is the most promising freshwater fish species for the diversification of inland aquaculture industry in Europe. The eyes of this species possess a *tapetum lucidum* that is a specific tissue of the retina which greatly amplify the eve sensitivity to light [24,39]. This is in agreement with behavior of pike perch since it is a crepuscular predator actively feeding during dusk and night [40,41]. Previous experiments have defined a high sensitivity of this species to the light environment. Both light intensity and light spectrum were defined as determining factors affecting its physiology, including endocrine and immune functions [23,40,42,43]. However, as the third light characteristic, photoperiod and its potential effects on fish immunity have still not been considered.

In order to better define in fish the effects of photoperiodic changes on the immunocompetence and the potential key role of the melatonin hormone in this regulation, this study investigated in pike perch the effects of two photoperiod regimes simulating the fall and the spring in western Europe.

C. MATERIAL AND METHODS

1. Animals and rearing conditions

The experiment was carried out at the Aquaculture Experimental Platform (AEP, registration number for animal experimentation C54-547-18) belonging to the URAFPA lab and located at the Faculty of Sciences of the University of Lorraine (France). All experimental manipulations were carried out in agreement with the European and French national legislations on animal welfare after evaluation and approval of the experimental project (protocol number: APAFIS10285-201706201445413) by the local ethic committee in France (Name: CELMEA; French code: 066). A stock of 1,500 mixed-sex pike perch juveniles was provided by Asialor farm (Dieuze, France) and transferred to the facilities. Animals were randomly distributed into 12 indoor 2000-L tanks. Each of these 12 experimental units was

operating independently in a recirculating system (RAS). Fish were acclimated for 29 days in constant conditions (temperature: 21°C; light intensity: 15 lx; photoperiod: LD 12:12) and fed once daily at 2% biomass. They reached 149 ± 21 g at the first day of the experiment. In order to simulate the fall and the spring light conditions in Western Europe, gradual changes in LD from $12_{(8:00-20:00)}$:12 to 8(10:21-18:16):16 or 12(8:00-20:00):12 to 16(7:25-23:30):8, respectively, were set up for 70 days according to natural photoperiods in Paris, France. Additionally, a dusk and a dawn of 30 min were programmed. Every other rearing condition was maintained constant during all the 70-day experiment. In order to limit high size heterogeneity due to a high social dominance observed in pike perch, fish were fed once a day during the light phase, 2.5 h after sunrise.

2. Sampling procedures

Samplings at days 1, 37 and 70 occurred during scotophase at 04:00 h and photophase at 15:00 h. To avoid stress artefacts of nocturnal fishing on diurnal samplings, the number of tanks was doubled. Each of the 4 treatment groups, considering the two simulated photoperiods and the two sampling times, had thus 3 replicates. Five fish were removed randomly from each tank and anesthetized with MS-222 (150 mg L⁻¹). Blood was quickly collected by caudal vein puncture with heparinized syringes within 4 min and centrifuged at 3,000 g during 10 min at 4°C. Fish were then euthanized before collecting the spleen, the whole brain and the anterior kidney. Plasma, brain and anterior kidney were directly frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until assayed. Spleen was stored on ice in L-15 media.

Final individual weight and specific growth rate were determined on day 70 for each experimental condition. Specific growth rate was estimated according to the formula: ((Ln (final individual weight) – Ln (initial individual weight)) *100 / duration of the experiment). Mortality was recorded along the whole experiment.

Since a slight gonadal development was observed for both males and females at D70, the gonadosomatic index (%) was estimated according to the formula: (gonad weight * 100 / body weight).

3. Stress indicators

Plasma cortisol and glucose

Cortisol was assayed in triplicate using a cortisol ELISA kit (DRG, EIA-1887), following the manufacturer's instructions (BioSource, Belgium). The intra-assay coefficient of variation was 3.6%, the assay dynamic range was between 0-800 ng mL⁻¹ and the analytical sensitivity was 2.5 ng mL⁻¹ [23]. Plasma glucose, also assayed in triplicate, was determined calorimetrically based on a glucose oxidase/peroxidase method described by Trinder [23, 44].

Brain neurotransmitters

High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) was performed according to the methods of Lepage et al. [45], with some modifications [24], to assess in whole brain the serotonergic and dopaminergic activities expressed as hydroxyl-indol-acetic acid (5-HIAA)/serotonin (5-HT) and 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetic acid (DOPAC)/dopamine (DA) ratios, respectively.

4. Melatonin content in plasma

As described in Baekelandt et al. [24], plasma melatonin was assayed in triplicate using a Melatonin ELISA kit (E-EL-M0788, Elabscience Biotechnology Co., USA), following the manufacturer's instructions. Recovery rate was estimated around 90 to 95% for melatonin values ranging from 5 to 100 pg mL⁻¹. Intra and inter-assays of coefficients were 5.8 and 7.4%, respectively (n = 4). Nocturnal plasma samples were diluted to get values between 5 and 100 pg mL⁻¹.

5. Humoral immune variables

The total peroxidase activity in plasma was assessed following the method described in Quade and Roth [46]. One unit of peroxidase activity corresponds to an absorbance change of 1 OD.

The alternative complement pathway (ACH50), as described in Baekelandt et al. [23], was assayed by measuring the haemolytic activity in plasma samples using rabbit erythrocytes as targets [47]. Briefly, 10 μ L of rabbit red blood cells suspension suspended at 3% in veronal buffer (Biomerieux, Marcy-l'Etoile, France) were mixed with serial dilutions of plasma (from 40 to 800 times). Plates were then read at 615 nm after incubation at 28°C for 120 min. The spontaneous hemolysis was obtained by adding veronal buffer

to 10 μ L of rabbit erythrocytes and total lysis was obtained by mixing 10 μ L of rabbit erythrocytes to distilled water (total volume = 70 μ L). ACH50 corresponds to the lysis of 50% of the rabbit erythrocytes.

Lysozyme activity was evaluated in plasma samples by the turbimetric method [48,49]. Lysozyme activity (units) is defined as the amount of enzyme decreasing the turbidity of 0.001 OD per min.

6. Phagocytic activity

Spleen tissues were washed once with L-15 medium. They were then gently mashed with 9 mL of L15 medium supplemented with bovine serum albumin (10%, Sigma-Aldrich) and Penicillin– streptomycin (P/S) (1%, Sigma-Aldrich) through a 100 μ m nylon mesh grid. Cell suspensions were kept at 4°C for 16h and then centrifuged and washed twice with L15 medium. Cells were suspended in 1 mL of L-15 medium containing 1% of P/S.

Cell mortality was assessed by flow cytometry with a FACSVerse (BD Biosciences, USA) using propidium iodide (PI) probe (1 μ g mL⁻¹). Samples were considered for analysis when survival exceeded 90%. For the phagocytosis assay, 1x10⁶ cells were incubated with yellow-green fluorescent latex beads (Fluoresbrite®, Polyscience; 2 μ m diameter) for 18h at 21°C with a 1/100 ratio cell-beads ratio. Non-ingested beads were eliminated following a centrifugation step (400 x g, 10 min, 4°C). Cells were fixed with a 0.5% formaldehyde and 0.2% sodium azide PBS fixating solution. The phagocytic activity (percentage of cells that have ingested three or more beads) was measured through cytometric analysis [50].

7. Gene expression analysis

Total RNA isolation from anterior kidney tissue, which is important in hematopoiesis and immunity in fish, was performed using Extract-all® Reagent (Eurobio) following manufacturer's instructions and description in Baekelandt et al. [24]. Each RNA sample was subjected to DNase treatment (DNase Ambion; Life Technologies) and reverse-transcription (RevertAidTM H Minus First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit; Thermo Scientific) following the manufacturer's instructions. The relative expression of several immune-related genes was investigated by RT-qPCR, including genes involved in bactericidal defense, namely C-type lysozyme (*lys*), hepcidin c (*hepc*), and complement C3 (*c3*), and in pro-inflammatory action, namely interleukin-1

(*il-1*) and tumor necrosis factor alpha (*tnf-a*). In addition, expression of reference genes β -actin and elongation factor alpha (*ef1-a*), whose expressions were tested stable in experimental conditions, were assessed. Efficiencies of primers (Table 1; [24]) were validated when ranged between 90 and 105%. The relative mRNA levels of *c3*, *lys*, *il-1*, *hepc*, and *tnf-a* in each sample were normalized with the geometric mean of *ef1-a* and β -actin calculated by the relative standard curve method [51].

Gene	GenBank	Sens	Sequence (5' to 3')
	accession #		
β -actin	MF472627	Forward	CGACATCCGTAAGGACCTGT
		Reverse	GCTGGAAGGTGGACAGAGAG
ef1- α	MF472628	Forward	TGATGACACCAACAGCCACT
		Reverse	AAGATTGACCGTCGTTCTGG
tnf-α	MK167462	Forward	CTGATTCGCCTCAACGTGTA
		Reverse	GGAGATGGGTCATGAGGAGA
hepc	MK036790	Forward	CCGTCGTGCTCACCTTTATT
		Reverse	GCCACGTTTGTGTCTGTTGT
il-1	MK036791	Forward	TTTCCCATCATCCACTGACA
		Reverse	ATTCACACACGCACACCATT
с3	MF472630	Forward	TGGTGATGTGAGAGGAGCAG
		Reverse	GACGTCATGGCAACAGCATA
lys	MF472629	Forward	AGCCAGTGGGAGTCGAGTTA
		Reverse	CATTGTCGGTCAGGAGCTCA

Table 1: Sequences of primers used for gene expression quantification [24].

8. Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as the mean \pm standard error (SEM). Kolmogorov and Smirnov's test was used to assess the normality of data sets (p < .05) and Bartlett's test was conducted to evaluate variance homogeneity (p < .05). Logarithmic transformations were made to achieve normality and homoscedasticity when necessary. Results were analyzed with a three-way ANOVA (p < .05) taking the photoperiod regime (fall and spring), the day of sampling (D1, D37 and D70) and the time of the day (4:00 and 15:00) as factors. Statistics were performed using the fish as the experimental unit with the exception of growth parameters (final individual weight and specific growth rate). Tank effect was previously tested not significant. When interactions were tested significant, values were compared according to Tukey's HSD post-hoc test (p < .05). In addition, correlations between immune markers and gonadosomatic index as well as between immune activities and night variations of plasma melatonin were tested for significance. The results were analyzed with JMP 12.1 software (SAS Institute Inc., North Carolina, USA) and graphs were performed with GraphPad Prism V5.04 (California, USA).

D. **RESULTS**

Final body weight (282.8 \pm 33.5; 276.5 \pm 36.3 g) and specific growth rate (1.04 \pm 0.28; 1.12 \pm 0.37% d⁻¹ for the fall and spring-simulated photoperiod, respectively) did not show any difference between experimental groups. At D70, while the tested photoperiods did not influence the gonadosomatic index for females (0.30 \pm 0.04%), a significant difference for males was detected with increased gonadal development with the fall-simulated photoperiod (FSP) (0.41 \pm 0.17%) compared to the spring-simulated photoperiod (SSP) (0.22 \pm 0.09%). No correlation between immune markers and sexes or gonadosomatic index was tested significant.

About the tested stress markers, a significant day-night variation was observed for plasma cortisol (p < .001), with values reaching 28 ± 4 and 14 ± 2 ng mL⁻¹ during the dark and the light phases respectively (Fig. 1). For plasma glucose (Fig. 1), the highest values were observed for the SSP at D70 (4:00) while the lowest were detected for the FSP at D1 (15:00) (p < .05). While no effects were observed concerning the dopaminergic activity (Fig. 2), the serotonergic activity was influenced by the time of the day with increases during the light phase (p < .05). The SSP also led to an increase in 5HIAA / 5HT ratio from D1 to D37 (p < .05) (Fig. 2).

While constant during the light phase, plasma melatonin values were significantly influenced by the seasonal simulated photoperiods during the night. It showed a progressive increase for the FSP from 89 ± 14 at D1 to 125 \pm 18 pg mL⁻¹ at D70 and a decrease for the SSP from 88 ± 17 to 68 ± 14 pg mL¹ (Fig. 3). No difference was detected between sexes.

Peroxidase and lysozyme activities in plasma and phagocytic activity in spleen all followed a day-night variation with increased activities at 4:00 whatever the simulated photoperiod (p < .001) (Fig. 4a,b,d). The opposite

scheme was observed for plasma complement activity (Fig. 4c) with the highest values detected at 15:00 (p < .001). In addition, lysozyme, peroxidase and complement activities were significantly influenced by the simulated photoperiod with increases observed from D1 to D70 for the FSP. Furthermore, the lysozyme activity significantly decreased from D1 (15:00) to D70 (15:00) for the SSP (p < .05). An increase in phagocytic activity was also observed at D37 (p < .05) for both photoperiods (Fig. 4d). Significant positive correlations between night variations of plasma melatonin and immune markers were tested significant, including for lysozyme (correlation: 0.41; p < .001), peroxidase (0.28; p < .01) and complement (0.38; p < .01).

Considering expression of immune-related genes, no effects were detected on *il-1* and *hepc* (Fig. 5a,b). However, *c3* gene expression increased at D70 for the FSP (P < .001) (Fig. 5c). In addition, an increase in *tnf-a* gene expression was detected at D70 whatever the experimental group while a decrease in *lys* gene expression was observed at D70 compared to D37 (Fig. 5d,e).



Fig. 1: Day-night (DP: dark phase; LP: light phase) variations of plasma cortisol (left) and glucose (right) in pike-perch juveniles exposed during 70 days to photoperiods simulating the fall or the spring in western Europe. Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 12). Capital letters indicate significant differences at p < .05. Stars (*) and (***) indicate main effects (day of sampling or time of the day) significant at p < .05 and .001, respectively.



Fig. 2: Day-night (DP: dark phase; LP: light phase) variations of brain serotonergic (left) and dopaminergic (right) activities in pike-perch juveniles exposed during 70 days to photoperiods simulating the fall or the spring in western Europe. Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 12). Capital letters indicate significant differences at p < .05. Stars (*) indicate main effect (time of the day) significant at p < .05.



Fig. 3: Day-night (DP: dark phase; LP: light phase) variations of plasma melatonin in pike-perch juveniles exposed during 70 days to photoperiods simulating the fall or the spring in western Europe. Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 9). Capital letters indicate significant differences at p < .05.





Fig. 4: Day-night (DP: dark phase; LP: light phase) variations of (a) lysozyme, (b) peroxidase and (c) hemolytic complement activities in plasma and (d) phagocytic activity in spleen of pike-perch juveniles exposed during 70 days to photoperiods simulating the fall or the spring in western Europe. Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 15). Capital letters indicate significant differences at p < .05. Stars (***) indicate main effect (time of the day) significant at p < .001.



Fig. 5: Day-night (DP: dark phase; LP: light phase) variations of (a) *il-1*, (b) *hepc*, (c) *c3*, (d) *tnf-a* and (e) *lys* gene expression in head kidney of pike-perch juveniles exposed during 70 days to photoperiods simulating the fall or the spring in western Europe. Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 12). Capital letters indicate significant differences at p < .05. Stars (*), (**) and (***) indicate main effects (day of sampling or time of the day) significant at p < .05, .01 and .001, respectively.

E. **DISCUSSION**

Seasonality, that is mainly characterized by variations of both temperature and day length, is described to affect immune responses of vertebrates, including fish, reptiles, birds and mammals [25,26,52-54]. Thus seasonal variations of several innate immune markers, including complement,

peroxidase and lysozyme activities, have been observed in sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax), dab (Limanda limanda), halibut (Hippoglossus hippoglossus) and Asian catfish (Clarias batrachus) [55-58]. Temperature was described several times to be the main seasonal factor operating on fish immune system since lower temperatures lead to a shutdown or slowing of immune mechanisms leading to an increase in fish susceptibility to disease [58-60]. However, the study of Valero et al. [58] has reported that seasonal variations of some immune markers are not related with the temperature and that they could be explained by daylight changes, supporting that both temperature and photoperiod variations act significantly on fish immune system throughout the year. Nevertheless, to our knowledge, no studies conducted specifically on photoperiod in a seasonal context has been published until now. Several studies have focused on photoperiod manipulation (extreme light regimes including constant light or darkness). This practice, that has become common in the aquaculture industry to obtain out-of-season reproductions [25], affects the levels of stress hormones in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss), which consequently alter immune functions [29]. It was also shown to affect larval development and survival of European sea bass and Senegalese sole [61,62].

In the present experiment, the season-simulated photoperiod regimes did not influence growth parameters. Since seasonality was shown to highly influence growth of various fish species [25,57], our results suggest that such effect is mainly driven by temperature and/or food availability. In addition, values of stress markers suggest that natural gradual changes in L:D are not stressful for pike perch and that it should still be considered in management strategies of fish culture. Since tryptophan is a precursor of both melatonin and serotonin hormones [35], the daily rhythm in 5HIAA/5-HT ratio may be the result of a decrease in tryptophan availability during the dark phase of the photoperiod due to melatonin synthesis.

An early gonadogenesis was observed at day 70 for both sexes, with the highest development for males maintained under the FSP. The decrease in day length is involved in the initiation of gametogenesis in many fish species including the walleye (*Sander vitreus*) [63] and the Eurasian perch [64]. Our results are also consistent with results from Ben Ammar et al. [65] showing that the initiation of gonadogenesis seems to be mainly driven by photoperiodic changes. However, both temperature and photoperiod

variations must be considered in the control of pike-perch reproductive cycle [65,66].

A potential effect of such gonadal development on the immune system cannot be discarded since interactions between neuroendocrine and immune systems are widely accepted [67,68]. Moreover, season-dependent changes in fish immune system were shown to be correlated with changes in the levels of circulating sex hormones [69]. For example, phagocytosis and lysozyme activities, respiratory burst activity in blood leukocytes as well as ROS and NOS production are all influenced by estrogens in various fish species. However, in the present experiment, the correlation study does not highlight any relation between immune markers and gonadal development, supporting that immune status of young pike perch may be only slightly influenced by the initiation of gonadogenesis.

We showed for the first time the variations of immune markers according to the season-simulated photoperiod. Lysozyme, complement and peroxidase activities, as well as c3 gene expression in head kidney, all increased following the decrease in day length during 70 days. In contrast, only lysozyme showed a decrease under the spring-simulated photoperiod. In addition, the correlation study support that variations of innate immune markers are related to the nocturnal variations in plasma melatonin. The progressive exposure to shorter photoperiods leads to an increase in melatonin production and release by the pineal gland since its activity is directly proportional to the length of the night [8]. Few evidences have suggested that the melatonin hormone may act as an important immune regulator in teleosts [3,20]. For instance, several immune markers including peroxidase, phagocytic ability and cytotoxic activity of head kidney leucocytes as well as the expression of immune genes in head kidney (*il-1* β , major histocompatibility complex, and interferon-regulatory factor-1) are increased in gilthead seabream (Sparus aurata) following intraperitoneal injection of melatonin [20]. And, in zebrafish, endogenous melatonin enhances neutrophil migration following increase in cytokine expressions such as II-8 and II-1 β [22].

Our results defined also day-night variations of lysozyme, peroxidase, complement and phagocytic activities. Such cyclic activity has already been described in several fish species including pike perch, Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*), gilthead seabream and sea bass [19,23,24,70). The

day-night variations of immune variables, as observed in the present experiment, are comparable to the variations of both plasma melatonin and cortisol [23,24]. Considering that cortisol is a potent immunosuppressive agent with complex actions on immune cells and tissues [31,32] and that an anti-stress role for melatonin has been defined [33,35], the present results may support that melatonin acts on immune activities through the modulation of cortisol release in plasma [3,71]. However, cortisol peak was described to occur at different times of the day according to the experiment and the fish species, supposing that it is, at least partially, light- and melatoninindependent. Innate immune markers are also differently stimulated according to the time of the day. Even if the underlying mechanisms are still not well understood and that differences of cyclic pattern are observed among fish species [19,23,24], there are always one or several innate immune activities enhanced whatever the time of the day, ensuring a constant immune protection against pathogens.

All in all, the daily rhythms of innate immune markers and the up- and downregulations according to the photoperiod support a significant effect of the melatonin hormone on the innate immune system of fish. However, the model of action still needs investigations. Melatonin could act on immune cells and indirectly through the regulation of several hormones tissues (glucocorticoids, growth hormone, prolactin...) or through specific melatonin receptors [3]. In several teleost species, three high-affinity receptor subtypes were identified, including MT1, MT2 and Mel1c [72]. While several studies focused on melatonin receptor distribution [73-76], few has examined their presence in immune cells or tissues. They are found in the kidney and the spleen of several fish species [74,76,77] but no study has investigated the exact location of these receptors in the immune tissues neither their functional significance.

In addition, the present study did not examine the potential role of an internal clock machinery in immune modulation according to seasonal simulated photoperiods. Organisms, including fish, show circadian rhythms (repeating roughly every 24 h) of activity, food intake, body change color, oxygen consumption and some physiological parameters [3,78]. These rhythms are under the control of different environmental cues, with the light being the strongest of these synchronizers. Other environmental parameters changing daily or annually, including temperature and food availability, are also critical [78]. The main characteristic of these circadian rhythms is the persistence of

their oscillations for a certain period of time, even in the absence of these environmental cues, by being driven by a circadian clock [3]. In zebrafish, a complex network of coexisting central and peripheral clocks was described and peripheral tissue pacemakers, that have been identified in several extraretinal/extra-pineal tissues, were shown to be directly responsive to light [79]. However, while several studies described daily variations of immune activities [19,23], none has investigated in fish, and to our knowledge, circadian activity of the immune system or peripheral clock in immune tissues. The potential presence of such pacemaker in immune tissue should be investigated in order to better describe the relationship between the photoperiod, the clock machinery and the immune system.

In conclusion, this study showed for the first time in a teleost fish an innate immune modulation according to the seasonal and daily variations of photoperiod. As the time-keeping hormone, melatonin is seen as one of the main mediator acting on fish immune system. Such regulation may involve both direct and indirect action of melatonin on immune targets. Better consideration of the light environment is suggested to improve immunocompetence of cultured fish species and to limit disease outbreaks.

F. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the grant agreement No. 652831 (AQUAEXCEL2020). This output reflects only the author's view and the European Union cannot be held responsible for any use that may be made of the information contained therein. This work was also supported by the FRIA (Fonds de la Recherche dans l'Industrie et l'Agriculture, Wallonia-Brussels Federation), providing a grant to S.B.

G. **REFERENCES**

- Migaud, H. & Al, E. A comparative ex vivo and in vivo study of day and night perception in teleosts species using the melatonin rhythm. J. *Pineal Res.* 41, 42–52 (2006).
- [2] Migaud, H., Davie, A., Martinez Chavez, C.C. & Al-Khamees, S. Evidence for differential photic regulation of pineal melatonin synthesis in teleosts. J. Pineal Res. 43(4), 327–335 (2007).

- [3] Falcón, J., Migaud, H., Muñoz-Cueto, J.A. & Carrillo, M. Current knowledge on the melatonin system in teleost fish. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 165(3), 469–482 (2010).
- [4] Pierozan, P., Andersson, M. & Karlsson, I.O. The environmental neurotoxin β -N-methylamino-L-alanine inhibits melatonin synthesis in primary pinealocytes and a rat model. *J. Pineal Res.* **65(1)**, e12488 (2018).
- [5] Xia, Y. *et al.* Melatonin in macrophage biology: Current understanding and future perspectives. *J. Pineal Res.* **66(2)**, e12547 (2018).
- [6] Kulczykowska, E. & Sánchez-Vázquez, F.J. Neurohormonal regulation of feed intake and response to nutrients in fish: Aspects of feeding rhythm and stress. *Aquac. Res.* **41**(**5**), 654–667 (2010).
- [7] Brüning, A., Hölker, F., Franke, S., Preuer, T. & Kloas, W. Spotlight on fish: Light pollution affects circadian rhythms of European perch but does not cause stress. *Sci. Total Environ.* **511**, 516–522 (2015).
- [8] Bromage, N., Porter, M. & Randall, C. The environmental regulation of maturation in farmed finfish with special reference to the role of photoperiod and melatonin. *Aquaculture*. **197**, 63–98 (2001).
- [9] Downing, G. & Litvak, M.K. Effects of light intensity, spectral composition and photoperiod on development and hatching of haddock (*Melanogrammus aeglefinus*) embryos. *Aquaculture*. 213, 265-278 (2002).
- [10] Vera, L.M. *et al.* Seasonal and daily plasma melatonin rhythms and reproduction in Senegalese sole kept under natural photoperiod and natural or controlled water temperature. *J. Pineal Res.* 43, 50–55 (2007).
- [11] Mehner, T. Diel vertical migration of freshwater fishes proximate triggers, ultimate causes and research perspectives. *Freshwater Biol.* 57(7), 1342–1359 (2012).
- [12] Carrillo-Vico, A., Guerrero, J.M., Lardone, P.J. & Reiter, R.J. A review of the multiple actions of melatonin on the immune system. *Endocrine*. **27(2)**, 189–200 (2005).
- [13] Dumbell, R., Matveeva, O. & Oster, H. Circadian clocks, stress, and immunity. *Front Endocrinol.* 7, 1–8 (2016).
- [14] Calvo, J.R., Mohammed, R.E.I., Pozo, D. & Guerrero, J.M. Immunomodulatory role of melatonin: specific binding sites in human and rodent lymphoid cells. J. Pineal Res. 18, 119–126 (1995).
- [15] Pozo, D., Garcia-Maurino, S., Guerrero, J.M. & Calvo, J.R. mRNA expression of nuclear receptor RZR/RORalpha, melatonin membrane receptor MT, and hydroxindole-O-methyltransferase in different populations of human immune cells. *J. Pineal Res.* 37, 48-54 (2004).

- [16] Peña, C., Rincon, J., Pedreanez, A., Viera, N. & Mosquera, J. Chemotactic effect of melatonin on leukocytes. J. Pineal Res. 43, 263–269 (2007).
- [17] Pontes, G.N., Cardoso, E.C., Carneiro-Sampaio, M.M. & Markus, R.P. Pineal melatonin and the innate immune response: the TNF-alpha increase after cesarean section suppresses nocturnal melatonin production. J. Pineal Res. 43, 365–371 (2007).
- [18] Hardeland, R. Melatonin and inflammation Story of a double-edged blade. *J. Pineal Res.* **65**(4), e12525 (2018).
- [19] Esteban, M.A., Cuesta, A., Rodriguez, A. & Meseguer, J. Effect of photoperiod on the fish innate immune system: a link between fish pineal gland and the immune system. J. Pineal Res. 41(3), 261-266 (2006).
- [20] Cuesta, A., Cerezuela, R., Esteban, M.A. & Meseguer, J. In vivo actions of melatonin on the innate immune parameters in the teleost fish gilthead seabream. J. Pineal Res. 45(1), 70–78 (2008).
- [21] Esteban, M.A., Cuesta, A., Chaves-Pozo, E. & Meseguer, J. Influence of melatonin on the immune system of fish: a review. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 14, 7979-7999 (2013).
- [22] Ren, D.I., Ji, C., Wang, X.B., Wang, H., Hu, B. Endogenous melatonin promotes rhythmic recruitment of neutrophils toward an injury in zebrafish. *Sci. Rep.* 7, 4696 (2017).
- [23] Baekelandt, S., Mandiki, S., Schmitz, M. & Kestemont, P. Influence of the light spectrum on the daily rhythms of stress and humoral innate immune markers in pike-perch *Sander lucioperca*. *Aquaculture*. **499**, 358-363 (2019).
- [24] Baekelandt, S., Mandiki, S.N.M. & Kestemont, P. Are cortisol and melatonin involved in the immune modulation by the light environment in pike-perch *Sander lucioperca*? J. Pineal Res. 67, e12573 (2019b).
- [25] Bowden, T.J., Thompson, K.D., Morgan, A.L., Gratacap, R.M.L. & Nikoskelainen S. Seasonal variation and the immune response: A fish perspective. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.* 22(6), 695–706 (2007).
- [26] Morgan, A.L., Thompson, K.D., Auchinachie, N.A. & Migaud, H. The effect of seasonality on normal haematological and innate immune parameters of rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* L. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.* 25, 791-799 (2008).
- [27] Nelson, R.J. & Demas, G.E. Role of melatonin in mediating seasonal energetic and immunologic adaptations. *Brain Res. Bull.* 44, 423e30 (1997).
- [28] Nelson, R.J., Demas, G.E., Klein, S.L. & Kriegsfeld, L.J. Seasonal patterns of stress, immune function, and disease. Cambridge University Press, New-York (2002).

- [29] Leonardi, M.O. & Klempau, A.E. Artificial photoperiod influence on the immune system of juvenile rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) in the Southern Hemisphere. *Aquaculture*. 221, 581-591 (2003).
- [30] Fontaine, P., Wang, N. & Hermelink, B. Broodstock management and control of the reproductive cycle. In: Kestemont, P., Dabrowski, K., Summerfelt, R.C. (Eds.), *Biology and culture of Percid fishes*. Springer Science+Business Media Dordrecht, pp. 61–100 (2015).
- [31] Laiz-Carrión, R., Martín Del Río, P., Miguez, J.M., Mancera, J.M. & Soengas, J.L. Influence of cortisol on osmoregulation and energy metabolism in Gilthead Seabream *Sparus aurata*. J. Exp. Zool. 298A, 105–118 (2003).
- [32] Tort, L. Stress and immune modulation in fish. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 35, 1366–1375 (2011).
- [33] López-Patiño, M.A. *et al.* Melatonin partially minimizes the adverse stress effects in Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*). *Aquaculture*. 388-391(1), 165–172 (2013).
- [34] López-Patiño, M.A., Gesto, M., Conde-Sieira, M., Soengas, J.L. & Miguez, J.M. Stress inhibition of melatonin synthesis in the pineal organ of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) is mediated by cortisol. J. Exp. Biol. 217(8), 1407-1416 (2014).
- [35] Conde-Sieira, M. *et al.* Oral administration of melatonin counteracts several of the effects of chronic stress in rainbow trout. *Domest. Anim. Endocrinol.* 46, 26–36 (2014).
- [36] Karakatsouli, N. *et al.* Effects of light spectrum on growth and physiological status of gilthead seabream *Sparus aurata* and rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* reared under recirculating system conditions. *Aquac. Eng.* **36(3)**, :302-309 (2007).
- [37] Gesto, M., López-Patiño, M.A., Hernández, J., Soengas, J.L. & Míguez, J.M. The response of brain serotonergic and dopaminergic systems to an acute stressor in rainbow trout: a time course study. *J. Exp. Biol.* 216, 4435–4442 (2013).
- [38] Gesto, M. *et al.* A simple melatonin treatment protocol attenuates the response to acute stress in the sole *Solea senegalensis*. *Aquaculture*. 452, 272–282 (2016).
- [39] Feiner, Z.S. & Höök, T.O. Environmental biology of Percid fishes. In: Kestemont, P., Dabrowski, K., Summerfelt, R.C. (Eds.), *Biology* and culture of Percid fishes. Springer Science+Business Media Dordrecht, pp. 61–100 (2015).
- [40] Luchiari, A.C., Freire, F., Koskela, J. & Pirhonen, J. Light intensity preference of juvenile pike-perch Sander lucioperca (L.). Aquac. Res. 37, 1572-1577 (2006).
- [41] Dalsgaard, J. *et al.* Farming different species in RAS in Nordic countries: current status and future perspectives. *Aquac. Eng.* **53**, 2-13 (2013).

- [42] Luchiari, A.C., Freire, F., Pirhonen, J. & Koskela, J. Longer wavelengths of light improve the growth, intake and feed efficiency of individually reared juvenile pike-perch *Sander lucioperca* (L.). *Aquac Res.* 40, 880-886 (2009).
- [43] Baekelandt, S. *et al.* Multifactorial analyses revealed optimal aquaculture modalities improving husbandry fitness without clear effect on stress and immune status of pike-perch *Sander lucioperca*. *Gen. Comp Endocrinol.* 258, 194-204 (2018).
- [44] Trinder, P. Determination of glucose in blood using glucose oxidase with an alternative oxygen acceptor. Ann. Clin. Biochem. 6, 24–27 (1969).
- [45] Lepage, O., Overli, O., Petersson, E., Järvi, T. & Winberg, S. Differential Stress Coping in Wild and Domesticated Sea Trout. *Brain. Behav. Evol.* 56, 259–268 (2000).
- [46] Quade, M.J. & Roth, J.A. A rapid, direct assay to measure degranulation of bovine neutrophil primary granules. *Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 58, 239–248 (1997).
- [47] Sunyer, J.O. & Tort, L. Natural haemolytic and bactericidal activities of sea bream *Sparus aurata* serum are effected by the alternative complement pathway. *Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 45(3–4), 333– 345 (1995).
- [48] Siwicki, A. & Studnicka, M. The phagocytic ability of neutrophils and serum lysozyme activity in experimentally infected carp, *Cyprinus carpio* L. J. Fish Biol. **31**, 57-60 (1987).
- [49] Douxfils, J. *et al.* Physiological and proteomic responses to single and repeated hypoxia in juvenile Eurasian perch under domestication -Clues to physiological acclimation and humoral immune modulations. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.* 33, 1112–1122 (2012).
- [50] Samaï, H.C. *et al.* Procedures for leukocytes isolation from lymphoid tissues and consequences on immune endpoints used to evaluate fish immune status: A case study on roach (*Rutilus rutilus*). *Fish Shellfish Immunol.* **74**, 190–204 (2018).
- [51] Larionov, A., Krause, A. & Miller, W. A standard curve based method for relative real time PCR data processing. *BMC Bioinformatics*. 6, 62 (2005).
- [52] Zapata, A.G., Varas, A. & Torroba, M. Seasonal variations in the immune system of lower vertebrates. *Immunol. Today.* 13, 142-147 (1992).
- [53] Martin, L.B., Weil, Z.M. & Nelson, R.J. Seasonal changes in vertebrate immune activity: mediation by physiological trade-offs. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 363(1490), 321-339 (2008).

- [54] Zimmerman, L.M., Vogel, L.A. & Bowden, R.M. Understanding the vertebrate immune system: insights from the reptilian perspective. *J. Exp. Biol.* 213, 661-671 (2010).
- [55] Bowden, T.J., Butler, R. & Bricknell, I.R. Seasonal variation of serum lysozyme levels in Atlantic halibut (*Hippoglossus hippoglossus* L.). *Fish Shellfish Immunol.* **17(2)**, 129-135 (2004).
- [56] Kumari, J. et al. Seasonal variation in the innate immune parameters of the Asian catfish *Clarias batrachus*. Aquaculture 252, 121127 (2006).
- [57] Pascoli, F. et al. Seasonal effects on hematological and innate immune parameters in sea bass *Dicentrarchus labrax*. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.* **31**, 1081-1087 (2011).
- [58] Valero, Y., Garc, A., Cuesta, A. & Chaves-pozo, E. Seasonal variations of the humoral immune parameters of European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax* L.). Fish Shellfish Immunol. **39**, 185–187 (2014).
- [59] Le Morvan, C., Troutaud, D. & Deschaux, P. Differential effects of temperature on specific and nonspecific immune defenses in fish. *J. Exp. Biol.* 201, 165-168 (1998).
- [60] Abram, Q.H., Dixon, B. & Katzenback, B.A. Impacts of Low Temperature on the Teleost Immune System. *Biology (Basel.)*. 6(4), 39 (2017).
- [61] Villamizar, N., García-Alcazar, A. & Sánchez-Vázquez, F.J. Effect of light spectrum and photoperiod on the growth, development and survival of European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) larvae. *Aquaculture*. 292, 80–86 (2009).
- [62] Blanco-vives, B. *et al.* Effect of daily thermo- and photo-cycles of different light spectrum on the development of Senegal sole (*Solea senegalensis*) larvae. *Aquaculture*. **306**(1–4), 137–145 (2010).
- [63] Malison, J.A., Procarione, L.S., Kayes, T.B., Hansen, J.F. & Held, J.A. Induction of out-of-season spawning in walleye (*Stizostedion vitreum*). Aquaculture. 163, :151–161 (1998).
- [64] Abdulfatah, A., Fontaine, P., Kestemont, P., Gardeur, J.-N. & Marie, M. Effects of photothermal kinetics and amplitude of photoperiod decrease on the induction of the reproduction cycle in female Eurasian perch *Perca fluviatilis*. *Aquaculture*. **322–323**, 169–176 (2011).
- [65] Ben Ammar, I. *et al.* Continuous lighting inhibits the onset of reproductive cycle in pike-perch males and females. *Fish Physiol. Biochem.* 41(2), 345-356 (2015).
- [66] Hermelink, B., Wuertz, S., Rennert, B., Kloas, W. & Schulz, C. Temperature control of pike-perch (*Sander lucioperca*) maturation

in recirculating aquaculture systems – induction of puberty and course of gametogenesis. *Aquaculture*. **400-401**, 36-45 (2013).

- [67] Engelsma, M.Y. *et al.* Neuroendocrine-immune interactions in fish: a role for interleukin-1. *Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 87(3-4), 467-479 (2002).
- [68] Nardocci, G. *et al.* Neuroendocrine mechanisms for immune system regulation during stress in fish. Aquaculture. 40(2), 531-538 (2014).
- [69] Szwejser, E., Kemenade, B.M.L.V., Maciuszek, M. & Chadzinska, M. Hormones and Behavior Estrogen-dependent seasonal adaptations in the immune response of fish. *Horm. Behav.* 88, 15–24 (2017).
- [70] Lazado, C.C., Skov, P.V. & Pedersen, P.B. Innate immune defenses exhibit circadian rhythmicity and differential temporal sensitivity to a bacterial endotoxin in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). *Fish Shellfish Immunol.* 55, 613–622 (2016).
- [71] Kulczykowska, E., Kalamarz-Kubiah, H., Gozdowska, M. & Sokolowska, E. Cortisol and melatonin in the cutaneous stress response system of fish. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A Mol. Integr. Physiol.* 218, 1-7 (2018).
- [72] Falcón, M.A., Besseau, L., Sauzet, S. & Bœuf, G. Melatonin effects on the hypothalamo-pituitary axis in fish. *Trends Endocrinol. Metabol.* 18, 81-88 (2007).
- [73] Bayarri, M.J. *et al.* Binding characteristics and daily rhythms of melatonin receptors are distinct in the retina and the brain areas of the European sea bass retina (*Dicentrarchus labrax*). *Brain Res.* **1029**, 241–250 (2004).
- [74] Park, Y.J. *et al.* (2006) Melatonin receptor of a reef fish with lunarrelated rhythmicity: cloning and daily variations. *J. Pineal Res.* 41, 166–174.
- [75] Sauzet, S. et al. Cloning and retinal expression of melatonin receptors in the European sea bass, *Dicentrarchus labrax. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 157, 186–195 (2008).
- [76] Confente, F., Rendón, M.C., Besseau, L., Falcón, J. & Muñoz-Cueto, J.A. Melatonin receptors in a pleuronectiform species, *Solea senegalensis*: Cloning, tissue expression, day-night and seasonal variations. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 167(2), 202–214 (2010).
- [77] Kulczykowska, E., Kalamarz, H., Warne, J.M. & Balment, R.J. Daynight specific binding of 2[¹²⁵I]iodomelatonin and melatonin content in gill, small intestine and kidney of three fish species. J. *Comp. Physiol. B.* **176**, 277-285 (2006).
- [78] Zhdanova, I.V., Reebs, S.G. Circadian rhythms in fish. In: Sloman, K.A., Wilson, R.W., Balshine, S. eds. Behaviour and physiology of fish. Academic Press, Vol. 24. 2006:197-238.

[79] Prokkola, J.M., Nikinmaa, M. Circadian rhythms and environmental disturbances – underexplored interactions. J. Exp. Biol. 221:jeb179267 (2018).

IX. Ex vivo actions of melatonin and cortisol

Foreword: In the previous *in vivo* experiments, the results suggest an action of melatonin on pike-perch immunity. However, no data clearly characterized the mode of action (direct and/or indirect modulation) in teleosts. Melatonin could act on immune targets through specific receptors and/or via intermediates such as cortisol. We thus investigated with an *ex vivo* approach the direct actions of melatonin, combined or not with cortisol, on the expression of immune-relevant genes in the two main hematopoietic organs of teleosts, namely the head kidney and the spleen.

Ex vivo approach supports both direct and indirect actions of melatonin on immunity in pike-perch *Sander lucioperca*

Sébastien Baekelandt *, Valérie Cornet, Syaghalirwa N.M. Mandiki, Lambert Jérôme, Dubois Mickaël, Patrick Kestemont

Research Unit in Environmental and Evolutionary Biology (URBE), Institute of Life, Earth & Environment, University of Namur, Rue de Bruxelles 61, B-5000, Belgium

A. ABSTRACT

The melatonin hormone, which is a multifunctional molecule in vertebrates, was shown to exert complex actions on the immune system of mammals. However, the immunomodulatory capacity of this hormone has only been little investigated in teleosts. In the present experiment, we exposed *ex vivo* the spleen and the head kidney tissues of pike-perch to melatonin (Mel) and cortisol (Cort). Three concentrations of both hormones, alone or in combination, were used, namely (1) Mel (10, 100 or 1000 pg mL⁻¹) (2) Cort (50, 500 or 5000 ng mL⁻¹) (3) Mel+Cort (10+50, 100+500 or 1000 pg mL⁻¹)

¹⁺⁵⁰⁰⁰ ng mL⁻¹). Medium without Mel or Cort was used as a control. After 15 h of incubation, we assessed the expression of a set of immunity-related genes, including genes encoding for pro-inflammatory proteins (*il-1β*, *cxcl8* and *tnf-α*), acute-phase proteins (*fgl2*, *fth1*, *hepc*, *hp* and *saa1*) and key factors of the adaptive immune system (*fkbp4* and *tcrg*). Both Mel and Cort, when used alone or combined, at physiological concentrations, significantly influenced immune gene expressions that may lead to a global immune stimulation. The results support both an indirect action of the Mel hormone on the immune system through the regulation of intermediates as Cort, as well as a direct action on immune targets through specific receptors.

B. INTRODUCTION

A great development in aquaculture has been observed for the last few decades in response to an increasing market demand. In order to improve productivity and profitability in fish culture, stocking density is usually increased, with up to several hundred kg/m3 of fish. However, overcrowding in production units tends to affect fish health, enhancing the susceptibility of fish to infections which is a major bottleneck of aquaculture development (Conde-Sieira et al., 2014). Various efforts have been undertaken to limit disease outbreak by developing antibiotics and vaccines. However, the development of drug-resistant bacteria and the limitations of vaccination have stimulated research on alternatives based on the improvement of immunocompetence of cultured fish species through the use of immunostimulants and the enhancement of fish welfare (Abarike et al., 2018). Improving our knowledge on fish immunity is thus of great interest in order to optimize management strategies and to limit disease outbreaks in fish farms.

Immune-neuroendocrine interactions in vertebrates have been a center of interest for decades and it became evident that a bi-directional communication between the immune and neuroendocrine systems is essential for the maintenance of homeostasis (Guerrero and Reiter, 2002; Esteban et al., 2006; Mathieu et al., 2014). In fish, the effects of several hormones, including cortisol (Cort), reproductive hormones (17 β -estradiol, testosterone, 11-ketotestosterone, ...), growth hormone (GH) and prolactin (PRL), on immune functions are extensively documented (Harris and Bird, 2000; Cuesta et al., 2006; Yada, 2007; Paredes et al., 2013; Nardocci et al., 2014; Chaves-Pozo et al., 2018). However, the immune modulation by the melatonin hormone (Mel), which is a multifunctional molecule in vertebrates, is less understood and would merit more attention.

In vertebrates, the Mel hormone, a key hormone of the circadian axis, is mainly produced and secreted by the pineal gland during the dark phase of the photoperiod (Vera et al. 2007; Confente et al., 2010; Falcon et al., 2010). Through this daily rhythm, it relays information about the time of day and year to cells and organs (Kulczykowska et al., 2006; Migaud et al., 2007; López-Patiño et al., 2014). This indeolamine is also known to regulate important physiological functions in a wide range of vertebrates, including thermoregulation, reproduction and immunity in mammals (Carrillo-Vico et

Experiment V: Ex vivo actions of melatonin and cortisol

al., 2005; Dumbell et al., 2016). In teleosts, Mel also acts on important functions including reproduction, smoltification, osmoregulation and development (Downing et al., 2002; Falcon et al., 2007; 2010). However, and contrary to mammals, its potential immunomodulatory capacity has been rarely investigated in teleosts (Cuesta et al., 2008). The few available evidences suggest that Mel may act as an important fish immune regulator. This action on immune cells and tissues could involve specific Mel receptors and/or the regulation of the secretion of intermediates (glucocorticoids, GH, PRL) known to act on immune functions (Esteban et al., 2006; Cuesta et al., 2008; Falcon et al., 2010; Esteban et al., 2013).

As the main glucocorticoid in vertebrates, Cort is known in teleosts to be part of the stress response and to be a crucial immunomodulator with complex actions (Esteban et al., 2004; Cuesta et al, 2006; Oliveira et al., 2013). Depending on the type and intensity of stress, Cort may act as an immune activator or suppressor, with acute stress generally resulting in immuneenhancing processes and chronic stress generally leading to an immunosuppression (Tort, 2011; Nardocci et al., 2014). Since a mutual inhibition has been characterized between stress and circadian axes (López-Patiño et al., 2013; 2014; Conde-Sieira et al., 2014), Cort is a potential intermediate of the indirect immunomodulation by Mel.

Over the last few years, pike-perch (*Sander lucioperca*) has become the most promising teleost species of European inland aquaculture thanks to its fast growth and high quality flesh (Dalsgaard et al., 2013; Overton et al., 2015). However, it has been shown that percid fish are more sensitive to husbandry stressors than other species with a longer history of domestication (Jentoft et al., 2005), which consequently may alter its immune functions (Mathieu et al., 2014). Efforts have thus been deployed to improve pike-perch welfare whose aquaculture management has not been optimized yet.

The light environment was shown in previous studies to affect pike-perch stress status and melatonin release by the pineal gland and to modulate its innate immune functions (Baekelandt et al., 2019a,b; 2020). However, no investigations have been performed so far about the mode of action of the melatonin hormone on immune tissues of teleost. We thus aimed to investigate by an *ex vivo* approach the direct action of Mel, combined or not with Cort, on the expression of immune-relevant genes in head kidney and spleen of pike-perch. The set of selected genes encodes for pro-inflammatory

proteins (*il*-1 β , *cxcl8* and *tnf*- α), acute-phase proteins (*fgl2*, *fth1*, *hepc*, *hp* and *saa1*) and key factors of the adaptive immune system (*fkbp4* and *tcrg*).

C. MATERIAL AND METHODS

1. Animals and rearing conditions

The present protocol (19 002 KE) has been carried out in agreement with the local Ethics Committee for Animal Experiments. A stock of 200 pike-perch juveniles (120 ± 10 g) from the Aquaculture Experimental Platform of the University of Lorraine, France, was transferred to URBE facilities at the University of Namur, Belgium. They were maintained during 4 weeks in 4 indoor 400-L tanks of a recirculating aquaculture system. Environmental conditions were kept constant during that period. It included light intensity at water surface (10 lux), photoperiod ($12L_{(8:00 - 20:00)}/12D$), water temperature (16° C), oxygen saturation (90%) and feeding (twice a day with commercial pellets at 2% biomass).

2. Sampling procedures and incubation

The experiment was performed twice on March 4th and 7th, 2019. For one day of sampling, ten fish from each tank were randomly removed and euthanized (overdose of anesthetic MS-222, 250 mg L⁻¹) before collecting the spleen and the head kidney. Thus, the total number of collected fish, considering the two sampling days, was 80. Organs were washed thrice with Hanks' balanced salt solution (HBSS, Fisher Scientific, USA). They were then transferred, in 12well culture plates, in HBSS supplemented with bovine serum albumin (BSA, 0.1%, Fisher Scientific, USA) and ascorbic acid (50 µM, Sigma-Aldrich, USA) and submitted to one of the following treatments: (1) Mel (10, 100 or 1000 pg mL⁻¹) (2) Cort (50, 500 or 5000 ng mL⁻¹) (3) Mel+Cort (10+50, 100+500 or $1000 \text{ pg mL}^{-1}+5000 \text{ ng mL}^{-1}$). Medium without Mel or Cort was used as a control. Thus, for 1 day of sampling, each treatment was applied to 4 spleen and 4 head kidney tissues. The Mel and Cort doses were selected to be consistent with the literature, considering 2 physiological and 1 pharmacological doses and a 10-fold factor between them. The lowest concentrations of Mel (10 and 100 pg mL⁻¹) corresponds to diurnal and nocturnal levels of plasma melatonin for pike-perch maintained in steady conditions (Baekelandt et al., 2019b). The lowest concentrations of Cort (50 and 500 ng mL⁻¹) consider plasma cortisol levels in normal conditions and in response to an acute stress (Baekelandt et al., 2019b). After 5 and 10 h of incubation, culture media were collected for storage at -80°C and replaced with fresh media. After 15h, the culture media and the organs were frozen in liquid nitrogen and then transferred at -80°C until further analysis.

3. Gene expression analysis

Total RNA isolation was performed using Extract-all® reagent (Eurobio, Paris, France) following manufacturer's instructions. Tissues were homogenized using a Bullet Blender Storm 24 (NextAdvance, New York, USA) in tubes containing 0.5 mm zirconium oxide beads (Dutscher, Brumath, France). Total RNA was resuspended in 100 μ l of RNase-free water. Each RNA sample was subjected to DNase treatment (DNase Ambion, Life Technologies) and reverse-transcription (RevertAidTM H Minus First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit, Thermo Scientific) following the manufacturer's instructions. cDNA was then diluted 25 times for RT-qPCR analysis and kept at -80°C.

The relative expression of targeted genes was investigated by RT-qPCR using specific primers (Table 1, sequences published in Swirplies et al., 2019 and Baekelandt et al., 2019b). Primer efficiencies were validated when ranged between 95 and 106 %. qPCR was performed using SYBR® Green Supermix (Biorad, California, USA). A four steps experimental run protocol was followed: denaturation (10 min at 95 °C), amplification (40 cycles, 10 s at 95 °C, 30 s at 60 °C), melting curve (60 to 95 °C, heating rate 0.075°C s⁻¹) and a final cooling step (4°C) using a QuandStudioTM 5 real-time PCR machine (Applied Biosystems).

Relative fold gene expression was calculated following the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001). Ct values were normalized with the geometric mean of *rna-18s*, β -actin and *ef1-a* whose expressions were stable in tested conditions. Values are expressed as fold change considering the control condition set at the value 1. Among the 10 immune genes targeted, 5 were detected in both organs while 5 others were detected only in the head kidney (Table 1).

4. Lactate dehydrogenase activity

In order to evaluate the presence of damage and toxicity of tissues, lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) activity was quantified using LDH Assay Kit (ab102526, Abcam, UK). Activity was assayed according to manufacturer's instructions. The analysis was performed in duplicate in media collected after 15 h of incubation.

5. Levels of hormones in culture medium

After 0, 5, 10 and 15 h of incubation, Mel and Cort concentrations were measured in culture medium using a Melatonin ELISA Kit (E-EL-M0788; Elabscience Biotechnology CO.) and a Cortisol ELISA kit (DRG, EIA-1887, DRG International, USA).

6. Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as the mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Kolmogorov and Smirnov's test was used to assess the normality of data sets (p < .05) and Bartlett's test was conducted to evaluate variance homogeneity (p < .05). Logarithmic transformations were made to achieve normality and homoscedasticity when necessary. No significant differences were detected between tanks (the fish were captured in 4 different tanks of a same RAS) or between sampling days (the experiment was conducted in two sets). Results were then analyzed with a one-way ANOVA considering the treatment as a fixed factor. When significant (p < .05), a Tukey's HSD post-hoc test was applied (p < .05). When data, even transformed, did not meet the assumptions for the parametric tests, a Kruskall-Wallis test for nonparametric analysis was applied, followed by a pairwise comparison using Dunn test. The statistical tests and graphs were performed using JMP 12.1 Software (SAS Institute Inc., North Carolina, USA) and GraphPad Prism V5.04 (California, USA), respectively.

In addition, a redundancy analysis (RDA) and a hierarchical ascending classification (HAC), considering the Ward's distance, were performed on R software (package ade4) in order to characterize the samples distribution considering the gene expression data and the treatments for both kidney and spleen tissues. RDA and clustering analysis such as HAC have proven their value in omics research (D'Haeseleer, 2005; Csala et al, 2017; Gold-Bouchot et al, 2017). The Ward's distance criteria through the clustering enable to

Experiment V: Ex vivo actions of melatonin and cortisol

minimize the variance within each group formed by the clustering analysis (Shimodaira, 2002).

Gene	Sense primer (5' to 3')	Antisense primer (5' to 3')	Eff. (%)
Reference genes			
β -actin	CGACATCCGTAAGGACCTGT	GCTGGAAGGTGGACAGAGAG	100
ef1-a	TGATGACACCAACAGCCACT	AAGATTGACCGTCGTTCTGG	101
rna-18s	GCGGTAATTCCAGCTCCAATAG	GCGGGACACTCAGTTAAGAGC	98
Target genes			
- in spleen & HK			
cxcl8	AACAGGGATGAGTCTGAGAAGC	GCTTGGAAATGAAGTCTTACATGA	100
fgl2	ACTTTGAGGGTGTTCGGGAGTA	ACATATCGTTGTCGCGGTCGG	105
fth1	ATTGAGACACACTACCTGGATGA	ACGGATTTAGCTGCTTTCTTTGC	106
fкbp4	ACTTGTAGGTGGAACTGTTTGAAT	AAAAAGCTGTGTCTGGATGTGTTA	105
il-1β	TTTCCCATCATCCACTGACA	ATTCACACACGCACACCATT	102
- in HK			
hepc	CCGTCGTGCTCACCTTTATT	GCCACGTTTGTGTCTGTTGT	97
hp	GCTGAAACTGGGGACATTTACG	GAGCGCAGAGCAGACGATTTC	104
saal	CTGAAGGAGCTGGTGATATGTG	CTACTCTTTGCTTTTCACCTGATA	105
tcrg	GTAATGTCTCTGTTGTGCCATATT	TCTCAGAGCAAATGCCATGGTC	99
tnf-α	CTGATTCGCCTCAACGTGTA	GGAGATGGGTCATGAGGAGA	99

Table 1: Sequences of primers used for gene expression quantification in spleen and head kidney (HK), published in Swirplies et al. (2019) and Baekelandt et al. (2019b).

D. RESULTS

1. Levels of hormones in culture medium

Mel and Cort concentrations were assessed in culture media, every 5 h of incubation (before being collected and renewed with fresh media) as well as in stock solutions. No significant differences were detected between organs of a same treatment or between post-exposition time points.

2. Lactate dehydrogenase activity

After 15 h of incubation, no differences in lactate dehydrogenase activity were detected between treatments and control condition, for both head kidney and spleen culture media.

3. Gene expression

The RDA and clustering analysis on kidney tissues revealed four distinct groups (Fig. 1) constituted with the following treatments: (A) Mel100; (B) Mel10 and Mel+Cort (10+50); (C) Cort500; (D) Control, Mel1000, Cort50, Cort5000, Mel+Cort (100+500) and Mel+Cort (1000+5000). The group "A" is mainly characterized by differentially expressed genes, including *tnf-a*, *saa1* and *fkbp4*. The "B" group is defined by *fth1*, *hepc* and *fkbp4* and, "C" group, by *hp* and *tnf-a*. Concerning spleen tissue (Fig. 2), 3 groups were revealed: (A) Mel10 and Cort50; (B) Mel+Cort (10+50; 100+500; 1000+5000); (C) Control, Cort5000, Cort5000, Mel100 and Mel1000. The dispersion, mainly defined on axis 1, is explained by *fgl2*, and to a lesser extent *il-1β*, *fth1* and *fkbp4* genes.

In the head kidney tissue, an increase in *il-1* β and *fgl2* was detected with the lowest Cort concentration and similar observation was made for *tnf-a*, *il-1* β and *hp* with Cort at 500 ng mL⁻¹ (Fig. 3). Mel treatments also significantly increased some gene expressions in comparison to control condition, including *fgl2*, *il-1* β and *fth1* at 10 pg mL⁻¹, *tnf-a*, *saa1* and *il-1* β at 100 pg mL⁻¹ and *il-1* β at 1000 pg mL⁻¹. Finally, the mix Cort+Mel significantly increased *fth1* and *il-1* β at the lowest concentration as well as *fgl2* at pharmacological doses. However, this latter concentration was shown to reduce *fth1* expression.

Concerning the spleen tissue (Fig. 4), the analysis revealed significant increases of several gene expressions, including *fth1*, *il-1* β , *fgl2* and *fkbp4*
when exposed to Mel or Cort at the lowest concentration (10 pg mL⁻¹ and 50 ng mL⁻¹, respectively). To the exception of il- $l\beta$ whose expression decreased with Cort (5000 ng mL⁻¹), higher concentrations of Mel or Cort has no significant effects in comparison to control condition. Similarly, the mix Mel+Cort, whatever the concentration, did not influence immune gene expressions in spleen. However, a significant difference was detected for il- $l\beta$ between the lowest and the highest concentrations.



Fig. 1: Projection and clustering, on axes (a) 1 and 2 or (b) 2 and 3 of the redundancy analysis, of 80 head kidney tissues according to their gene expression profiles after *ex vivo* hormonal treatments. Projection of gene expression outputs on axes (c) 1 and 2 or (d) 2 and 3 of the redundancy analysis. The cumulative projected inertia of axes 1, 2 and 3 reaches 76%. Clustering revealed four groups: [A] Mel100; [B] Mel10 and Mel+Cort (10+50); [C] Cort500; [D] Control, Mel1000, Cort50, Cort5000, Mel+Cort (100+500) and Mel+Cort (1000+5000). For each experimental condition, n=8.



Fig. 2: Projection and clustering (a), on axes 1 and 2 of the redundancy analysis, of 80 spleen tissues according to their gene expression profiles after *ex vivo* hormonal treatments. Projection (b) of gene expression outputs on axes 1 and 2 of the redundancy analysis. The cumulative projected inertia of axes 1 and 2 is 89%. Clustering revealed three groups: [A] Mel10 and Cort50; [B] Mel+Cort (10+50; 100+500; 100+5000); [C] Control, Cort500, Cort5000, Mel100 and Mel1000. For each experimental condition, n=8.



Fig. 3: Relative expression of immune-relevant genes in head kidney tissue of pikeperch exposed *ex vivo* to melatonin and cortisol. Treatments, tested in 3 concentrations (Low, Medium and High), included (1) Mel (10, 100 or 1000 pg mL⁻¹), (2) Cort (50, 500 or 5000 ng mL⁻¹) and (3) Mel+Cort (10+50, 100+500 or 1000 pg mL⁻¹+5000 ng mL⁻¹). Medium without Mel or Cort was used as a control. Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 8). Capital letters indicate significant differences at p < .05.



Fig. 4: Relative expression of immune-relevant genes in spleen tissue of pike-perch exposed *ex vivo* to melatonin and cortisol. Treatments, tested in 3 concentrations (Low, Medium and High), included (1) Mel (10, 100 or 1000 pg mL⁻¹) (2) Cort (50, 500 or 5000 ng mL⁻¹) (3) Mel+Cort (10+50, 100+500 or 1000 pg mL⁻¹+5000 ng mL⁻¹). Medium without Mel or Cort was used as a control. Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 8). Capital letters indicate significant differences at p < .05.

E. DISCUSSION

The actions of melatonin, combined or not with cortisol, on immunity were investigated through the analysis of immune-related gene expressions in the main fish lymphoid organs, namely the head kidney and the spleen. Both organs were thus exposed *ex vivo* to several concentrations of Mel and/or Cort. The present protocol ensured constant concentrations of both hormones in culture media throughout the experiment. Furthermore, the LDH activity

revealed no damage or toxicity of tissues following 15 h of hormonal treatments.

Globally, the most positively influenced gene expressions following Mel treatments included two pro-inflammatory genes, namely $tnf-\alpha$ and $il-1\beta$, three acute-phase protein (APP) genes, saa1, fgl2 and fth1, and fkbp4, a gene involved in the regulation of immune gene expression in B and T lymphocytes. Mel has been characterized as an immunostimulant molecule under basal or immunosuppressive conditions, as demonstrated by the enhancement of immune functions following its injection or ingestion in various vertebrates, including fish (Cuesta et al., 2008; Ren et al., 2015), birds (Brennan et al., 2002; Singh et al., 2010) and mammals (Liu et al., 2001; Peña et al., 2007; Ahmad and Haldar, 2010). However, in the case of inflammatory responses, Mel exerts anti-inflammatory properties to protect the organism from host tissue damage (Carrillo-Vico et al., 2013; Tarocco et al., 2019). This anti-inflammatory function has been largely described in mammals (Lin et al., 2011; Xia et al., 2012) but was explored only once in teleost. In common carp (Cyprinus carpio), its administration during zymosan-induced peritonitis reduced leukocyte migration to the peritoneum and induced a decrease of the respiratory burst activity in peritoneal leukocytes (Kepka et al., 2015).

The present results, considering pro-inflammatory and APP genes, thus support the immunoenhancing properties of the molecule under basal condition (unstimulated immunity). In pike-perch, an action of Mel on inflammatory cytokines was hypothesized since a correlation was established *in vivo* between the daily cyclic release of Mel by the pineal gland and the day-night variations of *tnf-a* and *il-1* β gene expressions in the head kidney (Baekelandt et al., 2019). Moreover, exogenous Mel was also described to increase *il-1* β expression in the head kidney of gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*) (Cuesta et al., 2008).

The acute-phase response is a series of non-specific and complex reactions occurring soon after the onset of stress, injury, trauma, infection and inflammation, which aim to eliminate the infectious agents and to restore homeostasis (Tothova et al., 2014; Yu et al., 2017). The only data showing an action of Mel on APPs concern mammals. In castrated dogs, exogenous Mel significantly reduced APPs and inflammatory cytokines, including SAA, CRP, IL-1 β and TNF- α (Nazifi et al., 2020). In bovine mammary epithelial

cells, Mel decreased LPS-induced expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6), chemokines (chemokine CC motif ligand (CCL)2, CCL5) and positive APPs (SAA, haptoglobin, C-reactive protein, ceruloplasmin, α -1 antitrypsin) (Yu et al., 2017). While these studies defined negative regulation of acute-phase response during inflammatory process, our results are consistent with immunoenhancing properties of Mel in basal conditions.

In mammals, Mel influences the acquired immune response. T lymphocytes were shown to be modulated by melatonin, from its development in thymus to its differentiation and even memory (Garcia-Mauriño et al. 1999; Guerrero and Reiter, 2002; Glebezdina et al., 2019; Luo et al., 2020). Several studies concluded that melatonin also plays a critical role in regulating the activation of B cells (Yu et al., 2000; Cernysiov et al., 2009; Luo et al., 2020). The only study considering potential Mel actions on T and B cells in teleosts revealed no effect on specific markers at the transcript level (TCR α - T cell receptor alpha chain - and IgM, respectively), suggesting a lack of effects on lymphocyte activation or proliferation (Cuesta et al., 2008). However, the modulation of *fkbp4* following Mel treatment may suggest an action on fish specific immunity, as observed in other vertebrates, including birds and mammals (Kharwar et al., 2015; Li et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2016). However, further investigations considering the acquired immunity are needed.

No information was available about the potential direct and/or indirect actions of Mel on these immune markers. In both organs, Mel activated a set of immune-related genes supporting the hypothesis that Mel may act through specific receptors that are located on fish immune cells. In vertebrates, several G protein-coupled membrane receptors with high affinity for Mel were identified, including MT1 and MT2 (Dubocovich and Markowska., 2005). In addition, a third melatonin receptor, Mel1c, is found exclusively in fish, amphibians (Xenopus species) and birds (Dufourny et al., 2008). The Mel receptors in mammals are expressed by numerous tissues including immune cells and tissues. Their distribution in human's immune system includes B and T lymphocytes, monocytes, NK cells and mast cells (Carrillo-Vico et al., 2003; Pozo et al., 2004; Lardone et al., 2009; Maldonado et al., 2010). Moreover, they were detected in spleen, thymus and lymphocytes of various vertebrates including rats, mice and birds (Pozo et al., 1997; Carrillo-Vico et al., 2003; Sanchez-Hidalgo et al., 2008; Wronka et al., 2008; Singh et al., 2016). Concerning fish, Park et al. (2006) and Confente et al. (2010)

described MT2 and MT1 in spleen of rabbitfish and Senegalese sole respectively. However, no information about their function in spleen is available and further characterization of Mel receptors in fish immune tissues are needed.

While the pineal gland is the main source of Mel, several extrapineal sources of this indoleamine were identified in several vertebrates. Extra sources include retina, skin and gastrointestinal tract (Wiechmann et al., 2013; Acuña-Castroviejo et al., 2014). Mel production was also detected in immune cells and tissues, including human lymphocytes, macrophages and Jurkat cells (Carrillo-Vico et al., 2004; Lardone et al., 2006; Markus et al., 2017), murine thymus, spleen, bone marrow cells and RAW264.7 macrophages (Gómez-Corvera et al., 2009; Muxel et al., 2012) and rat mast cells and macrophages (Martins et al., 2004; Maldonado et al., 2010). Considering that Mel receptors are found in immune cells and tissues, this immune-synthetized Mel seems to play paracrine, autocrine and intracrine functions. In teleosts, such Mel production by immune cells and tissues has not been investigated yet, but potential production and subsequent effects on gene expression results of our experiment cannot be excluded.

Seen as the main hormone of the stress response, cortisol is produced by interrenal cells located in the head kidney of teleosts (Tort et al., 2011). The functions of cortisol in the stress response are numerous and include physiological, endocrine and immunological responses (Tort et al., 2011; Cortés et al., 2013; Mathieu et al., 2014). Many studies have focused on the regulation of immune defenses by corticosteroids and both activation or inhibition of immune mediators were described depending on the stress event. While an acute stress is usually associated to an immune activation, a chronic stress is characterized by long-term exposure to cortisol leading to an immune depression or suppression (for further information, reader is invited to consult Tort et al., 2011; Nardocci et al., 2014). In the present experiment, Cort, depending on the concentration, influenced several immune gene expressions in both spleen and head kidney. On the one hand, in spleen, the lowest physiological Cort concentration led to an increase of pro-inflammatory gene *il-1* β , acute-phase genes fgl2 and fth1 as well as fkbp4. In opposition, il-1 β expression decreased with the pharmacological dose of Cort. Such action on pro-inflammatory cytokine il-1 β was already described in vivo in rainbow trout (Oncorhyncus mykiss) following Cort implantation (Cortés et al., 2013). This effect may be explained by an inhibition of NF-kB signaling, leading to

a decrease in the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 (Sternberg, 2006). On the other hand, in the head kidney tissue, only the high physiological dose of Cort (500 ng mL⁻¹) led to a different expression profile, with increases in acute-phase and pro-inflammatory genes, including *fth1*, *il-1* β , *tnf-a* and *hp*. While stimulatory effect in spleen was mainly observed at 50 ng mL⁻¹ and was lost at higher concentration, it was mainly observed around 500 ng mL⁻¹ in the head kidney tissue. These different sensitivities may be explained by different expressions or activities of glucocorticoids receptors (GR). Both GR and mineralocorticoids receptors (MR) are capable of binding cortisol and, in fish, four cortisol receptors have been described, including GR1a, GR1b, GR2 and MR, whose activations are concentration-dependent (Stolte et al., 2008; Nardocci et al., 2013). In addition, the dual endocrine and hematopoietic functions of the head kidney tissue must be considered and potential production and release of cortisol by the organ may have influenced the results.

Considering both Cort and Mel actions on immune tissues was relevant since a mutual inhibiton was characterized in teleosts. Thus, increase in plasma Mel through injection or oral administration was shown to reduce the activation of the HPI axis under prolonged stress conditions in various fish species, including in European sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax) and rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) (Herrero et al., 2007; Conde-Sieira et al., 2014). In parallel, Cort was shown to lower melatonin synthesis in the pineal organ (Nikaido et al., 2010; López-Patiño et al., 2014). Moreover, a combined action of Mel and Cort may be hypothesized. In the present results, an increase in *il-1* β and *tnf-* α expressions in the head kidney is observed with Mel or Cort (high physiological dose). However, such increase is lost when exposing the organ to both hormones. An interaction between those systems (receptor level) can be hypothesized. In mammals, exogenous Mel was shown to upregulate the expression of MT1 and MT2, while the same expression is decrease following dexamethasone (synthetic glucocorticoid) treatment (Gupta et al., 2013). In parallel, GR expression is reduced following Mel treatment, suggesting that the modulation occurring between those systems is also mediated through the expression of their receptors (Gupta et al., 2013).

Nuclear factor-kappa B (NF- κ B) is involved in cellular responses to stimuli such as stress and in regulation of the immune response to infection. The antiinflammatory property of Mel was shown to be mediated by the inhibitions of both inflammasome and NF- κ B activations (Markus et al., 2013; Favero et al., 2017; Tarocco et al., 2019). In rat, Mel treatment alters NF- κ B expression, thus taking part in the protection against cyclophosphamide-induced urotoxicity (Tripathi and Jena, 2010). Concerning fish, in *Labeo rohita* hepatocytes, Mel improved H2O2-induced oxidative stress through modulation of Erk/Akt/NF- κ B (Moniruzzaman et al., 2018). Since NF- κ B activation is also modulated by Cort (Dong et al., 2018), it would be of a great interest to better consider this nuclear factor in the modulation of the immune system by Mel and Cort.

In conclusion, both hormones at physiological concentrations influenced significantly the immune-related genes of the present *ex vivo* experiment. In both organs, Mel treatment led to an increase in immune-related genes, including genes involved in inflammatory process, acute-phase response and acquired immune response. These results confirm, in teleost, the immunoenhancing properties of Mel in basal immune conditions. Furthermore, we showed a direct action of Mel on immune organs but the indirect action, that could even be of a greater importance, must be considered in melatonin-immunity interactions studies. In addition, future investigations may consider the actions of the potential immune-derived melatonin on immunity of teleosts.

F. ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This work was supported by the FRIA (Fonds de la Recherche dans l'Industrie et l'Agriculture, Wallonia-Brussels Federation), providing a grant to S.B.

G. **REFERENCES**

- Abarike ED, Cai J, Lu Y, Yu H, Chen L, Jian J, Tang J, Jun L, Kuebutornye FKA (2018). Effects of a commercial probiotic BS containing *Bacillus* subtilis and *Bacillus licheniformis* on growth, immune response and disease resistance in Nile tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus*. Fish Shellfish Immunol., 82, 229–238.
- Acuna-Castroviejo D, Escames G, Venegas C, Diaz-Casado M, Lima-Cabello E, Lopez LC, Rosales-Corral S, Tan DX, Reiter RJ (2014). Extrapineal melatonin: sources, regulation, and potential functions. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.*, 71, 2997–3025.
- Ahmad Z, Haldar C (2010). Melatonin and androgen receptor expression interplay modulates cell-mediated immunity in tropical rodent *Funambulus pennanti*: an in-vivo and in-vitro study. *Scand. J. Immunol.*, 71(6), 420–430.

- Baekelandt S, Mandiki SNM, Schmitz M, Kestemont P (2019). Influence of the light spectrum on the daily rhythms of stress and humoral innate immune markers in pikeperch *Sander lucioperca*. *Aquaculture*, 499, 358–363.
- Baekelandt S, Mandiki SNM, Kestemont P (2019b). Are cortisol and melatonin involved in the immune modulation by the light environment in pike-perch *Sander lucioperca? J. Pineal Res.*, 67(e12573).
- Baekelandt S, Milla S, Cornet V, Flamion E, Ledoré Y, Redivo B, Antipine S, Mandiki SNM, Houndji A, El Kertaoui N, Kestemont P (2020). Seasonal simulated photoperiods influence melatonin release and immune markers of pike-perch *Sander lucioperca*. *Scientific Reports*, 10(2650).
- Brennan CP, Hendricks GL, El-Sheikh TM, Mashaly MM (2002). Melatonin and the enhancement of immune responses in immature male chickens. *Poult. Sci.*, *81*(3), 371–375.
- Carrillo-Vico A, García-Pergañeda A, Naji L, Calvo JR, Romero MP, Guerrero JM (2003). Expression of membrane and nuclear melatonin receptor mRNA and protein in the mouse immune system. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.*, 60, 2272–2278.
- Carrillo-Vico A, Calvo JR, Abreu P, Lardone PJ, Garcia-Maurino S, Reiter RJ, Guerrero JM (2004). Evidence of melatonin synthesis by human lymphocytes and its physiological significance: possible role as intracrine, autocrine, and/or paracrine substance. *FASEB J.*, *1*, 537–539.
- Carrillo-Vico A, Guerrero JM, Lardone PJ, Reiter RJ (2005). A Review of the Multiple Actions of Melatonin on the Immune System. *Endocrine*, 27(2), 189–200.
- Carrillo-Vico A, Lardone PJ, Álvarez-Sánchez N, Rodrĩguez-Rodrĩguez A, Guerrero JM (2013). Melatonin: Buffering the immune system. *Int. J.Mol. Sci.*, *14*(4), 8638–8683.
- Cernysiov V, Gerasimcik N, Mauricas M, Girkontaite I (2009). Regulation of T-cell-independent and T-cell-dependent antibody production by circadian rhythm and melatonin. *Int. Immunol.*, 22(1), 25–34.
- Chaves-Pozo E, Garcia-Ayala A, Cabas I (2018). Effects of sex steroids on fish leukocytes. *Biology (Basel)*, 7(1): 9.
- Chen F, Reheman A, Cao J, Wang Z, Dong Y, Zhang Y, Chen Y (2016). Effect of melatonin on monochromatic light-induced T-lymphocyte proliferation in the thymus of chickens. *J. Photochem. Photobiol. B*, *161*, 9–16.
- Conde-Sieira M, Muñoz JL, López-Patiño MA, Gesto M, Soengas JL, Míguez JM (2014). Oral administration of melatonin counteracts several of the effects of chronic stress in rainbow trout. *Domest. Anim. Endocrinol.*, 46:26-36.

- Confente F, Carmen M, Besseau L, Falcón J, Muñoz-Cueto JA (2010). Melatonin receptors in a pleuronectiform species, *Solea senegalensis*: cloning, tissue expression, day-night and seasonal variations. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.*, 167(2):202-214.
- Cortés R, Teles M, Trídico R, Acerete L, Tort L (2013). Effects of cortisol administered through slow-release implants on innate immune responses in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Int. J. Genomics.*, ID 619714.
- Csala A, Voorbraak FPJM, Zwinderman AH, Hof MH (2017). Gene expression Sparse redundancy analysis of high-dimensional genetic and genomic data. *Bioinformatics*, *33*(20):3228–3234.
- Cuesta A, Laiz-Carrión R, Arjona F, Del Rio MP, Meseguer J, Mancera JM, Esteban MA (2006). Effect of PRL, GH and cortisol on the serum complement and IgM levels in gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata* L.). *Fish Shelfish Immunol.*, 20(3):427-432.
- Cuesta A, Cerezuela R, Esteban MA, Meseguer J (2008). In vivo actions of melatonin on the innate immune parameters in the teleost fish gilthead seabream. J. Pineal Res., 45(1):70-78.
- Dalsgaard J, Lund I, Thorarinsdottir R, Drengstig A, Arvonen K, Pedersen PB (2013). Farming different species in RAS in Nordic countries: current status and future perspectives. *Aquac. Eng.* 53:2-13.
- D'haeseleer P (2005). How does gene expression clustering work? *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 23(12):1499–1501.
- Dong J, Qu Y, Li J, Cui L, Wang Y, Lin J, Wang H (2018). Cortisol inhibits NF-κB and MAPK pathways in LPS activated bovine endometrial epithelial cells. *Int. Immunopharmacol.*, *56*:71-77.
- Downing G (2002). Impact of spectral composition on larval haddock, *Melanogrammus aeglefinus* L., growth and survival. *Aquac. Res.*, 33(4):251-259.
- Dubocovich ML, Markowska M (2005). Functional MT1 and MT2 melatonin receptors in mammals. *Endocrine*, 27(2), 101–110.
- Dumbell R, Matveeva O, Oster H (2016). Circadian clocks, stress, and immunity. *Front. Endocrinol.*, 7, 37.
- Esteban MA, Rodriguez A, Ayala AG, Meseguer J (2004). Effects of high doses of cortisol on innate cellular immune response of seabream (*Sparus aurata* L.). *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.*, *137*(1):89-98.
- Esteban MA, Cuesta A, Rodríguez A, Meseguer J (2006). Effect of photoperiod on the fish innate immune system: a link between fish pineal gland and the immune system. J. Pineal Res., 41(3):261-266.
- Esteban MÁ, Cuesta A, Chaves-pozo E, Meseguer J (2013). Influence of melatonin on the immune system of fish: a review. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, 14(4):7979-7999.

- Falcón J, Besseau L, Sauzet S, Boeuf G (2007). Melatonin effects on the hypothalamo-pituitary axis in fish. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.*, 18(2):81–88.
- Falcón J, Migaud H, Munoz-Cueto JA, Carrillo M (2010). Current knowledge on the melatonin system in teleost fish. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.*, *165*(3):469-482.
- Favero G, Franceschetti L, Bonomini F, Rodella LF, Rezzani R (2017). Melatonin as an Anti-Inflammatory Agent Modulating Inflammasome Activation. *Int. J. Endocrinol.*, 1835195.
- Garcia-Mauriño S, Pozo D, Carrillo-Vito A, Calvo JR, Guerrero JM (1999). Melatonin activates Th1 lymphocytes by increasing IL-12 production. *Life Sci.*, 65(20), 2143–2150.
- Glebezdina NS, Olina AA, Nekrasova IV, Kuklina EM (2019). Molecular mechanisms of control of differentiation of regulatory T-lymphocytes by exogenous melatonin. *Dokl. Biochem. Biophys.*, 484(2), 13–16.
- Gold-bouchot G, Rubio-Piña J, Montero-Muñoz J, Ramirez-Miss N, Echeverría-García A, Patiño-Suarez V, Puch-Hau CA, Zapata-Pérez O (2017). Pollutants and biomarker responses in two reef fish species (*Haemulon aurolineatum* and *Ocyurus chrysurus*) in the Southern Gulf of Mexico. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.*, 116(1-2):249-257.
- Gomez-Corvera A, Cerrillo I, Molinero P, Naranjo MC, Lardone PJ, Sanchez-Hidalgo M, Carrascosa-Salmoral MP, Medrano-Campillo P, Guerrero JM, Rubio A (2009). Evidence of immune system melatonin production by two pineal melatonin deficient mice, C57BL/6 and Swiss strains. J. Pineal Res., 47(1):15–22.
- Guerrero JM, Reiter RJ (2002). Melatonin-immune system relationships. *Curr. Top. Med. Chem.*, 2(2):167–179.
- Gupta S, Haldar C (2013). Physiological crosstalk between melatonin and glucocorticoid receptor modulates T-cell mediated immune responses in a wild tropical rodent, *Funambulus pennanti*. J. Steroid Biochem. 134:23-36.
- Harris J, Bird DJ (2000). Modulation of the fish immune system by hormones. *Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol.*, 77(3-4):163-176.
- Herrero MJ, Martínez FJ, Míguez JM, Madrid JA (2007). Response of plasma and gastrointestinal melatonin, plasma cortisol and activity rhythms of European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) to dietary supplementation with tryptophan and melatonin. J. Comp. Physiol. B, 177(3):319-26.
- Jentoft S, Aastveit AH, Torjesen PA, Andersen Ø (2005). Effects of stress on growth, cortisol and glucose levels in non-domesticated Eurasian perch (*Perca fluviatilis*) and domesticated rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A Mol Integr. Physiol., 141(3):353–358.

- Kepka M, Szwejser E, Pijanowski L, Kemenade VBM, Chadzinska M (2015). A role for melatonin in maintaining the pro- and antiinflammatory balance by influencing leukocyte migration and apoptosis in carp. *Develop. Comp. Immunol.*, *53*(1):179–190.
- Kharwar RK, Haldar C, Singh S (2015). Mel1b receptor mediated action of melatonin in regulation of lung associated immune system (LAIS) of *Perdicula asiatica*: An *in vitro* study. *Biologia*, 70(11), 1537–1544.
- Kulczykowska E, Kalamarz H, Warne JM, Balment RJ (2006). Day-night specific binding of 2-[125I]iodomelatonin and melatonin content in gill, small intestine and kidney of three fish species. *J Comp Physiol B.*, 176(4):277-285.
- Lardone PJ, Carrillo-Vico A, Naranjo MC, de Felipe B, Vallejo A, Karasek M, Guerrero JM (2006). Melatonin synthesized by Jurkat human leukemic T cell line is implicated in IL-2 production. J. Cell Phyisol., 206(1):273–279.
- Lardone PJ, Carrillo-Vico A, Molinero P, Rubio A, Guerrero JM (2009). A novel interplay between membrane and nuclear melatonin receptors in human lymphocytes: significance in IL-2 production. *Cell Mol. Life Sci.*, *66*(3):516–525.
- Li J, Cao J, Wang Z, Dong Y, Chen Y (2015). Melatonin plays a critical role in inducing B lymphocyte proliferation of the bursa of Fabricius in broilers via monochromatic lights. *J. Photochem. Photobiol. B*, *142*, 29– 34.
- Lin XJ, Mei GP, Liu J, Li YL, Zuo D, Liu SJ, Zhao TB, Lin MT (2011). Therapeutic effects of melatonin on heatstroke-induced multiple organ dysfunction syndrome in rats. *J. Pineal Res.*, *50*, 436–444.
- Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD (2001). Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. *Methods*, 25(4):402-408.
- Liu F, Ng TB, Fung MC (2001). Pineal indoles stimulate the gene expression of immunomodulating cytokines. *J. Neural Transm.*, *108*, 397–405.
- López-patiño MA, Conde-Sieira M, Gesto M, Librán-Pérez M, Soengas JL, Míguez JM (2013). Melatonin partially minimizes the adverse stress effects in Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*). Aquaculture, 388– 391:165–172.
- López-Patiño MA, Gesto M, Conde-Sieira M, Soengas JL, Miguez JM (2014). Stress inhibition of melatonin synthesis in the pineal organ of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) is mediated by cortisol. *J. Exp. Biol.*, 217(8):1407-1416.
- Luo J, Zhang Z, Sun H, Song J, Chen X, Huang J, Lin X, Zhou R (2020). Effect of melatonin on T/B cell activation and immune regulation in pinealectomy mice. *Life Sci.*, 242(117191).

- Maldonado MD, Mora-Santos M, Naji L, Carrascosa-Salmoral MP, Naranjo MC, Calvo JR (2010). Evidence of melatonin synthesis and release by mast cells. Possible modulatory role on inflammation. *Pharmacol. Res.*, 62(3):282–287.
- Markus RP, Cecon E, Pires-lapa MA (2013). Immune-Pineal Axis: Nuclear Factor κB (NF-κB) Mediates the Shift in the Melatonin Source from Pinealocytes to Immune Competent Cells. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, *14*, 10979–10997.
- Markus RP, Fernandes PA, Kinker GS, Cruz-Machado SS, Marçola M (2018). Immune-pineal axis acute inflammatory responses coordinate melatonin synthesis by pinealocytes and phagocytes. *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, *175*(16):3239-3250.
- Martins E Jr., Ferreira AC, Skorupa AL, Afeche SC, Cipolla-Neto J, Costa Rosa LF (2004). Tryptophan consumption and indoleamines production by peritoneal cavity macrophages. J. Leukoc. Biol., 75(6):1116-1121.
- Mathieu C, Milla S, Mandiki SNM, Douxfils J, Kestemont P (2014). In vivo response of some immune and endocrine variables to LPS in Eurasian perch (*Perca fluviatilis*, L.) and modulation of this response by two corticosteroids, cortisol and 11-deoxycorticosterone. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part A.*, 167:25–34.
- Migaud H, Daive A, Martinez Chavez CC, Al-Khamees S (2007). Evidence for differential photic regulation of pineal melatonin synthesis in teleosts. *J. Pineal Res.*, 43(4):327–335.
- Miller SC, Pandi PSR, Esquifino AI, Cardinali DP, Maestroni GJM (2006). The role of melatonin in immuno-enhancement: potential application in cancer. *Int. J. Exp. Pathol.*, 87(2):81–87.
- Moniruzzaman M, Ghosal I, Das D, Chakraborty SB (2018). Melatonin ameliorates H2O2-induced oxidative stress through modulation of Erk/Akt/NFkB pathway. *Biol. Res.*, *51*(1):17.
- Muxel SM, Pires-Lapa MA, Monteiro AWA, Cecon E, Tamura EK, Floeter-Winter LM, Markus RP (2012). NF-kB Drives the synthesis of melatonin in RAW 264.7 macrophages by inducing the transcription of the arylalkilamine-N-acetyltransferase (AA-NAT) gene. *PLoS One*, 7(12):e52010.
- Nardocci G, Navarro CG, Cortés PP, Imarai M, Montoya M, Valenzuela B, Picas PJ, Acuña C, Fernandez R (2014). Neuroendocrine mechanisms for immune system regulation during stress in fish. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 40(2),531–538.
- Nazifi S, Mogheiseh A, Tabrizi AS, Rayat MH (2020). Effect of oral melatonin administration on inflammatory cytokines and acute phase proteins after the castration of dogs. Comp. Clin. Path., 29:829-836.

- Nikaido Y, Aluru N, McGuire A, Park YJ (2010). Effect of cortisol on melatonin production by the pineal organ of tilapia, *Oreochromis mossambicus. Mol. Int. Physiolo. A*, 155(1):84-90.
- Oliveira CC, Aparício R, Blanco-Vives B, Chereguini O, Martín I, Sánchez-Vazquez FJ (2013). Endocrine (plasma cortisol and glucose) and behavioral (locomotor and self-feeding activity) circadian rhythms in Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis* Kaup 1858) exposed to light/dark cycles or constant light. *Fish Physiol Biochem.*, *39*(3):479-487.
- Overton JL, Toner D, Policar T, Kucharczyk D (2015). Environmental biology of Percid fishes. In: Kestemont P, Dabrowski K, Summerfelt RC, eds. Biology and Culture of Percid Fishes. Dordrecht, the Netherlands: Springer Science+Business Media; 881-889.
- Paredes M, Gonzalez K, Figueroa J, Motiel-Eulefi E (2013) Immunomodulatory effect of prolactin on Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) macrophage function. *Fish Physiol. Biochem.*, *39*(5):1215–1221.
- Park YJ, Park JG, Kim SJ, Lee YD, Rahman SM, Takemura A (2006). Melatonin receptor of a reef fish with lunar-related rhythmicity: cloning and daily variations. *J. Pineal Res.*, *41*(2):166-174.
- Peña C, Rincon J, Pedreanez A, Viera N, Mosquera J (2007). Chemotactic effect of melatonin on leukocytes. *J. Pineal Res.*, 43, 263–269.
- Pozo D, Deldago M, Fernandez-Santos JM, Calvo JR, Gomariz RP, Martin-Lacave I, Ortiz GG, Guerrero JM (2018). Expression of the Mellamelatonin receptor mRNA in T and B subsets of lymphocytes from rat thymus and spleen. *FASEB J.*, *11*(6):466–473.
- Pozo D, Garcia-Maurino S, Guerrero JM, Calvo JR (2004). mRNA expression of nuclear receptor RZR/RORalpha, melatonin membrane receptor MT, and hydroxindole-O-methyltransferase in different populations of human immune cells. *J. Pineal Res.*, *37*(1):48–54.
- Ren DL, Li YJ, Hu BB, Wang H, Hu B (2015). Melatonin regulates the rhythmic migration of neutrophils in live zebrafish. *J. Pineal Res.*, 58(4):452–460.
- Sanchez-Hidalgo M, Guerrero MJM, Carrasco-Salmoral MP, Naranjo GMC, Lardone PJ, de la Lastra Romero CA (2009). Decreased MT1 and MT2 melatonin receptor expression in extrapineal tissues of the rat during physiological aging. J. Pineal Res., 46(1):29–35.
- Shimodaira H (2002). An Approximately Unbiased Test of Phylogenetic Tree Selection. *Syst. Biol.*, *51*(3), 492–508.
- Singh SS, Yadav SK, Haldar C (2010). Effect of glucocorticoid and melatonin on immune function of an indian tropical bird, *Perdicula asiatica*: an *in vivo* and *in vitro* study. *Eur. J. Inflam.*, 8(2), 89–97.
- Singh SS, Deb A, Sutradhar S (2016). Dexamethasone modulates melatonin MT2 receptor expression in splenic tissue and humoral immune response in mice. *Biol. Rhythm Res.*, 48(3):425-435.

- Sternberg EM (2006). Neural regulation of innate immunity: a coordinated nonspecific host response to pathogens. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.*, *6*(4):318-328.
- Stolte EH, de Mazon AF, Leon-Koosterziel KM, Jesiak M, Bury NR, Sturm A, Savelkoul HF, van Kemenade BM, Flik G (2008). Corticosteroid receptors involved in stress regulation in common carp, *Cyprinus carpio*. J. Endocrinol., 198(2):403-417.
- Swirplies F, Wuertz S, Baßmann B, Orban A, Schäfer N, Brunner RM, Hadlich F, Goldammer T, Rebl A (2018). Identification of molecular stress indicators in pikeperch *Sander lucioperca* correlating with rising water temperatures. *Aquaculture*, *501*:260–271.
- Tarocco A, Caroccia N, Morciano G, Wieckowski MR, Ancora G, Garani G, Pinton P (2019). Melatonin as a master regulator of cell death and inflammation: molecular mechanisms and clinical implications for newborn care. *Cell Death Dis.*, 10(4), 317.
- Tort L (2011). Stress and immune modulation in fish. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.*, 35(12):1366-1375.
- Tothova C, Nagy O, Kovac G (2014). Acute phase proteins and their use in the diagnosis of diseases in ruminants: a review. *Vet. Med.-Czech*, 59:163–180.
- Tripathi DN, Jena G (2010). Effect of melatonin on the expression of Nrf2 and NF-κB during cyclophosphamide-induced urinary bladder injury in rat. J. Pineal Res., 48(4):324-331.
- Vera LM, De Oliveira C, Lopez-Olmeda JF, Ramos J, Mañanos E, Madrid JA, Sanchez-Vazquez FJ (2007). Seasonal and daily plasma melatonin rhythms and reproduction in Senegalese sole kept under natural photoperiod and natural or controlled water temperature. J. Pineal Res., 43(1):50–55.
- Wiechmann AF, Sherry DM (2013). Role of Melatonin and Its Receptors in the Vertebrate Retina. *Int. Rev. Cell. Mol. Biol.*, 300:211-242.
- Wronka M, Maleszewska M, Stepinska U, Markowska M (2008). Diurnal differences in melatonin effect on intracellular Ca2+ concentration in chicken spleen leukocytes in vitro. *J. Pineal Res.*, 44(2):134–140.
- Xia MZ, Liang YL, Wang H, Chen X, Huang YY, Zhang ZH, Chen YH, Zhang C, Zhao M, Xu DX, Song LH (2012). Melatonin modulates TLR4-mediated inflammatory genes through MyD88- and TRIFdependent signaling pathways in. J. Pineal Res., 53(4), 325–334.
- Yada T (2007). Growth hormone and fish immune system. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., 152:353-358.
- Yu Q, Miller SC, Osmond DG (2000). Melatonin inhibits apoptosis during early B-cell development in mouse bone marrow. J. Pineal Res., 29, 86– 93.

Yu GM, Kubota H, Okita M, Maeda T (2017) The anti-inflammatory and antioxidant effects of melatonin on LPS-stimulated bovine mammary epithelial cells. *PLoS One*, *12*(5):e0178525.

X. Supplementary data

From a transcriptomic analysis (Jennifer Rocher, ULorraine), sequences of MT1 and MT2 melatonin receptors were collected in order to design specific primers. At the end of the PhD thesis, we were able to specifically amplify these genes (Table 1).

Primer efficiencies were validated when ranged between 95 and 105 %. qPCR was performed using SYBR® Green Supermix (Biorad, California, USA). A four steps experimental run protocol was followed: denaturation (10 min at 95 °C), amplification (40 cycles, 10 s at 95 °C, 30 s at 60 °C), melting curve (60 to 95 °C, heating rate 0.075°C s⁻¹) and a final cooling step (4°C) using a QuandStudioTM 5 real-time PCR machine (Applied Biosystems). Specificity was checked (melting curve and gel electrophoresis). Furthermore, amplified sequences were sent for DNA sequencing (Genewiz, Sanger sequencing). Blast analysis revealed high identities with published sequences for pike-perch (>99%).

Gene	Sens	Sequence (5' to 3')
mt1	Forward	GGATCCAGATGCGAAGGTAA
	Reverse	CCACAGCCTCAAGTACGACA
mt2	Forward	GCTCGGGAAGTCTCTGTCAC
	Reverse	CCTGAGTGGCTTTTTGTGGT

Table 1: Sequences of primers used for gene expression quantification [24].

Amplification was successfully performed for *mt1* and *mt2* genes in brain, liver, head kidney and spleen of pike-perch. It thus confirms the expression of these receptors in various organs, including in the main organs of the fish immune system.

XI. General Discussion

While aquaculture has been developing in almost all regions of the world, the European aquaculture industry has shown limited increase in productivity. This can be attributed to a low diversity of cultured species since the European fish production is dominated by only five species, including rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*), common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*), Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*), seabass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) and sea bream (*Sparus aurata*) (FAO). In order to boost this major economic activity, the FP7 - European Commission funded project 'DIVERSIFY' was launched to overcome the documented bottlenecks in the production of six selected fish species with high aquaculture potential, including the pike-perch (*Sander lucioperca*). Research was carried out in various scientific disciplines including reproduction and genetics, nutrition, larval husbandry, grow out husbandry, fish health and socioeconomics.

Pike-perch is a valuable candidate for the diversification of European inland aquaculture industry. However, one major bottleneck identified in its culture is a high sensitivity to stressors leading to high and sudden mortalities, with survival rate estimated between 8 and 30% during larval and juvenile stages (Kestemont et al, 2007; Szkudlarek and Zakes, 2007; Dalsgaard et al, 2013). Considering that (i) newly aquaculture species are more sensitive to aquaculture stressors than some highly domesticated species such as salmonids (Jentoft et al., 2005) and that (ii) husbandry practices are not optimized and standardized for pike-perch, we aimed to identify the best husbandry practices to consider in pike-perch culture with regards to growth, immune and physiological status of the fish. Indeed, in aquaculture, prolonged, repeated and/or unavoidable stressors are largely associated to maladaptive physiological effects including failures in immune functions and disease resistance (Fast et al, 2008; Douxfils et al, 2011; Tort, 2011). A multifactorial experiment considering eight environmental factors was designed taking into account current practices in major European pike-perch intensive farms and available data in the literature.

Experiment I: objectives, results and limitations

Experiment I: Optimal aquaculture modalities for pike-perch

Objectives (O) and hypothesis (H): reminder

O₁: characterize the effects of major husbandry practices and environmental factors on pike-perch physiology.

O₂: identify optimal rearing conditions ensuring low stress level and thereby good growth and survival.

H: several husbandry practices and environmental factors, considered alone or in combination, reduce stress in pike-perch, leading to improved immunocompetence, growth and survival.

As hypothesized, the experiment highlighted several factors impacting pikeperch stress status and grow out, including the feed type and the light environment. While the light intensity was the only factor explaining the mortality rate, the type of feed influenced all husbandry parameters. In parallel, stress and immune markers were influenced by temperature and oxygen saturation, respectively (Baekelandt et al., 2018). However, only a few output variables were tested, bringing limited conclusions.

By considering a fractional factorial approach, the first experiment allowed integrating simultaneously a large number of experimental factors with a limited number of experimental units. In comparison, a traditional full factorial design rarely exceeds 3 factors while we considered 8 factors. Despite these advantages, this kind of protocol has some limitations. First, each factor is tested in two modalities only, and the modalities of one factor must be quite different (*e.g.* 10/14 vs 24/0 for the photoperiod). This method thus allows pointing out the important factors to consider, but not the optimal conditions within each factor. And if extreme modalities have marked effects on the output results, it may mask the effects of other factors. Moreover, some factors are susceptible to induce non monotonic responses, and this is impossible to determine by using two modalities. Second, another main limitation is about the results since interactions between 3 or more factors are considered not relevant. Indeed, the impacts of fish grading according to combined factors such as light intensity and light spectrum can be

hypothesized but cannot be tested. Third, to create such an experimental design, an alias structure is generated to define which effects are confounded with others (Baekelandt et al., 2018). It requires, based on literature and practices in industries, to define before the experiment which factors and interactions are more relevant for the model since all the two-way interactions cannot be tested. Fourth, factors and modalities were defined according to constraints observed in Asialor farm (France). Those limitations, which may be limited to that company, raise the question about the possible transfer of the results to other fish companies. Fifth, rearing conditions of the multifactorial experiment were imposed (tank colour, size, shape...) as defined in Asialor farm. Considering that these factors may highly impact fish behaviour and physiology, we may hypothesize limitations about the transfer of the results to other fish facilities.

Because of those limitations, this kind of protocol has to be seen as a screening study. In the DIVERSIFY project, in order to confirm the results of the multifactorial protocol, an additional experiment was conducted in industrial conditions (Fish2Be). Growth and physiological status were compared between standard husbandry conditions usually applied in routine by the farmer and the best rearing conditions identified in the multifactorial experiment. Good growth results were obtained during 83 days for both conditions, with no statistical differences. However, the transfer of the fish to bigger tanks from another fish farm (Inagro) resulted in poor growth results and high mortalities. Results were thus not exploitable but it pointed out, as previously defined, that pike-perch is a stress-sensitive species as other percids.

The two objectives of the study were thus partially achieved. Several factors, including the type of feed and the light intensity, are important for the ongrowing of pike-perch juveniles. It may be associated to a higher stress level and lowered immunocompetence but the limited output variables and the high variability of the results do not allow drawing conclusions. Then, based on husbandry outputs, we identified some optimal combinations (Baekelandt et al., 2018). However, since we only tested two modalities per factor, we were unable to define the optimal conditions (best temperature or stocking density) neither their potential evolution (optimal density according to the fish weight). For instance, it is reported that pike-perch juveniles can be kept at high densities ranging between 15 and 30 kg m⁻³ without any increase in physiological stress response, and larger pike-perch up to 2 kg can

be maintained between 30 and 60 kg m⁻³ (Steenfeldt et al., 2010; Dalsgaard et al., 2013). Concerning optimal temperature, we showed best growth performances under both 21 and 26°C showing that pike-perch has a broad thermal optimum, already defined between 10 and 27°C for adults (Frisk et al., 2012). Several growth studies on juvenile pike-perch demonstrated that the optimal temperature is 25-30°C (Kestemont et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2009). Such difference between juveniles and adults may be explained by a preference of bigger fish for cooler water (Morita et al., 2010). However, the good growth observed at 21°C (combinations 1 and 3, see Experiment I) may support the hypothesis that more energy is spent for increased metabolic rates when pike-perch are reared at 25°C (Frisk et al, 2013). And taking into account that higher temperatures may increase pathogen outbreaks in fish farms, the use of a temperature around 21°C may be more consistent. While we bring interesting and important results for the improvement of pike-perch culture during the juvenile stage, including about the light environment and the temperature, additional investigations are needed to identify optimal conditions and their interactions with other parameters such as fish weight.

Experiment II: objectives, results and limitations

Rearing conditions in production units tend to affect fish health, enhancing the susceptibility of fish to infections. Since it is a major bottleneck of aquaculture development, various efforts have been undertaken to limit disease outbreaks by developing antibiotics and vaccines or by acting on fish immunocompetence through the use of immunostimulants and the enhancement of fish welfare (Abarike et al., 2018). From this point of the study, we focused on the immune system for which improving our knowledge is of a great interest to optimize management strategies and to limit disease outbreaks in fish farms.

Since the light environment profoundly affects pike-perch physiology, we considered the modulation of the immune system by the light environment whose characteristics are spectrum, intensity and photoperiod. Available data confirmed that several fish species are sensitive to the light in terms of behavior, growth and reproduction (Falcón et al., 2007; Luchiari and Pirhonen, 2008; Falcón et al., 2010; Politis et al, 2014; Baekelandt et al., 2018). However, few authors have considered the immune system.

Experiment II: Daily rhythms of immune markers

Objective and hypotheses: reminder

O: identify the 24-h profiles for rhythmicity in several stress and innate immune markers and the potential influence of the light spectrum.

H₁: innate immune markers follow daily rhythmicity.

H₂: red light environment is beneficial for pike-perch.

For this second experiment, the first hypothesis was validated. Both lysozyme and peroxidase followed significant day-night variations. And the daily decrease in their activities was correlated to the cortisol peak that occurred during photophase, around 10:00. Because cortisol is mainly described as an immunomodulator agent (Tort, 2011), cortisol was suggested to be involved in the morning decrease of these humoral immune activities. However, this correlation was not validated in similar experiments. Considering literature data, immune activities mainly follow day-night cycle while cortisol rhythmicity is dependent on the fish species and the experiment. And it has been described that the meal time that can be perceived as an entraining signal of cortisol rhythm (Kulczykowska and Sánchez Vázquez, 2010, Oliveira et al, 2013). In the study of Esteban et al. (2006) conducted on seabream (Sparus aurata) and sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax), daily variations in humoral immune activities are correlated to the daily cyclic activity of the pineal gland which releases the melatonin hormone during the dark phase of the photoperiod. Such correlation was hypothesized but could not be tested in the Experiment II.

The results have also validated the second hypothesis, when considering the fish growth. Growth parameters were improved under the red light, as already described by Luchiari et al. (2009). They showed in pike-perch the advantageous effects of long-wavelengths light, especially red light compared to white or short-wavelength lights, including a better feeding behavior and feed efficiency. An effect of the light spectrum was also observed on humoral innate immune markers. However, we obtained opposite responses for lysozyme and peroxidase after 42 days and no clear

trend (stimulation or inhibition of the immune system) could be defined (Baekelandt et al., 2019a).

This second experiment brought evidences that the light environment modulates pike-perch physiology, including growth and immunity. Since the light information is perceived by photoreceptors and converted into a melatonin signal by the pineal gland, this neurohormone was a good candidate to explain day-night variations in immune activities. However, the analysis could not be performed, which is the main limitation of this experiment. Among several tested protocols, the only one we validated on pike-perch plasma is an ELISA kit that necessitates 50 μ L of plasma. Due to fish size, such quantity was not available after immune assays. However, the analysis was performed in the third experiment.

Experiment III: objectives, results and limitations

In mammals, the immunomodulatory actions of the melatonin hormone are well documented (Calvo et al., 2013; Ren et al., 2017; Xia et al., 2018; Zhao et al., 2019). However, in teleosts, such role on immune functions has been little investigated. A better understanding of the immune system and the relation with the neuroendocrine system and the environment is of a great interest to improve fish immunocompetence.

Experiment III: Immune modulation by the light environment

Objective and hypothesis: reminder

O: identify if melatonin plays a central role by being a relay between the light, the stress axis and the immune system.

H: the light environment influences melatonin and cortisol secretions, leading to change in fish immunocompetence.

In this experiment, we took into consideration the triangulation between the melatonin hormone, the HPI axis and the immune system (Fig. 1). These relations are based on data collected in various fish species (Laiz-Carrión et

al., 2003; Tort, 2011; López-Patiño et al., 2013; 2014; Conde-Sieira et al., 2014). A mutual inhibition occurs between the HPI and the melatonin axes, and cortisol is a major immune modulator. A direct action of melatonin on immunity has not been investigated in fish, but an indirect action through the modulation of cortisol release has been suggested.

The hypothesis of the third experiment was verified. The high light intensity, as suggested in the first experiment, is a stressful environment for pike-perch. After 42 days of exposition, we noticed a decrease in fish immunocompetence, as well as a decrease in plasma melatonin (Baekelandt et al., 2019b). Such observation is consistent with a physiological response to chronic stress, consecutively acting on pineal gland and immune tissues.

Since melatonin is mainly seen as an immune activator in a wide range of vertebrates, including in mammals, birds and reptiles (Peña et al., 2007; Ahmad and Haldar, 2010; Singh et al., 2010; 2016; Ramos et al., 2018), the reduction in circulating melatonin may be involved in the decrease in immune activities and pro-inflammatory gene expressions. However, the experimental design did not allow drawing conclusions about the mode of action of the hormone on pike-perch immunity.

In this experiment, we considered that the pineal activity was inhibited by the HPI axis, following exposure to high light intensities. However, the pineal gland may contain itself light-sensitive photoreceptor cells (Li et al., 2012). Migaud et al. (2007) have shown that the photic regulation of pineal melatonin production has evolved within teleosts. In salmonids, the pineal organ responds directly to light independently of the eyes. In Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus niloticus*) and African catfish (*Clarius gariepinus*), it is not or slightly light sensitive, requiring eyes to perceive light and inhibit melatonin synthesis. In pike-perch, no information is available about the presence of such pineal photoreceptors. However, if detected, it could be hypothesized that the light has, at least partially, modulated pineal activity through these pineal photoreceptors. For now, no data can confirm or refute such hypothesis.



Figure 1: Triangulation between the HPI axis releasing cortisol, the pineal gland releasing melatonin and the immune system in teleosts.

Experiment IV: objectives, results and limitations

Seasonality is characterized by variations of temperature and photoperiod influencing fish immune system throughout the year. On one hand, lower temperatures lead to a shutdown or slowing of immune mechanisms leading to an increase in fish susceptibility to disease. On the other hand, it was reported that seasonal variations of some immune markers are photoperiod-dependent (Valero et al. 2014).

In order to better define the immunomodulatory capacity of melatonin, we designed this fourth experiment in order to isolate its potential direct action. We thus investigated the effects of two photoperiod regimes simulating the fall and the spring in Western Europe, on pike-perch physiological and immune responses.

Experiment IV: *Photoperiod influences melatonin release and immunity*

Objective and hypothesis: reminder

O: Characterize a potential direct action of melatonin on pike-perch immunity.

H: Natural variations of photoperiod and subsequent changes in melatonin release profile influence pike-perch immune status with limited effect on the stress axis.

The hypothesis of the study was verified. The season-simulated photoperiods influenced innate immune markers, with increased activities under the fall-simulated photoperiod. The progressive exposure to shorter photoperiods leads to an increase in melatonin production and release by the pineal gland since its activity is directly proportional to the length of the night (Baekelandt et al., 2020). Furthermore, the natural gradual changes in photoperiod was tested not stressful for pike-perch, and no change in cortisol release was detected.

The significant correlation between melatonin content and immune markers reinforces the idea of an immunomodulatory role of the hormone. Moreover, the results support an action of melatonin independently of the HPI axis. It may suggest a potential direct action but other candidates may have influenced immune markers such as growth hormone, prolactine or reproductive hormones (Oner et al., 2009; Falcón et al., 2010; Molik et al., 2010). A better consideration of these hormone in the experiment would have been of a great interest.

All the fish were collected and sampled at 04:00 and 15:00, whatever the photoperiod regime and the day of samplings. This may have created an experimental bias since the time between samplings and sunset/sunrise varied throughout the experiment – which is unavoidable in this kind of experiment. Indeed, in teleosts, different melatonin profiles were recorded (Falcón et al., 2010). In salmonids and Atlantic halibut (*Hippoglossus hippoglossus*), the amount of melatonin is produced in an on/off manner. In Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) and haddock (*Melanogrammus aeglefinus*), there is a discrete peak

in late dark phase and, in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*), there is a discrete peak in mid dark phase with an anticipation of sunrise (Falcón et al., 2010). The melatonin profile was not tested for pike-perch and we have no evidence that all our samplings occurred at the maximum of the melatonin peak. At 04:00 during the dark phase, an anticipation of sunrise may have occurred, mainly for the spring-simulated photoperiod, leading to variations in tested markers. However, in order to limit possible effects, the samplings were finished at least 1h before the twilight.

For this experiment, it would have been of a great interest to focus on melatonin receptors. The three receptors MT1, MT2 and Mel1c have been identified in several teleosts. A few studies have detected MT1 or MT2 in immune organs but they did not investigate their location within tissue neither their functional significance (Park et al., 2006; Sauzet et al., 2008; Confente et al., 2010). In addition to confirm their presence in the pike-perch hematopoietic organs, it would have been interesting to follow their expression according to the photoperiod regime and the time of the day. In the Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*), both MT1 and MT2 exhibit daily and seasonal variations in several organs, including retina, optic tectum and pituitary (Confente et al., 2010).

Experiment V: objectives, results and limitations

An *ex vivo* experiment was designed in order to focus on the suggested direct action of melatonin on the main immune organs of teleosts, namely the head kidney and the spleen. These organs were exposed to several concentrations of cortisol and/or melatonin.



The hypothesis for this last experiment was validated. Both hormones significantly influenced immune gene expressions, leading to a global immune stimulation. Considering the triangulation (Fig. 1), the results support both an indirect action of melatonin on the immune system through the regulation of intermediates such as cortisol, as well as a direct action on immune targets through specific receptors.

However, we cannot define the importance of both ways of action (direct vs indirect). Furthermore, results may have been influenced by endogenous cortisol secreted by interrenal cells (head kidney) as well by melatonin whose production may occur in immune cells (head kidney and spleen). Immune-synthetized melatonin has been described in immune cells and tissues of several mammals and it plays paracrine, autocrine and intracrine functions (Lardone et al., 2006; Maldonado et al., 2010; Muxel et al., 2012; Markus et al., 2017). Even if it has not been investigated in teleosts yet, it has to be considered in future experiments.

For this ex vivo experiment, we decided to submit the immune organs of pikeperch to different concentrations of melatonin and/or cortisol. Those concentrations included 2 physiological and 1 pharmacological doses, with a 10-fold factor between them. The lowest concentrations of melatonin (10 and 100 pg mL⁻¹) corresponds to diurnal and nocturnal levels of plasma melatonin for pike-perch maintained in steady conditions. The lowest concentrations of cortisol (50 and 500 ng mL⁻¹) consider plasma cortisol levels in normal conditions and in response to an acute stress. The pharmacological doses of melatonin (1 ng mL⁻¹) and cortisol (5 μ g mL⁻¹) may be considered as toxic for cells. However, no cell death was revealed in preliminary tests. Furthermore, concerning melatonin, several studies in teleosts have already used high pharmacological doses of melatonin (IP injections), including 5 mg kg⁻¹ in tilapia Oreochromis niloticus (Kim et al., 2017) and 10 mg kg⁻¹ in goldfish Carassius auratus (Jung et al., 2016) without observing any mortality or deleterious effects. Even if the authors did not measure melatonin in plasma, such injection is supposed to induce higher melatonin concentrations than used in our ex vivo experiment. About cortisol, in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss), plasma values exceeded 2 µg mL⁻¹ after injection of an implant associated with a heat stress (Basu et al. 2001). However, even if several authors already used pharmacological doses of both hormones, the absence of more negative effects on immune organs with such hormonal cocktail raises the question about the existence of an experimental

bias. In our *ex vivo* experiment, full organs were directly plunged in culture media supplemented with hormones. It may be hypothesized that such procedure can limit the contact of internal parts of the organ with hormones, thus suggesting that hormonal concentrations in the organs is much lower than in media. Measuring hormonal contents in organs would have been performed to confirm that hypothesis. In addition, in order to better characterize the triangulation between the melatonin hormone, the HPI axis and the immune system, it would be interesting to test the effects of melatonin and cortisol at concentrations measured in pike-perch exposed to chronic stress.

The *ex vivo* expositions were conducted at 16°C instead of 21°C as applied in the other experiments. Since fish were reared at 16°C (before arriving at the University of Namur) and because we wanted to limit possible negative impact on pike-perch behavior, the acclimation in our facilities occurred under the same environmental conditions. However, knowing that the temperature is a crucial factor that can modulate pineal activity (Esteban et al., 2013) and, more generally, metabolism of ectotherm species, such difference would ultimately limit comparisons between experiments, and conclusions.

Further investigations with such *ex vivo* protocol would consider the use of specific antagonists to melatonin receptors, including luzindole and 4-phenyl-2-propionamidotetralin (4P-PDOT) (Liu et al., 2016). Luzindole has thus already been used in several fish studies, including in zebrafish *Danio rerio* (Ren et al., 2015) and in common goldfish *Carassius auratus* (Ribelayga et al., 2004). However, to our knowledge, there is no specific antagonist or agonist to MT1 or MT2, limiting the understanding of the physiological functions of these receptors.

Melatonin and fish immunity

The influence of melatonin on the immune system has been well established in higher vertebrates (Guerrero and Reiter, 2002; Carrillo-Vico et al., 2005; 2013). Generally, in mammals, melatonin stimulates basal immunity to ensure an optimal response to infection or exerts an anti-inflammatory action in the case of inflammatory responses to protect the organism from host tissue damage (Carrillo-Vico et al., 2013). Melatonin thus regulates cell dynamics, including the proliferative and maturational stages of all hematopoietic and immune cells lineages (NK cells, T and B lymphocytes, granulocytes, monocytes) involved in host defense, in both bone marrow and tissues (Miller et al., 2006).

Since light is mainly perceived by the retina and transferred into a melatonin signal by the pineal gland, melatonin was considered as a potential actor in the immune modulation by the light environment in fish. Such hypothesis was supported by numerous data available in mammals, birds and reptiles and by a high conservation of the hormone within phylogenetically distant organisms (Calvo et al., 2013; Ren et al., 2017; Xia et al., 2018; Zhao et al., 2019). The objective was thus to characterize the role of the melatonin hormone as a potential relay between neuroendocrine and immune systems. We have defined that all three light characteristics can modulate pike-perch immunity and a significant correlation was established with plasma melatonin. Several humoral innate immune markers follow daily cyclic activity and variations of both light intensity and spectrum affect melatonin release, stress status and immune markers.

Considering that cortisol modulates immune functions in vertebrates through specific receptors and that a mutual inhibition was described between HPI and melatonin axes (López-Patiño et al., 2013; 2014; Conde-Sieira et al., 2014), it was considered that melatonin modulates immunity through, at least, an indirect action. Furthermore, we hypothesized a direct action suggesting specific melatonin receptors on immune cells and tissues, as widely described in mammals (Lardone et al., 2009; Maldonado et al., 2010; Singh et al., 2016). Such direct action was primarily supported by the results of the ex vivo experiment (see Experiment V) and secondly by the detection of MT1 and MT2 mRNA in spleen and head kidney tissues (unpublished data). We thus confirmed a direct action of melatonin on fish immunity, as previously described in birds and mammals. The experiments also defined the immunoenhancing properties of the hormone in pike-perch with increases in humoral activities and immune-genes expression. However, some antiinflammatory properties of the hormone cannot be excluded when considering that melatonin may buffer the immune system as observed in mammals (Xia et al., 2012; Carrillo-Vico et al., 2013) and in common carp (Cyprinus carpio) (Kepka et al., 2015). More investigations are needed about a potential dual function of melatonin in teleosts. However, considering the

results of the present study and the data available in other vertebrates, a similar immune function of melatonin can be hypothesized.

The present study did not consider any potential role of an internal clock machinery in the modulation of fish immunity. All the organisms show circadian rhythms (repeating roughly every 24h) whose main characteristic is the persistence of their oscillations for a certain period of time, even in the absence of the environmental cues (the light being the main of these cues, but also the temperature, the food availability...) (Zhdanova and Reebs, 2006). The persistence of such oscillations is induced by an internal clock machinery. In zebrafish (Danio rerio), a complex network of coexisting central and peripheral clocks was described and peripheral tissue pacemakers, that have been identified in several extra-retinal/extra-pineal tissues, were shown to be directly responsive to light (Whitmore et al., 2000; Prokkola and Nikinmaa, 2018). However, a high intra- and interspecies variability in the design and function of the fish circadian systems was described (Prokkola and Nikinmaa, 2018). For now, no investigations have been carried out on the existence of such clock machinery in immune organs and tissues of teleosts but we can hypothesize that immune functions are also under the control of internal clocks. In our experiments, we described day-night variations of several immune markers but we did not test the persistence of their oscillation in a constant environment (24h of light, no feeding). Future experiments may consider such circadian rhythms and the potential action of pacemakers.

Fish model

Studying pike-perch was initially of a great interest since it is one of the most valuable candidate for the development of fish industry in Europe. Additionally, its high sensitivity for the light environment make this species a good model to study the effects of the light on fish physiology, and more particularly on melatonin release and immunity. This sensitivity is mainly due to the *tapetum lucidum* that is a reflecting layer in the retina. It thus increases eye sensitivity to the light. This is consistent with the natural behavior of pikeperch since it is a crepuscular and nocturnal predator mainly found in turbid rivers and eutrophic lakes. However, in cultured conditions, the use of clear water associated with high light intensities can impact pike-perch physiology.

However, for no apparent reason, difficulties can be encountered in the maintenance of this species. While all the fish were reared in the same conditions (water quality, feed, light environment, temperature...), some batches of juveniles have slightly acclimatized after transfer to new facilities, leading to poor growth results and high mortality rates. Moreover, as said before, in the DIVERSIFY experiment that aimed to confirm the results of the multifactorial design (unpublished results), an excellent growth was observed during the two first months but growth stagnation and high mortalities occurred after transfer by car, suggesting a strong impact of this stress event. The hypothesis of unsuitable conditions for bigger juveniles may be suggested, but is not consistent with results of the other experiments. Those observations rise the question about the stress sensitivity and the potential relation with the domestication level and the geographic origin of the fish. Unpublished data defined that pike-perch is a stress-sensitive species as reported for other percid fish such as the Eurasian perch (*Perca fluviatilis*) (Milla et al, 2010; Douxfils et al, 2014). Furthermore, it was shown that newly aquaculture species, in comparison to some highly domesticated species such as salmonids, are more sensitive to aquaculture stressors (Jentoft et al, 2005). Our study thus defined important environmental factors to consider, but the optimization of pike-perch culture will necessitate to consider the genetic of the fish as well

High stress responsiveness and suboptimal/inadequate environmental rearing conditions are suggested to be the main cause of high mortalities in pikeperch juveniles. However, other factors to consider in such species culture are the social dominance and the cannibalistic behaviour. In some pike-perch batches maintained in our facilities, social dominance was higher and cannibalistic behaviour was observed (even with fish around 30 g) while the same environmental conditions were applied for all batches (light, temperature, oxygen, density...). Such observation was thus suggested to be dependent on the life history of the fish (before arriving to our facilities) as well as on its domestication level.

In pike-perch culture, various domesticated populations, including strains from different geographic origins and wild populations, are actually used (Teletchea and Fontaine, 2014). For all our experiments, the fish were provided by Asialor farm (Dieuze, France), ensuring the same geographical origin (Czech origin). However, no information was collected about the domestication level, defined as the adaptation of an animal to the human

environment and its constraint (Milla et al., 2020). And domestication process can highly influence fish physiology. During the domestication process, a set of biological responses occurs, leading to genetic, genomic and phenotypic modifications and allowing the fish to better adapt to humans and captive environments (Teletchea, 2015; Milla et al., 2020). In Eurasian perch (Perca fluviatilis), domestication process modifies digestion ability in larvae, with modification of digestion ability occurring at the very beginning of ontogeny (Palińska-Żarska et al., 2020). It has also been shown that the stress response to acute or chronic stressors is reduced with domestication (Lepage et al., 2000; Milla et al., 2020). In Melanoteania duboulavi, F15 fish show lower increase in plasma cortisol than F0, when confined in beaker for 30 min (Zuberi et al., 2014). In the Eurasian perch, the effect of domestication level on stress response varies depending on the type of aquaculture stressor. In parallel, an improvement of immune competence through the domestication process of Eurasian perch was also described since there is a decrease in both innate and specific immune response in F1 fish exposed to various aquaculture stressors while a stimulation of immunity occurred in F4 ones (Douxfils et al, 2011; 2012; 2014). The interest of a selection of broodstock source followed by a domestication program thus seems obvious in the success of the aquaculture industry (Ikhwanuddin and Abol-Munafi, 2016).

While we tried to standardize the experiments by considering the same rearing and samplings conditions, we were dependent on the fish and facilities availability. It thus explains discrepancies in fish size/age at the beginning of the experiments. While results are consistent between experiments, such difference has to be considered when studying the neuroendocrine and immune systems. In mammals, secretion of melatonin by the pineal gland decreases with age. Such progressive decline in melatonin was also observed in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) from 1 to 4 years of age (Zhdanova et al., 2008). In our experiments, potential decrease in melatonin release and associated impacts on results seem limited since we only considered pike-perch juveniles. Barcellos et al (2012) have also shown that the age of the fish is a determining factor for the functioning of the HPI axis. It could be explained by differences in the timing of maturation of the HPI axis and by variations in the perception and response to stressors (Barcellos et al., 2012; Koakoski et al., 2012).

As previously explained, optimization of pike-perch culture is required, and the current study highlighted key elements to consider. The environment is

crucial for animals, and behaviour, reproduction, immunity, growth and even survival of fish will be improved if optimal environmental conditions are considered. Pike-perch was shown to be light-sensitive, which involves the use of low light intensities (Baekelandt et al., 2018; 2019a; 2019b). Data also suggest the use of a red spectrum (Luchiari et al., 2009; Baekelandt et al., 2019a). For different reasons previously explained, the results of the current study do not allow to better define optimal rearing conditions such as temperature or density. However, the thesis pointed out the importance of the genetic of the species. Considering the high variability between batches (in terms of feeding behaviour and stress sensitivity, leading to low immune defences and high mortalities), efforts should focus on a selective breeding program of pike-perch.

Sensitivity to the light environment

In this study and according to available data in fish literature, we defined through several experiments that pike-perch is a light-sensitive species that prefers dark environments. However, fish were initially acclimated in low light conditions and were never exposed to high light environments. Changing suddenly the light environment modifies inevitably fish behaviour and induces a stress response, as observed in the experiments. A long-term exposure to high light intensities was considered as a chronic stress (Baekelandt et al., 2019b), suggesting that the fish was unable to acclimatize to these new environmental conditions within several weeks.

However, among several pike-perch farms we visited, one of them uses higher light intensities (> 70 lux) than suggested in our study (10 lux). No stress parameters were assessed on those fish, but their behaviour did not seem impacted by the light. Since that farmer has been rearing pike-perch in those conditions for several years, and maybe for several fish generations, it supposes a selection of fish showing best growth (i.e. less impacted by potential stressor) or a fish adaptation. A better resistance to high light intensities may occur at the eye level. Indeed, the reflecting *tapetum lucidum* can be darkened by a screening pigment. In the light, pigment granules move distally toward the retina, preventing light from reflecting back to the retina (Douglas and Djamgoz, 1990; Bone and Moore, 2008). In the dark, the mechanism is reverse, uncovering the *tapetum lucidum* and allowing light to reflect. A greater production and migration of those granules may thus
involve a better resistance to some light environments. A histological survey of such pigment granules migration would be considered in future experiments.

Immune markers

Several immune markers were assessed during this study, including humoral activities, splenic phagocytosis and related-gene expression. To the exception of some genes, all these markers are related to the innate system that has been considered in teleosts as an essential component in combating pathogens due to limitations of the adaptive immune system, their poikilothermic nature, their limited repertoire of antibodies and the slow proliferation, maturation and memory of their lymphocytes (Whyte, 2007; Uribe et al., 2011). These immune markers have also been selected since they are widely assessed in immune-related fish studies, allowing comparison between studies and species. In future experiments, considering additional innate immune markers should be of a great interest to better understand the relation between melatonin and fish immunity. Suggested markers are protease inhibitors, cvtokines (including pro and anti-inflammatory interleukins) and antimicrobial peptides that are polypeptides targeting bacterial walls and being found in fish mucus, liver and gills (Uribe et al., 2011).

The present study has little considered the specific immunity that provides a specific response to antigens, antibodies and effector cells with high specificity. In mammals, the actions of melatonin on T and B lymphocytes have been widely demonstrated (Ren et al., 2017; Zhao et al., 2019; Luo et al., 2020). In birds, lymphocyte populations are also influenced by melatonin (Singh et al., 2010; Kharwar et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2016). However, in teleosts, the only similar study found in literature observed no effects of exogenous melatonin on specific markers at the transcript level (TCRa - T cell receptor alpha chain - and IgM, respectively), suggesting a lack of effects on lymphocyte activation or proliferation (Cuesta et al., 2008). However, such studies focusing, at the transcript level, only on a few genes, as performed during the ex vivo experiment (see Experiment V), bring limited conclusions since variations in gene expression does not specifically reflect variations in protein abundance or activity. Additional studies with a special consideration for the specific immunity should be driven to better define the immunomodulation by the melatonin hormone in teleosts. Several markers

including antibodies populations, T and B cell populations, immunological memory and specific cytokines should be considered.

Future research about melatonin in fish

Our study is a first approach concluding that melatonin is an immunomodulatory hormone in pike-perch. This modulation occurs through an indirect action via intermediates and through a direct action via specific receptors, including MT1 and MT2. Considering the available data in other fish species as well as in birds and mammals, a similar function between teleosts and other vertebrates is hypothesized but cannot be confirmed without additional investigations. These experiments should focus on the anti-inflammatory properties of melatonin, on the immune-synthesized melatonin and associated functions and on the indirect actions of melatonin considering hormones such as PRL, GH and IGF-1. Furthermore, investigations should be performed on fish specific immunity since we mainly focused on the innate system.

The present study also described some specific melatonin receptors (MT1 and MT2) on the main hematopoietic organs of teleosts, namely the head kidney and the spleen, thus confirming the direct action of the hormone. Additional investigations should be performed on these receptors, considering their expression as well as their day-night and seasonal variations, as shown in retina, optic tectum and pituitary of Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*) (Confente et al., 2010). The functional significance of such variations remains to be determined but it suggests that both melatonin and melatonin receptors rhythms must be considered when studying melatonin activities. Combining different experimental and analytical approaches, including transcriptomic, proteomic and immunohistochemistry, is of a great interest to follow the expression and to localize the receptors within immune organs and tissues.

References

Abarike ED, Cai J, Lu Y, Yu H, Chen L, Jian J, Tang J, Jun L, Kuebutornye FKA (2018). Effects of a commercial probiotic BS containing *Bacillus* subtilis and *Bacillus licheniformis* on growth, immune response and disease resistance in Nile tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus*. Fish Shellfish Immunol., 82, 229–238.

- Ahmad Z, Haldar C (2010). Melatonin and androgen receptor expression interplay modulates cell-mediated immunity in tropical rodent *Funambulus pennanti*: an in-vivo and in-vitro study. *Scand. J. Immunol.*, 71(6), 420–430.
- Baekelandt S, Redivo B, Mandiki SNM, Bournonville T, Houndji A, Bernard B, El Kertaoui N, Schmitz M, Fontaine P, Gardeur JN, Ledoré Y, Kestemont P (2018). Multifactorial analyses revealed optimal aquaculture modalities improving husbandry fitness without clear effect on stress and immune status of pike-perch *Sander lucioperca. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.*, 258, 194–204.
- Baekelandt S, Mandiki SNM, Schmitz M, Kestemont P (2019a). Influence of the light spectrum on the daily rhythms of stress and humoral innate immune markers in pikeperch *Sander lucioperca*. *Aquaculture*, 499, 358– 363.
- Baekelandt S, Mandiki SNM, Kestemont P (2019b). Are cortisol and melatonin involved in the immune modulation by the light environment in pike-perch *Sander lucioperca*? *J. Pineal Res.*, 67(e12573).
- Baekelandt S, Milla S, Cornet V, Flamion E, Ledoré Y, Redivo B, Antipine S, Mandiki SNM, Houndji A, El Kertaoui N, Kestemont P (2020). Seasonal simulated photoperiods influence melatonin release and immune markers of pike perch *Sander lucioperca*. *Sci Rep.*, *10*: 2650.
- Barcellos LJG, Kreutz LC, Koakoski G, Oliveira TA, da Rosa JGS, Fagundes M (2012). Fish age, instead of weight and size, as a determining factor for time course differences in cortisol response to stress. *Physiol. Behav.*, 107, 397-400.
- Basu N, Nakano T, Grau EG, Iwama GK (2001). The effects of cortisol on heat shock protein 70 levels in two fish species. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.*, *124*:97-105.
- Bone Q, Moore RH (2008). Biology of fishes, Taylor & Francis Group, pp. 289-339.
- Calvo JR, Gonzalez-Yanes C, Maldonado MD (2013). The role of melatonin in the cells of the innate immunity: a review. J. Pineal Res., 55(2), 103–120.
- Carrillo-Vico A, Guerrero JM, Lardone PJ, Reiter RJ (2005). A Review of the Multiple Actions of Melatonin on the Immune System. *Endocrine*, 27(2), 189–200.
- Carrillo-Vico A, Lardone PJ, Álvarez-Śanchez N, Rodrīguez-Rodrīguez A, Guerrero JM (2013). Melatonin: Buffering the immune system. Int. J. Mol. Sci., 14, 8638–8683.
- Chen F, Reheman A, Cao J, Wang Z, Dong Y, Zhang Y, Chen Y (2016). Effect of melatonin on monochromatic light-induced T-lymphocyte proliferation in the thymus of chickens. *J. Photochem. Photobiol. B*, 161, 9–16.

- Conde-Sieira M, Muñoz JL, López-Patiño MA, Gesto M, Soengas JL, Míguez JM (2014). Oral administration of melatonin counteracts several of the effects of chronic stress in rainbow trout. *Domest. Anim. Endocrinol.*, 46:26-36.
- Confente F, Rendón MC, Besseau L, Falcón J, Muñoz-Cueto JA (2010). Melatonin receptors in a pleuronectiform species, *Solea senegalensis*: Cloning, tissue expression, day-night and seasonal variations. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 167(2), 202–214.
- Cuesta A, Cerezuela R, Esteban MA, Meseguer J (2008). In vivo actions of melatonin on the innate immune parameters in the teleost fish gilthead seabream. *J. Pineal Res.*, *45*, 70–78.
- Dalsgaard J, Lund I, Thorarinsdottir R, Drengstig A, Arvonen K, Pedersen PB (2013). Farming different species in RAS in Nordic countries: Current status and future perspectives. *Aquac. Eng.*, *53* :2–13.
- Douglas RH, Djamgoz MBA (1990). The visual system of fish, Chapman and Hall, pp. 470-472.
- Douxfils J, Mandiki SNM, Marotte G, Wang N, Silvestre F, Milla S, Henrotte E, Vandecan M, Rougeot C, Mélard C, Kestemont P (2011). Does domestication process affect stress response in juvenile Eurasian perch *Perca fluviatilis? Comp. Biochem. Physiol.*, 159, 92–99.
- Douxfils J, Deprez M, Mandiki SNM, Milla S, Henrotte E, Mathieu C, Silvestre F, Vandecan M, Rougeot C, Mélard C, Dieu M, Raes M, Kestemont P (2012). Physiological and proteomic responses to single and repeated hypoxia in juvenile Eurasian perch under domestication - Clues to physiological acclimation and humoral immune modulations. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 33, 1112–1122.
- Douxfils J, Lambert S, Mathieu C, Milla S, Mandiki SNM, Henrotte E, Wang N, Dieu M, Raes M, Rougeot C, Kestemont P (2014). Influence of domestication process on immune response to repeated emersion stressors in Eurasian perch (*Perca fluviatilis*, L.). *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A.*, 173, 52–60.
- Esteban MA, Cuesta A, Rodríguez A, Meseguer J (2006). Effect of photoperiod on the fish innate immune system: A link between fish pineal gland and the immune system. J. Pineal Res., 41(3):261–266.
- Esteban MA, Cuesta A, Chaves-pozo E, Meseguer J (2013). Influence of melatonin on the immune system of fish: a review. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, 14, 7979-7999.
- Falcón J, Besseau L, Sauzet S, Boeuf G (2007). Melatonin effects on the hypothalamo-pituitary axis in fish. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.*, 18:81–88.
- Falcón J, Migaud H, Munoz-Cueto JA, Carrillo M (2010). Current knowledge on the melatonin system in teleost fish. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.*, *165*(3) :469–482.

- Fast MD, Hosoya S, Johnson SC, Afonso LOB (2008). Cortisol response and immune-related effects of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* Linnaeus) subjected to short- and long-term stress. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 24, 194– 204.
- Frisk M, Skov PV, Steffensen JF (2012). Thermal optimum for pike-perch (*Sander lucioperca*) and the use of ventilation frequency as a predictor of metabolic rate. *Aquaculture*, 324-325, 151–157.
- Frisk M, Fleng JF, Skov PV (2013). The effects of temperature on specific dynamic action and ammonia excretion in pike-perch (*Sander lucioperca*). *Aquaculture*, 404-405, 65–70.
- Guerrero JM, Reiter RJ (2002). Melatonin-immune system relationships. *Curr. Top. Med. Chem.*, 2(2):167–179.
- Ikhwanuddin M, Abol-Munafi AB (2016). Fish and shellfish domestication and stock enhancement: Current status and future directions. *Asian J. Sci. Res.*, *9*(4):167-170.
- Jentoft S, Aastveit AH, Torjesen PA, Andersen Ø (2005). Effects of stress on growth, cortisol and glucose levels in non-domesticated Eurasian perch (*Perca fluviatilis*) and domesticated rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 141, 353–358.
- Jung SJ, Young JC, Kim NN, Choi JY, Kim BS, Choi CY (2016). Effects of melatonin injection or green-wavelength LED light on the antioxidant system in goldfish (*Carassius auratus*) during thermal stress. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 52:157-166.
- Karakatsouli N, Papoutsoglou SE, Pizzonia G, Tsatsos G, Tsopelakos A, Chadio S, Kalogiannis D, Dalla C, Polissidis A, Papadopoulou-Daifoti Z (2007). Effects of light spectrum on growth and physiological status of gilthead seabream *Sparus aurata* and rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* reared under recirculating system conditions. *Aquacult. Eng.*, 36(3), 302– 309.
- Kepka M, Szwejser E, Pijanowski L, Kemenade BMLV, Chadzinska M (2015). A role for melatonin in maintaining the pro- and antiinflammatory balance by influencing leukocyte migration and apoptosis in carp. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.*, *53*(1), 179–190.
- Kestemont P, Xueliang X, Hamza N., Maboudou J, Toko II (2007). Effect of weaning age and diet on pikeperch larviculture. *Aquaculture*, 264:197–204.
- Kestemont P, Xu X, Blanchard G, Mélard C, Gielen M, Brun-Bellut J, Fontaine P (2003). Feeding and nutrition in european percid fishes - a review. In: Barry TP, Malison JA (Eds.), Proceedings of PERCIDS. University of Wisconsin, USA, pp. 39–40.
- Kharwar RK, Haldar C, Singh S (2015). Mel1b receptor mediated action of melatonin in regulation of lung associated immune system (LAIS) of *Perdicula asiatica*: An *in vitro* study. *Biologia*, 70(11), 1537–1544.

- Kim JH, Park JW, Jin YH, Kim DJ, Kwon JY (2017). Effect of melatonin on GnIH precursor gene expression in Nile tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus*. *Biol. Rhythm Res.*, 49(2):303-313.
- Koakoski G, Oliveira TA, Santos do Rosa JG, Fagundes M, Kreutz LC, Barcellos LJG (2012). Divergent time course of cortisol response to stress in fish of different ages. *Physiol. Behav.*, *106*, 129-32.
- Koakoski G, Kreutz LC, Fagundes M, Oliveira TA, Ferreira D, Rosa JGS, Barcellos LJG (2013). Repeated stressors do not provoke habituation or accumulation of the stress response in the catfish *Rhamdia quelen*. *Neotrop. Ichthyol.*, 11(2), 453–457.
- Kulczykowska E, Sánchez Vázquez FJ (2010). Neurohormonal regulation of feed intake and response to nutrients in fish: Aspects of feeding rhythm and stress. *Aquacult. Res.*, *41*(5), 654–667.
- Laiz-Carrión R, Martín Del Río M, Miguez JM, Mancera JM, Soengas JL (2003). Influence of Cortisol on Osmoregulation and energy metabolism in gilthead seabream *Sparus aurata*. J. Exp. Zool., 298A, 105–118.
- Lardone PJ, Carrillo-Vico A, Naranjo MC, De Felipe B, Vallejo A, Karasek M, Guerrero J (2006). Melatonin synthesized by Jurkat human leukemic T cell line is implicated in IL-2 production. *J. Cell. Physiol.*, 206, 273–279.
- Lepage O, Øverli Ø, Petersson E, J€arvi T, Winberg S (2000). Differential stress coping in wild and domesticated sea trout. *Brain, Behav. Evol.*, 56:259–268.
- Li X, Montgomery J, Cheng W, Noh JH, Hyde DR, Li L (2012). Pineal photoreceptor cells are required for maintaining the circadian rhythms of behavioral visual sensitivity in zebrafish. *PLoS One*, *7*(7), e40508.
- Liu J, Clough SJ, Hutchinson AJ, Adamah-Biassi EB, Popovska-Gorevski M, Dubocovich ML (2016). MT1 and MT2 melatonin receptors: a therapeutic perspective. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.*, *56*:361–383.
- López-Patiño MA, Conde-Sieira M, Gesto M, Librán-Pérez M, Soengas JL, Míguez JM (2013). Melatonin partially minimizes the adverse stress effects in Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*). Aquaculture, 388– 391:165–172.
- López-Patiño MA, Gesto M, Conde-Sieira M, Soengas JL, Miguez JM (2014). Stress inhibition of melatonin synthesis in the pineal organ of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) is mediated by cortisol. *J. Exp. Biol.*, 217(8):1407-1416.
- Luchiari AC, Pirhonen J (2008). Effects of ambient colour on colour preference and growth of juvenile rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum). J. Fish. Biol., 72, 1504–1514.
- Luchiari AC, Freire FAM, Pirhonen J, Koskela J (2009). Longer wavelengths of light improve the growth, intake and feed efficiency of individually

reared juvenile pike-perch *Sander lucioperca* (L .). *Aquac. Res.*, 40, 880–886.

- Luo J, Zhang Z, Sun H, Song J, Chen X, Huang J, Lin X, Zhou R (2020). Effect of melatonin on T/B cell activation and immune regulation in pinealectomy mice. *Life Sci.*, 242(117191).
- Maldonado MD, Moras-Santos M, Naji L, Carrascosa-Salmoral MP, Naranjo MC, Calvo JR (2010). Evidence of melatonin synthesis and release by mast cells. Possible modulatory role on inflammation. *Pharmacol. Res.*, 62, 282–287.
- Markus RP, Fernandes PA, Kinker GS, Cruz-Machado SS, Marçola M (2018). Immune-pineal axis – acute inflammatory responses coordinate melatonin synthesis by pinealocytes and phagocytes. *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 175(16):3239-3250.
- Migaud H, Daive A, Martinez Chavez CC, Al-Khamees S (2007). Evidence for differential photic regulation of pineal melatonin synthesis in teleosts. *J. Pineal Res.*, 43, 327–335.
- Milla S, Mathieu C, Wang N, Lambert S, Nadzialek S, Massart S, Henrotte E, Douxfils J, Mélard C, Mandiki SNM, Kestemont P (2010). Spleen immune status is affected after acute grading stress but not regulated by cortisol in Eurasian perch, *Perca fluviatilis*. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 28, 931–941.
- Milla S, Douxfils J, Mandiki SNM, Saroglia SNM., Corticosteroids and the stress response in Percid fish, in: Kestemont P, Dabrowski K, Summerfelt RC (Eds.), Biology and culture of Percid fishes, Springer Science+Business Media Dordrecht, 2015, pp. 725-742.
- Milla S, Pasquet A, El Mohajer L, Fontaine P (2020). How domestication alters fish phenotypes. *Rev. Aquacult*.
- Miller SC, Pandi PSR, Esquifino AI, Cardinali DP, Maestroni GJM (2006). The role of melatonin in immuno-enhancement: potential application in cancer. *Int. J. Exp. Path.*, 87, 81–87.
- Molik E, Misztal T, Romanowicz K, Zieba DA (2010). The effects of melatonin on prolactin and growth hormone secretion in ewes under different photoperiods, during the early post partum period. *Small Ruminant Res.*, 94(1–3), 137–141.
- Morita K, Fukuwaka M, Tanimata N, Yamamura O (2010). Size-dependent thermal preferences in a pelagic fish. *Oikos*, *119*:1265–1272.
- Muxel SM, Pires-Lapa MA, Monteiro AWA, Cecon E, Tamura EK, Floeter-Winter LM, Markus RP (2012). NF-kB Drives the synthesis of melatonin in RAW 264.7 macrophages by inducing the transcription of the arylalkilamine-N-acetyltransferase (AA-NAT) gene. *PLoS One*, 7(12):e52010.
- Nardocci G, Navarro C, Cortés PP, Imarai M, Montoya M, Valenzuela B, Jara P, Acuña-Castillo C, Fernández R (2014). Neuroendocrine

mechanisms for immune system regulation during stress in fish. *Aquaculture*, 40, 531-538.

- Oner J, Kus I, Oner H (2009). Melatonin increases the expression of insulinlike growth factor I in rats with carbontetrachlorid-induced hepatic damage. *J Anim. Vet. Adv.*, 8(11), 2256-2261.
- Oliveira CC, Aparício R, Blanco-Vives B, Chereguini O, Martín I, Sánchez-Vazquez FJ (2013). Endocrine (plasma cortisol and glucose) and behavioral (locomotor and self-feeding activity) circadian rhythms in Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis* Kaup 1858) exposed to light/dark cycles or constant light. *Fish Physiol Biochem.*, 39(3):479-487.
- Palinska-Zarska K, Wozny M, Kamaszewski M, Szudrowicz H, Brzuzan P, Zarski D (2020). Domestication process modifies digestion ability in larvae of Eurasian perch (*Perca fluviatilis*), a freshwater Teleostei. *Sci. Rep.*, 10(1): 6248.
- Park YJ, Park JG, Kim SJ, Lee YD, Rahman MS, Takemura A (2006). Melatonin receptor of a reef fish with lunar-related rhythmicity: cloning and daily variations. *J. Pineal Res.*, 41, 166–174.
- Peña C, Rincon J, Pedreanez A, Viera N, Mosquera J (2007). Chemotactic effect of melatonin on leukocytes. *J. Pineal Res.*, 43, 263–269.
- Politis SN, Butts IAE, Tomkiewicz J. (2014). Light impacts embryonic and early larval development of the European eel, *Anguilla anguilla*. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol., 461, 407–415.
- Ramos A, Prado, Miguez MP, Morgado S, Sanchez-Correa B, Gordillo JJ, Casado JG, Tarazona R, Regodón S (2018). Melatonin enhances responsiveness to *Dichelobacter nodosus* vaccine in sheep and increases peripheral blood CD4 T lymphocytes and IgG-expressing B lymphocytes. *Vet. Immunol. Immunop.*, 206, 1–8.
- Ren DL, Li YJ, Hu BB, Wang H, Hu B (2015). Melatonin regulates the rhythmic migration of neutrophils in live zebrafish. *J. Pineal Res.*, 58(4):452–460.
- Ren W, Liu G, Chen S, Yin J, Wang J, Tan B, Wu G, Bazer FW, Peng Y, Li T, Reiter RJ, Yin Y (2017). Melatonin signaling in T cells: Functions and applications. *J. Pineal Res.*, *62*(3).
- Ribelayga C, Wang Y, Mangel SC (2004). A circadian clock in the fish retina regulates dopamine release via activation of melatonin receptors. *J. Physiol.*, *554*:467–482
- Sauzet S, Besseau L, Herrera Perez P, Covès D, Chatain B, Peyric E, Boeuf G, Muñoz-Cueto JA, Falcón J (2008). Cloning and retinal expression of melatonin receptors in the European sea bass, *Dicentrarchus labrax. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 157, 186e195.
- Segner H, Sundh H, Buchmann K, Douxfils J, Sundell KS, Mathieu C, Ruane N, Jutfelt F, Toften H, Vaughan L (2012). Health of farmed fish: its

relation to fish welfare and its utility as welfare indicator. *Fish Physiol. Biochem.*, 38, 85–105.

- Singh SS, Yadav SK, Haldar C (2010). Effect of glucocorticoid and melatonin on immune function of an indian tropical bird, *Perdicula asiatica*: an *in vivo* and *in vitro* study. *Eur. J. Inflam.*, 8(2), 89–97.
- Singh SS, Deb A, Sutradhar S (2016). Dexamethasone modulates melatonin MT2 receptor expression in splenic tissue and humoral immune response in mice. *Biol. Rhythm Res.*, 48(3), 1–11.
- Steenfeldt SJ, Vestergaard M, Overton JL, Lund I, Paulsen H, Larsen VJ, Henriksen NH (2010). Further development of intensive pike-perch rearing in Denmark. DTU Aqua Research Report no. 228, Technical University of Denmark, Denmark. (in Danish)
- Szkudlarek M, Zakes Z (2007). Effect of stocking density on survival and growth performance of pikeperch, *Sander lucioperca* (L.), larvae under controlled conditions. *Aquac. Int.*, *15*:67–81.
- Teletchea F, P Fontaine (2014). Levels of domestication in fish: implications for the sustainable future of aquaculture. *Fish Fish.*, *15*, 181–195.
- Teletchea F (2015). Domestication of marine fish species: Update and perspectives. J. Mar. Sci. Eng., 3(4):1227-1243.
- Tort L (2011). Stress and immune modulation in fish. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.*, 35, 1366–1375.
- Uribe C, Folch H, Enriquez R, Moran G (2011). Innate and adaptive immunity in teleost fish: a review. *Vet. Med.*, *56*, 486-503.
- Valero Y, Garc A, Cuesta A, Chaves-pozo E (2014). Seasonal variations of the humoral immune parameters of European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax* L.). *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, **39**, 185-187.
- Wang N, Xu X, Kestemont P (2009). Effect of temperature and feeding frequency on growth performances, feed efficiency and body composition of pikeperch juveniles (*Sander lucioperca*). Aquaculture, 289:70–73.
- Whitmore D, Foulkes NS, Sassone-Corsi P (2000). Light acts directly on organs and cells in culture to set the vertebrate circadian clock. Nature 404, 87–91.
- Whyte SK (2007). The innate immune response of finfish A review of current knowledge. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 23, 1127-1151.
- Xia MZ, Liang YL, Wang H, Chen X, Huang YY, Zhang ZH, Chen YH, Zhang C, Zhao M, Xu DX, Song LH (2012). Melatonin modulates TLR4mediated inflammatory genes through MyD88- and TRIF-dependent signaling pathways in. *J. Pineal Res.*, *53*(4), 325-334.
- Xia Y, Chen S, Zeng S, Zhao Y, Zhu C, Deng B, Zhu G, Yin Y, Wang W, Hardeland R, Ren W (2018). Melatonin in macrophage biology: Current understanding and future perspectives. *J. Pineal Res.*, 66:e12547.

- Zhao CN, Wang P, Mao YM, Dan YL, Wu Q, Li XM, Wang DG, Davis C, Hu W, Pan HF (2019). Potential role of melatonin in autoimmune diseases. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.*, 48, 1–10.
- Zhdanova IV, Reebs SG (2006). Circadian rhythms in fish, in Sloman KA, Wilson RW, Balshine S, Behaviour and physiology of fish, Academic Press, pp. 197-228.
- Zhdanova IV, Yu L, Lopez-Patino M, Shang E, Kishi S, Guelin E (2008). Aging of the circadian system in zebrafish and the effects of melatonin on sleep and cognitive performance. *Brain Res. Bull.*, *75*, 433-441.
- Zuberi A, Brown C, Ali S (2014). Effect of confinement on waterborne and whole body cortisol in wild and captive-reared rainbowfish (*Melanoteania duboulayi*). *Int. J. Agric. Biol.*, *16*: 183–188.

XII. Conclusion and perspectives

Due to some retinal adaptations, pike-perch is a light-sensitive species. Longterm exposure to high light intensities profoundly affects its physiology due to a high-stress status leading to poor growth status, high mortalities and decreased immunocompetence. In addition, both light spectrum and photoperiod influences pike-perch innate immunity. Considering that the melatonin hormone is a multifunctional molecule conveying the light information to cells and organs, we hypothesized that melatonin is a relay between the neuroendocrine and the immune systems. While well described in mammals, this function has been only little investigated in teleosts. The in vivo and in vitro experiments described in this study defined together that melatonin has a key role in the modulation of immune functions, not only via intermediates such as cortisol, but also through specific receptors that are found on main hematopoietic organs of pike-perch. This modulation mainly involves a stimulation of the innate system. However, with regard to research data on other vertebrates, it is assumed that melatonin, depending on the immune status of the organism, could act as a buffer with immunostimulatory or immunosuppressive actions. Further experiments should thus focus on this buffering role as well as on the specific immune system of teleosts.

XIII. List of publications

Article published or submitted

- **Baekelandt S**, Cornet V, Mandiki SNM, Lambert J, Dubois M, Kestemont P (2020). Ex vivo approach supports both direct and indirect actions of melatonin on immunity in pike-perch *Sander lucioperca*. Submitted.
- **Baekelandt S**, Milla S, Cornet V, Flamion E, Ledoré Y, Redivo B, Antipine S, Mandiki SNM, Houndji A, El Kertaoui N, Kestemont P (2020). Seasonal simulated photoperiods influence melatonin release and immune markers of pike perch *Sander lucioperca*. *Sci Rep.*, *10*: 2650.
- **Baekelandt S**, Mandiki SNM, Schmitz M, Kestemont P (2019). Influence of the light spectrum on the daily rhythms of stress and humoral innate immune markers in pikeperch *Sander lucioperca*. *Aquaculture*, 499, 358–363.
- **Baekelandt S**, Mandiki SNM, Kestemont P (2019). Are cortisol and melatonin involved in the immune modulation by the light environment in pike-perch *Sander lucioperca? J. Pineal Res.*, 67(e12573).
- Baekelandt S, Redivo B, Mandiki SNM, Bournonville T, Houndji A, Bernard B, El Kertaoui N, Schmitz M, Fontaine P, Gardeur JN, Ledoré Y, Kestemont P (2018). Multifactorial analyses revealed optimal aquaculture modalities improving husbandry fitness without clear effect on stress and immune status of pike-perch *Sander lucioperca. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.*, 258, 194–204.
- Ben Ammar I, **Baekelandt S**, Cornet V, Antipine S, Sonny D, Mandiki SNM, Kestemont P (2020). How the passage through a hydropower plant affects the physiological and health status of Atlantic salmon smolts? *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A.*
- Żarski D, Ben Ammar I, Bernáth G, **Baekelandt S**, Bokor Z, Palińska-Żarska K, Fontaine P, Horváth A, Kestemont P, Mandiki SNM (2020). Repeated Hormonal Induction of Spermiation Affects the Stress but Not the Immune Response in Pikeperch (*Sander Lucioperca*). *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, *101*:143-151.
- El Kertaoui, N, Lund I, Hospice A, Dominguez D, Izquierdo MS, **Baekelandt S**, Cornet C, Mandiki SNM, Montero D, Kestemont P (2019). Key nutritional factors and interactions during larval development of pikeperch (*Sander lucioperca*). *Sci. Rep.*, *9*, 7074.

- Schmitz M, Beghin M, Mandiki SNM, Nott K, Gillet M, Ronkart S, Robert C, Baekelandt S, Kestemont P (2018). Environmentally-relevant mixture of pharmaceutical drugs stimulates sex-steroid hormone production and modulates the expression of candidate genes in the ovary of juvenile female rainbow trout. *Aquat. Toxicol.*, 205, 89-99.
- Schmitz M, Baekelandt S, Bequet S, Kestemont P (2017). Chronic hyperosmotic stress inhibits renal Toll-like receptors expression in striped catfish (*Pangasianodon hypophthalmus*, Sauvage) exposed or not to bacterial infection. *Develop. Comp. Immunol.*, 73, 139-143
- Schmitz M, Ziv T, Admon A, Baekelandt S, Mandiki SNM, L'Hoir M, Kestemont P (2017). Salinity stress, enhancing basal and induced immune responses in striped catfish *Pangasianodon hypophthalmus* (Sauvage). J. *Proteomics*, 167, 12-24.
- Schmitz M, Baekelandt S, Tran Thi LK, Mandiki SNM, Douxfils J, Nguyen TQ, Do Thi Thanh H, Kestemont P (2017). Osmoregulatory and immunological status of the pond-raised striped catfish (*Pangasianodon hypophthalmus*, S.) as affected by seasonal runoff and salinity changes in the Mekong Delta, Vietnam. *Fish Physiol. Biochem.*, 43: 39-49.
- Schmitz M, Douxfils J, Mandiki SNM, Morana C, Baekelandt S, Kestemont P (2016). Chronic hyperosmotic stress interferes with immune homeostasis in striped catfish (*Pangasianodon hypophthalmus*, S.) and leads to excessive inflammatory response during bacterial infection. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, 55, 550–558.
- Buerger P, Alvarez-Roa C, Weynberg D, **Baekelandt S**, Van Oppen M (2016). Genetic, morphological and growth characterisation of a new Roseofilum strain (Oscillatoriales, Cyanobacteria) associated with coral black band disease. *PeerJ*, 4: e2110(3).

Oral communications

- Baekelandt S, Milla S, Cornet V, Flamion E, Ledoré Y, Redivo B, Mandiki SNM, El Kertaoui N, Kestemont P (2019). Evidences for the immunomodulation by the melatonin hormone in pikeperch *Sander lucioperca*. International society of fish and shellfish immunology.
- **Baekelandt S**, Mandiki SNM, Kestemont P (2017). Light environment affects endocrine and immune rhythms in pikeperch (*Sander lucioperca*). European Aquaculture Society.
- **Baekelandt S**, Mandiki SNM, Redivo B, Fontaine P, Ledoré Y, Kestemont P (2016). Neurophysiological stress response of pikeperch *Sander*

List of publications

lucioperca juveniles to intensive culture conditions. Conference of European Comparative Endocrinologists.

- Mandiki SNM, Redivo B, **Baekelandt S**, Douxfils J, Lund I, Höglund E, Kestemont P (2016). Long-term tryptophan supplementation decreased the welfare and innate immune status of pikeperch juveniles. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, *53*:113-114.
- Redivo B, Mandiki SNM, Bournonville T, Baekelandt S, Fontaine P, Ledoré, Kestemont P (2016). Characterization of neurophysiological and immune responses of pikeperch juveniles to major stress factors under intensive culture conditions. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, 53:72.

Other activities during the PhD

Supervision of 12 students from high schools and universities (bachelor and master degrees).

Master in management at the University of Namur (evening classes, 2016-18).